THESIS ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES B207

Development and Applications of Chemically Defined Media for Lactic Acid Bacteria

KADRI ALLER



TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Faculty of Science Department of Chemistry

This thesis was accepted for the defence of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on 6 April, 2016

Supervisor:	Professor Raivo Vilu, PhD Department of Chemistry Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia
Co-supervisor:	Senior Scientist Kaarel Adamberg, PhD Department of Food Processing Tallinn University of Technology, Estonia
Opponents:	Dr. Elvira María Hébert, PhD Centro de Referencia para Lactobacilos (CERELA-CONICET) San Miguel de Tucumán, Argentina
	Professor Per Saris, PhD Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology University of Helsinki, Finland

Defence of the thesis: 25 May, 2016 in Tallinn, Estonia

Declaration:

I hereby declare that this doctoral thesis, submitted for the doctoral degree at Tallinn University of Technology, is my original investigation and achievement and has not been submitted for the defence of any other academic degree elsewhere.

Kadri Aller

Copyright: Kadri Aller, 2016

ISSN 1406-4723 ISBN 978-9949-23-936-8 (publication) ISBN 978-9949-23-937-5 (PDF) LOODUS- JA TÄPPISTEADUSED B207

Defineeritud koostisega söötmete arendamine ja kasutusalad piimhappebakteritele

KADRI ALLER



CONTENTS

Abstract	7
Kokkuvõte	
List of publications	9
List of conference presentations	10
Introduction	11
Abbreviations	12
1. Literature overview	13
1 1 Lactic acid bacteria and their applications	13
1.2 The species Lactococcus lactis	15
1.3 Types and applications of cultivation media for lactic acid bacteria	16
1.4 Growth requirements of lactic acid bacteria	18
1 4 1 Aerobic versus anaerobic environment	20
1 4 2 Temperature and nH	20
1.4.2. Fullperature and primerature and primeratur	20
1.4.2. Duffets	
1.4.5 Amino acide	
1.4.5. Annual datas $1.4.6$ Metal ions	
1.4.0. With the second seco	
1.4.7. Vitaminis	······ 22
1.4.6. Outer compounds	
1.5. Selection of an appropriate cultivation method	
1.5.1. Types of continuous curuvation	
1.5.2. Advantages of A-stat over a conventional chemostat	
1.6. Why to study amino acta metabolism?	
1.6.1. I nreonine catabolism in factic acid bacteria	
2. Aims of the thesis	27
3. Materials and methods	28
3.1. Microorganisms	
3.2. Media	
3.3 Cultivation conditions	31
3 3 1 Microtiter plate and test tube experiments	31
3 3 2 Continuous cultivations	31
3 3 3 Threenine aldolase activity experiment in milk	32
3.4 Analytical methods	32
3.5 Proteome analysis	33
3.6 Statistical analysis	21
3.7 Flux calculations	
5.7. I tux culcululons	
4. Results and discussion	36
4.1. Development of chemically defined media for L. lactis IL1403	36
4.1.1. Nutrient auxotrophies of <i>L. lactis</i> IL1403	36
4.1.1.1. Amino acids, vitamins and metal ions	36

4.1.1.2. Experimental <i>versus</i> theoretical determination of nutritional	
requirements	38
4.1.2. Genetic and metabolic background for nutrient auxotrophies	38
4.1.2.1. Loss of amino acid biosynthetic capability due to adaptation to milk	38
4.1.2.2. Low activity of amino acid biosynthetic enzymes	39
4.1.2.3. Riboflavin biosynthesis	41
4.1.2.4. Other B-group vitamins	42
4.1.2.5. Metal ions and lipoic acid	42
4.1.3. Development of defined media with balanced composition	43
4.1.3.1. Modifications in amino acid content	43
4.1.3.2. Changes in metal ion and vitamin concentrations	46
4.1.4. Comparison of growth in three media in continuous cultivations	47
4.1.5. Comparison of results with literature data	51
4.2. Applications of chemically defined media	52
4.2.1. Effect of medium minimization on amino acid consumption strategies	52
4.2.1.1. Amino acid consumption in batch experiments	52
4.2.1.1.1. Biosynthesis of certain amino acids preferable to their uptake	52
4.2.1.1.2. Overconsumption of amino acids	54
4.2.1.2. Vitamin consumption in batch experiments	55
4.2.1.3. Amino acid consumption in continuous cultivations	57
4.2.1.3.1. Rerouting of arginine catabolism	57
4.2.1.3.2. Reduction in glutamate biosynthesis	59
4.2.1.3.3. Overconsumption of pyruvate-directed amino acids	59
4.2.1.3.4. Consumption strategies for other amino acids	61
4.2.1.3.5. Grouping of amino acids based on cell requirements	61
4.2.1.3.6. Comparison of the BS7 and HAMmod media	62
4.2.2. Determination of threonine catabolic pathways in <i>L. lactis</i> IL1403	64
4.2.2.1. Effect of L-threonine concentration on glycine production	64
4.2.2.2. Experiment with ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine	66
4.2.2.3. Changes in protein expressions	68
4.2.2.4. Threonine aldolase activity in milk	70
	-1
5. Conclusions	71
Acknowledgements	72
Curriculum vitae	73
Elulookirjeldus	75
References	. 77
APPENDIX 1. Nutritional requirements of lactic acid bacteria	99

ABSTRACT

Lactic acid bacteria are a diverse group of microorganisms that have played an important role in the making of various fermented food products for millennia. Metabolic engineering provides novel applications for these microorganisms, e.g. the production of recombinant proteins or functional compounds. In order to achieve high biomass yields or efficient biosynthesis of value-added metabolites, a suitable growth medium has to be used. Tailor-made chemically defined media for specific strains are an appropriate choice for metabolism studies and other scopes, providing more accurate, easier to explain and better reproducible data than rich media. As lactic acid bacteria are fastidious in nutritional requirements and each species has its own demands, determining nutrient auxotrophies is the first step in developing a suitable synthetic medium. The initial screening of growth demands and proper medium composition is time-consuming and expensive and should be carried out on microtiter plates or test tubes to keep experiments economic. Various types of continuous cultivations, however, are fit for metabolism studies. For instance, examination of amino acid degradation with changestat cultivations offers useful biochemical data for the production of recombinant proteins, aroma compounds or other valuable substances.

This thesis overviews literature data about nutritional requirements and defined media for various lactic acid bacteria, as well as provides newly compiled and balanced synthetic media for the growth of the lactic acid bacterium Lactococcus lactis IL1403. The necessity of amino acids, B-group vitamins and metal ions for this strain was experimentally confirmed and the possible reasons behind their essentialness were backed up by literature data. In total, 112 defined media with reduced concentrations of amino acids or metal ions were proposed in this thesis in addition to the initial medium BS7, which are all suitable for the metabolic studies of Lactococcus lactis. Amongst these media, the fitness of K40 and V19 was emphasized most as being more balanced in nutrient concentrations and offering higher maximal specific growth rate values than other media for lactic acid bacteria reported in the literature. In the process of developing synthetic media, the tendency of Lactococcus lactis to prefer biosynthesis of certain amino acids to their uptake was noticed. Furthermore, in media with reduced concentrations of nutrients, rearrangements in the consumption of arginine, glutamine and pyruvate-directed amino acids and an increased flux of amino acids to cellular proteins were observed. Amino acids were grouped based on whether these were mainly used for the formation of biomass proteins or for other purposes as well. This information is useful for the development of synthetic media for other lactococcal strains as well as for increasing amino acid fluxes for the biosynthesis of recombinant proteins or amino acid degradation products. Lastly, the usefulness of synthetic media for metabolic research was illustrated by determination of the threonine aldolase pathway in Lactococcus lactis.

KOKKUVÕTE

Piimhappebakterid on mitmekesine mikroorganismide rühm, kes on aastatuhandeid mänginud tähtsat rolli paljude kääritatud toiduainete valmimisel. Geenitehnoloogia abiga on võimalik piimhappebaktereid kasutada ka rekombinantsete valkude ja funktsionaalsete, s.t inimorganismile kasulike ühendite tootmiseks. Kõrge biomassi saagise ja efektiivse keemiliste ainete tootmise tagamiseks tuleb piimhappebakterite kultiveerimiseks kasutada sobilikku söödet. Defineeritud koostisega söötmed ehk söötmed, mille kõik keemilised komponendid ja nende kontsentratsioonid on teada, on sobilikud bakterite ainevahetusreaktsioonide uuringuteks ia muudeks eesmärkideks, sest nad võimaldavad saada täpsemaid, kergemini tõlgendatavaid ja korratavamaid katsetulemusi kui söötmed, mis sisaldavad pärmiekstrakti või muid keerulise koostisega komponente. Piimhappebakterid on oma kasvukeskkonna suhtes väga nõudlikud ja igal tüvel on erinevad vajadused. Seetõttu on konkreetse tüve jaoks hädavajalike toitainete kindlakstegemine esimene samm uue söötme arendamisel. Kuna kasvuvajaduste väljaselgitamine ja sobiliku söötmekoostise leidmine on aeganõudev ja kallis protsess, on seda soovitav teostada mikrotiiterplaatidel või katseklaasides. Pidevkultivatsioonid bioreaktorites on seevastu sobilikud metaboolsete uuringute läbiviimiseks. Näiteks võib piimhappebakterite aminohapete tarbimisstrateegiate ja lagundamisreaktsioonide jälgimine muutuvstaatseid kultivatsioonitehnikaid kasutades anda väärtuslikku informatsiooni rekombinantsete valkude, aroomiühendite ja teiste hinnaliste produktide tootmiseks.

Käesolev doktoritöö annab ülevaate kirjanduses leiduvatest andmetest erinevate piimhappebakterite kasvuvajaduste ja defineeritud söötmete kohta ning esitab 112 uut tasakaalustatud koostisega söödet piimhappebakteri Lactococcus lactis IL1403 kultiveerimiseks, mis sobivad metaboolseteks uuringuteks. Eriti tõsteti esile tasakaalustatud aminohapete koostisega söödet K40 ja vähendatud metalliioonide kontsentratsioonidega söödet V19, mille abil on võimalik saavutada suuremat kasvuerikiirust kui teiste kirjanduses käsitletud minimeeritud söötmetega. Doktoritöös määrati kindlaks mainitud tüve kasvuks hädavajalikud aminohapped. Brühma vitamiinid ja metalliioonid ning põhjendati nende olulisust kirjandusest leiduvate andmete abil. Täheldati, et Lactococcus lactis eelistab mõningaid aminohappeid tarbimise asemel ise biosünteesida. Lisaks märgati, et toitainete kontsentratsioonide vähendamine söötmes tõi kaasa mõnede aminohapete tarbimisstrateegiate muutuse ning suurendas aminohapete voogu biomassi valkudesse. Aminohapped jagati rühmadeks vastavalt sellele, kas neid kasutati peamiselt biomassi valkude tootmiseks või ka teistel eesmärkidel. Saadud andmeid on võimalik kasutada söötmete väljatöötamisel nii teiste piimhappebakterite kultiveerimiseks kui ka rekombinantsete valkude ja aminohapete laguproduktide tootmise suurendamisel. Defineeritud koostisega söötmete sobilikkust aminohapete lagundamisradade uurimiseks tõestati katsetega, mis kinnitasid treoniini aldolaasi katalüüsitava reaktsiooni olemasolu piimhappebakteris Lactococcus lactis.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following publications which are reproduced in the appendices with permission from the publishers:

- I Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Feštšenko D, Vilu R (2014) Nutritional requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(13):5871-5881.
- II Aller K, Adamberg K, Reile I, Timarova V, Peebo K, Vilu R (2015) Excess of threonine compared with serine promotes threonine aldolase activity in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Microbiology 161(Pt 5):1073-1080.
- III Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Vilu R (2016) Reduction of nutrient concentrations in a chemically defined medium increases amino acid usage efficiency in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. The manuscript has been submitted to FEMS Microbiology Letters.
- IV Lahtvee PJ, Adamberg K, Arike L, Nahku R, Aller K, Vilu R (2011) Multiomics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. Microb Cell Fact 10(12).

Author's Contribution to the Publications

In publication I, the author designed and coordinated the project and the experiments, performed most of the experiments, performed most of the analyses (excluding partial least square regression and vitamin analysis), analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

In publication II, the author designed and coordinated the project and the experiments, performed all the experiments, performed most of the analyses (excluding nuclear magnetic resonance and proteomics), analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

In publication III, the author designed and coordinated the project and the experiments, performed most of the experiments, performed most of the analyses (excluding ATP spilling calculations), analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript.

In publication IV, the author contributed to carrying out the experiments and to analyzing the samples and the data.

LIST OF CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Feštšenko D, Vilu R. Comparability of different cultivation methods in media development experiments for *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403.

Poster presentation at the Summer Conference of the Society for Applied Microbiology (SfAM), July 2013, Cardiff, UK.

Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Vilu R. Effect of L-threonine concentration in the medium on the biosynthesis of glycine in *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Poster presentation at *The 5th Congress of European Microbiologists (FEMS)*, July 2013, Leipzig, Germany.

Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Vilu R. Media development experiments for lactic acid bacteria: stressful, yet useful.

Poster presentation at the conference of the graduate school *Functional materials and technologies* for PhD students from Tallinn University of Technology and University of Tartu, March 2014, Tartu, Estonia.

Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Vilu R. Fine-tuning of defined media for chemical production by lactic acid bacteria.

Poster presentation at *The 16th European Congress on Biotechnology (ECB16)*, July 2014, Edinburgh, UK.

Aller K, Adamberg K, Peebo K, Timarova V, Vilu R. L-threonine catabolism to glycine in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403.

Poster presentation at *The 11th International Symposium on Lactic Acid Bacteria* (*LAB11*), September 2014, Egmond aan Zee, The Netherlands.

INTRODUCTION

Metabolic engineering provides the opportunity to exert lactic acid bacteria, a group of procaryotes that have a generally-recognized-as-safe status, as cell reactors for the production of numerous beneficial chemical compounds. In order to understand the mechanisms of biosynthesis of various metabolites and to increase the bioproduction of chemicals, the metabolism of these microorganisms has to be studied in detail. For this purpose, cultivation experiments with chemically defined media are appropriate as these provide more comprehensible and reproducible data than rich, yeast extract containing media. However, distinct species of lactic acid bacteria differ in nutritional requirements and thus, defined media are often tailor-made for a specific species. Nevertheless, once a suitable medium is developed for a certain lactic acid bacterium, it offers miscellaneous applications, e.g. verifying the existence of amino acid catabolic pathways in a particular strain.

This thesis provides information about the nutritional requirements as well as newly composed synthetic media for the cultivation of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. The media developed herein are suitable for studying the catabolic pathways of amino acids in both batch and continuous cultivations. Moreover, these media are more balanced in their nutrient composition and enable higher specific growth rates than media reported earlier in literature. Additionally, the literature overview summarizes data about nutritional requirements and chemically defined media that are appropriate for the cultivation of other lactic acid bacteria. Therefore, this thesis can be used by other researchers as a textbook to gather pertinent information prior to performing experiments with different species of lactic acid bacteria.

ABBREVIATIONS

ADI pathway – arginine deiminase pathway AGDI pathway – agmatine deiminase pathway BCAAs - branched-chain amino acids CDM – chemically defined medium CMP - cytidine monophosphate CoA – coenzyme A dCMP - deoxycytidine monophosphate dTMP - thymidine monophosphate E. faecalis – Enterococcus faecalis FAD – flavin adenine dinucleotide FMN – flavin mononucleotide GABA – gamma-aminobutyric acid; γ-aminobutyric acid GRAS – generally recognized as safe GTP – guanosine 5'-triphosphate HPLC – high performance liquid chromatography L. cremoris – Lactococcus lactis subspecies cremoris L. lactis – Lactococcus lactissubspecies lactis LAB – lactic acid bacteria Lb. – Lactobacillus Lb. bulgaricus – Lactobacillus delbrueckii subspecies bulgaricus LC-MS – liquid chromatography mass spectrometry Leuc. mesenteroides – Leuconostoc mesenteroides subspecies mesenteroides MOPS – 3-(N-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid $NAD(P)^+$, NAD(P)H – nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (phosphate) NMR - nuclear magnetic resonance O. oeni – Oenococcus oeni OD - optical density ORFs - open reading frames P. pentosaceus – Pedicoccus pentosaceus pABA – para-aminobenzoic acid PLP – pyridoxal 5'-phosphate PLSR – partial least square regression analysis PRPP – 5-phosphoribosyl diphosphate S. – Streptococcus SHMT - serine hydroxymethyltransferase Ssp. – subspecies TA - threonine aldolase TDH - threonine dehydrogenase UMP - uridine monophosphate UPLC – ultra performance liquid chromatography W. paramesenteroides – Weissella paramesenteroides

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

1.1. Lactic acid bacteria and their applications

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are a diverse group of Gram-positive microorganisms that catabolize sugars and other carbon sources into lactic acid. LAB incorporate the following genera: Carnobacterium, Enterococcus, Fructobacillus, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus. Leuconostoc. Oenococcus. Pediococcus. Streptococcus. Tetragenococcus, Vagococcus and Weissella [1-2]. The cells of LAB are cylindrical (bacilli) or spherical (cocci) and may form pairs or chains [3]. Table 1 and Table 2 show the biomolecular composition of LAB cells and the amino acid content of cellular proteins and peptidoglycan. Lactobacilli and lactococci have a generallyrecognized-as-safe (GRAS) status, but some streptococci may cause diseases or tooth deacy [1, 4]. LAB vary in nutritional requirements and stress tolerance and can be found in a wide range of habitats such as grasslands, fruits and vegetables, milk products, fish, gut and mucosal surfaces of mammals [1, 4-5].

Species	L. lactis	L. lactis	Lb. casei	Lb. plantarum	S. thermophilus
Strain	IL1403	NCDO2118	LC2W	WCFS1	LMG18311
Reference	[6] ¹	[7]	[8]	[9]	[10]
Composition (%)					
Proteins	46	45	33.5	29.9	43.4
RNA	4	8	29.7	9	8.2
DNA	1	3	6.3	1.9	1
Lipids	7	4.3	7.9	6.3	6.1
Polysaccharides	5	12	8.1	9.9	24.1
Teichoic acid		10			
Wall teichoic acids				13.8	
Lipoteichoic acids			5.9	4.1	
Peptidoglycans			8.7	14.5	
Amino sugars	25	5.5			
Inorganic ions		7			
Other ²	12	5.2		10.6	17.2

Table 1. The biomolecular composition of LAB cells (%).

¹ At $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹.

² Components not analyzed, e.g. teichoic acid in [6] and [10], peptidoglycans in [10], etc.

The transport systems for nutrient uptake and metabolite secretion are divided into four classes: (i) primary transport systems (electron transport, ABC transporters, ATPases), (ii) secondary transport systems (uniport, symport (proton/solute) and antiport (proton/solute or solute/ H^+)), (iii) protein secretion systems and (iv)

phosphoenol-pyruvate phosphotransferase systems [11]. LAB can be divided into homo- and heterofermentative subgroups based on metabolism. Homofermentative LAB (lactococci, pediococci, streptococci, some lactobacilli) degrade hexoses through glycolysis primarily to lactic acid, but mixed acid fermentation, i.e. the production of other compounds from pyruvate, e.g. formate, acetate, ethanol, etc., may occur as well, depending on growth conditions [4]. Heterofermentative LAB (*Oenococcus* and *Leuconostoc* ssp.; some lactobacilli) degrade hexoses through the pentose phosphate route into lactate, acetate, ethanol, CO₂ and other products [4, 12].

Species	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis	Lb. plantarum
Strain	IL1403	IL1403	MG1363	ML3	NCDO 2118	WCFS1
Reference	[13] ¹	$[14]^2$	[15]	[16]	[7]	[9]
Composition (%)						
Ala	7.0	8.3	9.6	12.9	12.8	4.2
Arg	3.7	5.2	4.0	3.6	3.8	1.5
Asn+Asp	10.2^{-3}	11.5	9.6 ⁴	10.9	9.9	3.3
Cys	0.5	ND	0.5	0.1	2.9	0.1
Gln+Glu	10.7 5	15.4	11 ⁶	10.6	10.5	5.2
Gly	6.2	4.5	10.7	12.9	8.8	1.2
His	1.8	2.1	1.8	2.2	1.4	0.6
Ile	7.9	5.6	5.6	5.6	5.3	1.2
Leu	10	8.3	8.3	8.3	7.3	2.1
Lys	7.9	10.1	5.9	4.0	8.7	2.2
Met	2.6	2.2	2.0	2.2	2.2	0.7
Phe	4.8	4.9	3.9	3.3	3.2	1.2
Pro	3.0	3.1	4.2	5.1	2.9	0.9
Ser	6.4	4.2	5.6	3.3	4.4	1.2
Thr	5.5	5.4	6.5	5.7	5.0	1.6
Trp	1.1	ND	0.8	ND	2.2	0.3
Tyr	3.6	3.6	2.9	2.0	2.3	1.1
Val	6.5	6.0	7.1	7.1	6.6	1.4

Table 2. Amino	acid comp	osition (%)	of LAB	biomass.
----------------	-----------	-------------	--------	----------

¹ In the CDM used for cultivation the isoleucine concentration was limited.

- ² The CDM used contained no glycine.
- ³ 5.1% of asparagine and 5.1% of aspartate.
- ⁴ 4.8% of asparagine and 4.8% of aspartate.
- ⁵ 3.6% of glutamine and 7.1% of glutamate.
- ⁶ 5.5% of glutamine and 5.5% of glutamate.

Due to their ability to contribute to the aroma, texture, healthiness and shelf-life of food, LAB have been used unknowingly (and nowadays knowingly) in the production of various food products for thousands of years. LAB are essential in the manufacturing of milk products, e.g. cheese, buttermilk, yoghurt, kefir, sour cream, etc. [17-18]; meat (e.g. sausages) and fish fermentation [19-20]; fruit and vegetable fermentation [21]; sourdough bread [22]; alcoholic beverages, i.e. beer and wine [23-24], and cocoa bean fermentation [25].

In addition to contributing to the maturing of certain food products, LAB can be used to produce various health-promoting functional compounds directly into food or in bioreactors to be used in food supplements or pharmaceuticals [26-29]. These compounds include B-group vitamins, especially B_2 , B_9 and B_{12} [30-32]; low-calorie sweeteners, e.g. mannitol [33-34]; exopolysaccharides [35-37]; aroma compounds [38, 39]; γ -aminobutyric acid [40-41]; etc. The concentration of toxic metal ions in food and drinking water can be decreased by introducing LAB [42].

In medicine, LAB have emerged as promising new hosts for oral vaccine delivery [43], recombinant protein production [44-45] and biosynthesis of bacteriocins, which are viable alternatives for antibiotics [46-47]. In the chemical industry, LAB can be used to produce commodity chemicals such as lactate [48] or 2,3-butanediol [49]. Proteins extracted from LAB have been shown to modify the growth of minerals [50].

1.2. The species Lactococcus lactis

Lactococcus lactis is a catalase-negative, non-spore forming and facultatively anaerobic LAB that can be found in diverse niches from cheese to fermented corn [3, 51]. It is divided into four subspecies: *lactis* (formerly *Streptococcus lactis*), *cremoris* (formerly *S. cremoris*), *hordniae* and *tructae*, whereas the subspecies *lactis* has a biovariant *diacetylactis* which degrades citrate into diacetyl and acetoin [51]. *L. lactis* strains have been shown to be more tolerant to heat and oxidative stress conditions than *L. cremoris* strains [52]. The genome of *L. lactis* IL1043, a strain studied in this thesis, has been sequenced and annotated: it consists of 2.4 Mbp and has 2310 open reading frames (ORFs) [53]. The subspecies *lactis* and *cremoris* have 85% overall identity based on comparative genome analysis [51].

The subspecies of *L. lactis* are homofermentative and can be distinguished by the following phenotypic traits: *tructae* and *cremoris* (excluding the MG1363 strain) cannot deaminate arginine, *hordniae* is unable to ferment lactose, *cremoris* is incapable of growing at 40°C or in 4% (w/v) NaCl and *lactis* can produce γ -aminobutyric acid [51]. *L. cremoris* has shown to have homolactic fermentation at higher growth rates, whereas mixed-acid fermentation, i.e. production of formate, acetate and ethanol in addition to lactate, was observed at lower μ values due to higher pyruvate formate-lyase activity [54].

Lactococcus lactis has a wide variety of applications, including the making of cheese [55], vaccine delivery [56] and production of various compounds either naturally or by metabolic engineering: recombinant proteins [45, 57], ethanol [58], exopolysaccharides [59-60], B-group vitamins – folates and riboflavin [61-63], aroma compounds – acetaldehyde, diacetyl and acetoin [64-66], alanine [67], glucose [68], 2,3-butanediol and mannitol [69], biopolyesters [70], etc.

1.3. Types and applications of cultivation media for lactic acid bacteria

The growth media used for the cultivation of microorganisms can be divided into [71]:

- (i) **Rich** or **complex media**, which contain components that are rich in nutrients, e.g. yeast extract, meat extract, peptone, tryptone. Thus, the exact chemical composition of the medium is unknown. Examples are MRS [72] and M17 [73].
- (ii) **Semi-defined media** consist of defined components with known concentrations (e.g. amino acids) and a few more complex compounds such as peptides [74-76].
- (iii) Chemically defined or synthetic media, which consist only of defined components with known concentrations, e.g. sugars, amino acids, metal ions, vitamins, nucleotides, fatty acids etc. Examples are presented in Supplementary Tables S6, S7 and S8 in the Electronic Appendix.

The main differences between rich and chemically defined media (CDMs) are presented in Table 3. A CDM, which has been minimized both in the number of components and their concentrations, can be classified as a **minimal medium**.

If a high yield of biomass (e.g. that to be used as starter in the food industry) or high concentrations of microbial metabolites are desired, a rich medium should be used. Examples for metabolite production with yeast extract based rich media include GABA [77] and mannitol [78]. However, lots for inexpensive carbon and nitrogen sources may vary and thus rich media may not provide reproducible results. In addition, as the composition of a rich medium is not fully defined, data about substrate consumption and the biosynthesis of metabolites may be misinterpreted. CDM is an appropriate option for metabolism studies (i.e. gene regulation, protein expression, metabolic fluxes) as it reduces the inconstancy of the process, affords reproducible results and more explainable data [71, 79]. Note that the composition of a CDM used for metabolic studies has to be **balanced**, i.e. match the requirements of cells and not contain an excess of nutrients. The cost of the growth medium is lower, analytical measurements are more precise and a CDM is more appropriate for metabolic screening if the residual concentrations of nutrients are as low as possible after the growth of cells [80, 88].

	Rich medium	CDM		
Scope	Industrial production of biomass and microbial metabolites	Production of microbial metabolites; metabolism		
Composition	An environment rich in nutrients. Exact composition and concentrations undefined	Simple compounds with known concentrations		
Biomass yield	High	Low		
Price	Low	High		
Preparation	Fast and simple	Time-consuming		
Reproducibility	Inconsistent results	High		
Data	Aggravated	Explainable data		
interpretation				

Table 3. The comparison of rich and chemically defined media.

In addition to metabolism studies, CDMs are applicable in the following cases:

- (i) the production of several functional compounds, e.g. exopolysaccharides or bacteriocins, because of the complexity of downstream processing and purification of these products in rich media [81-83];
- (ii) incorporation of amino acid analogues, e.g. tryptophan analogues or selenomethionine, into proteins during heterologous protein production [84, 85].

Tailor-made CDMs for several LAB, e. g. for exopolysaccharide production, have been introduced in the literature and can be modified to match the growth demands of specific strains (Supplementary Tables S7 and S8 in the Electronic Appendix). Some CDMs are more abundant in nutrients and are thus suitable for a wide variety of LAB species (Supplementary Table S6 in Electronic Appendix). These CDMs can be used as basal media for further medium optimization for individual strains. Lowering the concentrations of nutrients can be a trade-off between the growth of cells and medium cost [86]. Nevertheless, if a proper ratio between nutrient concentrations is achieved, the efficiency of metabolism is increased at lower nutrient availability [87-88]. Response surface methodology (RSM) [89] and the nonlinear design of experiment (n-DOE) [90] approaches reduce the cost and time of medium optimization experiments. The simultaneous omission of several nonessential nutrients commonly results in low biomass yield and maximal specific growth rate [86, 91-92]. Thus, the concentrations of nonessential nutrients should be reduced rather than discarded entirely [80]. Tips and tricks for assessing the appropriateness of medium composition can be found in the work of Egli and coworkers [93]. Commonly, one compound of the medium (usually the carbon source) is kept in limited concentration and this substance determines the requirements for all other nutrients [93].

1.4. Growth requirements of lactic acid bacteria

In the course of evolution, LAB have developed symbiont/parasite relationships with plants and animals that provide them with plentiful nutrients. Thus, LAB lack the ability to biosynthesize several vitamins, amino acids and other compounds and are fastidious in their growth requirements [4]. Rich media supply all nutrients required for the growth of cells due to the complex nature of yeast extracts. To a CDM, however, amino acids, vitamins, mineral salts and other compounds have to be added individually. The genome of *L. lactis* IL1403, for example, contains biosynthetic genes of 20 amino acids and at least four cofactors (folic acid, menaquinone, riboflavin, thioredoxin), but some of these genes are probably not functional as IL1403 is auxotrophic for several nutrients [53, 79-80, 91].

Nutritional requirements of numerous LAB have been determined by the single omission (leave-one-out) technology, where one compound of CDM is omitted from the medium and the effect on the growth of cells is observed [10, 15, 79-81, 91, 94-108]. However, not all authors use the same criteria for assessing the significance of nutrients. For example, some reseachers define a nutrient as essential or nonessential if the optical density (OD) in a CDM lacking this compound is respectively less than 15-50% or more than 70-90% of that obtained in a complete medium [80, 98-100, 103]. Note that the nutritional requirements of strains may depend on their isolation source, storage time in culture collection and the medium used for strain depositing [109]. Supplementary Tables S1-S5 (Appendix 1) contain literature data about the nutritional requirements of LAB and were used for compiling Table 4. The necessity of nutrients for the growth of LAB were assessed and the amino acids arginine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, methionine and valine, and Mg²⁺ and vitamins B₂, B₃, B₅ were revealed to be the top 10 most required compounds (Table 4).

Group	Nutrient	%	Group	Nutrient	%
Vitamin	B5	94	Amino acid	Ala	19
Amino acid	Leu	91	Amino acid	Asn	18
Amino acid	Val	91	Vitamin	\mathbf{B}_7	16
Vitamin	\mathbf{B}_3	86	Nucleotide	Guanine	14
Amino acid	Ile	83	Vitamin	B ₁	11
Amino acid	Arg	76	Metal ion	Ca	10
Amino acid	Met	72	Metal ion	Cu	10
Metal ion	Mg	66	Vitamin	B ₁₂	9
Amino acid	His	66	Fatty acid	Lipoic acid	9
Vitamin	\mathbf{B}_2	59	Metal ion	В	8
Amino acid	Trp	52	Metal ion	Co	8
Amino acid	Cys	47	Metal ion	Fe	8
Vitamin	B ₆	45	Metal ion	Мо	8
Amino acid	Phe	44	Metal ion	Zn	8
Amino acid	Thr	43	Amino acid	Asp	6
Metal ion	Mn	43	Vitamin	$p \operatorname{ABA}$	5
Nucleotide	Uracil	39	Nucleotide	Inosine	4
Amino acid	Tyr	38	Metal ion	Na	3
Fatty acid	Tween 80	37	Vitamin	Inositol	2
Amino acid	Pro	35	Vitamin	Vitamin C	2
Amino acid	Glu	30	Nucleotide	Deoxythymidine	1
Amino acid	Lys	30	Nucleotide	Cytosine	0
Amino acid	Ser	30	Nucleotide	Deoxyguanosine	0
Nucleotide	Adenine	28	Nucleotide	Hypoxanthine	0
Amino acid	Gln	27	Metal ion	Li	0
Vitamin	B ₉	25	Metal ion	Ni	0
Amino acid	Gly	22	Fatty acid	Oleic acid	0
Fatty acid	Acetate	22	Nucleotide	Orotic acid	0
Nucleotide	Xanthine	20	Nucleotide	Thymine	0

Table 4. Importance of nutrients for LAB and the percentage of investigated LAB species requiring the indicated nutrients for growth. Data was taken from Supplementary Tables S1-S5, Appendix 1.¹

The necessity of nutrients was calculated by comparing individual scores of nutrients to the respective number of species examined. Individual scores for nutrients for each species were calculated as follows: essential -1 point, essential/stimulatory -0.75 points, stimulatory or essential/nonessential -0.5 points, stimulatory/nonessential -0.25 points, nonessential -0 points. The number of species investigated for nutrient auxotrophies was 27 for amino acids, 22 for vitamins, 20 for metal ions and nucleotides, 17 for fatty acids.

1

1.4.1. Aerobic versus anaerobic environment

Several LAB possess a double metabolic life: they can switch from fermentation (anaerobic metabolism) to aerobic respiration metabolism, but only in the presence of exogenous heme (an indispensable component of cytochromes), as they lack the ability to biosynthesize it [4, 110]. Whilst several streptococci and lactobacilli can respire in the presence of heme (e.g. *E. faecalis, L. lactis, Leuc. mesenteroides, W. paramesenteroides*) or heme+menaquinone (e.g. *Lb. brevis, Lb. casei, Lb. plantarum, O. oeni*), there are still numerous LAB incapable of respiration (e.g. *Lb. acidophilus, Lb. sakei, S. pyogenes, S. thermophilus*) [110]. Nevertheless, LAB can tolerate oxygen and several species can be defined as microaerophilic (for example *L. cremoris,* [111]), i.e. growth in the presence of low oxygen concentrations is improved in comparison with the growth in a completely anaerobic environment [4].

In case of *L. cremoris* MG1363, addition of acetate into the medium during microaerobic cultivations was found to be necessary to prevent a decrease in biomass yield [112]. The optical density of *Leuc. mesenteroides* can be increased 10-20% with constant stirring, i.e. by higher O_2 availability [95]. The availability of cysteine and pyridoxamine in the culture medium increases the oxygen tolerance of *Lb. plantarum* [113].

1.4.2. Temperature and pH

In general, LAB are mesophilic microorganisms with high acid tolerance: the optimal growth temperature ranges from 20 to 45° C, depending on the genera, and cells can survive at pH < 5 [114]. Species used as yogurt starter cultures, i.e. *Streptococcus thermophilus* and *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus*, prefer temperatures above 40°C, whereas the optimum for a species of *Lactococcus* genera is around 30°C [114-115]. *L. lactis* ATCC 19435 has the highest lactic acid productivity between 33 and 35°C and at pH 6 [116], whereas the optimum growth conditions for the strain IL1403 are 34°C and pH 6.4 [117].

1.4.3. Buffers

A number of CDMs reported in the literature for the cultivation of LAB contain phosphate buffers (K₂HPO₄/KH₂PO₄) for the maintenance of optimal pH during cultivations (Supplementary Tables S6, S7 and S8 in the Electronic Appendix). In addition to phosphates, 3-(*N*-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid (MOPS) and tricine have been included in some CDMs [79-80, 92]. MOPS provides a higher initial pH which has been shown to be beneficial for lactococci, enterococci and streptococci [79]. Phosphates may cause partial dissipation of the proton gradient across the cytoplasmic membrane, whereas MOPS may be used for osmoregulation in the cells [92]. Also, in a CDM for meat lactobacilli [102], phosphate buffers inflicted precipitation and 2-(*N*-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid had insufficient buffering capacity. However, for *Leuc. mesenteroides* phosphates provided higher biomass yield than MOPS [95].

1.4.4. Sugars

LAB have the ability to metabolize a wide variety of sugars and other carbon sources. Species from genera *Lactococcus*, *Lactobacillus*, *Leuconostoc*, *Streptococcus* and *Weissella* have been shown to utilize glucose, fructose, lactose, galactose, maltose, mannose, ribose, trehalose, cellobiose, arabinose, xylose, raffinose and N-acetylglucosamine, to name a few [3, 118-121]. Most CDMs reported in the literature for the cultivation of LAB contain glucose as the main carbon source (Supplementary Tables S6, S7 and S8 in the Electronic Appendix).

1.4.5. Amino acids

The amino acids requirements of several species and strains of LAB have been presented in Supplementary Table S1 (Appendix 1). In general, lactic acid bacteria are fastidious in their requirements for amino acids, with the exception of *S. thermophilus*, which is able to synthesize the majority of amino acids itself. Six amino acids – arginine, histidine, methionine and the branched-chain amino acids isoleucine, leucine and valine – are essential for most of the species examined. Moreover, several lactobacilli are auxotrophic for the aromatic amino acids phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan whereas lactococci are not.

In addition, some amino acids become indispensable, when the availability of other amino acids is restricted. For example, cysteine and glutamine become essential for *L. lactis* IL1403 in a medium where the concentrations of their precursors (serine and glutamate) are low [80]. Similarly, omitting an entire group of amino acids at once (e.g. asparagine/aspartate, glutamine/glutamate, pyruvate-directed amino acids) may severely hamper the growth of cells even if these amino acids are not essential upon individual exclusion [91, 97-98, 100, 102]. This derives from the fact that some amino acids are used as substrates for the biosynthesis of other amino acids. The amino acid composition of biomass indicated in Table 2 gives a tentative idea of the ratio of amino acids or their precursors to be used in a growth medium.

1.4.6. Metal ions

The effect of metal ions on the growth of LABs is described in Supplementary Table S2 (Appendix 1). Note that metal ions may be present in media as impurities from other medium components and thus aggravate the determination of the essentiality of these elements [109]. Magnesium is essential for the species from genera *Lactococcus, Lactobacillus* and *Streptococcus*, stimulatory for *Leuconostoc* ssp. and nonessential for *O. oeni*. Manganese(II) is essential for *O. oeni* and a few *Lactobacillus* ssp., and stimulatory for the majority of LAB presented in Supplementary Table S2 (Appendix 1). Copper is stimulatory for *L. lactis* IL1403 and iron for *E. faecalis* and *Lb. sake*. Other metal ions are nonessential.

1.4.7. Vitamins

The B-group vitamins B_5 (pantothenic acid), B_3 (nicotinic acid, nicotinamide) and B_2 (riboflavin) are essential for the majority of species shown in Supplementary Table S3 (Appendix 1). B_6 (pyridoxine, pyridoxamine, pyridoxal) is essential for *E. faecalis*, *L. lactis* and *Lb. bulgaricus*. The latter also needs B_9 (folic acid) and B_{12} (cobalamin). Other B-group vitamins and vitamin C (ascorbic acid) are stimulatory or nonessential. Some LAB (e.g. *Lb. plantarum*, *L. lactis*) can biosynthesize folates from *para*-aminobenzoate (*p*ABA, B_x) and thus the poorly soluble, unstable and expensive folic acid can be replaced with *p*ABA in a CDM [80, 113, 122].

1.4.8. Other compounds

Adenine, uracil and xanthine have been shown to enhance the growth of certain LAB species, whereas other purines, pyrimidines, nucleosides and their precursors are nonessential altogether (Supplementary Table S4 in Appendix 1). Uracil is classified as essential for some lactobacilli strains (Supplementary Table S4 in Appendix 1).

Compounds related to fatty acids, i.e. acetate salts (fatty acid biosynthesis), lipoic acid (acetate biosynthesis) and Tween 80 (source of oleic acid), promote the growth of strains from genera *Lactococcus*, *Lactobacillus* and *Leuconostoc* (Supplementary Table S5 in Appendix 1). Lipoic acid is needed to sustain the growth of *L. lactis*, while sodium or potassium acetate and Tween 80 are essential for a few lactobacilli species (Supplementary Table S5 in Appendix 1).

Other nutrients such as choline chloride, ammonium salts and citrate salts are nonessential for LAB in CDMs that contain sugars, amino acids, metal ions and vitamins [80-81, 91, 94, 97-98, 102, 105].

1.5. Selection of an appropriate cultivation method

Numerous vessels can be used for the growth of microbial cells, such as microtiter plates (MTPs), test tubes, flasks and bioreactors, whereas the latter provide the best opportunities for manipulating the growth environment. Nutrient and gas supply, pH of the environment and produced metabolites can be altered or kept static in bioreactors, and constant stirring of the biomass guarantees a homogenous culture and prevents the occurrence of chemical gradients upon compound addition [123].

In conventional batch cultivation, the growth rate of cells is defined by the nutrient availability of the growth medium and cannot be altered without changing the composition or complexity of the medium [93]. In a continuous cultivation, however, the specific growth rate is set by the experimenter and the steady state is time-independent, i.e. analyses can be repeated frequently [93, 124]. Furthermore, continuous cultivations provide defined, constant and controllable growth conditions which lead to reproducible and decipherable data, whereas a batch culture is dynamic and heterogeneous [123]. On the other hand, it is easier to prepare and conduct a batch experiment than a continuous cultivation, since complicated

equipment is not required. Thus, the initial screening of nutritional requirements and medium composition for *L. lactis* IL1403 in this thesis was conducted using batch experiments in MTPs and test tubes, to save time and resources. The metabolism of *L. lactis* IL1403 on selected CDMs was studied using the continuous cultivation method A-stat, due to the possibility to explore cellular growth at numerous specific growth rates. As glycine production has been noticed to occur at lower μ values (0.1-0.2 h⁻¹) [6], D-stat was the best choice for studying threonine catabolism to glycine, due to the opportunity to maintain a constant μ in the course of altering other growth parameters (e.g. threonine concentration).

1.5.1. Types of continuous cultivation

In this thesis, A-stat and D-stat as continuous cultivation methods were used to study cellular growth in synthetic media. A brief overview of the most common continuous cultivation technologies is given herein in order to demonstrate the scope of different methods.

Chemostat is a conventional type of continuous cultivation in which fresh medium is constantly pumped into the growth environment and biomass is removed from the bioreactor with a fixed speed which is called the dilution rate D [124-126]. When the culture reaches a steady state, the specific growth rate μ is equal to the dilution rate [124]. Chemostats can be implemented to study strain evolution, single-cell protein production and the effects of environmental parameters on cells at different μ values [123-124].

Auxostat is a continuous cultivation method in case of which a growthassociated parameter (e.g. pH in a pH auxostat) is kept stable by altering the dilution rate [124, 127]. An auxostat where culture density is controlled with photoelectric or laser devices and held constant throughout the experiment is called a **turbidostat** [124, 127]. Nutrient limitation is avoided in a turbidostat and the dilution rate is close to μ_{max} [125].

Retentostat is used to study cell physiology at zero growth, while cells maintain metabolic activity and metabolite biosynthesis but do not grow – a condition that occurs with LAB during cheese ripening and dry sausage production [128-129].

The term **changestat** applies to a cultivation method in which an environmental parameter is constantly altered during the experiment with a fixed speed, while the physiology of the culture is comparable to a steady state in chemostats [130]. **Accelerostat** (A-stat) is a changestat method in case of which the dilution rate is smoothly increased with a constant rate [131]. In order to maintain steady-state-like conditions, the acceleration of the dilution rate should be in the range of 0.01-0.005 h^{-2} [6, 132]. **D-stat** is a changestat method in which the dilution rate is kept constant, while other parameters such as pH, temperature or nutrient concentration are altered [14, 117, 133]. Auxostat-based changestats (experiments that begin as auxostats) are called **auxo-accelerostats**: pH-, pO₂-, CO₂-auxo-accelerostat, etc. [133].

There are several other methods of continuous cultivation, e.g. gradostat [134], morbidostat [135], but these are not discussed herein.

1.5.2. Advantages of A-stat over a conventional chemostat

In contrast with a chemostat, the dilution rate in A-stat is smoothly increased throughout the experiment, which reduces the time and cost of cultivation. The advantages of A-stat over the chemostat method include the ability to determine metabolic switch points (e.g. start of overflow metabolism, determination of exact μ_{max} value) and the possibility to obtain numerous parallel samples from steady state with just one experiment [6, 132]. The μ -dependent simultaneous consumption of several nutrients and various physiological responses of cells can be followed with ease by the A-stat method [132].

1.6. Why to study amino acid metabolism?

The importance of studying the metabolic pathways of amino acids in LAB cells is mostly derived from two issues:

- (i) LAB can be used to produce recombinant proteins.
- (ii) LAB degrade amino acids into chemical compounds that may affect the quality, healthiness, taste and aroma of food products in a positive or negative way.

Amongst prokaryotic cell factories, *Escherichia coli* (see on mitmuses) affords the highest protein yields, but the process is restricted by aggravated downstream purification. Due to their GRAS status and facilitated protein secretion and purification in Gram-positive bacteria, LAB have emerged as promising hosts for recombinant protein production [44-45]. Hence, researchers have developed key tools for this purpose (e.g. optimal promoters, improved secretion systems, etc.) and studied the effect of amino acid availability on protein expression levels [44, 57].

Several aroma compounds such as α -keto acids, aldehydes, alcohols, carboxylic acids and other chemicals (like methanethiol) are degradation products of amino acids and contribute to the aroma of milk products (cheese, yoghurt, butter, buttermilk), wine and fermented sausages [136-137]. Also, several strains from genera *Lactobacillus* and *Leuconostoc* degrade phenylalanine to phenyllactic acids and tyrosine to hydroxyl-phenyllactic acids, which have antifungal activity and prolong the shelf-life of bread [138-139]. Moreover, strains from genera *Lactobacillus* and *Lactococcus* catabolize glutamate to γ -aminobutyric acid in acidic conditions, while the latter compound has multiple physiological functions such as neurotransmission, and diuretic amines, e.g. histidine to histamine, tyrosine to tyramine and arginine to putrescine [140]. These compounds may induce foodborne intoxications upon high consumption, e.g. tyramine in wine and beer [141-142].

1.6.1. Threonine catabolism in lactic acid bacteria

The catabolism of threonine (Figure 1) has evoked interest because LAB degrade this amino acid primarily to glycine and acetaldehyde – an important aroma compound in voghurt [140, 143]. This reaction is catalyzed by threonine aldolase (TA) and in S. thermophilus serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT) has secondary activity as TA [144]. The latter case is not widespread amongst LAB [145], as SHMT (encoded by glyA) primarily degrades serine to glycine and 5,10methylenetetrahydrofolate [140]. A low-specificity TA (encoded by *ltaE*) has been found in E. coli [146], but no homologs exist in LAB [140]. Yoghurt starter cultures, i.e. Lb. bulgaricus and S. thermophilus, are acetaldehyde producers [144], whereas the yield of acetaldehyde in L. lactis is low and originates from other substrates, e.g. glucose [64]. Nevertheless, the work of Aller and coworkers [14] showed that TA is present in L. lactis IL1403 and may be associated with glvA. Note that threonine was used for glycine biosynthesis if threonine concentration in CDM was in excess compared with serine [14]. This may be due to a competitive inhibition of amino acid transporters as SerP1 has been shown to transport cysteine, serine and threonine [147].

Furthermore, threonine can be degraded to 2-oxobutanoate (the precursor to isoleucine, leucine and valine) by threonine hydratase (encoded by *ilvA*) and two spontaneous reactions [140]. However, this pathway is probably not functional in *L. lactis* IL1403 as this strain is auxotrophic for branched-chained amino acids (BCAAs) [79-80, 91] and no BCAAs production from threonine was observed in the work of Aller and coworkers [14].

In *E.coli*, threonine is catabolized to 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate by threonine dehydrogenase (TDH) and subsequently to acetyl-CoA and glycine (catalyzed by 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate CoA ligase) or aminoacetone and CO₂ (spontaneous decarboxylation) [148]. Genomic data suggests that TDH may exist in *O. oeni* [149], *S. suis* [150] and *S. thermophilus* [151].



Figure 1. Threonine catabolism. Pathways in procaryotes for L-threonine and L-serine degradation and glycine biosynthesis. Green lines represent pathways that are known in *L. lactis* IL1403 based on genome sequence or experimental data. Orange lines represent pathways that are known in other LAB, but not in *L. lactis* IL1403. Red lines represent pathways that are known in other micro-organisms (e.g. *E. coli*), but not in LAB. The pathways leading to methylglyoxal, pyruvate and BCAAs biosynthesis have not been given in detail. Threonine dehydratase converts L-threonine into 2-aminobut-2-enoate and two following spontaneous reactions turn the latter compound into 2-oxobutanoate. (TA – threonine aldolase, TDH – threonine dehydrogenase, THF – tetrahydrofolate, SHMT – serine hydroxymethyltransferase.)

2. AIMS OF THE THESIS

The aims of this thesis are the following:

- I. to develop a balanced chemically defined medium for *L. lactis* IL1403 with minimal residual concentrations of nutrients. (Publications I and III);
- II. to apply chemically defined media to examine the effect of medium minimization on amino acid consumption strategies in batch and continuous cultivations (Publications I, III and IV);
- III. to apply a chemically defined medium to ascertaining the degradation pathways of L-threonine in *L. lactis* IL1403. (Publication II).

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Microorganisms

Lactococcus lactis subspecies *lactis* IL1403 was provided by the National Institute for Agricultural Research (INRA) (Jouy-en-Josas, France). Inoculum was prepared from the lyophilized stock culture stored at -80°C, which was pregrown twice in test tubes at 34°C (i) on the commercially available complex medium M.R.S. Broth (Lab M, Lancashire, UK) in media development experiments with microtiter plates, (ii) on chemically defined medium (CDM) BS7 (Table 5) for media development experiments with test tubes and for A-stat and D-stat cultivations with BS7, K40 and V19 media, (iii) on a CDM called HAMmod (see the next chapter) for A-stat experiments with the HAMmod medium. In order to prevent the carryover of nutrients, the pregrown culture was washed three times with a physiological solution before inoculation to other media.

The strain used in experiments for ascertaining the threonine aldolase activity in milk was *Lactococcus lactis* subspecies *lactis* 1387, which was provided by Chr. Hansen (Denmark). Inoculum was prepared from the stock culture stored at -80°C, which was pre-grown once on M.R.S. Broth (Lab M, Lancashire, UK) and twice on reconstituted skim milk (Valio Ltd., Helsinki, Finland) in test tubes at 30°C.

3.2. Media

The CDMs developed in this thesis are listed in Table 5 and Supplementary Tables S9, S10 and S11 (Electronic Appendix). The basis for the newly constructed media, BS7, is a self-weighed and slightly modified alternative to the HAMmod medium previously used in our laboratory [6], which was expensive due to containing the commercial GIBCOTM F-12 Nutrient Mixture (Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA, USA). In the process of minimalizing nutrient concentrations in a synthetic medium (BS7), data about amino acid auxotrophies and residual concentrations were taken into account simultaneously to obtain a medium with balanced composition.

The HAMmod medium is composed of 70% of GIBCOTM F-12 Nutrient Mixture and 30% of a CDM in [100]. The exact composition of HAMmod is as follows (mg·L⁻¹): D-Glucose – 3500; L-Alanine – 78; L-Arginine – 185; L-Asparagine – 74; L-Aspartic acid – 72; L-Cysteine – 64; L-Glutamic acid – 70; L-Glutamine – 132; Glycine – 58; L-Histidine – 60; L-Isoleucine – 102; L-Leucine – 207; L-Lysine – 158; L-Methionine – 41; L-Phenylalanine – 86; L-Proline – 92; L-Serine – 163; L-Threonine – 76; L-Trypthophan – 16; L-Tyrosine – 29; L-Valine – 107; Biotin – 0.305; Choline chloride – 9.8; D-Pantothenate – 0.65; Folic acid – 1.21; Niacinamide – 0.325; Pyridoxine hydrochloride – 0.642; Riboflavin – 0.326; Thiamine hydrochloride – 0.51; Vitamin B₁₂ – 0.98; i-Inositol – 12.6; CaCl₂ – 28; CuSO₄·5H₂O – 0.272; FeSO₄·7H₂O – 0.71; MgCl₂ – 58; KCl – 157; NaCl – 5580; $Na_2PO_4 - 99$; $ZnSO_4 \cdot 7H_2O - 1$; Hypoxanthine-Na - 3; Linoleic acid - 0.1; Lipoic acid - 0.1; Phenol Red - 0.8; Putrescine $\cdot 2HCl - 0.1$; Na-Pyruvate - 77; Thymidine - 0.5.

The components were obtained from Serva Electrophoresis GmbH (Heidelberg, Germany) and Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and were mixed together in the following order (to avoid precipitation): sugar, buffers, amino acids, mineral salts, vitamins, additional components. All media were sterilized by filtration, using 0.2 μ m cellulose acetate filters (Whatman, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) in MTP and test tube scale experiments or stainless steel filter holders and 0.22 μ m nitrocellulose membrane filters in continuous cultivations (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany).

Table 5. Chemically defined media BS7, K40 and V19. The table shows (i) the maximal specific growth rate (μ_{max} , h⁻¹) obtained in A-stat cultivations¹, (ii) the c-molar ratio of amino acids to glucose (AA:Glc), (iii) the total price of the medium components per liter (prices of Sigma-Aldrich on July 8, 2015), (iv) the chemical composition of media (grams per liter) with the reduction rates of nutrient concentrations in K40 and V19 in comparison to BS7, (v) the proportion (%) of each amino acid (AA) in the total amount of amino acids. Unlike other media in Supplementary Tables S9-11 (Electronic Appendix), adenine and hypoxanthine were added and the amount of glucose was increased.

Medium	BS7		K40			V19
μ _{max} ; h ⁻¹ , n=2	0.57±0.04		0.42±0.	.07		0.49±0.07
AA:Glc (c-mol ⁻¹)	0.44		0.20			0.44
Price (EUR·L ⁻¹)	3.21		2.22			2.97
COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)						
SUGAR						
Glucose	4.5		4.5			4.5
BUFFERS						
K ₂ HPO ₄	$0.9(3)^{1}$		0.9 (3) ¹			$0.9(3)^{1}$
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.75 (2.5)1		0.75 (2.5)1			0.75 (2.5) ¹
MOPS	7.5 (0) ¹		7.5 (0) ¹			$7.5(0)^{1}$
AMINO ACIDS		AA ratio (%)			AA ratio (%)	
L-Alanine (Ala)	0.0782	4.2	0.0391	2x↓	4.5	0.0782
L-Arginine (Arg)	0.1852	9.9	0.0926	2x↓	10.7	0.1852
L-Asparagine (Asn)	0.0735	3.9	0.0735		8.5	0.0735
L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.0723	3.9	0.0723		8.4	0.0723
L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.0636	3.4	0.0079	8x↓	0.9	0.0636

(Table 5 continued)

L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.0703	3.8	0.0703		8.1	0.0703	
L-Glutamine (Gln)	0.1322	7.1	0.1322		15.3	0.1322	
Glycine (Gly)	0.0578	3.1	0.0072	8x↓	0.8	0.0578	
L-Histidine (His)	0.0597	3.2	0.0075	8x↓	0.9	0.0597	
L-Isoleucine (Ile)	0.1018	5.4	0.0255	4x↓	3.0	0.1018	
L-Leucine (Leu)	0.2072	11.1	0.0518	4x↓	6.0	0.2072	
L-Lysine-HCl (Lys)	0.1576	8.4	0.0394	4x↓	4.6	0.1576	
L-Methionine (Met)	0.0407	2.2	0.0203	2x↓	2.4	0.0407	
L-Phenylalanine (Phe)	0.0860	4.6	0.0430	2x↓	5.0	0.0860	
L-Proline (Pro)	0.0917	4.9	0.0115	8x↓	1.3	0.0917	
L-Serine (Ser)	0.1634	8.7	0.0817	2x↓	9.5	0.1634	
L-Threonine (Thr)	0.0758	4.1	0.0379	2x↓	4.4	0.0758	
L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.0164	0.9	0.0082	2x↓	0.9	0.0164	
L-Tyrosine (Tyr)	0.0295	1.6	0.0147	2x↓	1.7	0.0295	
L-Valine (Val)	0.1072	5.7	0.0268	4x↓	3.1	0.1072	
MINERAL SALTS							
CaCl ₂	0.0500		0.0500			0.0125	4x↓
CoSO4·7H2O	0.0030		0.0030			0.0008	4x↓
CuSO ₄ -5H ₂ O	0.0030		0.0030			0.0015	2x↓
FeSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0014		0.0014			0.0007	2x↓
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.2000		0.2000			0.1000	2x↓
MnSO ₄ ·H ₂ O	0.0160		0.0160			0.0080	2x↓
(NH4)6M07O24·4H2O	0.0030		0.0030			0.0008	4x↓
NaC1	2.9000		2.9000			0.7250	4x↓
ZnSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0050		0.0050			0.0013	4x↓
VITAMINS							
Thiamine-HCl (B1)	0.00051		0.00051			0.00051	
Riboflavin (B2)	0.00033		0.00033			0.00033	
Nicotinamide (B ₃)	0.00033		0.00033			0.00033	
Ca-pantothenate (B5)	0.00065		0.00065			0.00065	
Pyridoxine (B ₆)	0.00064		0.00064			0.00064	
Biotin (B7)	0.00031		0.00031			0.00031	
Folic acid (B9)	0.00121		0.00121			0.00121	
OTHER COMPOUNDS							
Adenine	0.0250		0.0250			0.0250	
Hypoxanthine	0.0250		0.0250			0.0250	
Lipoic acid	0.00018		0.00018			0.00018	

¹ The growth results (n = 3) for **BS7** medium were $OD_{max} = 0.516 \pm 0.002$ (at 600 nm and $V_{cultivation} = 0.3 \text{ mL}$) and $\mu_{max} = 0.59 \pm 0.01 \text{ h}^{-1}$ on **microtiter plates** and $OD_{max} = 1.38 \pm 0.01 \text{ m}^{-1}$

0.03 (at 600 nm), $\mu_{max} = 0.72 \pm 0.06 \text{ h}^{-1}$, lag phase 4.5 hours, exponential phase 5.5 hours in **test tube** scale experiments. The growth results (n = 3) for **K40** medium in **test tube** scale experiments were $OD_{max} = 1.33 \pm 0.04$ (at 600 nm), $\mu_{max} = 0.59 \pm 0.02 \text{ h}^{-1}$ and lag-phase 6.0 hours. The growth results (n = 3) for **V19** medium on **microtiter plates** were $OD_{max} = 0.449 \pm 0.012$ (at 600 nm and $V_{cultivation} = 0.3 \text{ mL}$) and $\mu_{max} = 0.60 \pm 0.05 \text{ h}^{-1}$. In case of test tube or microtiter plate experiments the glucose concentration was 3.5 g·L⁻¹ and adenine and hypoxanthine were not added to the media. However, to enhance the growth of cells the use of 4.5 g·L⁻¹ of glucose and addition of adenine and hypoxanthine were recommended as indicated in the table.

² Concentrations in brackets were used in pH-regulated bioreactors.

3.3. Cultivation conditions

3.3.1. Microtiter plate and test tube experiments

Microtiter plate (MTP) experiments were carried out using plates with 100 wells and the Bioscreen C automated microtiter plate reader (Oy Growth Curves Ab Ltd., Helsinki, Finland). OD was measured every 15 minutes at 600 nm, preceded by shaking the plate for 10 seconds. In test tube experiments, OD was measured once an hour (see the Analytical Methods section) and a vortex was used before each OD measurement to homogenize the biomass. The cultivation volume was 0.24 (Table S9 in the Electronic Appendix) or 0.3 (Table S11 in the Electronic Appendix) mL for MTP and 5 mL for test tube experiments (Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). The cultivation temperature was 34°C and no control of pH or gas environment was applied. Each medium had three replicates. Amino acid consumption was measured from supernatants collected after 24 h of growth (the stationary phase) by removing the cells with centrifugation (14800 rpm, 5 min, 4°C; MicroCL 21R centrifuge; Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA).

In auxotrophy experiments, one component was omitted at once from the medium BS7 (Table 5) in MTPs and the nutrient was considered essential (E), growth stimulating (S) or nonessential (NE) if the final OD was respectively < 40, 40-80 or > 80% of that obtained in the complete medium.

3.3.2. Continuous cultivations

The continuous cultivations were carried out in 1.25 L Biobundle bioreactors with ez-Control biocontrollers and the BioXpert Pharma 3.80M XP control program, all provided by Applikon Biotechnology B.V. (Delft, The Netherlands). The system was equipped with pH, O_2 and temperature sensors. A detailed description of the fermentation equipment has been given in [117] and [152]. The cultivation temperature in all experiments was 34°C, agitation speed 300 rpm and cultivation volume 300 mL. pH was kept at 6.4 by addition of 2M NaOH. The gas environment was kept anaerobic by flushing the bioreactors with N₂.

Experiments with BS7, K40 and V19 media were A-stats in two parallels, where the culture was stabilized at 0.1 h^{-1} by pumping through five bioreactor volumes. After stabilization the dilution rate was increased with an acceleration of 0.006 h^{-2} .

Experiments with the HAMmod medium were A-stats in five parallels, where the culture was stabilized at 0.1 h⁻¹ and the dilution rate was increased with an acceleration of 0.01 h⁻². The catabolic pathways of threonine were studied using D-stat cultivations in three parallels at 0.2 h⁻¹, where the concentration of threonine in the feed (BS7 without glycine) was increased from 1.24 to 4.13 mM. The experiment with labelled threonine was a D-stat at 0.2 h⁻¹ with BS7 containing 2.5 mM of threonine. After stabilization of culture the medium was switched to a labelled BS7 medium, which contained 2.5 mM of ¹³C₄, ¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine (CortecNet, Voisins-le-Bretonneux, France).

Samples were collected every 1-3 hours and the supernatant was obtained by removing the cells with centrifugation (14800 rpm, 5 min, 4°C; MicroCL 21R centrifuge; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Biomass samples for measuring intracellular amino acids were immediately freezed in liquid N_2 and used for analyses afterwards.

3.3.3. Threonine aldolase activity experiment in milk

Low heat skim milk powder (Valio Ltd., Helsinki, Finland) was reconstituted in dH_2O to 9% (w/v) of milk solids. The reconstituted milk was stirred for 30 min and autoclaved at 96°C for 30 min. 1, 2.5, 5, 10 or 25 mM of L-threonine was added to the milk, using a presterilized L-threonine stock solution (0.2 µm cellulose acetate filters; Whatman, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Growth in milk in three replicates and with an inoculum of 1% (v/v) was monitored by measuring acidification speed (changes in pH) with an iCinacTM system (Unity Scientific, Brookfield, CT, USA). After reaching stable pH values, samples for amino acid analysis were mixed 1:1 with isopropanol (v/v) and the cells were removed by centrifugation (5 min, 4°C, 14800 rpm; MicroCL 21R centrifuge; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and filtration (0.2 µm cellulose acetate filters; Whatman, Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

3.4. Analytical methods

Optical density (OD) in test tube experiments and continuous cultivations was measured with the WPA CO 8000 Biowave Cell Density Meter (Biochrom GmbH, Berlin, Germany) at 600 nm.

The dry weight of biomass in continuous cultivations was determined gravimetrically by washing 10 mL of biomass in three replicates with dH₂O (n = 3, 11500 rpm, 5 min, 4°C; Rotanta 460R centrifuge, Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany). The pellets were heated at 105°C for 24 h on a piece of aluminum foil and weighed thereafter. The k value was 0.30 ± 0.03 , 0.31 ± 0.02 and 0.30 ± 0.02 in A-stat experiments with BS7, K40 and V19 media, respectively, and 0.32 ± 0.01 in D-stat experiments for determining threonine catabolic pathways.

Glucose and main fermentation end products (lactate, formate, acetate, ethanol) were measured with an Alliance 2795 system liquid chromatograph, a Model 2414 refractive index detector and the Empower software, all provided by Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA). The column used was BioRad HPX-87H

(Hercules, CA, USA) at 35°C with an isocratic elution of 5 mM H_2SO_4 at a flow rate of 0.6 mL·min⁻¹. Acetaldehyde was measured with a specific assay kit provided by Megazyme (Bray, Ireland).

Free amino acids were detected with an amino acid analyzer Acquity UPLC. The samples were derivatized beforehand for 10 min at 55°C, using the AccQ-Fluor reagent (6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate) and then loaded on the AccQ-Tag Ultra column at 55°C. Amino acids were separated using a gradient of AccO-Tag Ultra eluents A and B. The photodiode array detector was used for detection and data was processed with the Empower software. In order to measure the labelled L-threonine or glycine in the labeling experiment, an LCT Premier[™] XE ESI TOF MS was used, where amino acids were separated as described above and sprayed directly into the mass-spectrometer operated in a positive ionisation mode (solvatation temperature 300°C, source temperature 120°C, capillary voltage 2.5 kV). The MassLynx V4.1 software was used for data processing. All the equipment, reagents and eluents were provided by Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA). For intracellular amino acid measurements, biomass was hydrolysed with 6M HCl for 24 h at 105°C. From hydrolyte, amino acids were measured as described above. L-tryptophan and L-cysteine could not be detected with this method because they were degraded during hydrolysis. Also, L-asparagine was converted to Laspartate and L-glutamine to L-glutamate during hydrolysis.

B-group vitamins were measured by Kristel Hälvin as described in [153].

The concentration of Mg^{2+} ions was detected with an ion chromatography system that consisted of an isocratic HPLC pump (model 1515), a conductivity detector (model 432), an IC Pak Cation M/D column and the BreezeTM software, all provided by Waters Corp. (Milford, MA, USA). A solution of 0.1 mM EDTA / 3 mM HNO₃ was used for elution at a flow rate of 1 mL·min⁻¹. A Certipur® magnesium standard solution was used for quantification (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany).

NMR spectra were measured by Indrek Reile on a Bruker Avance III 800 MHz spectometer equipped with a He cryoprobe. Samples were prepared by adding 60 μ L of D₂O to 540 μ L of supernatant (10% D₂O concentration). ¹³C spectra were measured at a 15°C sample temperature with 30 degree flip angle pulses and proton decoupling. 10k scans with a 2 s relaxation delay were collected for each sample. All spectra were frequency referenced according to the lactate signal and intensities were scaled to constant lactate signal intensity. Spectral assignment was based on chemical shifts, integrals and ¹³C-¹³C couplings and was confirmed with a separate gated decoupling ¹³C experiment.

3.5. Proteome analysis

Sample selection: (i) Samples from one, two or three individual A-stat experiments with the HAMmod medium were analyzed in single runs. Samples were taken at $\mu = 0.1$ (n = 1), 0.2 (n = 1), 0.3 (n = 3), 0.4 (n = 3) and 0.5 h⁻¹ (n = 2) and compared to 0.1 h⁻¹. Proteome analysis was conducted by Liisa Arike as described in [6]. (ii) Samples from two individual D-stat experiments for clarification of threonine catabolic pathways were analyzed in single runs. Samples were taken at C_{Threonine} =

1.24; 2.86 mM; 3.99 mM and compared to $C_{\text{Threonine}} = 1.24$. Proteome analysis was conducted by Karl Peebo as described below.

Sample preparation and analysis: 100 µg of the cell pellet was mixed in a 1:1 ratio with heavy SILAC-labelled [154] *L. lactis* biomass, suspended in 100 µL SDS lysis buffer (4% SDS/100 mM TRIS-HCl, pH 8/100 mM DTT) and heated at 95°C for 15 min. Cell lysates were sonicated with ultrasound for a few pulses and pelleted by centrifugation. The cell lysates were digested with trypsin according to the Filter Aided Sample Preparation protocol (FASP) [155] and purified with C-18 StageTips [156]. Peptides were separated on an Ultimate 3000 RSLCnano system (Dionex; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using a cartridge trap-column in backflush configuration and an analytical 50 cm Easy-spray column (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Peptides were eluted at 200 nL/min with an 8-40% B gradient (buffer B: 80% acetonitrile + 0.1% formic acid, buffer A: 0.1% formic acid) to a Q Exactive MS/MS operating with a top-10 strategy and a maximum cycle time of 1 s. Briefly, one 350-1400 m/z MS scan at a resolution setting of R = 70000 was followed by fragmentation of 10 most intense ions > + 1 charge state at R = 17500. The dynamic exclusion was set to 70 s.

Data analysis: Raw MS files were analysed by the MaxQuant software package version 1.3.0.5 [157]. Peak lists were searched against *L. lactis* database (downloaded in 2013 from <u>http://www.uniprot.org/</u>) which was supplemented with common contaminants (e.g. human keratin, trypsin). Full tryptic specificity, a maximum of two missed cleavages and a mass tolerance of 0.5 Da for fragment ions, was specified in the MaxQuant search. Carbamidomethylation of cysteine was set as a fixed modification, and methionine oxidation and protein N-terminal acetylation were set as variable modifications. The required false discovery rate was set to 1% for both peptide and protein levels and the minimum required peptide length was set to seven amino acids. "Match between runs" option with a time window of 2 min was allowed.

3.6. Statistical analysis

Partial least squares regression (PLSR) analysis (Figure 4) was done by Andrus Seiman in Matlab (Mathworks, Natick, MA, USA) using self-written scripts as well as algorithms from Statistics Toolbox. OD and specific growth rate were chosen as dependent parameters. Amino acid concentrations in the media were used as independent variables. Mean centering and scaling were used in data preparation. This way each amino acid had an equal weight in regression analysis. The number of components for the PLSR analysis was estimated using the leave-one-out cross-correlation and residual sum of squares.

3.7. Flux calculations

ATP spilling is defined as non-growth related ATP consumption and is calculated by subtracting the total ATP spent for the synthesis of biomonomers from the total

ATP produced. The total ATP production was calculated by Andrus Seiman with a stoichiometric metabolic model by summing the values of all reactions producing ATP. An in-house metabolic model of *L. lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403 was constructed based on metabolic network information in BioCyc (www.biocyc.org) and KEGG databases (www.genome.jp/kegg/) [158-159]. The model consists of 247 network reactions and involves equations for calculating biomass composition according to the need for enzymes that are required for achieving a particular flux pattern. Model calculations were done in Wolfram Mathematica 8.0 environment (Wolfram Research, Champaign, IL, US).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Development of chemically defined media for *L. lactis* IL1403 (Publications I, III)

4.1.1. Nutrient auxotrophies of *L. lactis* IL1403 (Publication I)

4.1.1.1. Amino acids, vitamins and metal ions

Similarly to other LAB, *L. lactis* IL1403 is a mesophilic microorganism. The optimal temperature and pH for this strain are 34°C and 6.4, respectively [117], and were used herein. The nutrient auxotrophies for *L. lactis* IL1403 have been determined previously [79, 91], but were confirmed in Publication I by the leave-one-out strategy in the BS7 medium (Table 5) by using microtiter plates (MTPs). Arginine, asparagine, histidine, methionine, serine and the branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) isoleucine, leucine and valine were essential and alanine, cysteine, glutamine, lysine and threonine were stimulatory for this strain (Table 6). Other amino acids were nonessential. Aspartate and glutamate could be simultaneously omitted from the medium without affecting OD, whereas the concurrent exclusion of aspartate and glutamine led to zero growth (data not shown). In addition, in amino acid limitation conditions, i.e. when concentrations of all amino acids were lowered four times, cysteine and glutamine became essential for IL1403 (Table 6).

In MTP experiments, the only essential B-group vitamin was riboflavin (B₂) (Table 6) and IL1403 was able to grow in a medium with riboflavin if other vitamins – thiamine (B₁), nicotinamide (B₃), pantothenic acid (B₅), pyridoxine (B₆), biotin (B₇), folic acid (B₉) and cobalamin (B₁₂) – were omitted at once from the medium (data not shown). However, when the amino acid concentrations were lowered four times, folic acid was stimulatory for cell growth (OD was $74.2 \pm 1.7\%$ of the initial medium). Furthermore, in test-tube scale experiments, only cobalamin (B₁₂) could be excluded from the medium, whereas the omission of folic acid (B₉) provided poor growth (OD = $33.2 \pm 0.7\%$). In addition, the omission of pantothenate (B₃) or pyridoxine (B₆) from media with concentrations of amino acid reduced 2–8 times (compared with the BS7 medium) led to zero growth (Table 6).

With regard to metal ions, Mg^{2+} was shown to be essential, while Mn^{2+} and Cu^{2+} were growth-stimulating for IL1403 in MTP experiments (Table 6). Furthermore, the effect of some additional compounds, which were present in a CDM previously used in our laboratory [6], i.e. choline chloride, hypoxanthine, lipoic acid, *myo*-inositol, sodium pyruvate and thymidine, was observed. None of those compounds were needed by the cells upon first inoculation. Nevertheless, when reinoculations were made, the omission of lipoic acid inflicted zero growth and the compound was classified as essential for *L. lactis* IL1403 (Table 6).

Table 6. Hypotheses about the essential or stimulatory nature of nutrients for *L. lactis* **IL1403.**¹ B-group vitamins are thiamine (B₁), riboflavin (B₂), nicotinamide (B₃), pantothenate (B₅), pyridoxine (B₆), biotin (B₇), folic acid (B₉) and cobalamin (B₁₂).
Nutrient requirement	Group	Compound	Hypothesis about (in)essentiality				
Essential	Amino acids	Arg Inactive biosynthesis gen insufficient CO ₂ availability					
		Asn	Repression of CodY regulon by Ile				
		Cys ¹ , Gln ¹ , Ser	Insufficient supply of substrates for				
			biosynthesis or repression of CodY regulon by Ile (for Cys and Ser)				
		His	Inactive biosynthetic genes or repression of CodY regulon by Ile				
		Ile, Leu, Val	Inactive biosynthetic genes				
		Met	Low activity of biosynthetic enzymes				
	Vitamins	B ₂	Low activity of biosynthetic enzymes or insufficient supply of substrates for biosynthesis				
		B_5^1	Biosynthetic genes are related to amino acid supply in the medium				
		B ₆ ¹	Necessary for amino acid biosynthesis in CDMs with low amino acid concentrations				
	Metal ions	Cofactor in various cellular reactions					
	Others	Lipoic acid	Needed in microaerobic experiments due to absence of biosynthetic genes				
Stimulatory	Amino acids	Ala Insufficient supply of substra biosynthesis					
		Lys	Repression of CodY regulon by Ile				
		Thr	Low activity of biosynthetic genes or repression of CodY regulon by Ile				
	Vitamins	B9	Low activity of enzymes for precursor biosynthesis (<i>p</i> ABA)				
	Metal ions	Cu^{2+}, Mn^{2+}	Microaerobic experiments				
Nonessential	Amino acids	Asp, Glu, Gly, Phe, Pro, Trp, Tyr	Biosynthetic genes exist and are functional				
	Vitamins	B_1, B_3, B_7, B_{12}	Biosynthetic genes exist				
	Metal ions	$Ca^{2+}, Co^{2+}, Fe^{2+}, Mo^{6+}, Na^+, Zn^{2+}$	Can be replaced by other ions or are not used by LAB at all				

¹ In auxotrophy experiments, one component was omitted at once from the medium BS7 (Table 5) in MTPs and the nutrient was considered essential, growth stimulating or nonessential, if the final OD was respectively < 40, 40-80 or > 80% of that obtained in the complete medium.

² Compound essential in media with low concentrations of amino acids (amounts were reduced 2-8 times compared with the BS7 medium). Cysteine and glutamine were stimulatory in case of adequate amino acid concentrations (BS7 medium), whereas pantothenate (B_5) and pyridoxine (B_6) were nonessential.

4.1.1.2. Experimental *versus* theoretical determination of nutritional requirements

As more and more microbial genomes are being sequenced and systems biology is used extensively, a question arises whether it is still necessary to carry out experiments for determination of auxotrophies. Metabolic models that are based on genome data provide the possibility to theoretically calculate the nutritional requirements of cells. However, theoretical data does not always coincide with information about the actual metabolic capability of bacteria. For instance, based solely on genome sequence. L. lactis IL1403 does not require any amino acids for growth as it can biosynthesize all of them itself [53]. However, calculations with a metabolic model determined that this strain requires at least four amino acids (arginine, methionine, valine and glutamate or glutamine) for *in silico* growth [160], whereas *in vivo* experiments demonstrated the need for nine amino acids [91]. Similarly, calculations with a metabolic model or the presence of biosynthetic genes did not match the actual nutritional requirements of *L. cremoris* MG1363 [15] or *Lb.* plantarum WCFS1 [106]. Therefore, predictions about auxotrophies can be made theoretically, but experimental data is still needed for correction of metabolic models. However, with the constant improvement in understanding the relationships between proteins, genes and reactions and the construction of more precise metabolic models, the need for in vivo experiments for determination of auxotrophies may be rendered futile in the future.

4.1.2. Genetic and metabolic background for nutrient auxotrophies (Publication I)

The following subchapters are dedicated to searching possible reasons from the literature for the essential or stimulatory nature of nutrients for *L. lactis* IL1403 (the summary of hypotheses is given in Table 6 of chapter 4.1.1.1.). The biosynthetic pathways of amino acids and vitamins are represented in Figure 2.

4.1.2.1. Loss of amino acid biosynthetic capability due to adaptation to milk

The genome sequence of *L. lactis* IL1403 contains biosynthetic genes for 20 proteinogenic amino acids [53]. The decrease in the biosynthetic capability of LAB and auxotrophy for various nutrients arises from genome reduction and inactivation of certain biosynthetic genes, which was evoked by adaptation of these microorganisms to nutrient-rich environments (e.g. milk, gastrointestinal tract) in the course of evolution [1]. The common ancestor of *Lactobacillales* has lost 600-1200 genes and gained less than 100 genes in comparison with the ancestor of all *Bacilli* during adaptation to nutritionally rich medium [161]. Also, LAB possess nichespecific genes. For example, dairy and gut strains revealed respectively six and three genes, which are characteristic of these groups [162]. Similarly, 23% of the genome of sourdough isolate *L. lactis* A12 is niche-specific in comparison with the IL1403 strain [163]. All LAB genomes contain pseudogenes and genome degradation seems to be an ongoing process [160]. Note that milk has a low content of free amino acids

and peptides and thus, lactococcal strains have gained a proteolytic system for the breakdown of casein into amino acids [164].

The biosynthetic genes of BCAAs (*leuA*, *leuB*) and histidine (*hisCGDBH*) are dysfunctional in several *L. lactis* dairy strains, including IL1403 [165-167]. The non-functionality of the BCAAs genomic locus specifically occurs in the adaptation of plant-derived *L. lactis* strains to the dairy environment [168]. In *Lb. plantarum*, the auxotrophy of dairy strains for arginine has also been associated with adaptation to milk, as isolates from fermented vegetable products or humans did not require arginine for growth [169]. In several arginine-auxotrophic strains of *Lb. plantarum*, only one gene of *argCJBDF* biosynthetic operon had a mutation [169]. Another explanation for the requirement of *L. lactis* IL1403 for arginine is that the latter amino acid cannot be produced from glutamate and carbamoylphosphate due to the lack of CO₂ for the biosynthesis of carbamoylphosphate (Figure 2).

The reductive evolution of *L. lactis* strains used in the dairy industry is extensive enough to render them incapable of growth in other environments [170]. However, *S. thermophilus*, which is used as a yoghurt starter culture, has maintained the ability to biosynthesize the majority of amino acids (Supplementary Table S1 in Appendix 1). This may be related to strain selection: the dairy industry uses *S. thermophilus* strains that are capable of fast growth and acidification, while these features derive from conservation of virtually all amino acid pathways, as amino acid availability in milk is rate limiting [10].

4.1.2.2. Low activity of amino acid biosynthetic enzymes

Methionine auxotrophy may arise from the low activity of biosynthetic enzymes [15], which may be related to the deficiency of the cofactor flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) [160]. The impaired growth of *L. lactis* IL1403 in a medium lacking threonine suggests low activity of biosynthetic enzymes as well. For example, the transcription of *hom-thrB* genes in *L. cremoris* MG1363, which are involved in degrading aspartate into threonine, is not influenced by the presence or absence of threonine in the growth environment [171].

High isoleucine concentration in a CDM (C = 0.16 g·L⁻¹) may result in growth inhibition due to the blockage of CodY-dependent amino acid biosynthetic pathways, e.g. the biosynthesis of asparagine (from aspartate; *asnB*), histidine (from PRPP; *hisCZD*, *hisB*, *hisAFIK*), lysine (from aspartate; *dapB*, *lysA*, *thrA*, *ychH*) and threonine (from aspartate; *hom*, *thrA*, *thrB*, *thrC*) (Figure 2) [172]. CodY is a pleiotropic transcriptional regulator in Gram-positive bacteria [172]. In this thesis, the CDM for determination of auxotrophies contained 0.10 g·L⁻¹ isoleucine. Therefore, isoleucine excess might be the reason behind inhibiting the biosynthesis of the aforementioned amino acids in this thesis as well.



Figure 2. Biosynthetic pathways of amino acids (purple) and vitamins (light blue) from glucose or other amino acids in LAB with the respective genes encoding enzymes for these reactions. The dotted grey arrows represent pathways with multiple reactions which are not given in detail herein. Red arrows represent the presence of pseudogenes in the corresponding biosynthetic pathways. Pathways that are regulated by CodY regulon are marked with CodY. Enzymes containing the cofactor pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (bioactive form of vitamin B_6) as a cofactor are marked with the abbreviation PLP.

In contrast to *L. lactis* IL1403, serine is stimulatory or nonessential for the majority of LAB species (Supplementary Table S1 in Appendix 1). This may be due to the fact that other authors used media with higher concentrations of cysteine, glycine, threonine and glucose (Supplementary Tables S6 and S7 in the Electronic Appendix) and thus, serine could be obtained from sugar or amino acids (Figure 2).

Therefore, the requirement of *L. lactis* IL1403 for serine in this thesis may be inflicted by the low availability of precursors. In addition, the genes needed for the synthesis of serine from glucose (*serA, serB, serC*) are regulated by CodY which may be repressed by high isoleucine concentration, as mentioned previously [172]. The stimulatory effect of alanine (Table 6), which can be biosynthesized from glucose [7], is probably inflicted by the low concentration of glucose ($3.5 \text{ g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$) in our leave-one-out CDM BS7, in comparison with CDMs from the literature, in which the concentration of glucose, fructose, lactose or ribose was 10-20 g·L⁻¹ (Supplementary Tables S1 in Appendix 1 and S7 in the Electronic Appendix). Similarly, cysteine and glutamate, respectively (Table 6, Figure 2). Also, the biosynthesis of cysteine from other substrates (e.g. aspartate) is regulated by CodY, which may have been repressed by isoleucine (Figure 2).

4.1.2.3. Riboflavin biosynthesis

Riboflavin (B₂) biosynthesis genes (*ribGBAHC*) exist in L. lactis IL1403 [53] and are functional in L. cremoris NZ9000 [61]. According to gene homology, riboflavin biosynthetic genes are present in Leuc. mesenteroides, Lb. brevis and P. pentosaceus and absent in Lb. casei, Lb. bulgaricus, O. oeni and E. faecalis [61]. It has been determined previously that riboflavin is specifically required for the growth of L. *lactis* dairy strain (IL1403), but not for the vegetable strain (NCDO2118) [91]. The inability of the IL1403 strain to grow without riboflavin has also been noticed by other researchers [173]. L. lactis has an efficient riboflavin transporter RibU [174], which suggests that the cells are more dedicated to the consumption of exogenous riboflavin than biosynthesis. The requirement of L. lactis IL1403 for riboflavin may thus derive from the low activity of biosynthetic enzymes, which in turn leads to the inefficient supply of flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD). These cofactors are needed in various enzymes, including NADH oxidases and pyruvate dehydrogenase in aerobic conditions [173]. The biosynthesis of riboflavin consists of seven enzymatic steps and requires guanosine 5'-triphosphate (GTP) and ribulose-5'phosphate as precursors [30]. Metabolites in histidine biosynthetic pathways are directed to purine biosynthesis (Figure 2), but as L. lactis IL1403 is auxotrophic for histidine (Table 6), the biosynthesis of this amino acid is probably inactive and thus, there might be an insufficient supply of purines for compounds other than nucleic acids (e.g. for riboflavin biosynthesis).

Lactococcal cells have been shown to need riboflavin upon growth at superoptimal temperatures to alleviate oxidative stress [173]. However, the growth temperature used in this thesis (34°C) was optimal for IL1403 [117] and cannot be the reason for riboflavin auxotrophy, although the gas environment in MTP experiments was uncontrolled and thus microaerobic.

4.1.2.4. Other B-group vitamins

In leave-one-out experiments of [79], the omission of pantothenic (B_5) or nicotinic acid (B_3) decreased OD, but did not inflict zero growth. Thus, biosynthetic pathways are probably functional for these vitamins or their bioactive forms, although not all relevant genes have been characterized [53, 159]. The requirement of *L. lactis* IL1403 for pantothenic acid in CDMs with low amino acid concentrations (Table 6) suggests the involvement of some amino acid in the biosynthetic pathway. Indeed, in procaryotes aspartate can be degraded to pantothenate through β -alanine and cysteine is required for coenzyme A (CoA) production from pantothenic acid [175]. The biosynthesis of nicotine adenine dinucleotides (NAD⁺, NADH, NADP⁺, NADPH) in bacteria occurs through aspartate catabolism [176].

Pyridoxine (B₆) became essential in CDMs with low amino acid concentrations (Table 6). *Lb. plantarum* has also been shown to require this vitamin only in media with limited amino acid availability [106]. Pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (PLP), a bioactive form of B₆, is the cofactor in the biosynthesis of several amino acids (Figure 2) and is thus not needed in complete CDMs, where interconversions between amino acids are not required [106].

The genome of *L. lactis* IL1403 contains biosynthetic genes for folic acid [53] and its precursor *para*-aminobenzoic acid (*p*ABA) [122]. When folic acid (B₉) was replaced by *p*ABA in the medium (see chapter 4.1.3.2.), growth was unaffected, which proved that the biosynthetic enzymes for folates are functional. However, without the supplementation of *p*ABA, folic acid omission impaired the growth of cells (Table 6), which hints at its incapability to biosynthesize sufficient amounts of folates for nucleotide biosynthesis [177]. Therefore, enzymes for the production of folic acid precursor *p*ABA in *L. lactis* IL1403 may have limited activity.

The inessentiality of thiamine (B_1), biotin (B_7) and cobalamin (B_{12}) suggests the capability of *L. lactis* IL1403 to biosynthesize these vitamins or the cofactors obtained from them. Thiamine biosynthesis pathway has been partially determined in *L. lactis* (*thiMDE*) [178].

4.1.2.5. Metal ions and lipoic acid

Inorganic ions cannot be biosynthesized by bacteria and must be obtained from the growth environment. Mg^{2+} is the most important metal ion for LAB (Supplementary Table S2 in Appendix 1) as it is the cofactor in various enzymes, including DNA topoisomerases [179]. Mg^{2+} binds to teichoic acids in the cell wall, wherefrom the ions can be directed to intracellular enzymes [180]. The essential or stimulatory effect of lipoic acid, Mn^{2+} and Cu^{2+} for *L. lactis* IL1403 noticed in this thesis probably derives from the microaerobic nature of MTP experiments. LAB are known to accumulate Mn^{2+} into the cells as a defense mechanism against oxidative stress [181] and Cu^{2+} induces lactate oxidase (LctO), which may be useful in the scavenging of molecular oxygen [182]. Lipoic acid is the cofactor for the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, which is mainly active in aerobic growth conditions [183]. The genome of *L. lactis* IL1403 does not contain the genes *lipA* and *lipB*, which are required for biosynthesis of lipoic acid [53, 184].

Na⁺ and divalent ions (Ca²⁺, Co²⁺, Fe²⁺, Zn²⁺) might be replaced by K⁺ (derived from phosphate buffers) or Mg²⁺, Mn²⁺, Cu²⁺, respectively, in cellular reactions. Another explanation is that nonessential metal ions enter the medium as impurities from other compounds and thus no effect on growth was seen upon their individual omission. Molybdenum is probably not used by LAB as cells are able to grow in media lacking this compound (Supplementary Tables S6, S7 and S8 in the Electronic Appendix). The growth of several LAB strains from genera *Carnobacterium, Lactobacillus, Lactococcus, Leuconostoc* and *Pediococcus* is unaffected by iron supplementation or depletion [185-186], although the requirement of this element by lactobacilli in the metabolism of purines and pyrimidines has been noticed [187].

4.1.3. Development of defined media with balanced composition (Publication I)

4.1.3.1. Modifications in amino acid content

The evaluation of nutrient auxotrophies was followed by construction of a CDM that would be appropriate for the metabolic studies of *L. lactis* IL1403. The objective was to develop a medium with minimal residual concentrations of amino acids. For starters, as the beneficial effect of the MOPS buffer on the growth of lactococci has been shown [79, 92], several combinations of phosphate buffers and MOPS were tested for our CDM [80]. A mixture containing 35.8 mM of MOPS, 5.2 mM of K₂HPO₄ and 5.5 mM of KH₂PO₄ (7.5, 0.9 and 0.75 g·L⁻¹, respectively) was chosen as an optimal combination.

In the process of minimalizing nutrient concentrations in a synthetic medium (BS7) data about amino acid auxotrophies and residual concentrations were taken into account simultaneously. Reduction of amino acid concentrations was preferred to omission of nutrients to maintain the high OD and μ . In MTP experiments, amino acid concentrations could be lowered 4-16 times (J series; Supplementary Table S9 in the Electronic Appendix), compared to our initial medium BS7, whereas in test tube scale experiments the reduction rate was limited to 2-8 times (K, M, N, O and P series; Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). Thus, these series of defined media are suitable for batch cultivations on MTPs or in test tubes, respectively.

In test tube experiments, the concentrations of cysteine, glycine, histidine and tryptophan could be lowered most compared with our start-off medium BS7 (Table 5 and Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). Histidine is an essential amino acid, but its content in cellular proteins, similarly to tryptophan, is low compared to other amino acids (Table 2) and thus, even minute concentrations of histidine in a CDM permit the growth of LAB (Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). The different extent of reducing amino acid concentrations in MTP and test tube experiments was probably inflicted by dissimilar oxygen availability [188-189]. The activity of various enzymes, e.g. those involved in pyruvate metabolism, is affected by O_2 supply [111]. The maximal OD in media from series K, M, N, O and P varied from 0.68 to 1.38, the maximal specific growth

rate ranged from 0.29 to 0.59 h^{-1} , the length of the lag phase varied from 5 to 10 hours and the duration of the exponential phase was from 5 to 6.5 hours (Figure 3 and Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). The concentrations of all amino acids were reduced at least two times in the M series and at least four times in the N series. The media from K, O and P series were different combinations with amino acid concentrations decreased 2–8 times. O and P series contain no aspartate and glutamate.

Partial least square regression (PLSR) analysis of these media showed that asparagine and glutamine affected OD most and aromatic amino acids (phenylalanine, tryptophan, tyrosine) least (Figure 4). BCAAs, threonine (MTP experiments) and aspartate/glutamate (test tube experiments) were needed for the fast growth of cells, i.e. these amino acids had the highest influence on specific growth rate (Figure 4). The amount of most of the amino acids utilized in these media was higher than the measurement error (see Table 7, chapter 4.2.1.1.). Vitamin utilization measurements in one medium from the O series showed the full consumption of riboflavin (B₂) and nicotinamide (B₃) and no utilization of pyridoxine (B₆) (see Table 9 in chapter 4.2.1.2.). The K40 medium (Table 5) provided the best trade-off between OD, μ_{max} and amino acid reduction rate and was thus investigated further in continuous cultivations (see the following chapters).



Figure 3. Characteristics of *L. lactis* IL1403 growth on synthetic media in batch experiments. The maximal optical density (OD_{max}) at 600 nm, the maximal specific growth rate (μ_{max}, h^{-1}) and the duration of lag and exponential phases (h) in three replicates in the initial medium BS7 and the newly developed synthetic media from K (44 different media), M (8 different media), N (8 different media), O (10 different media) and P (4 different media) series (Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix). μ_{max} was not measured in the P series and the exponential phase was not estimated in K and P media.



Figure 4. Influence of amino acids on the growth of cells (OD and specific growth rate) in batch experiments: A – microtiter plate experiments; B – test tube experiments. Black dots (\bullet) represent experiments on media with various amino acid concentrations. Thin black lines represent loadings of independent variables in PLSR analysis, i.e. amino acid composition. Thick black lines represent loadings of dependent parameters, i.e. OD and specific growth rate. The media used for PLSR analysis were as follows: J series (20 different media in Supplementary Table S9 in Electronic Appendix) for experiments on microtiter plates and BS7 (Table 5), K, M, N and O series (70 different media in Supplementary Table S10 in the Electronic Appendix) for experiments in test tubes.

4.1.3.2. Changes in metal ion and vitamin concentrations

The concentrations of metal ions could be lowered 2-4 times in both MTP and test tube cultivations without a significant loss in biomass concentration or growth speed (Supplementary Table S11 in the Electronic Appendix). Thus, these CDMs with low amounts of metal ions (V series) are suitable to be used in both MTP and test tube scale experiments (Supplementary Table S11 in the Electronic Appendix). A medium called V19 (Table 5) provided the best trade-off between OD, μ_{max} and metal ion reduction rate and was thus investigated further in continuous cultivations (see the following chapters).

The simultaneous reduction of the concentrations of all B-group vitamins two or ten times decreased OD 56 or 97%, respectively, compared with the initial medium BS7. When the amounts of vitamins were raised 1.5 or 2.5 times, OD was increased only 1.1 or 1.2 times and thus, changing vitamin concentrations was regarded unreasonable. However, 2.74 μ M of folic acid (B₉), which is an unstable, poorly soluble and expensive compound, could be replaced with its precursor, *para*-aminobenzoic acid (*p*ABA), in concentrations of 1.10-70.58 μ M without affecting OD or μ (data not shown).

The concurrent decrease in amino acid and metal ion concentrations in test tube batch experiments resulted in long lag phases (more than 9 hours) and the development of these types of media was not pursued any further.

4.1.4. Comparison of growth in three media in continuous cultivations (Publication III)

The μ -dependent growth of *L. lactis* IL1403 was studied in continuous cultivations by using the A-stat method and three CDMs: BS7 (initial medium), K40 (medium with low concentrations of amino acids) and V19 (medium with low concentrations of metal ions) (Table 5). Maximal specific growth rates (μ_{max}) obtained using these media were 0.57 ± 0.04, 0.42 ± 0.07 and 0.49 ± 0.07 h⁻¹ and the biomass yield (Y_{XS}; in the range from $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ to μ_{max}) was from 0.103 ± 0.001 to 0.162 ± 0, from 0.107 ± 0.003 to 0.138 ± 0, and from 0.096 ± 0.013 to 0.160 ± 0 g · g_{glucose}⁻¹ for BS7, K40 and V19, respectively. Specific biomass and lactate productivity, ATP spilling (the difference between total ATP produced and total ATP spent for the synthesis of biomonomers), channeling of glucose to lactate and the production of unidentified metabolites from glucose were similar between the media, as seen from Figure 5.

The production of formate (Figure 5) and acetate (data not shown) was decreased in V19. The change towards a more homolactic fermentation is a way of increasing metabolism efficiency [6]. The minimization of nutrient concentrations induced rearrangements in amino acid consumption strategies and increased the flux of amino acids to biomass proteins and peptidoglycans (see subsequent chapters).

The amino acid concentration in K40 and the metal ion content in the V19 medium were more balanced and satisfied cell requirements more than in BS7 (Figures 6 and 7). In K40, more than 50% of 14 amino acids were utilized from the medium at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ and the consumption of eight amino acids exceeded 80% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Figure 6). The utilization of metal ions (namely magnesium) could be detected more accurately in V19 than in BS7 (Figure 7). In BS7, less than 5% of magnesium was consumed and the results were fluctuating and incorrect. Therefore, it seems as if magnesium was produced in minute amounts instead of utilization in BS7. This misinterpretation was bypassed in V19 due to the higher percentual consumption of Mg²⁺ (Figure 7). The consumption of four B-group vitamins was measured in a continuous cultivation (A-stat) with the BS7 medium. The results indicate a balanced composition for these nutrients (Figure 8). K40 and V19 have the same vitamin concentration as BS7 (Table 5), which suggests similar vitamin consumption in these media.

However, the BS7 medium had a more similar composition to cellular amino acid ratios than K40 (see cellular amino acid ratios in Table 2 and ratios in media in Table 5). Thus, data about amino acid ratios in biomass is not always reliable to enable compilation of synthetic media as there exist biosynthetic pathways and interconversions between amino acids (Figure 2).



Figure 5. Biomass yield and pyruvate metabolism in A-stat cultivations: A – Conversion of glucose to lactate (percentage of the total amount of consumed glucose); B – Specific biomass productivity (gram of dry weight per gram of consumed glucose per hour); C – Specific lactate productivity (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour); D – Specific formate productivity (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour); E – Flux calculations: ATP spilling (millimoles per gram cell dry weight); F – Flux calculations: production of

unidentified compounds (metabolites other than lactate, formate, acetate, ethanol) from glucose (millimoles per gram cell dry weight. (Average results of two fermentations per each medium: BS7 – grey circles (\bullet) or grey line; K40 – blue triangles (\blacktriangle) or blue line; V19 – dark blue squares (\blacksquare) or dark blue line.)



Specific growth rate μ (h⁻¹)

Figure 6. Amino acid consumed or produced in A-stat cultivations, % of the initial amount in the medium. (The red-green scale on the left indicates the magnitude of consumption. Average results of two fermentations per each medium: $BS7 - grey (\bullet)$ circles; K40 – blue triangles (\blacktriangle). Negative values represent production.)



Figure 7. Mg^{2+} utilization in A-stat cultivations: $A - Mg^{2+}$ consumption, % of the initial amount in the medium; $B - Mg^{2+}$ specific utilization (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour). (Results of one fermentation per each medium: BS7 – grey circles (•) and V19 – dark blue squares (•). Negative values represent production. The concentration of Mg^{2+} ions in V19 is two times lower than in BS7.)



Figure 8. Percentual B-group vitamin consumption in A-stat cultivations: Utilization of thiamine (B₁) and riboflavin (B₂) (A), and nicotinamide (B₃) and pantothenate (B₅) (B) in one A-stat cultivation with the BS7 medium. (The red-green scale on the left indicates the magnitude of consumption (green colour represents high utilization).

4.1.5. Comparison of results with literature data (Publication III)

The CDMs presented in this thesis, especially BS7, K40 and V19, are suitable for metabolic studies of L. lactis. BS7 offers the possibility to conduct experiments at higher specific growth rates, whereas K40 and V19 have been balanced in amino acid and metal ion concentrations, respectively, i.e. nutrient concentrations are close to cell requirements. In comparison, biomass concentration and amino acid consumption data presented in [9] indicates that Lb. plantarum consumes less than 17% of 16 amino acids from a synthetic medium (see composition in [16] and [190] in Supplementary Table S6 in the Electronic Appendix). Thus, many CDMs reported in the literature for LAB contain an excess of nutrients, which may influence the precision of analytical measurements and increase the price of the medium. On the other hand, not all CDMs have been designed for metabolic research, which justifies their abundance of nutrients. For example, the media reported in [79] (Supplementary Table S6 in the Electronic Appendix) were compiled for high-celldensity fed-batch experiments, whereas some other CDMs have been constructed for the synthesis of certain bioproducts like lactate or exopolysaccharides [82, 94, 191] (Supplementary Table S7 in the Electronic Appendix).

According to the 8 July 2015 prices of chemical products from Sigma-Aldrich, the cost for BS7, K40 and V19 were 3.21, 2.22 and 2.97 EUR·L⁻¹, respectively (Table 5). In comparison, the price of the CDM used in [192] was 7.48 EUR·L⁻¹ and that of the minimal medium MS15 [91] (Supplementary Table S8 in the Electronic Appendix) was 3.16 EUR·L⁻¹, as these media contain higher amino acid concentrations than the CDMs presented herein. Thus, the only advantage of MS15 over K40 is shorter preparation time, due to the smaller number of components. K40 is cheaper and offers higher maximal specific growth rate than M15: 0.42 *versus* 0.37 h⁻¹ (Table 5 and Supplementary Table S8 in the Electronic Appendix). The CDMs of this thesis do not compete in price with low-molecular media derived from yeast extract by membrane filtration (e.g. the medium reported in [193]). Nevertheless, a CDM obtained by yeast extract filtration contains hundreds of peptides, nucleosides and other compounds, which makes their individual determination problematic. Hence, self-weighed synthetic media still have an advantage of facilitating analytical measurements and data interpretation.

4.2. Applications of chemically defined media (Publications I, III, IV)

4.2.1. Effect of medium minimization on amino acid consumption strategies (Publications I, III, IV)

CDMs are an efficient tool for metabolic research and bioproduction of functional compounds. Studying amino acid consumption in synthetic media provides practical information to be made use of in the manufacturing of recombinant proteins and amino acid catabolism products. For example, it was noticed that some amino acids were biosynthesized rather than taken up from the medium. In addition, the flux of certain amino acids through known catabolic pathways changed with specific growth rate.

4.2.1.1. Amino acid consumption in batch experiments

4.2.1.1.1. Biosynthesis of certain amino acids preferable to their uptake

L. lactis IL1403 was able to biosynthesize aspartate, glutamate, glycine, proline and the aromatic amino acids phenylalanine, tryptophan and tyrosine if these compounds were omitted individually or were available in low concentrations (Table 7). Also, earlier some researchers noted that L. lactis strains preferred the biosynthesis of alanine, aspartate, glycine, phenylalanine and threonine to their uptake from the growth environment, and the production of these amino acids was associated with 2oxoglutarate and subsequent glutamate formation [160, 194]. The transcription initation of tryptophan biosynthetic operon trpEGDCFBA in L. lactis IL1403 is known to be increased four-fold if any amino acid is depleted [195]. In L. lactis NCDO2118 and MG1363, alanine, arginine, aspartate, glycine, histidine, lysine, phenylalanine, threenine and tyrosine in intracellular proteins have been shown to partially or completely originate from glucose [7, 194]. Also, aromatic amino acids can be converted to one another. For example, the omission of phenylalanine from the medium and its concurrent biosynthesis resulted in an increase in the utilization of tyrosine (the NB medium in Table 7). Similarly, the omission of tyrosine from the medium led to its biosynthesis and depletion of tryptophan from the medium (the MC medium in Table 7). Also, the production of glycine in N series media (Table 7) occurred due to the degradation of serine via serine hydroxymethyltransferase or threonine via threonine aldolase (Figure 2). Glutamate was probably obtained from glutamine (Figure 2), whereas aspartate and proline apparently originated from asparagine (Figure 2) and glutamate [196], respectively, in addition to glucose.



Table 7. Amino acid consumption or production in batch cultivations with 31 different media, % of the initial amount in the medium. Numbers in green represent high and in red low consumption. P - amino acid was produced. ND – not determined.

Alanine, lysine and methionine were mainly consumed for the formation of biomass proteins in all media, whereas the utilization of histidine and valine met cell requirements only in the media of O and P series (Table 8). In fact, in O-media 4-52% of cellular methionine originated from sources other than extracellular methionine, e.g. from degradation of other amino acids (data not shown). The latter corresponds to the drastic increase in cysteine consumption in O-media (Table 7). Thus, the assumption that the auxotrophy of *L. lactis* IL1403 for methionine would derive from the low activity of biosynthetic enzymes rather than inactivation of genes made in previous chapters has to be valid, as this strain has the ability to

biosynthesize methione (e.g. from cysteine), but its biosynthetic capability is insufficient to sustain growth if methionine is depleted.

4.2.1.1.2. Overconsumption of amino acids

Comparison of the amount of amino acid utilized by *L. lactis* IL1403 in the stationary phase and their concentration in the biomass shows that some amino acids, most notably arginine and serine, were overconsumed, i.e. they were used for other purposes in addition to biomass formation (Table 8). Hence, in the leave-one-out experiments for determination of auxotrophies, serine was presumably the precursor of cysteine biosynthesis (Figure 2), although *L. lactis* IL1403 can convert methionine to cysteine as well [197]. Thus, the low availability of serine made IL1403 incapable of growth without an extracellular supply of cysteine (Table 6). A portion of serine might have been directed to the production of pyruvate [7, 17].

Furthermore, approximately half of the arginine consumed was converted to unidentified compounds, whereas the rest was used for the biosynthesis of biomass proteins and ornithine (Table 8). In the N series media, the production of ornithine was low (Table 8), which suggests that the cells avoided ATP generation through the arginine deiminase (ADI) pathway in the nutritionally poor environment. In addition, the overconsumption of arginine in optimized media was lower than in the initial medium BS7 (Table 8).

Asparagine was fully consumed in several CDMs, whereas aspartate was utilized in minute amounts or even produced into the environment (Table 7). *L. lactis* transports asparagine into the cells more effectively than aspartate [198]. The overconsumed asparagine (Table 8) may have been used for the biosynthesis of aspartate, which in turn could have been directed through oxaloacetate to pyruvate, acetoin and diacetyl [199]. However, as organic acid production was not measured in batch experiments, this hypothesis cannot be verified.

Also, as glutamine and glutamate can be converted to one another (Figure 2), at least one of these amino acids should be available in adequate amounts to provide the cells with amino groups and precursors for nucleotide synthesis [140, 177]. Consequently, the omission of glutamine with concurrent reduction of glutamate concentration prevented the growth of IL1403 completely (Table 6). Roughly half of the glutamine consumed was channeled to unknown products, whilst the other half was used as glutamine or glutamate by biomass proteins or for the production of additional glutamate, which was secreted into the growth environment (Table 8). Glutamate biosynthesis was diminished in N series media (Table 8), presumably to cut back energetic costs in case of low nutrient availability: the concentrations of all amino acids were reduced at least four times in these media.

The overconsumption of leucine (Table 8) indicates lactate-mediated stress and energy depletion: acidic conditions increase leucine catabolism to 2-methylbutanoic acid and 3 ATP molecules in *Lb. sanfranciscensis* [200].

Glycine, phenylalanine and tyrosine present in cellular proteins and peptidoglycan were partially obtained by biosynthesis, i.e. from other amino acids or glucose (data not shown). **Table 8.** The percentage of amino acids used in batch cultivations for the formation of biomass proteins and peptidoglycans or other compounds (arginine for ornithine and glutamine for glutamate). Analysis involved 31 different media in single paralles. The amino acid consumption data was compared to intracellular amino acid concentrations. Numbers in green indicate utilization of amino acids mainly for biomass proteins and in red represent overconsumption. ND – not determined, NOC – not overconsumed.

	Amino acids to biomass (%)											Arg to	Gln to	
	Ala	Arg	Asn	Gln	His	lle	Leu	Lys	Met	Ser	Thr	Val	Orn (%)	Glu (%)
BS7	72	11	29	27	48	41	30	66	49	19	36	47	52	33
MA	80	36	36	32	68	35	28	72	90	22	55	46	17	27
MB	84	31	32	27	62	33	25	70	98	21	58	45	19	25
MC	70	29	33	28	56	33	25	67	92	19	55	50	14	27
MD	NOC	ND	38	33	NOC	39	45	NOC	NOC	33	79	90	ND	35
ME	86	39	38	32	90	38	31	80	NOC	25	61	59	25	30
MF	NOC	56	38	33	NOC	42	36	NOC	NOC	28	68	73	24	30
MG	75	32	33	28	79	42	34	75	NOC	23	51	62	29	33
MH	77	36	36	31	74	37	29	73	97	23	55	57	22	27
NA	70	41	49	43	47	31	23	82	86	20	47	49	6	15
NB	78	47	50	43	55	32	24	89	88	22	49	50	5	11
NC	75	46	50	44	60	33	25	89	93	21	49	55	5	11
ND	82	43	50	44	71	29	35	89	89	22	49	48	18	10
NE	65	32	47	40	43	29	21	72	71	18	40	61	17	8
NF	68	37	47	41	50	30	22	79	75	20	42	46	9	16
NG	93	37	47	41	54	34	27	NOC	77	23	47	62	12	21
NH	73	35	48	42	60	33	26	86	74	20	42	51	20	12
O C	100	23	41	32	87	46	65	83	NOC	20	47	96	43	31
OD	84	22	39	32	79	45	49	74	NOC	19	43	89	41	27
OE	NOC	24	41	33	73	42	NOC	90	NOC	19	47	76	47	27
OF	NOC	25	44	35	91	35	54	88	NOC	20	49	86	46	24
OG	NOC	23	44	36	88	38	58	90	NOC	20	50	NOC	50	29
ОН	96	27	43	34	78	34	52	NOC	NOC	20	47	88	38	25
01	-99	22	41	33	96	42	49	88	NOC	18	46	NOC	50	26
OJ	90	36	34	24	95	NOC	42	NOC	NOC	28	57	NOC	9	ND
\mathbf{OL}	93	22	46	34	98	63	27	88	NOC	23	51	67	42	27
ОМ	84	19	44	35	92	NOC	40	88	NOC	27	52	79	6	25
PB	90	ND	39	34	76	66	22	91	NOC	29	53	77	ND	23
PC	91	26	40	35	76	ND	25	NOC	73	29	52	62	29	24
PD	83	32	41	37	58	61	20	82	100	25	55	60	30	19
PE	94	38	42	37	85	ND	25	98	NOC	31	57	88	23	24

4.2.1.2. Vitamin consumption in batch experiments

Table 9 shows the percentual utilization of five B-group vitamins by *L. lactis* IL1403 in a batch experiment with the OL medium, in which riboflavin (B_2) and nicotinamide (B_3) as precursors of cofactors FAD/FMN and NADH, respectively,

were fully consumed. At the same time, 47% of thiamine (B₁) and 67% of pantothenate (B₅) were taken up from the medium. Thiamine is a precursor of thiamine pyrophosphate (also called thiamine phosphate) which is a cofactor in various enzymes, including KdcA, which is involved in BCAAs degradation [201].

The zero consumption of pyridoxine (B_6) in the OL medium (Table 9) suggests that L. lactis IL1403 is unable to transport this vitamer of B₆ into the cells. Other media for the cultivation of the IL1403 strain contain pyridoxamine or pyridoxal-HCl as B₆ vitamers (see MCD/ZBM1/ZBM2, MS10 and MS15 media in Supplementary Tables S6, S7 and S8, respectively, in the Electronic Appendix). Lb. casei can transport only pyridoxal into the cells, whereas Lb. bulgaricus can transport the phosphorylated forms of pyridoxal, pyridoxine and pyridoxamine [202]. Nevertheless, as this thesis contains data about vitamin utilization for only one medium (OL), it cannot be excluded that pyridoxine utilization occured in other CDMs or even in the OL medium in the amounts below the detection limit. Moreover, L. lactis IL1403 was unable to grow in CDMs with reduced amino acid concentrations if pyridoxine was omitted (Table 6). Thus, this vitamer of B₆ has to be involved in the biosynthesis of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (PLP) in L. lactis IL1403, which is a bioactive form of B₆. PLP is a cofactor of AraT, which is needed for the catabolism of aromatic amino acids, methionine and leucine and the biosynthesis of phenylalanine and tyrosine [203-204]. Serine hydroxymethyltransferase (responsible for interconversion between serine and glycine) and threonine aldolase (degradation of threonine to glycine and acetaldehyde) are also PLP-dependent [145].

Table 9. Vitamin consumed, % of the initial amount in batch cultivations with the OL medium. Green represents high and red low consumption. B_1 – thiamine, B_2 – riboflavin, B_3 – nicotinamide, B_5 – pantothenate, B_6 – pyridoxine.



4.2.1.3. Amino acid consumption in continuous cultivations

Consumption of amino acids by *L. lactis* IL1403 in A-stat cultivations in three media described in previous chapters – BS7, K40 (media with reduced amino acid concentrations) and V19 (media with reduced metal ion concentrations) was examined (Table 5). Amino acid utilization profiles in these media were generally similar, with some exceptions. The flux of amino acids into biomass proteins and peptidoglycans increased when the amino acid availability in the medium was limited and the specific growth rate was increased.

The next chapters will provide information that is useful for the development of synthetic media for other lactococcal strains, indicating which amino acids can be mainly used for the formation of biomass proteins and which for other purposes. Furthermore, the data presented in this thesis could be taken advantage of for increasing amino acid fluxes for the biosynthesis of recombinant proteins or amino acid degradation products by changing the composition of the medium.

4.2.1.3.1. Rerouting of arginine catabolism

In comparison with BS7 and V19, arginine consumption in K40 was reduced up to 74% (Figure 9). Moreover, in BS7 and V19 media, respectively 66 and 54% or 77 and 59% of arginine was converted to ornithine at $\mu = 0.1$ or 0.4 h⁻¹ (Figure 10). In K40, however, 41% of arginine was converted to ornithine at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ and only 2% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Figure 10). If ornithine was partially degraded to proline, then 47% of arginine in the K40 medium was directed to the ADI pathway at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ and 23% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹. However, the genes for proline biosynthesis from ornithine have not been fully determined in the IL1403 strain [159] and glutamate was more likely used as a substrate for proline production. Thus, in case of limited amino acid availability, the cells avoided additional ATP production through the ADI pathway, where one mole of ATP, ornithine and carbamoylphosphate was biosynthesized per one mole of arginine. The same trend was noticed in batch experiments with media of N series (Table 8 in chapter 4.2.1.1.2.). Rearranging amino acid metabolism is one option for the cells to increase the efficiency of ATP usage [87].

The minute production of ornithine in the K40 medium at higher specific growth rates raises a question whether cells had a sufficient supply of carbamoylphosphate for pyrimidine biosynthesis. The estimated sum of intracellular CMP, UMP, dCMP and dTMP is 0.11-0.15 mmol· g_{DW} ⁻¹ at specific growth rates of 0.1-0.6 h⁻¹ [6]. We proposed that in K40 at $\mu > 0.2$ h⁻¹ the cells biosynthesized the necessary carbamoylphosphate from CO₂, which in turn was retrieved from glycolysis or by catabolism of other amino acids. Note that no putrescine production was observed (data not shown), which suggests that carbamoylphosphate was not obtained from arginine degradation through the agmatine deiminase (AGDI) pathway, although the AGDI gene cluster exists in *L. lactis* IL1403 [205].



Figure 9. Specific amino acid utilization rate in A-stat cultivations: A - Arginine; B - Cysteine; C - Glutamine; D - Glutamate; E - Ornithine; F - Proline; G - Serine; H - Threonine. (Average results of two fermentations per each medium (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour): BS7 – grey circles (\bullet); K40 – blue triangles (\blacktriangle); V19 – dark blue squares (\blacksquare). Negative values represent the production of amino acids.).

4.2.1.3.2. Reduction in glutamate biosynthesis

In the V19 medium, the consumption of glutamine was 13-33% lower and glutamate production was decreased 49%, compared with the BS7 medium (Figure 9). In addition, the conversion of glutamine to glutamate was respectively 46, 36 and 49% in BS7, K40 and V19 at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹, and 24, 20 and 13% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Figure 10). The reduced glutamine consumption and glutamate biosynthesis in the V19 medium may be explained as follows: (i) glutamine overconsumption is avoided for energy maintenance, while the GlnPQ complex, which transports glutamine/glutamate into the cells, requires ATP; (ii) the V19 medium has a lower Na⁺ content than K40 and BS7, whereas glutamine/glutamate are more efficiently taken up by GlnPQ if osmolyte concentrations are increased [206]; (iii) the produced amount of formate, which hampers the growth of cells more than lactate, acetate and ethanol [207], is lower in V19 (see Figure 5 in chapter 4.1.4.), which indicates a decreased demand for acid stress alleviation by production of ammonia (and glutamate) from glutamine.

In addition, glutamate was probably the precursor to proline production in the K40 medium (Figure 9) as it provides an opportunity for $NAD(P)^+$ regeneration [7, 158]. Proline production in media with reduced amino acid content was noticed in batch experiments as well (Table 7 in chapter 4.2.1.1.1.).

4.2.1.3.3. Overconsumption of pyruvate-directed amino acids

In the K40 medium, cysteine consumption was up to 77% lower than in BS7 and K40, whereas the utilization of threonine (and serine at lower specific growth rates) was up to 26% lower (Figure 9). Less than 40 and 60% of consumed serine and threonine, respectively, can be found in cellular proteins (Figure 10). Therefore, the overconsumed portions of these amino acids must have been converted into other amino acids in biomonomers or into pyruvate and unidentified byproducts. In the K40 medium, more than 50% of glycine in biomonomers was obtained from biosynthesis (Figure 10). Serine and threonine are the potential substrates for glycine production. The concentration of serine in K40 was higher than that of threonine, which renders the former the main precursor for glycine production due to a competitive inhibition of serine and threonine for the SerP1 transporter [147].



Figure 10. Amino acid degradation products in A-stat cultivations: A, C – The percentage of utilized amino acid used for the formation of cellular proteins (solid bars); other compounds – arginine for ornithine and glutamine for glutamate (criss-crossed bars); and unidentified compounds (diagonally striped bars) at $\mu = 0.1$ and 0.4 h⁻¹; B, D – The

percentage of glycine and tyrosine in cellular proteins originating from glycine or tyrosine utilization (solid bars) and biosynthesis from other compounds (vertically striped bars). (Calculations were based on comparison of amino acid utilization data for BS7 (grey), K40 (blue) and V19 (dark blue) with their concentrations in cellular proteins and peptidoglycan obtained from [3].).

4.2.1.3.4. Consumption strategies for other amino acids

Figure 10 shows that in addition to arginine, glutamine, serine and threonine, asparagine was also heavily overconsumed, i.e. utilized for the production of unidentified byproducts in addition to biomass protein and peptidoglycan biosynthesis, especially at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹. Isoleucine, leucine and methionine were overconsumed as well (Figure 10), but their flux to unidentified products was lower than in case of amino acids mentioned in the previous sections. The consumption of alanine, histidine, lysine, phenylalanine and valine was close to the requirements for protein formation, especially in the case of K40. The flux of consumed amino acids to biomass proteins (excluding arginine, asparagine and glutamine) was more intense in K40 and V19 (simplified media) than in BS7 (initial medium), demonstrating a decrease in the formation of amino acid degradation byproducts and a more efficient usage of amino acids in simplified media. Furthermore, the flux of most amino acids to proteins increased with the rise of specific growth rate (0.1 versus 0.4 h⁻¹), which emphasizes the role of μ in enhancing the amino acid metabolism efficiency.

Glycine and tyrosine in biomass proteins were partially biosynthesized: more than 50% of glycine and more than 20% of tyrosine in cellular proteins originated from biosynthesis (Figure 10), whereas the remaining portions were obtained by consuming these amino acids from the medium.

4.2.1.3.5. Grouping of amino acids based on cell requirements

The data about amino acid consumption in glucose-limited conditions presented above enables the distribution of the acids into five groups: (i) amino acids that are largely overconsumed, i.e. mainly utilized for objectives other than protein formation (arginine, asparagine, glutamine, serine, threonine); (ii) amino acids that are slightly overconsumed, i.e. mostly utilized for protein formation, but byproduct synthesis occurs as well (isoleucine, leucine, methionine); (iii) amino acids that are mainly used for protein formation as these are consumed in amounts comparable with the concentrations in cellular proteins and peptidoglycan (alanine, histidine, lysine, phenylalanine, valine); (iv) amino acids which are partially biosynthesized despite their presence in the medium (glycine, tyrosine); (v) amino acids which are completely synthesized from other amino acids or compounds rather than taken up from the medium (glutamate, proline).

Hence, when compiling new defined media for other species of lactococci, the concentrations of amino acids in group (iii) should correspond to the amounts needed for the formation of biomass proteins and peptidoglycan, i.e. their concentrations in the medium should be in the same range than their amounts in the biomass. The concentrations of amino acids in groups (i) and (ii), however, should be in excess, i.e. higher than in biomass proteins, while these are needed for other biosynthetic pathways (e.g. nucleotide synthesis), additional energy costs, regeneration of redox compounds or biosynthesis of ammonia for balancing acid production. The concentrations of amino acids of groups (iv) and (v) may be relatively low compared with the amounts in biomass proteins, or the acids may be even omitted from the medium. Note that the requirements for some amino acids may increase at higher μ and amino acid concentration limitation may lead to an earlier growth halt as seen by comparing μ_{max} values of K40 and BS7 (Table 5).

4.2.1.3.6. Comparison of the BS7 and HAMmod media

Prior to the development of BS7, K40, V19 and other defined media presented in this thesis a medium called HAMmod was used in our laboratory for the cultivation of *Lactococcus lactis*. HAMmod is a defined medium that consists of self-weighed compounds and the commercial GIBCOTM F-12 Nutrient Mixture (see the Materials and Methods section). The BS7 medium is a completely self-weighed analogue of the HAMmod medium and was developed in order to dispose of the need for buying an expensive commercial nutrient mixture and thus reduce the cost of fermentation.

The amino acid concentration of the HAMmod medium as well as the maximal specific growth rate $(0.59 \pm 0.02 \text{ h}^{-1})$ and biomass yield (from 0.13 ± 0 to $0.17 \pm 0.01 \text{ g} \cdot \text{g}_{DW}$ from $\mu = 0.1 \text{ h}^{-1}$ to μ_{max}) obtained with *L. lactis* IL1403 were similar to those of BS7 (Table 5). Similarly, the groups of amino acids based on cell requirements were the same as indicated in the previous chapter.

In addition, a thorough examination of the amino acid and energy metabolism of *L. lactis* IL1403 on the HAMmod medium by using continuous cultivations and various omics methods has been conducted in Publication IV. The results demonstrated that the efficiency of the metabolism and incorporation of amino acids into the biomass of IL1403 increased with specific growth rate. Thus, changing the specific growth rate is another factor, in addition to medium optimization, for altering the flux of consumed amino acids to protein and peptidoglycan formation.

The A-stat cultivations of *L. lactis* IL1403 on the HAMmod medium demonstrated that several proteins involved in amino acid metabolism were downregulated with increasing μ (Figure 11). Examples include proteins from the ADI pathway (Figure 11A), glutamine and BCAAs degradation reactions (Figures 11B and 11C) and biosynthesis of several amino acids (Figure 11D). Thus, similarly to growth in the conditions of limited nutrient supply, additional energy generation through arginine degradation and the production of amino acid degradation byproducts were decreased at higher μ values and the cells preferred to take up amino acids from the environment instead of biosynthesizing them.



Figure 11. Changes in protein expressions of *L. lactis* IL1403 during A-stat cultivations with the HAMmod medium: A – Proteins involved in arginine degradation to ornithine (ADI pathway). Arginine deiminase ArcA (\blacklozenge); ornithine carbamoyltransferase ArcB (\blacklozenge); B – Proteins involved in glutamine degradation to carbamoyl-phosphate or glutamate. Carbamoyl phosphate synthases CarA (\blacksquare) and CarB (\blacktriangle); glutamate synthases GltB (\blacktriangledown) and GltD (\bullet); C – Proteins involved in the biosynthesis of aroma compounds from branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) isoleucine, leucine and valine. Aromatic amino acid aminotransferase AraT (\blacklozenge); branched-chain amino acids. Aminotransferase BcaT (\bullet); D – Proteins involved in the biosynthesis of amino acids. Aminotransferase AspC (\blacksquare , biosynthesis of alanine from pyruvate); cysteine synthase CysM (\bigstar , biosynthesis of lysine from aspartate); pyrroline-5-carboxylate reductase ProC (\bullet , biosynthesis of proline from glucase). Samples were taken at $\mu = 0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4$ and 0.5 h⁻¹ and compared to 0.1 h⁻¹.

4.2.2. Determination of threonine catabolic pathways in *L. lactis* IL1403 (Publication II)

4.2.2.1. Effect of L-threonine concentration on glycine production

The synthetic medium developed in this thesis, BS7, was used to ascertain whether the threonine aldolase (TA) pathway leading to the biosynthesis of glycine and acetaldehyde, an important aroma compound in yoghurt, exists in *L. lactis* IL1403. It was noticed in previous experiments that glycine in biomass proteins was partially obtained by biosynthesis rather than taken up from the medium at low μ values [6]. Potential precursors for glycine biosynthesis in the IL1403 strain are glucose and Lserine [7], but the existence of a TA has not been verified. Nevertheless, preliminary experiments in test tubes demonstrated that glycine production increased when the concentration of L-serine or L-threonine was raised (data not shown). Glycine biosynthesis was at maximum and consumption of L-threonine was higher than that of L-serine if the concentration of the former in the medium exceeded that of Lserine (data not shown). The transport protein SerP1 is responsible for the uptake of both L-serine and L-threonine, which leads to a competitive inhibition [147].

In order to prove the presence of TA in *L. lactis* IL1403, D-stats at $\mu = 0.2$ h⁻¹ were carried out in three parallels where the concentration of L-threonine was smoothly changed from 1.24 to 4.13 mM and glycine was omitted from the medium. As we used a CDM with known compounds, measuring the amounts of nutrients utilized and produced in the medium gave easily interpretable results. The obtained data indicated a correlation between glycine production and L-threonine utilization (Figure 12). If the concentration of L-threonine in the medium was higher, then more L-threonine was consumed and more glycine biosynthesized, whereas L-serine utilization decreased (Figure 12). L-threonine was not fully consumed from the medium: about $57 \pm 2\%$ of the amount in the medium was utilized in the beginning and $30 \pm 1\%$ at the end of the experiment. Also, L-threenine and glycine in intracellular proteins were most likely obtained from the consumed L-threonine and about 14% of this amino acid was degraded to unknown products (Figure 13). However, acetaldehyde was produced in minute amounts and seemingly not converted to ethanol, as the production of the latter compound was constant and not dependent on the utilization of L-threonine or its concentration in the medium (Figure 12). The existence of TA in L. lactis IL1403 was thus rendered dubious and an experiment with the labelled L-threonine was carried out to shed light on this issue.



Figure 12. Threonine aldolase experiments: A – Production of glycine (purple triangles, \blacktriangle) and utilization of L-serine (blue triangles, \blacktriangle) and L-threonine (yellow triangles, \bigstar); B – Production of ethanol (red squares, \blacksquare) and acetaldehyde (black squares, \blacksquare). (Average results of three D-stat fermentations: millimoles per gram cell dry weight. I – utilization, O – production, AA – amino acid.).



Figure 13. Threonine degradation products. Calculations were based on comparing the amount of threonine utilized with the amount of glycine produced and amino acid concentrations in cellular proteins. (Purple – produced glycine secreted into the growth environment, dark blue – threonine in biomass, light blue – glycine in biomass, green – unknown degradation products.)

4.2.2.2. Experiment with ¹³C₄, ¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine

In order to confirm or disprove the occurrence of TA, a continuous cultivation was carried out where *L. lactis* IL1403 was first stabilized at $D = 0.2 \text{ h}^{-1}$ with 2.5 mM of L-threonine in CDM (BS7). After reaching the stationary phase, the feed was switched to a medium that contained 2.5 mM of ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine. The samples were collected at 60 min intervals during ten hours and measurements by LC-MS showed a clear incorporation of ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -threonine into the cells, its conversion to glycine and secretion of the latter compound into the extracellular environment (Figures 14a and 14b).



Figure 14a. Incorporation of labelled L-threonine. Ratios of extra- and intracellular labelled and unlabelled glycine to threonine after one hour of growth on the medium containing the ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine.



Figure 14b. Incorporation of labelled L-threonine. Ratios of extra- and intracellular labelled and unlabelled glycine to threonine after 10 hours of growth on the medium containing the ${}^{13}C_4$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine.

NMR measurements determined that the labelled L-threonine was degraded into glycine, ethanol, acetaldehyde and acetaldehyde hydrate and the ratio of glycine to the other three compounds was almost 1:1 (Figure 15). Therefore, TA was indeed present in the genome of *L. lactis* IL1403 and was activated if no extracellular glycine was available in the growth environment and when the L-threonine concentration in the medium exceeded that of L-serine.

In addition to the previously mentioned degradation products of L-threonine, peaks of other labelled compounds were seen in NMR spectra as well, but their concentrations were too low for accurate identification. *E. coli* is known to catabolize L-threonine via threonine dehydrogenase to 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate, which is followed by degradation to acetyl-CoA and glycine or aminoacetone and CO_2 [148]. The comparison of unidentified peaks to aminoacetone standard showed no match. Furthermore, according to NMR, L-threonine was degraded neither to lactate nor BCAAs. The ability to biosynthesize BCAAs would lead to a decreased consumption of these amino acids at higher L-threonine availability, but this did not happen (data not shown). The production of BCAAs from L-threonine could not

have taken place, since the IL1403 strain is auxotrophic for these amino acids (see Table 6 and [79, 91]) and the enzyme involved in the first step of the biosynthetic pathway was downregulated (see the next chapter). The unknown labelled peak in NMR disappeared in lyophilized samples, which hints that the unidentified degradation product of L-threonine was volatile and/or unstable.



Figure 15. NMR results for threonine degradation. The ratio between four products biosynthesised from the ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine. The sample was taken from the labelling experiment 10 hours after the regular feed was switched to the medium containing the ${}^{13}C_{4}$, ${}^{15}N$ -labelled L-threonine. The concentration of L-threonine in the feed was 2.5 mM and 37% of it was consumed by *L. lactis* IL1403.

4.2.2.3. Changes in protein expressions

Changes in protein expressions were measured in two D-stat experiments in which the concentration of the unlabeled L-threonine was increased from 1.24 to 4.13 mM. The samples were collected at three L-threonine concentrations (1.24, 2.86 and 3.99 mM) and these were compared with the initial sample (1.24 mM). The expression of serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT) GlyA was upregulated at a higher L-threonine availability (Figure 16), which hints that similarly to *S. thermophilus* [144], GlyA may possess a secondary activity as TA in *L. lactis* IL1403. In addition, the expression of four hypothetical proteins was increased when there was more L-threonine in the feed (Figure 16). Thus, these proteins might be associated with threonine catabolism as well.

The expressions of threonine dehydratase (IlvA) involved in the biosynthesis of BCAAs and alcohol dehydrogenase (AdhE), which is responsible for the conversion of acetaldehyde to ethanol, were both downregulated (Figure 16). The decrease in the expression of AdhE explains the constant production of ethanol (Figure 12 in chapter 4.2.2.1.) upon increasing the L-threonine concentration in the feed. The

conversion of acetaldehyde to ethanol is apparently a bottle-neck reaction: at higher L-threonine concentrations the cells were incapable of increasing ethanol production from acetaldehyde and the excess of acetaldehyde probably evaporated. Furthermore, the betaine ABC transporter permease (BusAB), which is involved in osmotic stress alleviation, was upregulated (Figure 16). This suggests an increase in the intracellular pools of acetaldehyde, which in turn, like lactate, might induce osmotic pressure [207-208]. The hypothesis of osmotic stress is supported by a 10% decrease in biomass yield and a 1.1–1.5-fold increase in the consumption of additional substrates – arginine, asparagine and cysteine – during the experiments (data not shown).



Figure 16. Changes in protein expressions during D-stat experiments at various L-threonine concentrations in the feed (average results of two fermentations): \mathbf{A} – Red diamonds (\blacklozenge) – alcohol dehydrogenase (AdhE), purple circles (\bullet) – serine hydroxymethyltansferase (GlyA) green triangles (\blacktriangle) – threonine dehydratase (IlvA), white inverted triangles (\bigtriangledown) – betaine ABC transporter permease (BusAB); \mathbf{B} – Putative uncharacterized proteins whose average expression changed at least 1.5-fold at different L-threonine concentrations and the standard error between the two analyzed fermentations was less than 20%. (White diamonds – YrgH; white squares – YsfA; white triangles – YsjD; white inverted triangles – YuaA. Samples were taken at C_{Thr} = 1.24, 2.86 and 3.99 mM and were compared to C_{Thr} = 1.24.).

Lastly, RibAB, which is part of the riboflavin biosynthetic pathway, was formidably upregulated. However, there was a great variability between parallel measurements: the fold change of RibAB was 2.01 during one and 6.18 during the other experiment. Nevertheless, as threonine supplementation and TA overexpression increase riboflavin production in *Ashbya gossypii* [209], speculations can be made that a small portion of glycine was used for purine and subsequent riboflavin biosynthesis. The facilitated biosynthesis of purines is supported by a 1.3-fold increase in the utilization of glytamine, which is also involved in nucleotide

biosynthesis [177]. Note that the produced riboflavin was apparently promptly directed to intracellular coenzyme biosynthesis, as no secretion of this vitamin was observed (data not shown).

4.2.2.4. Threonine aldolase activity in milk

Glycine is a sweet amino acid. In order to assess the possibility to develop fermented milk products which are sweetened with *in situ* produced glycine, experiments were carried out in which 1, 2.5, 5, 10 or 25 mM of L-threonine was added to milk. As *L. lactis* IL1403 is unable to metabolize lactose, another strain (1387) was used. The concentration of free glycine in pure milk was 0.063 mM. The addition of L-threonine had no effect on acidification speed and only minute amounts of glycine were produced: addition of 25 mM of L-threonine resulted in the biosynthesis of 0.124 mM of glycine. Based on these results three assumptions were made: (i) in contrast with the IL1403 strain, *L. lactis* 1387 might not have TA activity; (ii) TA is activated only if glycine is completely absent from the growth environment; (iii) TA activity in milk is low. The second hypothesis was supported by data obtained in experiments with yoghurt LAB *S. thermophilus* and *Lb. bulgaricus* in which inhibition of TA activity by glycine was observed [210]. The third claim was based on reference [211] reporting that 90-100% of acetaldehyde in milk was biosynthesized from glucose by *S. thermophilus* and *Lb. bulgaricus*.

5. CONCLUSIONS

- I Several new chemically defined media were developed for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403, which are more balanced in composition, suit better for studying amino acid metabolism, provide higher μ values and are cheaper than the media reported in the literature.
 - i. Low substrate supply limits interconversions between amino acids. Thus, decreasing nutrient concentrations in the medium increases the number of essential amino acids for growth. In addition to using different strains, the application of different media may be one reason behind the variations in literature data on nutritional requirements of a particular species.
- II Amino acids can be divided into groups based on whether these are solely used for the biosynthesis of cellular proteins and peptidoglycans or for other purposes as well.
 - i. The biosynthesis of glycine and proline is energetically favorable to consumption as the production of these amino acids is preferred to their uptake even if these are fully available in the growth medium.
 - ii. Balancing the medium composition and raising specific growth rate induce the cells to save resources by decreasing the production of amino acid byproducts and increasing the flux of amino acids to proteins.
 - iii. The division of amino acids into groups enables one to better design the development of defined media for other lactic acid bacteria by indicating which amino acids should be present in the medium in amounts lower than, equal to or higher than their respective concentrations in the biomass.
- III The use of synthetic media in combination with advanced cultivation methods and omics data is advantageous for confirming the presence of anabolic or catabolic pathways of nutrients in microbes, as was proved in this thesis by affirming the presence of the threonine aldolase route in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Raivo Vilu and senior scientist Kaarel Adamberg, who have helped to mold my manuscripts into respectable scientific articles. The Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies (CCFFT) has provided me with modern scientific equipment and a lot of self-tutoring possibilities. I thank my co-workers from the former Project 2.2 and other colleagues from CCFFT, especially Kerti – *La mala malisima*, for creating a pleasant and fruitful scientific atmosphere, and for praising my cakes. I owe much gratitude to my students Veronica and Darja for their participation in the experiments and to Petri-Jaan and Sten who taught me the bases of fermentation and analytics.

My PhD experience would not have been complete without a foreign internship. The Archimedes Foundation provided me with a scholarship for a four-month internship in San Miguel de Tucuman, Argentina. I send my greetings to my Argentinian supervisor Fernanda Mozzi at CERELA-CONICET (*Centro de Referencia para Lactobacilos*) for supporting me in every way, and to my colleagues Luciana, Julieta, Miguel, Gabriel, Marko and the girls from the 2nd floor.

I would particularly like to thank my family, my friends from my hometown Keila, the family of Edovald, my co-students at Tallinn University of Technology (also known as The Magical Team of Idiots) and my Spanish teachers Raul and Ricardo from Centro Picasso, for making my life interesting and memorable.

I am grateful to the organizations that have provided me with excellent extracurricular activities and thus offered me the necessary relief from stress during my PhD studies. Firstly, I express my deepest gratitude to the Estonian Fund for Nature (*Eestimaa Looduse Fond*; ELF), especially to my fellow volunteer workers Kaia and Indrek and to the ELF's staff. The voluntary work on the wooded and coastal meadows of Estonia to restore and maintain the habitats of endangered species has been wonderful. I especially enjoyed the work on Estonian small islands of Kesselaid, Osmussaar, Rammu, Vilsandi, Hobulaid and Kumari. Secondly, I praise Pille-Riin Moilanen for inviting me to join the Keila division of Women's Voluntary Defence Organization (*Naiskodukaitse Keila jsk*), where I have participated in many fascinating (military) events and workshops.

The financial support for this work was provided by (i) Enterprise Estonia, through the project EU29994 and EU48667; (ii) the Estonian Ministry of Education and Research, through the institutional research grants SF0140090s08, IUT 1927 and IUT 23-7; (iii) the Estonian Science Foundation through grant G9192, and (iv) the Graduate School "Functional materials and technologies" receiving funding from the European Social Fund under the project 1.2.0401.09-0079 in Estonia.
CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal data

Name: Date and place of birth: Citizenship: E-mail:	Kadri Aller November 18, 1987, Keila, Estonia Estonian aller@tftak.eu
Education	
2011 – present	Tallinn University of Technology (Tallinn, Estonia); PhD student, Chemistry and Gene Technology
2009 - 2011	Tallinn University of Technology; MSc <i>cum laude</i> , Applied Chemistry and Biotechnology
2006 – 2009	Tallinn University of Technology; BSc, Applied Chemistry and Biotechnology
1994 - 2006	Keila Gymnasium, Keila, Estonia; gold medal
Language skills	
Fluent Basic	Estonian, English Spanish, German, Russian
Special Courses	
8-13 June 2015	"Bioinformatics and omics in the next-gen sequencing era" in CERELA-CONICET", San Miguél de Tucumán, Argentina. Duration one week.
26-31 July 2010	"Alps Bio Cluster International Summer School on Biotechnology" in Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, Freising, Germany. Duration one week.

Professional employment

2007 – present	The Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies (CCFFT), Tallinn, Estonia. Intern: November 2007 – April 2008; researcher: July 2008 – present.
2015	<i>Centro de Referencia para Lactobacilos</i> (CERELA- CONICET), San Miguél de Tucumán, Argentina. Professional internship, duration four months.
Teaching and supervising	
2014	Supervisor of Darja Feštšenko's BSc thesis about B- group vitamin utilization by lactic acid bacteria at different specific growth rate values.
2012	Supervisor of Veronica Timarova's BSc thesis about optimizing the mineral salts content of a defined medium for lactic acid bacteria.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Isikuandmed

Ees- ja perekonnanimi: Sünniaeg ja -koht: Kodakondsus: E-posti aadress:	Kadri Aller 18. november 1987, Keila, Eesti Eesti aller@tftak.eu
Hariduskäik	
2011 – hetkeni	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool, Tallinn, Eesti; doktorant keemia ja geenitehnoloogia erialal.
2009 – 2011	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool; magistrikraad rakenduskeemia ja biotehnoloogia erialal; <i>cum laude</i> .
2006 – 2009	Tallinna Tehnikaülikool; bakalaureusekraad rakenduskeemia ja biotehnoloogia erialal.
1994 – 2006	Keila Gümnaasium, Keila, Eesti; kuldmedal.
Keelteoskus	
Kõrgtase Algtase	eesti, inglise hispaania, saksa, vene
Täiendusõpe	
0813.06.2015	Kursus "Bioinformatics and omics in the next-gen sequencing era" CERELA-CONICET laboris, San Miguél de Tucumán, Argentina.
2631.07.2010	Kursus "Alps Bio Cluster International Summer School on Biotechnology" Weihenstephan- Triesdorfi ülikoolis Weihenstephan-Triesdorf University of Applied Sciences, Freising, Saksamaa.

Erialane teenistuskäik

2007 – hetkeni	Toidu- ja Fermentatsioonitehnoloogia Arenduskeskus (TFTAK), Tallinn, Eesti. Praktikant: november 2007 – aprill 2008; laborant: juuli 2008 – hetkeni.
2015	Neljakuune praktika laktobatsillide uurimiskeskuses <i>Centro de Referencia para Lactobacilos</i> (CERELA- CONICET), San Miguél de Tucumán, Argentina.
Juhendamine	
2014	Darja Feštšenko bakalaureusetöö " <i>Lactococcus lactis</i> 'e vitamiinide tarbimise kirjeldamine erinevatel kasvuerikiirustel" juhendamine.
2012	Veronica Timarova bakalaureusetöö " <i>Lactococcus lactis</i> 'e söötme mineraalainete sisalduse optimeerimine" juhendamine.

REFERENCES

- Price CE, Zeyniyev A, Kuipers OP, Kok J (2012) From meadows to milk to mucosa – adaptation of *Streptococcus* and *Lactococcus* species to their nutritional environments. FEMS Microbiol Rev 36(5):949-971. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00323.x
- Endo A, Okada S (2008) Reclassification of the genus *Leuconostoc* and proposals of *Fructobacillus fructosus* gen. nov., comb. nov., *Fructobacillus durionis* comb. nov., *Fructobacillus ficulneus* comb. nov. and *Fructobacillus pseudoficulneus* comb. nov. Int J Syst Evol Micr 58(9):2195-2205. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.65609-0
- 3. Carr FJ, Chill D, Maida N (2002) The lactic acid bacteria: a literature survey. Crit Rev Microbiol 28(4):281-370. doi:10.1080/1040-840291046759
- Pessione E (2012) Lactic acid bacteria contribution to gut microbiota complexity: lights and shadows. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2(86). doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00086
- Van de Guchte M, Serror P, Chervaux C, Smokvina T, Ehrlich SD, Maguin E (2002) Stress responses in lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 82(1-4):187-216. doi: 10.1023/A:1020631532202
- 6. Lahtvee PJ, Adamberg K, Arike L, Nahku R, Aller K, Vilu R (2011) Multi-omics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. Microb Cell Fact 10(12). doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-12
- Novak L, Loubiere P (2000) The metabolic network of *Lactococcus lactis*: distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled substrates between catabolic and anabolic pathways. J Bacteriol 182(4):1136-1143. doi: 10.1128/JB.182.4.1136-1143.2000
- 8. Xu N, Liu J, Ai L, Liu L (2015) Reconstruction and analysis of the genome-scale metabolic model of *Lactobacillus casei* LC2W. Gene 554(2):140-147. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2014.10.034
- Teusink B, Wiersma A, Molenaar D, Francke C, de Vos WM, Siezen RJ, Smid EJ (2006) Analysis of growth of *Lactobacillus plantarum* WCFS1 on a complex medium using a genome-scale metabolic model. J Biol Chem. 281(52):40041-40048. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606263200
- 10. Pastink MI, Teusink B, Hols P, Visser S, de Vos WM, Hugenholtz J (2009) Genome-scale model of *Streptococcus thermophilus* LMG18311

for metabolic comparison of lactic acid bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(11):3627-3633. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00138-09

- 11. Konings WN (2002) The cell membrane and the struggle for life of lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 82(1-4):3-27.
- Valenzuela JF, Pinuer LA, Cancino AG, Yáñez RB (2015) Metabolic fluxes in lactic acid bacteria – a review. Food Biotechnol 29(2):185-217. doi: 10.1080/08905436.2015.1027913
- Dressaire C, Gitton C, Loubière P, Monnet V, Queinnec I, Cocaign-Bousquet M (2009) Transcriptome and Proteome Exploration to Model Translation Efficiency and Protein Stability in *Lactococcus lactis*. PLoS Comput Biol 5(12): e1000606. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000606
- 14. Aller K, Adamberg K, Reile I, Timarova V, Peebo K, Vilu R (2015) Excess of threonine compared with serine promotes threonine aldolase activity in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Microbiology 161(Pt 5):1073-1080. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000071
- Flahaut NA, Wiersma A, van de Bunt B, Martens DE, Schaap PJ, Sijtsma L, Dos Santos VA, de Vos WM (2013) Genome-scale metabolic model for *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 and its application to the analysis of flavor formation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(19):8729-39. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-5140-2
- 16. Poolman B and Konings WN (1988) Relation of growth of *Streptococcus lactis* and *Streptococcus cremoris* to amino acid transport. J Bacteriol 170(2):700–707
- 17. Liu SQ (2003) Practical implications of lactate and pyruvate metabolism by lactic acid bacteria in food and beverage fermentations. Int J Food Microbiol 83(2):115-131. doi:10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00366-5
- Shiby VK, Mishra HN (2013) Fermented milks and milk products as functional foods – a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 53(5):482-496. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2010.547398
- Hammes WP, Bantleon A, Min S (1990) Lactic acid bacteria in meat fermentation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 87(1-2):165–174. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1990.tb04886.x
- Rhee SJ, Lee JE, Lee CH (2011) Importance of lactic acid bacteria in Asian fermented foods. Microb Cell Fact 10(Suppl 1):S5. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-S1-S5

- Di Cagno R, Coda R, De Angelis M, Gobbetti M (2013) Exploitation of vegetables and fruits through lactic acid fermentation. Food Microbiol 33(1):1-10. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2012.09.003
- 22. Coda R, Cagno RD, Gobbetti M, Rizzello CG (2014) Sourdough lactic acid bacteria: exploration of non-wheat cereal-based fermentation. Food Microbiol 37:51-58. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2013.06.018
- Lonvaud-Funel A (1999) Lactic acid bacteria in the quality improvement and depreciation of wine. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 76(1-4):317-331. doi: 10.1023/A:1002088931106
- 24. Lowe DP, Arendt EK (2004) The use and effects of lactic acid bacteria in malting and brewing with their relationships to antifungal activity, mycotoxins and gushing: a review. J Inst Brew 110(3):163–180. doi: 10.1002/j.2050-0416.2004.tb00199.x
- Ho VT, Zhao J, Fleet G (2015) The effect of lactic acid bacteria on cocoa bean fermentation. Int J Food Microbiol 205:54-67. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2015.03.031
- Gaspar P, Carvalho AL, Vinga S, Santos H, Neves AR (2013) From physiology to systems metabolic engineering for the production of biochemical by lactic acid bacteria. Biotechnol Adv 31(6):764-788. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.03.011
- 27. Hugenholtz J, Sybesma W, Groot MN, Wisselink W, Ladero V, Burgess K, van Sinderen D, Piard JC, Eggink G, Smid EJ, Savoy G, Sesma F, Jansen T, Hols P, Kleerebezem M (2002) Metabolic engineering of lactic acid bacteria for the production of nutraceuticals. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 82(1-4):217-235. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-2029-8_13
- Hugenholtz J (2008) The lactic acid bacterium as a cell factory for food ingredient production. Int Dairy J 18:466–475. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2007.11.015
- Mazzoli R, Bosco F, Mizrahi I, Bayer EA, Pessione E (2014) Towards lactic acid bacteria-based biorefineries. Biotechnol Adv 32(7):1216-1236. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2014.07.005
- Burgess CM, Smid EJ, van Sinderen D (2009) Bacterial vitamin B₂, B₁₁ and B₁₂ overproduction: an overview. Int J Food Microbiol 133(1-2):1-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.04.012
- 31. LeBlanc JG, de Savoy GS, Smid EJ, Hugenholtz J, Sesma F (2007) Folate production by lactic acid bacteria and other food-grade microorganisms. In

Communicating Current Research and Educational Topics and Trends in Applied Microbiology ed. Mendez-Vilas, A. pp. 329–339. Badajoz, Spain: Formatex Research Center.

- 32. LeBlanc JG, Laiño JE, del Valle MJ, Vannini V, van Sinderen D, Taranto MP, de Valdez GF, de Giori GS, Sesma F (2011) B-Group vitamin production by lactic acid bacteria current knowledge and potential applications. J Appl Microbiol 111(6):1297-1309. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05157.x
- Monedero V, Pérez-Martínez G, Yebra MJ (2010) Perspectives of engineering lactic acid bacteria for biotechnological polyol production. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86(4):1003-1015. doi: 10.1007/s00253-010-2494-6
- 34. Ortiz ME, Bleckwedel J, Raya RR, Mozzi F (2013) Biotechnological and in situ food production of polyols by lactic acid bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97(11):4713-26. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-4884-z
- Badel S, Bernardi T, Michaud P (2011) New perspectives for Lactobacilli exopolysaccharides. Biotechnol Adv 29(1):54-66. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.08.011
- Ruas-Madiedo P, Hugenholtz J, Zoon P (2002) An overview of the functionality of exopolysaccharides produced by lactic acid bacteria. Int Dairy J 12(2-3):163-171. doi:10.1016/S0958-6946(01)00160-1
- Welman AD, Maddox IS (2003) Exopolysaccharides from lactic acid bacteria: perspectives and challenges. Trends Biotechnol 21(6):269-274. doi:10.1016/S0167-7799(03)00107-0
- Helinck S, Le Bars D, Moreau D, Yvon M (2004) Ability of Thermophilic Lactic Acid Bacteria To Produce Aroma Compounds from Amino Acids. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(7):3855–3861. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.7.3855-3861.2004
- Smid EJ, Kleerebezem M (2014) Production of aroma compounds in lactic fermentations. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol 5:313-326. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-030713-092339
- Dhakal R, Bajpai VK, Baek KH (2012) Production of GABA (γaminobutyric acid) by microorganisms: a review. Braz J Microbiol 43(4):1230-1241. doi: 10.1590/S1517-83822012000400001

- 41. Li H, Cao Y (2010) Lactic acid bacterial cell factories for gammaaminobutyric acid. Amino Acids 39(5):1107-1116. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0582-7
- Mrvčić J, Stanzer D, Solić E, Stehlik-Tomas V (2012) Interaction of lactic acid bacteria with metal ions: opportunities for improving food safety and quality. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28(9):2771-2782. doi: 10.1007/s11274-012-1094-2
- Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Kharrat P, Chatel JM, Langella P (2011) Lactococci and lactobacilli as mucosal delivery vectors for therapeutic proteins and DNA vaccines. Microb Cell Fact 10(Suppl 1):S4. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-10-S1-S4
- García-Fruitós E (2012) Lactic acid bacteria: a promising alternative for recombinant protein production. Microb Cell Fact 11:157. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-11-157
- Morello E, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Llull D, Solé V, Miraglio N, Langella P, Poquet I (2008) *Lactococcus lactis*, an efficient cell factory for recombinant protein production and secretion. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 14(1-3):48-58. doi: 10.1159/000106082
- 46. De Vuyst L, Leroy F (2007) Bacteriocins from lactic acid bacteria: production, purification, and food applications. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 13(4):194-199. doi: 10.1159/000104752
- 47. Perez RH, Zendo T, Sonomoto K (2014) Novel bacteriocins from lactic acid bacteria (LAB): various structures and applications. Microb Cell Fact 13(Suppl 1):S3. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-13-S1-S3
- 48. Wee YJ, Kim JN, Ryu HW (2006) Biotechnological production of lactic acid and its recent applications. Food Technol Biotechnol 44(2):163–172.
- 49. Celińska E, Grajek W (2009) Biotechnological production of 2,3butanediol – current state and prospects. Biotechnol Adv 27(6):715-725. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2009.05.002
- 50. Borah BM, Singh AK, Ramesh A, Das G (2009) Lactic acid bacterial extract as a biogenic mineral growth modifier. J Cryst Growth 311(9):2664-2672. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2009.02.015
- Cavanagh D, Fitzgerald GF, McAuliffe O (2015) From field to fermentation: the origins of *Lactococcus lactis* and its domestication to the dairy environment. Food Microbiol 47:45-61. doi: 10.1016/j.fm.2014.11.001

- 52. Dijkstra AR, Setyawati MC, Bayjanov JR, Alkema W, van Hijum SAFT, Bron PA, Hugenholtz J (2014) Diversity in robustness of *Lactococcus lactis* strains during heat stress, oxidative stress, and spray drying stress. Appl Environ Microbiol 80(2):603–611. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03434-13
- Bolotin A, Wincker P, Mauger S, Jaillon O, Malarme K, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Sorokin A (2001) The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Genome Res 11, 731-753. doi: 10.1101/gr.169701
- 54. Melchiorsen CR, Jensen NB, Christensen B, Vaever Jokumsen K, Villadsen J (2001) Dynamics of pyruvate metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. Biotechnol Bioeng 74(4):271-279. doi: 10.1002/bit.1117
- Ruggirello M, Dolci P, Cocolin L (2014) Detection and viability of Lactococcus lactis throughout cheese ripening. PLoS One 9(12):e114280. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114280
- 56. Bahey-El-Din M, Gahan CG (2011) *Lactococcus lactis*-based vaccines: current status and future perspectives. Hum Vaccin 7(1):106-109. doi: 10.4161/hv.7.1.13631
- 57. Marreddy RK, Geertsma ER, Permentier HP, Pinto JP, Kok J, Poolman B (2010) Amino acid accumulation limits the overexpression of proteins in *Lactococcus lactis*. PLoS One 5(4):e10317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010317
- Solem C, Dehli T, Jensen PR (2013) Rewiring Lactococcus lactis for ethanol production. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(8):2512-2518. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03623-12
- 59. Looijesteijn PJ, Boels IC, Kleerebezem M, Jeroen Hugenholtz J (1999) Regulation of exopolysaccharide production by *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* by the sugar source. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(11):5003-5008.
- Looijesteijn PJ, Trapet L, de Vries E, Abee T, Hugenholtz J (2001) Physiological function of exopolysaccharides produced by *Lactococcus lactis*. Int J Food Microbiol 64(1-2):71-80. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(00)00437-2
- 61. Burgess C, O'connell-Motherway M, Sybesma W, Hugenholtz J, van Sinderen D (2004) Riboflavin production in *Lactococcus lactis*: potential for *in situ* production of vitamin-enriched foods. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(10):5769-5777. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.10.5769-5777.2004

- Sybesma W, Starrenburg M, Tijsseling L, Hoefnagel MH, Hugenholtz J (2003) Effects of cultivation conditions on folate production by lactic acid bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(8):4542-4548. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.8.4542-4548.2003
- 63. Sybesma W, Burgess C, Starrenburg M, van Sinderen D, Hugenholtz J (2004) Multivitamin production in *Lactococcus lactis* using metabolic engineering. Metab Eng 6(2):109-115. doi: 10.1016/j.ymben.2003.11.002
- 64. Bongers RS, Hoefnagel MHN, Kleerebezem M (2005) High-level acetaldehyde production in *Lactococcus lactis* by metabolic engineering. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(2):1109-1113. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.2.1109-1113.2005
- 65. Passerini D, Laroute V, Coddeville M, Le Bourgeois P, Loubière P, Ritzenthaler P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Daveran-Mingot ML (2013b) New insights into *Lactococcus lactis* diacetyl- and acetoin-producing strains isolated from diverse origins. Int J Food Microbiol 160(3):329-336. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.10.023
- 66. Van de Bunt B, Bron PA, Sijtsma L, de Vos WM, Hugenholtz J (2014) Use of non-growing *Lactococcus lactis* cell suspensions for production of volatile metabolites with direct relevance for flavour formation during dairy fermentations. Microb Cell Fact 13:176. doi: 10.1186/s12934-014-0176-2
- 67. Hols P, Kleerebezem M, Schanck AN, Ferain T, Hugenholtz J, Delcour J, de Vos WM (1999) Conversion of *Lactococcus lactis* from homolactic to homoalanine fermentation through metabolic engineering. Nat Biotechnol 17(6):588-592. doi: 10.1038/9902
- Pool WA, Neves AR, Kok J, Santos H, Kuipers OP (2006) Natural sweetening of food products by engineering *Lactococcus lactis* for glucose production. Metab Eng 8(5):456-464. doi: 10.1016/j.ymben.2006.05.003
- 69. Gaspar P, Neves AR, Gasson MJ, Shearman CA, Santos H (2011) High yields of 2,3-butanediol and mannitol in *Lactococcus lactis* through engineering of NAD⁺ cofactor recycling. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(19):6826–6835. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05544-11
- Mifune J, Grage K, Rehm BH (2009) Production of functionalized biopolyester granules by recombinant *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(14):4668-4675. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00487-09

- Zhang J, Greasham R (1999) Chemically defined media for commercial fermentations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 51(4):407-421. doi: 10.1007/s002530051411
- 72. De Man JC, Rogosa M, Sharpe, ME (1960) A medium for the cultivation of lactobacilli. J Appl Bacteriol 23(1):130-135. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1960.tb00188.x
- 73. Terzaghi BE, Sandine WE (1975) Improved medium for lactic streptococci and their bacteriophages. Appl Microbiol 29(6):807–813.
- 74. Kimmel SA, Roberts RF, Ziegler GR (1998) Optimization of exopolysaccharide production by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* RR grown in a semidefined medium. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(2):659-664.
- 75. Levander F, Svensson M, Rådström P (2001) Small-scale analysis of exopolysaccharides from *Streptococcus thermophilus* grown in a semi-defined medium. BMC Microbiol 1:23. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-1-23
- Menon R, Shields M, Duong T, Sturino JM (2013) Development of a carbohydrate-supplemented semidefined medium for the semiselective cultivation of *Lactobacillus* spp. Lett Appl Microbiol 57(3):249-257. doi: 10.1111/lam.12106
- Li H, Qiu T, Gao D, Cao Y (2010) Medium optimization for production of gamma-aminobutyric acid by Lactobacillus brevis NCL912. Amino Acids 38(5):1439-1445. doi: 10.1007/s00726-009-0355-3
- 78. Rodríguez C, Rimaux T, Fornaguera MJ, Vrancken G, de Valdez GF, De Vuyst L, Mozzi F (2012) Mannitol production by heterofermentative *Lactobacillus reuteri* CRL 1101 and *Lactobacillus fermentum* CRL 573 in free and controlled pH batch fermentations. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(6):2519-2527. doi: 10.1007/s00253-011-3617-4
- Zhang G, Mills DA, Block DE (2009) Development of chemically defined media supporting high cell density growth of lactococci, enterococci, and streptococci. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(4):1080-1087. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01416-08
- Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Feštšenko D, Vilu R (2014) Nutritional requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(13):5871-5881. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-5641-7

- Khan H, Flint SH, Yu PL (2013) Development of a chemically defined medium for the production of enterolysin A from *Enterococcus faecalis* B9510. J Appl Microbiol 114(4):1092-1102. doi: 10.1111/jam.12115
- 82. Petry S, Furlan S, Crepeau MJ, Cerning J, Desmazeaud M (2000) Factors affecting exocellular polysaccharide production by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* grown in a chemically defined medium. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(8):3427–3431. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.8.3427-3431.2000
- 83. Torino MI, Hébert EM, Mozzi F, Font de Valdez G (2005) Growth and exopolysaccharide production by *Lactobacillus helveticus* ATCC 15807 in an adenine-supplemented chemically defined medium. J Appl Microbiol 99(5):1123-1129. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02701.x
- Berntsson RP, Alia ON, Fusetti F, Thunnissen AM, Poolman B, Slotboom DJ (2009) Selenomethionine incorporation in proteins expressed in *Lactococcus lactis*. Protein Sci 18(5):1121-1127. doi: 10.1002/pro.97
- 85. El Khattabi M, van Roosmalen ML, Jager D, Metselaar H, Permentier H, Leenhouts K, Broos J (2008) *Lactococcus lactis* as expression host for the biosynthetic incorporation of tryptophan analogues into recombinant proteins. Biochem J. 409(1):193-198. doi: 10.1042/BJ20070909
- 86. Novak L, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Lindley ND, Loubiere P (1997) Metabolism and energetics of *Lactococcus lactis* during growth in complex or synthetic media. Appl Environ Microbiol 63(7):2665-2670.
- Adamberg K, Seiman A, Vilu R (2012) Increased biomass yield of Lactococcus lactis by reduced overconsumption of amino acids and increased catalytic activities of enzymes. PLoS One 7(10):e48223. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048223
- 88. Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Vilu R (2016) Reduction of nutrient concentrations in a chemically defined medium increases amino acid usage efficiency in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. The manuscript has been submitted to FEMS Microbiology Letters.
- Hanrahan G, Lu K (2006) Application of factorial and response surface methodology in modern experimental design and optimization. Crit Rev Anal Chem 36 (3-4):141-151. doi: 10.1080/10408340600969478
- Zhang G, Block DE (2009) Using highly efficient nonlinear experimental design methods for optimization of *Lactococcus lactis* fermentation in chemically defined media. Biotechnol Prog 25(6):1587-1597. doi: 10.1002/btpr.277

- 91. Cocaign-Bousquet M, Garrigues C, Novak L, Lindley ND, Loubiere P (1995) Rational development of a simple synthetic medium for the sustained growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. J Appl Bacteriol 79:108-116. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1995.tb03131.x
- 92. Jensen PR, Hammer K (1993) Minimal requirements for exponential growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 59(12):4363-4366
- 93. Egli T (2015) Microbial growth and physiology: a call for better craftsmanship. Front Microbiol 6:287. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00287
- 94. Chervaux C, Ehrlich SD, Maguin E (2000) Physiological study of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* strains in a novel chemically defined medium. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(12):5306-5311. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.12.5306-5311.2000
- 95. Foucaud C, Francois A, Richard J (1997) Development of a chemically defined medium for the growth of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*. Appl Environ Microbiol 63(1):301-304.
- 96. Grobben GJ, Chin-Joe I, Kitzen VA, Boels IC, Boer F, Sikkema J, Smith MR, de Bont JA (1998) Enhancement of exopolysaccharide production by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* NCFB 2772 with a simplified defined medium. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(4):1333-1337.
- Hébert EM, Raya RR, de Giori GS (2000) Nutritional requirements and nitrogen-dependent regulation of proteinase activity of *Lactobacillus helveticus* CRL 1062. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(12): 5316–5321. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.12.5316-5321.2000
- Hébert EM, Raya RR, de Giori GS (2004) Nutritional requirements of Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. lactis in a chemically defined medium. Curr Microbiol 49(5):341-345. doi:10.1007/s00284-004-4357-9
- 99. Kim YJ, Eom, HJ, Seo EY, Lee DY, Kim JH, Han NS (2012) Development of a chemically defined minimal medium for the exponential growth of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* ATCC8293. J Microbiol Biotechnol 22(11):1518-1522.
- 100. Letort C, Juillard V (2001) Development of a minimal chemically-defined medium for the exponential growth of *Streptococcus thermophilus*. J Appl Microbiol 91(6):1023-1029. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2001.01469.x
- 101. Machii M, Watanabe S, Zendo T, Chibazakura T, Sonomoto K, Shimizu-Kadota M, Yoshikawa H (2013) Chemically defined media and

auxotrophy of the prolific l-lactic acid producer *Lactococcus lactis* IO-1. J Biosci Bioeng 115(5):481-484. doi: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2012.11.024

- 102. Møretrø T, Hagen BF, Axelsson L (1998) A new, completely defined medium for meat lactobacilli. J Appl Microbiol 85(4):715-722. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1998.00583.x
- 103. Saguir FM, de Nadra MC (2007) Improvement of a chemically defined medium for the sustained growth of *Lactobacillus plantarum*: nutritional requirements. Curr Microbiol 54(6):414-418. doi: 10.1007/s00284-006-0456-0
- 104. Santos F, Teusink B, Molenaar D, van Heck M, Wels M, Sieuwerts S, de Vos WM, Hugenholtz J (2009) Effect of amino acid availability on vitamin B₁₂ production in *Lactobacillus reuteri*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(12):3930-3936. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02487-08
- 105. Terrade N, Mira de Orduña R (2009) Determination of the essential nutrient requirements of wine-related bacteria from the genera *Oenococcus* and *Lactobacillus*. Int J Food Microbiol 133(1-2):8-13. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2009.03.020
- 106. Teusink B, van Enckevort FH, Francke C, Wiersma A, Wegkamp A, Smid EJ, Siezen RJ (2005) *In silico* reconstruction of the metabolic pathways of *Lactobacillus plantarum*: comparing predictions of nutrient requirements with those from growth experiments. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(11):7253-7262. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.11.7253-7262.2005
- 107. Veith N, Solheim M, van Grinsven KW, Olivier BG, Levering J, Grosseholz R, Hugenholtz J, Holo H, Nes I, Teusink B, Kummer U (2015) Using a genome-scale metabolic model of *Enterococcus faecalis* V583 to assess amino acid uptake and its impact on central metabolism. Appl Environ Microbiol 81(5):1622-1633. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03279-14
- 108. Vinay-Lara E, Hamilton JJ, Stahl B, Broadbent JR, Reed JL, Steele JL (2014) Genome-scale reconstruction of metabolic networks of *Lactobacillus casei* ATCC 334 and 12A. PLoS One 9(11):e110785. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110785
- 109. Van Niel EWJ, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1999) Nutrient requirements of lactococci in defined growth media. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:617-627. doi: 10.1007/s002530051569
- 110. Pedersen MB, Gaudu P, Lechardeur D, Petit MA, Gruss A (2012) Aerobic respiration metabolism in lactic acid bacteria and uses in biotechnology.

Annu Rev Food Sci Technol 3:37-58. doi: 10.1146/annurev-food-022811-101255

- 111. Jensen NBS, Melchiorsen CR, Jokumsen KV, Villadsen J (2001) Metabolic behavior of *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 in microaerobic continuous cultivation at a low dilution rate. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(6):2677-2682. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.6.2677-2682.2001
- 112. Nordkvist M, Jensen NBS, Villadsen J (2003) Glucose metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 under different aeration conditions: requirement of acetate to sustain growth under microaerobic conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(6):3462-3468. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.6.3462-3468.2003
- 113. Wegkamp A, Teusink B, de Vos WM, Smid EJ (2010) Development of a minimal growth medium for *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Lett Appl Microbiol 50(1):57-64. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02752.x
- 114. Hofvendahl K, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2000) Factors affecting the fermentative lactic acid production from renewable resources. Enzyme Microb Technol 26(2-4):87-107. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(99)00155-6
- 115. Adamberg K, Kask S, Laht TM, Paalme T (2003) The effect of temperature and pH on the growth of lactic acid bacteria: a pH-auxostat study. Int J Food Microbiol 85(1-2):171-183. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1605(02)00537-8
- 116. Åkerberg, C, Hofvendahl K, Zacchi G, Hahn-Hagerdal B (1998) Modeling the influence of pH, temperature, glucose and lactic acid concentration on the kinetics of lactic acid production by *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* ATCC 19435 in whole-wheat flour. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 49(6):682-690. doi: 10.1007/s002530051232
- 117. Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Nahku R, Abner K, Adamberg K, Vilu R (2009) Steady state growth space study of *Lactococcus lactis* in D-stat cultures. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 96(4):487-496. doi: 10.1007/s10482-009-9363-2
- 118. Broadbent JR, Neeno-Eckwall EC, Stahl B, Tandee K, Cai H, Morovic W, Horvath P, Heidenreich J, Perna NT, Barrangou R, Steele JL (2012) Analysis of the *Lactobacillus casei* supragenome and its influence in species evolution and lifestyle adaptation. BMC Genomics 13:533. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-13-533

- De Vos WM (1996) Metabolic engineering of sugar catabolism in lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 70(2-4):223-242. doi: 10.1007/BF00395934
- Fusco V, Quero GM, Cho GS, Kabisch J, Meske D, Neve H, Bockelmann W, Franz CMAP (2015) The genus *Weissella*: taxonomy, ecology and biotechnological potential. Front Microbiol 6:155. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00155
- 121. McLeod A, Nyquist OL, Snipen L, Naterstad K, Axelsson L (2008) Diversity of *Lactobacillus sakei* strains investigated by phenotypic and genotypic methods. Syst Appl Microbiol 31(5):393-403. doi: 10.1016/j.syapm.2008.06.002
- 122. Wegkamp A, van Oorschot W, de Vos WM, Smid EJ (2007) Characterization of the role of *para*-aminobenzoic acid biosynthesis in folate production by *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 73(8):2673-2681. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02174-06
- 123. Hoskisson PA, Hobbs G (2005) Continuous culture making a comeback? Microbiology 151(Pt 10):3153-3159. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.27924-0
- 124. Bull AT (2010) The renaissance of continuous culture in the postgenomics age. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 37(10):993-1021. doi: 10.1007/s10295-010-0816-4
- Gresham D, Dunham MJ (2014) The enduring utility of continuous culturing in experimental evolution. Genomics 104(6 Pt A):399-405. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2014.09.015
- 126. Novick A, Szilard L (1950) Description of the chemostat. Science 112(2920):715-716. doi: 10.1126/science.112.2920.715
- Bryson V, Szybalski W (1952) Microbial selection. Science 116(3003):45-51. doi: 10.1126/science.116.3003.45
- 128. Ercan O, Smid EJ, Kleerebezem M (2013) Quantitative physiology of Lactococcus lactis at extreme low-growth rates. Environ Microbiol 15(8):2319-2332. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12104
- Herbert D (1961) A theoretical analysis of continuous culture systems, p. 21-53. In D. W. Hastings et al. (ed.), Continuous culture of micro-organisms. Society of Chemical Industry, London, United Kingdom.

- Adamberg K, Valgepea K, Vilu R (2015) Advanced continuous cultivation methods for systems microbiology. Microbiology 161(9):1707-1719. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000146
- 131. Paalme T, Kahru A, Elken R, Vanatalu K, Tiisma K, Vilu R (1995) The computer-controlled continuous culture of *Escherichia coli* with smooth change of dilution rate (A-stat). J Microbiol Methods 24(2):145-153. doi: 10.1016/0167-7012(95)00064-X
- 132. Valgepea K, Adamberg K, Nahku R, Lahtvee PJ, Arike L, Vilu R (2010) Systems biology approach reveals that overflow metabolism of acetate in *Escherichia coli* is triggered by carbon catabolite repression of acetyl-CoA synthetase. BMC Syst Biol 4:166. doi: 10.1186/1752-0509-4-166
- Kasemets K, Drews M, Nisamedtinov I, Adamberg K, Paalme T (2003) Modification of A-stat for the characterization of microorganisms. J Microbiol Methods 55(1):187-200. doi: 10.1016/S0167-7012(03)00143-X
- 134. Lovitt RW, Wimpenny JW (1981) The gradostat: a bidirectional compound chemostat and its application in microbiological research. J Gen Microbiol 127(2):261-268. doi: 10.1099/00221287-127-2-261
- 135. Toprak E, Veres A, Yildiz S, Pedraza JM, Chait R, Paulsson J, Kishony R (2013) Building a morbidostat: an automated continuous-culture device for studying bacterial drug resistance under dynamically sustained drug inhibition. Nat Protoc 8(3):555-567. doi: 10.1038/nprot.nprot.2013.021
- 136. Ardö Y (2006) Flavour formation by amino acid catabolism. Biotechnol Adv 24(2):238-242. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2005.11.005
- 137. Van Kranenburg R, Kleerebezem M, van Hylckama Vlieg J, Ursing BM, Boekhorst J, Smit BA, Ayad EHE, Smit G, Siezen RJ (2002) Flavour formation from amino acids by lactic acid bacteria: predictions from genome sequence analysis. Int Dairy J 12(2-3):111-121. doi: 10.1016/S0958-6946(01)00132-7
- 138. Dallagnol AM, Catalán CA, Mercado MI, Font de Valdez G, Rollán GC (2011) Effect of biosynthetic intermediates and citrate on the phenyllactic and hydroxyphenyllactic acids production by *Lactobacillus plantarum* CRL 778. J Appl Microbiol 111(6):1447-1455. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05159.x
- 139. Valerio F, Lavermicocca P, Pascale M, Visconti A (2004) Production of phenyllactic acid by lactic acid bacteria: an approach to the selection of strains contributing to food quality and preservation. FEMS Microbiol Lett

233(2):289-295. 6968.2004.tb09494.x

140. Fernández M, Zúñiga M (2006) Amino acid catabolic pathways of lactic acid bacteria. Crit Rev Microbiol 32(3):155-183.

doi:

- Landete JM, Ferrer S, Pardo I (2007) Biogenic amine production by lactic acid bacteria, acetic bacteria and yeast isolated from wine. Food Control 18(12):1569-1574. doi: 10.1016/j.foodcont.2006.12.008
- 142. Lorencová E, Buňková L, Matoulková D, Dráb V, Pleva P, Kubáň V, Buňka F (2012) Production of biogenic amines by lactic acid bacteria and bifidobacteria isolated from dairy products and beer. Int J Food Sci Tech 47(10):2086-2091. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2012.03074.x
- 143. Christensen JE, Dudley EG, Pederson JA, Steele JL (1999) Peptidases and amino acid catabolism in lactic acid bacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 76(1-4):217-246. doi: 10.1023/A:1002001919720
- 144. Chaves ACSD, Fernandez M, Lerayer ALS, Mierau I, Kleerebezem M, Hugenholtz J (2002) Metabolic engineering of acetaldehyde production by *Streptococcus thermophilus*. Appl Environ Microbiol 68(11):5656-5662. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.11.5656-5662.2002
- 145. Ogawa H, Gomi T, Fujioka M (2000) Serine hydroxymethyltransferase and threonine aldolase: are they identical? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 32(3):289-301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1357-2725(99)00113-2
- 146. Liu JQ, Dairi T, Itoh N, Kataoka M, Shimizu S, Yamada H (1998) Gene cloning, biochemical characterization and physiological role of a thermostable low-specificity L-threonine aldolase from *Escherichia coli*. Eur J Biochem 255(1):220-226. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.1998.2550220.x
- 147. Noens EE, Lolkema JS (2015) Physiology and substrate specificity of two closely related amino acid transporters SerP1 and SerP2 of *Lactococcus lactis*. J Bacteriol 197(5):951-958. doi: 10.1128/JB.02471-14
- 148. Marcus JP, Dekker EE (1993) pH-dependent decarboxylation of 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate, the unstable intermediate in the threonine dehydrogenaseinitiated pathway for threonine utilization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 190(3):1066-1072. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/bbrc.1993.1157
- 149. Borneman AR, McCarthy JM, Chambers PJ, Bartowsky EJ (2012) Comparative analysis of the *Oenococcus oeni* pan genome reveals genetic diversity in industrially-relevant pathways. BMC Genomics 13:373. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-13-373

- 150. Hu P, Yang M, Zhang A, Wu J, Chen B, Hua Y, Yu J, Xiao J, Jin M (2011) Complete genome sequence of *Streptococcus suis* serotype 14 strain JS14. J Bacteriol 193(9):2375-2376. doi: 10.1128/JB.00083-11
- 151. Sun Z, Chen X, Wang J, Zhao W, Shao Y, Wu L, Zhou Z, Sun T, Wang L, Meng H, Zhang H, Chen W (2011) Complete genome sequence of *Streptococcus thermophilus* strain ND03. J Bacteriol 193(3):793-794. doi: 10.1128/JB.01374-10
- 152. Adamberg K, Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Abner K, Vilu R (2009) Quasy steady state growth of *Lactococcus lactis* in glucose-limited acceleration stat (A-stat) cultures. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 95(3):219-226. doi: 10.1007/s10482-009-9305-z
- 153. Hälvin K, Paalme T, Nisamedtinov I (2013) Comparison of different extraction methods for simultaneous determination of B complex vitamins in nutritional yeast using LC/MS-TOF and stable isotope dilution assay. Anal Bioanal Chem 405(4):1213-1222. doi: 10.1007/s00216-012-6538-x
- 154. Ong SE, Blagoev B, Kratchmarova I, Kristensen DB, Steen H, Pandey A, Mann M (2002) Stable isotope labeling by amino acids in cell culture, SILAC, as a simple and accurate approach to expression proteomics. Mol Cell Proteomics 1(5):376-386. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M200025-MCP200
- 155. Wiśniewski JR, Zougman A, Nagaraj N, Mann M (2009) Universal sample preparation method for proteome analysis. Nat Methods 6(5):359-362. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1322
- 156. Rappsilber J, Mann M, Ishihama Y (2007) Protocol for micro-purification, enrichment, pre-fractionation and storage of peptides for proteomics using StageTips. Nat Protoc 2(8):1896-1906. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.261
- 157. Cox J, Mann M (2008) MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. Nat Biotechnol 26(12):1367-1372. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1511
- 158. BioCyc Database Collection [WWW] http://biocyc.org/ (10.11.2015)
- 159. KEGG: Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes [WWW] http://www.genome.jp/kegg/ (10.11.2015)
- Oliveira AP, Nielsen J, Förster J (2005) Modeling *Lactococcus lactis* using a genome-scale flux model. BMC Microbiol 5:39. doi: doi:10.1186/1471-2180-5-39

- 161. Makarova K, Slesarev A, Wolf Y, Sorokin A, Mirkin B, et al. (2006) Comparative genomics of the lactic acid bacteria. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(42):15611-15616. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607117103
- 162. O'Sullivan O, O'Callaghan J, Sangrador-Vegas A, McAuliffe O, Slattery L, Kaleta P, Callanan M, Fitzgerald GF, Ross RP, Beresford T (2009) Comparative genomics of lactic acid bacteria reveals a niche-specific gene set. BMC Microbiol 9:50. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-50
- 163. Passerini D, Coddeville M, Le Bourgeois P, Loubière P, Ritzenthaler P, Fontagné-Faucher C, Daveran-Mingot ML, Cocaign-Bousquet M (2013a) The carbohydrate metabolism signature of *Lactococcus lactis* strain A12 reveals its sourdough ecosystem origin. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(19):5844-5852. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01560-13
- Liu M, Bayjanov JR, Renckens B, Nauta A, Siezen RJ (2010) The proteolytic system of lactic acid bacteria revisited: a genomic comparison. BMC Genomics 11:36. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-36.
- 165. Delorme C, Godon JJ, Ehrlich SD, Renault P (1993) Gene inactivation in *Lactococcus lactis*: histidine biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 175(14):4391-4399.
- Godon JJ, Delorme C, Bardowski J, Chopin MC, Ehrlich SD, Renault P (1993) Gene inactivation in *Lactococcus lactis*: branched-chain amino acid biosynthesis. J Bacteriol 175(14):4383–4390.
- 167. Wegmann U, O'Connell-Motherway M, Zomer A, Buist G, Shearman C, Canchaya C, Ventura M, Goesmann A, Gasson MJ, Kuipers OP, van Sinderen D, Kok J (2007) Complete genome sequence of the prototype lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* MG1363. J Bacteriol 189(8):3256-3270. doi: 10.1128/JB.01768-06
- 168. Bachmann H, Starrenburg MJ, Molenaar D, Kleerebezem M, van Hylckama Vlieg JE (2012) Microbial domestication signatures of *Lactococcus lactis* can be reproduced by experimental evolution. Genome Res 22(1):115-124. doi: 10.1101/gr.121285.111
- 169. Bringel F, Hubert JC (2003) Extent of genetic lesions of the arginine and pyrimidine biosynthetic pathways in *Lactobacillus plantarum*, *L. paraplantarum*, *L. pentosus*, and *L. casei*: prevalence of CO₂-dependent auxotrophs and characterization of deficient *arg* genes in *L. plantarum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(5):2674-2683. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.5.2674-2683.2003

- 170. Kelly WJ, Ward LJ, Leahy SC (2010) Chromosomal diversity in Lactococcus lactis and the origin of dairy starter cultures. Genome Biol Evol 2:729-744. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evq056
- 171. Madsen SM, Albrechtsen B, Hansen EB, Israelsen H (1996) Cloning and transcriptional analysis of two threonine biosynthetic genes from *Lactococcus lactis* MG1614. J Bacteriol 178(13):3689-3694.
- 172. Guédon E, Sperandio B, Pons N, Ehrlich SD, Renault P (2005) Overall control of nitrogen metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* by CodY, and possible models for CodY regulation in Firmicutes. Microbiology 151(Pt 12):3895-3909. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.28186-0
- 173. Chen J, Shen J, Solem C, Jensen PR (2013) Oxidative stress at high temperatures in *Lactococcus lactis* due to an insufficient supply of riboflavin. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(19):6140-6147. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01953-13
- 174. Burgess CM, Slotboom DJ, Geertsma ER, Duurkens RH, Poolman B, van Sinderen D (2006) The riboflavin transporter RibU in *Lactococcus lactis*: molecular characterization of gene expression and the transport mechanism. J Bacteriol 188(8):2752-2760. doi: 10.1128/JB.188.8.2752-2760.2006
- 175. Genschel U (2004) Coenzyme A biosynthesis: reconstruction of the pathway in archaea and an evolutionary scenario based on comparative genomics. Mol Biol Evol 21(7):1242-1251. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msh119
- 176. Begley TP, Kinsland C, Mehl RA, Osterman A, Dorrestein P (2001) The biosynthesis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotides in bacteria. Vitam Horm 61:103-119. doi: 10.1016/S0083-6729(01)61003-3
- 177. Kilstrup M, Hammer K, Jensen PR, Martinussen J (2005) Nucleotide metabolism and its control in lactic acid bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 29(3):555-590. doi:10.1016/j.femsre.2005.04.006
- 178. Rodionov DA, Vitreschak AG, Mironov AA, Gelfand MS (2002) Comparative genomics of thiamin biosynthesis in procaryotes. New genes and regulatory mechanisms. J Biol Chem 277(50):48949-48959. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M208965200
- 179. Sissi C, Palumbo M (2009) Effects of magnesium and related divalent metal ions in topoisomerase structure and function. Nucleic Acids Res 37(3):702–711. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp024

- 180. Lambert PA, Hancock IC, Baddiley J (1975) The interaction of magnesium ions with teichoic acid. Biochem J 149(3):519-524.
- 181. Archibald FS, Fridovich I (1981) Manganese, superoxide dismutase, and oxygen tolerance in some lactic acid bacteria. J Bacteriol 146(3):928–936.
- Barré O, Mourlane F, Solioz M (2007) Copper induction of lactate oxidase of *Lactococcus lactis*: a novel metal stress response. J Bacteriol 189(16):5947-5954. doi: 10.1128/JB.00576-07
- 183. Chan SHJ, Nørregaard L, Solem C, Jensen PR (2014) Acetate kinase isozymes confer robustness in acetate metabolism. PLoS One 9(3):e92256. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092256
- Reed KE, Cronan JE Jr (1993) Lipoic acid metabolism in *Escherichia coli*: sequencing and functional characterization of the *lipA* and *lipB* genes. J Bacteriol 175(5):1325-1336.
- 185. Imbert M, Blondeau R (1998) On the iron requirement of lactobacilli grown in chemically defined medium. Curr Microbiol 37(1):64-66.
- 186. Pandey A, Bringel F, Meyer JM (1994) Iron requirement and search for siderophores in lactic acid bacteria. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 40(5):735-739. doi: 10.1007/BF00173337
- 187. Elli M, Zink R, Rytz A, Reniero R, Morelli L (2000) Iron requirement of *Lactobacillus* spp. in completely chemically defined growth media. J Appl Microbiol 88(4):695-703. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2000.01013.x
- Duetz WA (2007) Microtiter plates as mini-bioreactors: miniaturization of fermentation methods. Trends Microbiol 15(10):469-475. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2007.09.004
- 189. Kensy F, Engelbrecht C, Büchs J (2009) Scale-up from microtiter plate to laboratory fermenter: evaluation by online monitoring techniques of growth and protein expression in *Escherichia coli* and *Hansenula polymorpha* fermentations. Microb Cell Fact 8(68). doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-8-68
- 190. Otto R, ten Brink B, Veldkamp H, Konings WN (1983) The relation between growth rate and electrochemical proton gradient of *Streptococcus cremoris*. FEMS Microbiology Lett 16(1):69-74. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1983.tb00261.x
- 191. Berry AR, Franco CMM, Zhang W, Middelberg APJ (1999) Growth and lactic acid production in batch culture of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* in a

defined medium. Biotechnol Lett 21(2):163-167. doi: 10.1023/A:1005483609065

- 192. Dressaire C, Redon E, Milhem H, Besse P, Loubière P, Cocaign-Bousquet M (2008) Growth rate regulated genes and their wide involvement in the *Lactococcus lactis* stress responses. BMC Genomics 9(343). doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-343
- 193. Zacharof MP, Lovitt RW (2013) Low molecular weight liquid media development for *Lactobacilli* producing bacteriocins. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 88(1):72–80. doi: 10.1002/jctb.3892
- 194. Jensen NBS, Christensen B, Nielsen J, Villadsen J (2002) The simultaneous biosynthesis and uptake of amino acids by *Lactococcus lactis* studied by ¹³C-labeling experiments. Biotechnol Bioeng 78(1):11-16. doi: 10.1002/bit.10211
- 195. Raya R, Bardowski J, Andersen PS, Ehrlich SD, Chopin A (1998) Multiple transcriptional control of the *Lactococcus lactis trp* operon. J Bacteriol 180(12):3174-3180.
- 196. Limauro D, Falciatore A, Basso AL, Forlani G, De Felice M (1996) Proline biosynthesis in *Streptococcus thermophilus*: characterization of the *proBA* operon and its products. Microbiology 142(Pt 11):3275-3282. doi: 10.1099/13500872-142-11-3275
- 197. Sperandio B, Polard P, Ehrlich DS, Renault P, Guédon E (2005) Sulfur amino acid metabolism and its control in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J Bacteriol 187(11):3762-3778. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.11.3762-3778.2005
- 198. Konings WN, Poolman B, Driessen AJ (1989) Bioenergetics and solute transport in lactococci. Crit Rev Microbiol 16(6):419-476.
- 199. Le Bars D, Yvon M (2008) Formation of diacetyl and acetoin by Lactococcus lactis via aspartate catabolism. J Appl Microbiol 104(1):171-177. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03539.x
- 200. Serrazanetti DI, Ndagijimana M, Sado-Kamdem SL, Corsetti A, Vogel RF, Ehrmann M, Guerzoni ME (2011) Acid stress-mediated metabolic shift in *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* LSCE1. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(8):2656-2666. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01826-10
- 201. Gocke D, Nguyen CL, Pohl M, Stillger T, Walter L, Müller M (2007) Branched-chain keto acid decarboxylase from *Lactococcus lactis* (KdcA), a valuable thiamine diphosphate-dependent enzyme for asymmetric C-C

bond formation. Adv Synth Catal 349:1425-1435. doi: 10.1002/adsc.200700057

- 202. Mulligan JH, Snell EE (1977) Transport and metabolism of vitamin B_6 in lactic acid bacteria. J Biol Chem 252(3):835-839.
- 203. Rijnen L, Bonneau S, Yvon M (1999) Genetic characterization of the major lactococcal aromatic aminotransferase and its involvement in conversion of amino acids to aroma compounds. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(11):4873-4880.
- 204. Yvon M, Thirouin S, Rijnen L, Fromentier D, Gripon JC (1997) An aminotransferase from *Lactococcus lactis* initiates conversion of amino acids to cheese flavor compounds. Appl Environ Microbiol 63(2):414-419.
- 205. Ladero V, Rattray FP, Mayo B, Martín MC, Fernández M, Alvarez MA (2011) Sequencing and transcriptional analysis of the biosynthesis gene cluster of putrescine-producing *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(18):6409-6418. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05507-11
- 206. Schuurman-Wolters GK, Poolman B (2005) Substrate specificity and ionic regulation of GlnPQ from *Lactococcus lactis*. An ATP-binding cassette transporter with four extracytoplasmic substrate-binding domains. J Biol Chem 280(25):23785-23790. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M500522200
- 207. Loubiere P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Matos J, Goma G, Lindley ND (1997) Influence of end-products inhibition and nutrient limitations on the growth of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*. J Appl Microbiol 82:95-100. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1997.tb03302.x
- 208. Pieterse B, Leer RJ, Schuren FH, van der Werf MJ (2005) Unravelling the multiple effects of lactic acid stress on *Lactobacillus plantarum* by transcription profiling. Microbiology 151(12):3881-3894. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.28304-0
- 209. Monschau N, Sahm H, Stahmann KP (1998) Threonine aldolase overexpression plus threonine supplementation enhanced riboflavin production in *Ashbya gossypii*. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(11):4283-4290
- 210. Schmidt RH, Kennedy LB, McMullan EB, Mason ER (1989) Survey of the inhibitory effects of glycine on threonine aldolase activity of yogurt microorganisms. J Agric Food Chem 37(5):1215–1216. doi: 10.1021/jf00089a003

- 211. Ott A, Germond JE, Chaintreau A (2000) Origin of acetaldehyde during milk fermentation using (13)C-labeled precursors. J Agric Food Chem 48(5):1512-1517. doi: 10.1021/jf9904867
- 212. Terrade N, Noël R, Couillaud R, Mira de Orduña R (2009) A new chemically defined medium for wine lactic acid bacteria. Food Res Int 42(3):363-367. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2008.12.011
- 213. Van der Kaaij H, Desiere F, Mollet B, Germond JE (2004) L-alanine auxotrophy of *Lactobacillus johnsonii* as demonstrated by physiological, genomic, and gene complementation approaches. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(3):1869-1873. doi: 10.1128/AEM.70.3.1869-1873.2004
- 214. Savijoki K, Suokko A, Palva A, Varmanen P (2006) New convenient defined media for [35S]methionine labelling and proteomic analyses of probiotic lactobacilli. Lett Appl Microbiol 42(3):202-209. doi: 10.1111/j.1472-765X.2005.01853.x

APPENDIX 1. NUTRITIONAL REQUIREMENTS OF LACTIC ACID BACTERIA

The following abbreviations have been used in Tables S1-S5 (Appendix 1) and Tables S6-S11 (Electronic Appendix):

E – essential E. faecalis – Enterococcus faecalis EDTA - ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid EPS - exopolysaccharides L. cremoris – Lactococcus lactis subspecies cremoris L. lactis - Lactococcus lactis subspecies lactis Lb. – Lactobacillus Lb. bulgaricus – Lactobacillus delbrueckii subspecies bulgaricus Lb. lactis – Lactobacillus delbrueckii subspecies lactis Leuc. dextranicum – Leuconostoc mesenteroides subspecies dextranicum Leuc. mesenteroides – Leuconostoc mesenteroides subspecies mesenteroides MOPS - 3-(N-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid NE – nonessential O. oeni – Oenococcus oeni OD – optical density P. – Pediococcus S – stimulatory S. thermophilus – Streptococcus thermophilus

Species	Strain (and origin)	Reference	Ala	Arg	Asn	Asp	Cys
E. faecalis	B9510 (silage)	[18]	EN	ш	BE	E	s
E. faecalis	V583	[107]	閠	ш	Ð	IJ	閠
L. cremoris	MG1363	[15]	E	E	E	E	E
L. lactis	IL1403 (dairy)	[16]	퇸	ш	s		s
L. lactis	IL1403	[19]	s	ш	s	Ð	巴
L. lactis	IL1403	[80]	s	ш	ш	IJ	н 11
L. lactis	10-1	$[101]^2$	s	s	s	E	s
L. lactis	NCD02118 (vegetable)	[16]	s	s	s	E.	s
Lb. buchneri	CUC-3 (wine)	[105]	鬯	ы	E	IJ	s
Lb. bulgaricus	NCFB2772	[96]	ш	ш	s	s	ш
Lb. casei	ATCC334 (cheese), 12A (corn silage)	[108]	E	ы	E	s	巴
Lb. curvatus	NCFB2739 (meat products)	[102]	퇸	뜅	E	IJ	閠
Lb. helveticus	CRL974, 1062 (Argentinian hard cheeses)	[77]	SNE ³	ш	E	E	E
Lb. hilgardii	MHP (wine)	[105]	閠	ш	Ð	E	ш
Lb. lactis	CRL581, CRL654 (Argentinian hard cheeses)	[86]	s	ш	E	刡	ш
Lb. pentosus	NCFB363 (meat products)	[102]	Ð	붠	E	Ð	퇸
Lb. plantarum	N4, N8 (orange peels)	[103]	s	s	BI	E	ш
Lb. plantarum	NC8, NCFB1752 (meat products)	[102]	퇸	ш	E	IJ	퇸
Lb. plantarum	WCFS1	[106]	E	ш		E	S/NE ¹²
Lb. reuteri	JCM1112	[104]	퇸	ш		Ð	퇸
Lb. sake	NCFB2714, Lb16 (meat products)	[102]	s	ш	E/S ⁶	E	s
Leuc. dextranicum	CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742, CNRZ1744 (French raw milk cheeses)	[35]	퇸	ш	E	Ð	ш
Leuc. mesenteroides	ATCC8293 (olive fermentation brines)	[66]	巴	s	E	閠	s
Leuc. mesenteroides	CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697, CNRZ1750 (French raw milk cheeses)	[35]	퇸	ш	E	Ð	ш
0. oeni	R1034, R1054 (wine)	[105]	s	ш	ENE	SNE	ш
S. thermophilus	LMG18311	[10]	Ð	S/NE ⁵	Ħ	閠	s
S. thermophilus	ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST18, ST21	[100]	E	SNE ⁴	巴	SNE ¹⁰	s

Table S1. Amino acid requirements for the growth of different LAB species.

Val **巴巴班 巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴巴**西巴西 2000 € ∞ Tyr 目目近现现的一些目目的目标。2011年1月1日。11日月日日11日月11日)11日。11日11日11日11日11日。11日11日11日)11日。11日11日)11日。11日11日)11日。11日11日) T_T Thr Ser Pro Phe Met 目目目目目目。 呃日 呃日日 呃日日 呃吗? 目目目目目 吧。 Lys Leu пппппп мппппппппппппп п мпп<u></u>м Ile 目目目目目。《日阳阳日阳阳阳阳阳阳"。《日日日日日》 His ð ENE' NE SNE' Glu 변변로 NE R R R S El P 閏 suc. mesenteroides suc. mesenteroides Leuc. dextranicum S. thermophilus thermophilus Lb. plantarum Lb. plantarum Lb. plantarum Lb. buchneri Lb. bulgaricu: Lb. helveticu: Lb. pentosus Lb. curvatus Lb. hilgardii L. cremoris Lb. lactis Species E. faecalis Lb. casei Lb. reuteri E. faecalis L. lactis L. lactis L. lactis 0. oeni Lb. sake L. lactis L. lactis

APPENDIX 1 CONTINUED

(Table S1 continued)

- ¹ The following classification for nutrients was used in the reference: essential component (OD < 0.1); important component ($0.1 \le OD < 0.4$); somewhat important component ($0.4 \le OD < 0.6$); least important or detrimental component ($OD \ge 0.6$). In this table the least important components have been reclassified as nonessential (NE) and important or somewhat important components have been reclassified as stimulatory (S).
- ² This reference did not classify amino acids as stimulatory or nonessential. Thus, the amino acids have been listed as "stimulatory" in this table, if the omission of these lead to a growth rate < 80% of that obtained in the complete medium.
- ³ Stimulatory for the strain CRL1062 and nonessential for CRL974.
- ⁴ Stimulatory for strains ST1 and ST8 and nonessential for others.
- ⁵ The optical density of this strain in the medium lacking arginine was 71% of the value obtained on the complete medium, but the authors defined this amino acid as nonessential.
- ⁶ Essential for the strain Lb16 and stimulatory for NCFB2714.
- ⁷ Essential for the strain R1054 and nonessential for R1034.
- ⁸ Experiments were conducted on the MCD medium, which contained no aspartate or glutamate. The addition of these compounds to the complete MCD did not enhance growth rate.
- ⁹ Stimulatory for the strain R1054 and nonessential for R1034.
- ¹⁰ Stimulatory for the strain ST8 and nonessential for others.
- ¹¹ Cysteine and glutamine become essential in media where the concentrations of other amino acids are low.
- ¹² Growth rate of WCFS1 in a medium without cysteine was 82% and optical density 92% of the values obtained on the complete medium.
- ¹³ Stimulatory for strains ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11 and nonessential for others.
- ¹⁴ Essential for the strain 12A and stimulatory for ATCC334.
- ¹⁵ Essential for the strain ST8 and nonessential for others.
- ¹⁶ Essential for the strain CRL654 and nonessential for CRL581.
- ¹⁷ Essential for the strain CRL974 and stimulatory for CRL1062.
- ¹⁸ Essential for the strain N4 and stimulatory for N8.
- ¹⁹ Stimulatory for strains ST7, ST8, ST11 and nonessential for others.
- ²⁰ Essential for the strain R1054 and stimulatory for R1034.
- ²¹ Nonessential for the strain ST7 and stimulatory for others.
- ²² Stimulatory for strains ST8 and ST21 and nonessential for others.

Species	Strain	Reference	${\bf B}^{3+2}$	Ca ²⁺	Co ²⁺	Cu ²⁺	Fe ²⁺ I	Li ¹⁺ N	∕Ig ²⁺ 1	Лп²⁺ 1	Mo ⁶⁺]	Na ¹⁺ Ni ²	t Z	n ²⁺
E. faecalis	B9510	[81]					s		щ					
L. lactis	IL1403	[91]	Ē	붠	붠	E H	凹	Ē	щ	E	Ē		4	₽
L. lactis	IL1403	[79] ¹	s	s	s	s	s		щ	s	s	s		s
L. lactis	IL1403	[80]		붠	붠	s	뿬		щ	s	붠		~	₽
L. lactis	NCD02118	[91]	E ³	붠	鬯	E ³	凹	E E	щ	E	Ē		4	Ę
Lb. buchneri	CUC-3	[105]		뜅		붠	뿬		뷛	щ			~	₽
Lb. bulgaricus	CNRZ397	[94]	E4	ш	E4	E ⁴			ш		E4		-	4 1
Lb. bulgaricus	NCFB2772	[96]	쀥	ŝ	붠	쀥	붠		щ	щ	붠	Ż	~	₽
Lb. curvatus	NCFB2739	[102]					閚		s	s		SE8		
Lb. helveticus	CRL1062	[97]		붠			뿬		щ	붠			~	臣
Lb. hilgardii	MHP	[105]		붠		붠	붠		s	щ			4	臣
Lb. lactis	CRL581, CRL654	[98]					뿬		щ	뷛				
Lb. pentosus	NCFB363	[102]					뿬		뛷	s		B		
Lb. plantarum	NC8, NCFB1752	[102]					уĘ		뷛	s		푄		
Lb. sake	NCFB2714, Lb16	[102]					s		E/S ⁷	s		NE ⁸		
Leuc. dextranicum	CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742, CNRZ1744	[95]		閚	閚	閔	붠		s	s			4	毘
Leuc.	ATCC8293	[66]		閚	閚	巴	巴		s	s			4	Ę
mesenteroides														1
Leuc. mesenteroides	CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697, CNRZ1750	[95]		閚	鬯	붠	閚		s	s			4	甲
0. oeni	R1034, R1054	[105]		붠		뷛	뿬		뷛	щ			2	Ę
S. thermophilus	ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST18, ST21	[100]		ŝ	閔	閔	鬯		щ	巴			~	₽

Table S2. Metal ion requirements for the growth of different LAB species.

- ¹ The following classification for nutrients was used in the reference: essential component (OD < 0.1); important component ($0.1 \le OD < 0.4$); somewhat important component ($0.4 \le OD < 0.6$); least important or detrimental component ($OD \ge 0.6$). In this table the least important components have been reclassified as nonessential and important or somewhat important components have been reclassified as stimulatory.
- ² Boron is classified as a metalloid: a chemical element with properties in between those of metals and nonmetals.
- ³ This reference used the MCD medium which contained none of these metal ions. The addition of these compounds to the complete MCD did not increase growth rate. The composition of the MCD medium can be seen in Supplementary Table S6 (Electronic Appendix).
- ⁴ Boron, cobalt, copper, molybdenum and zinc were essential when all of these were omitted from the medium. Single omissions were not tested.
- ⁵ This reference used a medium that contained no calcium, but the addition of CaCl₂ to the medium had no effect on growth.
- ⁶ Iron was nonessential for the strain NC8 and inhibited the cell growth of NCFB1752.
- ⁷ Essential for the strain Lb16 and stimulatory for NCFB2714.
- ⁸ NaCl was found to be inhibitory for cell growth.

Table S3. Vitamin requirements for the growth of different LAB species. Thiamine (B₁), riboflavin (B₂), nicotinamide (B₃), pantothenate (B₅), pyridoxine (B₆), biotin (B₇), inositol (formerly B₈), folic acid (B₉), *para*-aminobenzoic acid (*p*ABA, formerly B_x), cobalamin (B₁₂) and ascorbic acid (C).

Species	Strain	Reference	Bı	\mathbf{B}_2	B ₃ ³	B5	${\mathbf B_6}^8$	\mathbf{B}_7	Inositol (B8) ¹⁵	\mathbf{B}_9	B12	$p ABA (B_x)^{18}$	С
E. faecalis	B9510	[81]	NE	S	Е	Е	Е	NE		S	NE	NE	
L. lactis	IL1403	[91]	NE	н	Е	Е	$^{\circ}$ S	S		NE	NE		
L. lactis	IL1403	[79] ¹	S	S	S	s	S	S	S	S		S	
L. lactis	IL1403	[80]	NE	н	NE	\mathbf{E}^{7}	E^{7}	NE	NE	\mathbf{S}^{7}	NE	\mathbf{S}^{\prime}	
L. lactis	IO-1	[101]	NE	NE	Е	Ш	NE	s^{1_4}		NE			NE
L. lactis	NCD02118	[91]	NE	NE	Е	Е	°s	S		NE	NE		
Lb. buchneri	CUC-3	[105]	NE	Э	Е	Е	S	NE		NE	NE	NE	
Lb. bulgaricus	CNRZ397	[94]	NE	Щ	н	Щ	E/NE ¹⁰	NE		н	Щ	NE	NE
Lb. bulgaricus	NCFB2772	[96]	NE	Щ	Е	Е	NE	NE		NE	S	NE	
Lb. curvatus	NCFB2739	[102]	NE	Е	Е	н	S	NE		s	NE	NE	
Lb. helveticus	CRL1062	[76]	NE	Щ	E/NE ⁴	Щ	Щ	NE		NE	NE	NE	
Lb. hilgardii	MHP	[105]	NE	Е	Е	Е	S	NE		NE	NE	NE	
Lb. lactis	CRL581, CRL654	[86]	NE	\mathbf{S}	Э	Щ	E/S^{11}	NE		NE	S	NE	
Lb. pentosus	NCFB363	[102]	NE	NE	Щ	Ы	S	S		S	NE	NE	
Lb. plantarum	NC8, NCFB1752	[102]	NE	NE	s	Е	S	S		s	NE	NE	
Lb. plantarum	WCFS1	[106]	NE	Щ	н	Щ	S/NE ¹²			NE		NE	
Lb. sake	NCFB2714, Lb16	[102]	S	Ш	Щ	ш	S	NE		s	NE	NE	
Leuc. dextranicum	CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742, CNRZ1744	[95]	S	S/NE ²	E/S^5	Щ	S/NE ¹³	NE		NE			NE
Leuc.	ATCC8293	[66]	S	NE	н	S	NE	NE		s	NE	NE	s
mesenteroides													
Leuc. mesenteroides	CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697, CNRZ1750	[95]	S	S/NE^2	Ш	Щ	S/NE ¹³	NE		S/NE ¹⁶			NE
O. oeni	R1034, R1054	[105]	NE	NE	н	ы	s	s		S/NE ¹⁷	NE	NE	
S. thermophilus	ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST18, ST21	[100]	NE	Е	E/S ⁶	E/S ⁶	NE	NE		NE	NE		NE ¹⁹

- ¹ The following classification for nutrients was used in this reference: important component ($0.1 \le OD < 0.4$); somewhat important component ($0.4 \le OD < 0.6$). In this table these two groups have been reclassified as stimulatory.
- ² Stimulatory for strains CNRZ1463, CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742 and nonessential for others.
- ³ This column does not distinguish between B₃ vitamers, nicotinic acid (nicotinate, niacin) and nicotinamide (niacinamide), unless stated otherwise.
- ⁴ Nicotinic acid was essential and niacinamide nonessential.
- ⁵ Stimulatory for the strain CNRZ1742 and essential for others.
- ⁶ Stimulatory for strains ST7 and ST11 and essential for others.
- ⁷ Pantothenate, pyridoxine and folic acid were needed to sustain growth in media with low amino acid concentrations and folic acid could be replaced with its precursor pABA.
- ⁸ This column does not distinguish between B₆ vitamers pyridoxal and pyridoxine or pyridoxamine unless stated otherwise.
- ⁹ The strain needed this vitamin when nucleotide bases were removed from the medium.
- ¹⁰ Pyridoxal was essential and pyridoxamine nonessential.
- ¹¹ Stimulatory for the strain CRL654 and essential for CRL581.
- ¹² Pyridoxamine was stimulatory and pyridoxine was nonessential.
- ¹³ Stimulatory for strains CNRZ1750 and CNRZ1742 and nonessential for others.
- ¹⁴ Cell growth in case of biotin omission was < 80% of that obtained in the complete medium.
- ¹⁵ Inositol was once considered a member of the vitamin B complex (B_8) .
- ¹⁶ Stimulatory for the strain CNRZ1750 and nonessential for others.
- ¹⁷ Stimulatory for the strain R1054 and nonessential for R1034.
- Para-aminobenzoic acid is not considered a vitamin anymore, but is used by lactic acid bacteria as a precursor for the biosynthesis of folates.
- ¹⁹ The removal of ascorbic acid was possible only if replaced by a protective agent against oxygen such as dithiotreitol.

διοκ αείδ									NE	ZE	NE												NE
(I) ənizonI										RE	NE					NE		S/NE ⁵		S			NE
(Tb) ənibimythyxoə U				NE						ZE						NE		S/NE ⁵		NE			NE
(Ob) ənizonsugyzoə (NE	ZE													
Santhine		S	S		S	RE	S	NE	\mathbf{E}_{2}^{7}	ЯE	ЯE	RE	S	NE	S	NE		RE				NE	NE
Hypoxanthine				NE					RE	NE													
Uracil (U)	s	S	S		S	NE	S	Щ	\mathbf{E}_{2}^{7}	Щ	Э	ZE	ZE	S/NE ³	S	RE		ΒË		S		RE	RE
(Т) эпітүлТ						ZE					ZE	ZE										NE	
(D) əninsuD	NE	S	S		S	ZE	NE	NE	$\rm E_2^2$	NE	ZE	NE	NE	NE	NE	NE		ZE				S/NE^4	RE
()) ənizoty)						ZE						NE										NE	
(A) əninəbA	RE	S	S		S	ZE	RE	S	E_{7}^{7}	RE	ЯE	S	S	S/NE ³	S	BE		RE		S		S/NE^4	Ë
Reference	[81]	[91]	[79] ¹	[80]	[91]	[105]	[102]	[96]	[94]	[97]	[98]	[105]	[102]	[102]	[102]	[95]		[95]		[66]		[105]	[100]
Strain	B9510	IL1403	IL1403	IL1403	NCD02118	CUC-3	NCFB2739	NCFB2772	CNRZ397	CRL1062	CRL581, CRL654	MHP	NCFB363	NC8, NCFB1752	NCFB2714, Lb16	CNRZ 1694, CNRZ 1742, CNB 7 1744		CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697,	CNRZ1750	ATCC8293		R1034, R1054	ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST18, ST21
Species	E. faecalis	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis	Lb. buchneri	Lb. curvatus	Lb. bulgaricus	Lb. bulgaricus	Lb. helveticus	Lb. lactis	Lb. hilgardii	Lb. pentosus	Lb. plantarum	Lb. sake	Leuc.	aexirantcam	Leuc.	mesenteroides	Leuc.	mesenteroides	O. oeni	S. thermophilus

Table S4. Purine, pyrimidine and nucleoside requirements for the growth of different LAB species.

- ¹ The following classification for nutrients was used in this reference: important component ($0.1 \le OD < 0.4$); somewhat important component ($0.4 \le OD < 0.6$). In this table these two groups have been reclassified as stimulatory.
- ² Nitrogen bases were essential when all four were omitted. Single omissions were not tested.
- ³ Stimulatory for the strain NC8 and nonessential for NCFB1752.
- ⁴ Stimulatory for the strain R1054 and nonessential for R1034.
- ⁵ Stimulatory for the strain CNRZ1750 and nonessential for others.
- ⁶ Orotic acid is a precursor of pyrimidine biosynthesis.
APPENDIX 1 CONTINUED

Species	Strain	Reference	K- or Na-acetat	Lipoic acid	Oleic acid	Tween 80
L. lactis	IL1403	[79] ¹	S	S		S
L. lactis	IL1403	[80]		Е		
L. lactis	NCDO2118	[91]	NE			NE
Lb. curvatus	NCFB2739	[102]	NE ²			Е
Lb. bulgaricus	NCFB2772	[96]	Е	NE		S
Lb. bulgaricus	CNRZ397	[94]	Е		NE	Е
Lb. helveticus	CRL1062	[97]	NE			S
Lb. lactis	CRL581, CRL654	[98]	S/NE ³			NE
Lb. pentosus	NCFB363	[102]	S			S
Lb. plantarum	WCFS1	[106]		NE		
Lb. plantarum	NC8, NCFB1752	[102]	S/NE ⁴			S
Lb. sake	NCFB2714, Lb16	[102]	S/NE ⁵			E/NE ⁶
Leuc. dextranicum	CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742, CNRZ1744	[95]				S
Leuc.	CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697,	[95]				S/NE ⁷
mesenteroides	CNRZ1750	[95]				S/INE
Leuc. mesenteroides	ATCC8293	[99]				S
S. thermophilus	ST1, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST18, ST21	[100]		NE		

Table S5. Fatty acid precursor requirements for the growth of different LAB species.

ı.

ı.

പം

- ¹ The following classification for nutrients was used in this reference: important component ($0.1 \le OD < 0.4$); somewhat important component ($0.4 \le OD < 0.6$). In this table these two groups have been reclassified as stimulatory.
- ² Stimulatory for all strains except CNRZ1750.
- ³ Omission of acetate did not affect growth rate and optical density was reduced only 8%.
- ⁴ Tween 80 was essential for the strain NC8 and inhibited the cell growth of NCFB1752.
- ⁵ Sodium acetate was nonessential for the strain Lb16. In case of NCFB2714, sodium acetate had a negative effect on specific growth rate and a positive effect on optical density.
- ⁶ Sodium acetate was found to be inhibitory for cell growth.
- ⁷ Stimulatory for the strain NC8 and nonessential for NCFB1752.

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

I Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Feštšenko D, Vilu R (2014) Nutritional requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98(13):5871-5881.

BIOTECHNOLOGICAL PRODUCTS AND PROCESS ENGINEERING

Nutritional requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403

Kadri Aller • Kaarel Adamberg • Veronica Timarova • Andrus Seiman • Darja Feštšenko • Raivo Vilu

Received: 10 December 2013/Revised: 21 February 2014/Accepted: 28 February 2014/Published online: 14 March 2014 © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2014

Abstract Lactic acid bacteria are extensively used in food technology and for the production of various compounds, but they are fastidious in nutrient requirements. In order to elucidate the role of each component precisely, defined multicomponent media are required. This study focuses on determining nutrient auxotrophies and minimizing media components (amino acids, vitamins, metal ions, buffers and additional compounds) for the cultivation of Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis IL1403, using microtitre plates and test tubes. It was shown that glutamine and asparagine were the most important media components for achieving higher biomass yields while the branched-chain amino acids were necessary to increase specific growth rate. The amino acid and glucose ratio was reduced to achieve minimal residual concentration of amino acids in the medium after the growth of cells, whereas the specific growth rate and biomass yield of cells were not considerably affected. As the percentage of each consumed amino acid compared to initial amount is larger than measurement error, these optimized media are important for achieving more precise data about amino acid utilization and metabolism.

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s00253-014-5641-7) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

K. Aller (⊠) · K. Adamberg · V. Timarova · A. Seiman · R. Vilu The Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies (CCFFT), Akadeemia tee 15A, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia e-mail: aller@tftak.eu

K. Aller · K. Adamberg · V. Timarova · D. Feštšenko · R. Vilu Department of Chemistry, Tallinn University of Technology, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia

K. Adamberg

Department of Food Processing, Tallinn University of Technology, Ehitajate tee 5, Tallinn 19086, Estonia

Keywords Chemically defined media · Lactococcus lactis · Media development · Nutrient requirements

Introduction

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) play an important role in food industry, especially in the production of dairy products due to their ability to contribute to the aroma and texture of products and to prevent spoilage of food (Price et al. 2012). In addition, LAB can enhance the consumer's health by stimulating the immune system, counteracting pathogens and producing a wide range of beneficial compounds such us vitamins and bioactive peptides (Sybesma et al. 2003; Hébert et al. 2004; Santos et al. 2009).

In order to increase the production of bioactive substances by LAB, the bacterial metabolism has to be studied in detail. Complex media such as MRS (de Man et al. 1960) are often used for the cultivation of LAB, but these types of media are not suitable for determining nutritional requirements due to the fact that they contain complex mixture of compounds (e.g. peptides), which are difficult to quantify by analytical methods (van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999; Kim et al. 2012). Also, as nutrients are abundant in complex media, the consumption of media components is low compared to the initial amounts present in the media, rendering analytical measurements imprecise. Thus, development and use of chemically defined media (CDM), i.e. synthetic media containing only simple molecules (sugars, amino acids, mineral salts, vitamins), is necessary for studying the quantitative peculiarities of growth physiology of LAB. Synthetic media that are used for studying bacterial metabolism have to contain nutrients in amounts comparable to their consumption, whereby the growth rate and yield of biomass should not be compromised. Chemically defined media have been developed for the cultivation of various species of LAB (Jensen and

Hammer 1993; Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995; Hébert et al. 2004; Wegkamp et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2009; Kim et al. 2012). However, in these media, amino acids and glucose ratio is not balanced to obtain maximal efficiency of consumption of amino acids (minimal residual concentrations after the growth of cells) which is required for comprehensive quantitative studies of amino acid metabolism as well as for optimization of high-density cultivation of biomass. Also, none of these publications have data about measuring the utilization of amino acids during growth in the media developed therein.

The aim of the current study was development of CDMs that can be used for exploring the amino acid metabolism of Lactococcus lactis subsp. IL1403. Our focus was specifically on developing a CDM, which has optimized carbohydrate to amino acid ratio supporting the highest possible biomass yields and specific growth rates. This is important for studying amino acid metabolism of cells in continuous cultivation experiments and for working out media, which can be used to produce starter cultures with high productivity. It is desirable that media for ensuring high productivity are also with balanced nutrient concentrations which would allow the nutrients to be fully consumed keeping their residual concentrations in the cultivations low. The process of media development involves extensive screening of nutrient auxotrophies and optimal concentrations of the components, which makes it necessary to carry out numerous cultivation experiments. Batch cultivations in microtitre plates (MTP) are feasible and affordable for such research and have been effectively used for the media development of lactic acid bacteria (Wegkamp et al. 2009; Zhang et al. 2009). Therefore, this type of cultivation was also implemented in the current study.

The organism used in this research, *L. lactis* IL1403, possesses the genes necessary for the biosynthesis of 20 standard amino acids and some cofactors (i.e. folic acid, riboflavin) (Bolotin et al. 2001). However, some of these genes are probably not functional, since the synthetic medium for *L. lactis* has to contain several amino acids, vitamins, metal ions and also some additional compounds like fatty acids or nitrogen bases to enable full maximal specific growth rate and yield of the cells (Jensen and Hammer 1993; Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995; Zhang et al. 2009). The metabolism of this organism is homofermentative, i.e. the main product derived from glucose is lactic acid, although small amounts of formate, acetate and ethanol are synthesized as well (Loubiere et al. 1997).

Materials and methods

Microorganism

The strain used in all the experiments was *L. lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403, which was provided by INRA (Jouy-en-Josas,

France). Inoculum was prepared from lyophilized stock culture stored at -80 °C which was pre-grown twice in test tubes at 34 °C on the commercially available complex medium M.R.S. Broth (Lab M; Lancashire, UK) for microtitre plate experiments or on a chemically defined medium BS7 (developed in our laboratory) for test tube experiments. In order to prevent carryover of nutrients, the pre-grown culture was washed three times with autoclaved (121 °C, 3 min) physiological solution (0.85 % NaCl (*w*/*v*)) before inoculation to other media, using Rotanta 460R centrifuge (Hettich, Tuttlingen, Germany; 11,500 rpm, 5 min, 4 °C) and sterile polypropylene centrifuge tubes (15 mL; VWR International, Radnor, PA, USA).

Media

The basis of our media development experiments was a chemically defined medium BS1 which was designed in our laboratory specifically for the better detection of amino acids. BS1 is a slight alteration of the CDM that has been previously used in our laboratory (Lahtvee et al. 2011). Composition of BS1 is as follows (mg L^{-1}): D-glucose—3,500, K₂HPO₄—900, KH₂PO₄—750, L-alanine—78, L-arginine—185, L-asparagine—74, L-aspartic acid—72, L-cysteine—64, L-glutamic acid—70, L-glutamine—132, glycine—58, L-histidine—60, L-isoleucine-102, L-leucine-207, L-lysine-158, L-methionine-41, L-phenylalanine-86, L-proline-92, L-serine-163, L-threonine-76, L-tryptophan-16, L-tyrosine-29, Lvaline-107, CaCl₂-50, CoSO₄·7H₂O-3, CuSO₄·5H₂O-3, FeSO₄·7H₂O-1.4, MnSO₄·H₂O-16, MgSO₄·7H₂O-200, NaCl-2,900, (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄·4H₂O-3, ZnSO₄·7H₂O-5, thiamine hydrochloride (B₁)-0.51, riboflavin (B₂)-0.326, nicotinamide (B₃)-0.325, D-pantothenate (B_5) —0.65, pyridoxine (B_6) —0.642, biotin (B_7) — 0.305, folic acid (B_9) —1.21, cobalamin (B_{12}) —0.98, choline chloride-9.8, myo-inositol-12.6. Chemicals were obtained from Serva Electrophoresis GmbH (Heidelberg, Germany) and Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri, USA).

All the media that were used for determining auxotrophies or in the media development experiments were variations of BS1. Exact compositions with optical densities and specific growth rate values that were obtained with each of those media are given in Supplementary material 1. This data is also complemented with respective short descriptions about the purpose of each series of media, e.g. A—determination of amino acid auxotrophies, B—determination of vitamin auxotrophies, etc. Media were mixed together from stock solutions which were sterilized by filtration (cellulose acetate filters, 0.2 μ m; Whatman, Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Separate stock solutions were made for each component and the solutions were mixed together in the following order (to avoid precipitation): sugar, buffers, amino acids, minerals, vitamins, additional components.

Cultivation conditions

Microtitre plate experiments were carried out using plates with 100 wells and Bioscreen C automated microtitre plate reader (Oy Growth Curves Ab Ltd.; Helsinki, Finland). In case of test tube experiments, WPA CO 8000 Biowave Cell Density Meter (Biochrom GmbH; Berlin, Germany) was used to measure optical density. The cultivation volume was 0.24 or 0.3 in microtitre plate and 5 mL in test tube experiments. In case of microtitre plates, OD was measured after every 15 min, preceded by shaking the plate for 10 s. In test tube experiments, OD was measured once per hour and vortex was used before each OD measurement to homogenize the biomass. In both type of experiments, OD was measured at 600 nm and the cultivation temperature was 34 °C. pH and gas environment were not controlled during the cultivations. Specific growth rate (μ) for each medium was calculated separately per every hour during growth and the highest of these values was considered the maximum specific growth rate (μ_{max}) for the given medium.

In auxotrophy experiments (leave-one-out media), a component was considered essential if the final OD was less than 40 % of the OD achieved in the complete medium. When the optical density was between 40 and 80 % of that obtained in the complete medium, the omitted substance was considered growth stimulating. A compound was classified non-essential if the final OD was more than 80 % of the OD in the complete medium.

Amino acid analysis

In order to determine amino acid consumption by *L. lactis* IL1403, cells from stationary phase were removed by centrifugation (14,800 rpm, 5 min, 4 °C) and the supernatant was used for free amino acid detection with an amino acid analyzer (Acquity UPLC; Waters Corp., Milford, MA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The samples were derivatized beforehand for 10 min at 55 °C, using AccQ-Fluor reagent (6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate; Waters Corp.). Data was processed with Empower software (Waters Corp.).

Amino acids were also determined in the biomass proteins of *L. lactis* IL1403 grown on OL medium (variation of BS7; composition is given in Supplementary material 1). For that purpose, biomass was hydrolysed with 6 M HCl for 24 h at 105 °C. Contents of amino acids in hydrolysates (derived from proteins) were measured as described above. L-Tryptophan and L-cysteine could not be detected with this method because these are degraded during hydrolysis. Also, L-asparagine is converted to L-aspartate and L-glutamine to L-glutamate during hydrolysis.

Statistical analysis

Partial least squares regression analysis (PLSR) was performed to analyse the content of different media and its influence on OD or specific growth rate. Data analysis was done in Matlab (Mathworks, Natick, MA, USA) using selfwritten scripts as well as algorithms from Statistics Toolbox. For PLSR analysis, OD and specific growth rate were chosen as dependant parameters. Amino acid and other components' concentrations in the media were used as independent variables. Mean centering and scaling was used in data preparation. This way each amino acid or other media components have equal weight in regression analysis. Number of components for PLSR analysis was estimated using leave-one-out cross-correlation and residual sum of squares. The media used for PLSR analysis were as follows: JA-JW for experiments on microtitre plates and MA-MF, NA-NF, OA-OM, K1-K44 and BS7 for experiments in test tubes.

Results

In this study, nutrient requirements were ascertained for *L. lactis* IL1403 and defined media developed. First of all, the buffer composition of the CDM was optimized. Secondly, amino acid auxotrophies for *L. lactis* IL1403 were determined and nutrient concentrations in the media were minimized in MTP and test tube experiments using batch cultivations. Thirdly, auxotrophies for B-group vitamins and metal ions were determined. The final outcome of this research was the proposal of several chemically defined media, which are appropriate for studying the amino acid metabolism of *L. lactis* IL1403, due to the fact that the percentage of each consumed amino acid compared to initial amount in the media was larger than measurement error (>5 %). The compositions of all media and consumption patterns of amino acids can be seen in Supplementary materials 1 and 2, respectively.

Optimization of the buffer content

Initially, the start-off medium used in this study (BS1) contained only phosphate buffers. However, it was observed in Jensen and Hammer 1993 article that 3-(N-morpholino)propanesulfonic acid (MOPS) was a more suitable buffer for the cultivation of LAB than phosphate buffers. Thus, we tested different combinations of MOPS and phosphate buffers for our medium in MTP experiments and results showed that higher biomass yield can be obtained with MOPS (Fig. 1).

We considered the medium that contained 35.8 mM of MOPS, 5.2 mM of K_2 HPO₄ and 5.5 mM of KH_2 PO₄ (7.5, 0.9 and 0.75 g L⁻¹, respectively; DC medium) the most cost-effective and used this combination in media development



Fig. 1 Growth curves of *L. lactis* IL1403 with standard deviations in media with different buffer content. Each symbol is the average of three replicas. Buffer composition of these media was as follows (mM): DA (*diamond*)—MOPS 71.7, K₂HPO₄ 5.2, KH₂PO₄ 5.5; DB (*empty square*)—MOPS 53.8, K₂HPO₄ 5.2, KH₂PO₄ 5.5; DC (*empty triangle*)—MOPS 53.8, K₂HPO₄ 5.2, KH₂PO₄ 5.5; DC (*empty circle*)—MOPS 17.9, K₂HPO₄ 5.2, KH₂PO₄ 5.5; BS (*filled triangle*)—K₂HPO₄ 5.2, KH₂PO₄ 5.5; BS2 (*filled diamond*)—K₂HPO₄ 17.2, KH₂PO₄ 18.4

experiments. Incidentally, a drop in OD value at the end of exponential phase can be seen in the growth curves of three media that contained higher amounts of MOPS (Fig. 1), hinting that cell lysis might have occurred, but this was not checked. A drop in OD has never been observed with the buffer combination of DC medium in test tube experiments (data not shown).

Amino acid auxotrophies

As observed previously by other authors (Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995; Zhang et al. 2009) and confirmed in this study, Larginine (Arg), L-asparagine (Asn), L-histidine (His), L-methionine (Met), L-serine (Ser) and the branched-chain amino acids L-isoleucine (Ile), L-leucine (Leu) and L-valine (Val) are essential amino acids for this strain (Fig. 2a). Additionally, L-alanine (Ala), L-cysteine (Cys), L-glutamine (Gln), L-lysine (Lys) and L-threonine (Thr) were shown to stimulate or promote growth. L-Aspartate (Asp), L-glutamate (Glu), glycine (Gly), L-proline (Pro) and aromatic amino acids L-phenylalanine (Phe), L-tryptophan (Trp) and L-tyrosine (Tyr) were considered non-essential.

Furthermore, it was checked whether any amino acid that is non-essential in normal conditions becomes indispensable in amino acid limitation conditions, i.e. if the concentrations of other amino acids (that might be used as substrates in the biosynthesis of non-essential amino acids) are low. Thus, 20 media were prepared, where the concentrations of 19 amino acids were decreased four times (compared to the original medium) and one amino acid was omitted. In such conditions, *L. lactis* IL1403 could not grow without L-cysteine and L- glutamine (Fig. 2a). These two amino acids were growth stimulating in normal conditions, but became essential in amino acid limitation conditions.

Moreover, an experiment with 20 media was carried out where the concentrations of 19 amino acids were lowered four times, whereas the concentration of one amino acid was left unaltered. The most noticeable observation from this experiment was that the final OD of *L. lactis* IL1403 is higher, if the concentration of L-asparagine is not decreased in a medium with low amino acid amounts (see Supplementary material 1 for media EA-EU).

Growth on media with reduced amino acid concentrations

Determination of amino acid auxotrophies was followed by experiments on media with reduced amino acid concentrations. The aim was to test the growth of bacteria in media containing amino acids as much as required for biomass synthesis. Concentrations of all amino acid in MTP scale could be lowered at least four times compared to the initial medium. Additionally, the concentrations of Leu, Lys and Val could be decreased eight times, and the amounts of Arg, Ile, Phe, Thr, Trp and Tyr even 16 times without a loss in biomass formation. It was seen that Asp and Glu could be simultaneously omitted from the medium (see CI or JI medium in Supplementary material 1), but not Asp and Gln (CL and JL in Supplementary material 1). PLSR analysis showed that Asn and Gln have the best correlation with optical density, i.e. these amino acids influence OD the most (Fig. 3a). Also, the aromatic amino acids Phe, Trp and Tyr had the smallest effect on OD. The correlation of specific growth rate (μ) was the highest with the branched-chain amino acids Ile, Leu and Val and also Thr, i.e. these amino acids were needed the most for the fast growth of L. lactis IL1403.

The amino acid combinations that provided the highest OD and μ values in MTP experiments were chosen for scale-up experiments in test tubes. However, the optical densities with these media in test tube experiments were lower than 40 % of that obtained in the reference medium. Further experiments confirmed that concentrations of amino acids could be lowered 2-8 times in test tubes not 4-16 times as shown in MTP experiments. Nevertheless, the amino acids that had the most noteworthy effect on biomass yield and specific growth rate were the same as in MTP experiments (Fig. 3b): Asn and Gln were the most influential amino acids for OD and the branched-chain amino acids Ile, Leu and Val for specific growth rate values. Also, amino acid utilization measurements (Supplementary material 2) carried out for a number of media in stationary phase showed that although Asp and Glu were present in the medium, they were additionally produced and secreted into the environment by L. lactis IL1403. These amino acids were apparently required to achieve faster specific growth rate (see correlation in Fig. 3b).



Fig. 2 Determination of nutrient auxotrophies (leave-one-out experiments) in MTP scale experiments. Results are given as percent of OD obtained compared to the reference medium. Each column is the average of three replicas. The omitted or altered component is indicated by the title of the column. **a** Amino acids. *I*—One amino acid has been omitted from the medium. *II*—Amino acid auxotrophies in amino acid limitation

conditions. One amino acid has been omitted from the medium and the amounts of all other amino acids have been reduced four times compared to the original medium. **b** B-group vitamin auxotrophies—one vitamin has been omitted from the medium. **c** Metal ion (Mo^{6+} ; other ions ²⁺) auxotrophies—one metal ion has been omitted from the medium

It was confirmed in the test tube experiments that aromatic amino acids (Phe, Tyr, Trp) and Pro can be removed from the media to maintain the same biomass yield but not to obtain the same specific growth rate compared to the reference medium. *L. lactis* IL1403 was able to biosynthesize Phe and Tyr, if these compounds were omitted from the media and Pro was produced even if the media contained the latter component (see NB for Phe and MC, NC, OH for Tyr in Supplementary material 2). The consumption of Cys, Gly and His was low in all cases, which allowed us to conclude that the concentrations of these three amino acids can be lowered at least eight times, compared to the initial medium. The majority of Asn and Gln, however, were consumed even in the initial medium (BS7). Thus, the concentrations of these two amino acids cannot be reduced without affecting biomass yield and specific growth rate.

B-group vitamins

Similarly to determining amino acid auxotrophies, we identified essential vitamins for *L. lactis* IL1403 in MTP



Fig. 3 Combined scores and loadings plot of PLSR analysis of growth media composition and growth related parameters (OD and specific growth rate). a Microtitre plate experiments. b—Test tube experiments. *Black dots* represent experiments on media with various amino acid



composition. *Thin black lines* represent loadings of independent variables in PLSR analysis, i.e. media composition. *Thick black lines* represent loadings of dependent parameters, i.e. OD and specific growth rate

experiments studying eight CDMs lacking one of the vitamins. Results (Fig. 2b) indicated that only riboflavin was essential for this strain and IL1403 could grow in media supplemented solely with this vitamin (FA compared to BS2 in Supplementary material 1). However, growth was hampered in a medium with reduced concentrations of amino acids (four times) that did not contain folic acid (B₉) and cobalamin (B₁₂) (OD 74.2 \pm 1.7 %; IA compared to BS2 in Supplementary material 1) or if the medium contained only riboflavin (in three times larger amounts than in the reference medium; OD 60.3 ± 0.2 %; IB compared to BS2 in Supplementary material 1). Moreover, in test tube experiments, L. lactis IL1403 was unable to grow in a medium with reduced amino acid concentrations, if the medium contained less than seven B-group vitamins (only cobalamin/vitamin B12 could be omitted). The exclusion of pantothenate or pyridoxine led to zero growth (see OA, OB, PA, PF-PJ in Supplementary material 1), whilst the omission of folic acid permitted only poor growth (OD $33.2\pm$ 0.7 %; BS4 compared to BS7 in Supplementary material 1). Also, we ascertained whether folic acid can be replaced with its precursor para-aminobenzoic acid (pABA), since the latter compound is cheaper, more soluble and stable than folic acid. Results in Fig. 4a show that 2.74 µM of folic acid can be replaced by pABA in concentrations of 1.10-70.58 µM.

One additional aim of this work was to optimize vitamin concentrations in the media by reducing (2 or 10 times) or increasing (1.5 to 2.5 times) amounts of vitamins. Results obtained (Fig. 5a) indicated that an increase in vitamin concentrations did not have any effect on the growth of cells but concentrations could not be reduced without affecting biomass yield. Metal ions and additional compounds

Our initial CDM contained eight trace minerals from which magnesium proved to be essential, manganese strongly and copper slightly growth-promoting in a leave-one-out experiment in MTP scale (Fig. 2c). The optimization of mineral salt concentrations in our experiments demonstrated that neither two times increase nor four times decrease of amounts in the medium had significant effect on the growth of cells (Fig. 5b).

In addition to amino acids, vitamins and metal ions, the essentiality of several other compounds (choline chloride, hypoxanthine, lipoic acid, *myo*-inositol, sodium pyruvate and thymidine) was tested. These substances were present in a CDM previously used in our laboratory (Lahtvee et al. 2011). Results obtained (Fig. 4b) showed that none of those compounds were necessary upon first inoculation. However, when reinoculations were made from stationary phase of each culture to the respective media, no growth occurred without lipoic acid.

Discussion

The aim of this work was to study the effects of media components on the specific growth rate and biomass yield of *L. lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403. A wide variety of CDMs with reduced nutrient concentrations was developed for detailed metabolic research of lactic acid bacteria:

 Media with reduced amino acid concentrations: JA-JW (excluding JK and JL) for microtitre plates and MA-MH, Fig. 4 Effect of additional compounds on growth. Results are given as percent of OD obtained compared to the reference. All values are averages of three replicas. a Substitution of folic acid with its precursor paraaminobenzoic acid at various concentrations (µM). Effect on OD (filled diamond) and specific growth rate μ (*empty square*; h⁻¹) values. The initial medium containing folic acid was used as reference. b Omission of choline chloride, hypoxanthine, lipoic acid, mvo-inositol, sodium pyruvate and thymidine (indicated by the title of the column). A medium containing all of those additional compounds has been used as reference



NA-NH, OC-OM (excluding OK), PB-PE and K1-K44 for test tube scale experiments.

 Media with reduced mineral salts concentrations: V2, V3, V12-V14, V17-V20 and V24-V32 for MTPs, as well as test tubes. These media (compositions are given in Supplementary material 1) allow more precise determination of nutrient utilization as the percentage of each consumed compound compared to initial amount in the media was larger than measurement error (>5 %). Unlike previous publications about media

5878



Fig. 5 Media with altered vitamin (a) or mineral salts (b) concentrations. Results are given as percent of OD obtained compared to the reference (=Ref.) medium. Each value is the average of three replicas. The *x*-axis indicates how many times the concentrations of compounds have been reduced or increased in comparison to the initial medium. *Filled circle*,

development for L. lactis IL1403 (Jensen and Hammer 1993; Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995; Zhang et al. 2009), the current research provides data about amino acid utilization during growth on media that were developed herein (Supplementary material 2). CDMs for L. lactis IL1403 that have been published by other authors, e.g. MS10 (Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995), SA (Jensen and Hammer 1993), ZBM1 and ZBM2 (Zhang et al. 2009) contain excess of components. Hence, these media are unsuitable for precise investigation of lactococcal amino acid metabolism due to low consumption of amino acids. As for the minimal media BL that contains only eight amino acids (Jensen and Hammer 1993) and MS15 that contains nine amino acids (Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995), these media provide lower maximum specific growth rate values (0.30 and 0.37 h^{-1} , respectively) than the media in this study and thus cannot be used for studying the metabolism of LAB in continuous cultivations at higher dilution rates

In regard to nutrient auxotrophies of *L. lactis* IL1403, the results were generally comparable to those obtained in earlier publications (Cocaign-Bousquet et al. 1995; Zhang et al. 2009). Similarly to earlier publications, it was observed that MOPS facilitated higher biomass yields than phosphate buffers. Jensen and Hammer (1993) speculated that MOPS might be transported into the cells, where it may play a role in the osmoregulation of *L. lactis* IL1403. Also, it was mentioned that high concentration of phosphate (over 0.1 M) reduces the specific growth rate of cells probably due to the partial dissipation of proton gradient across the membrane.

An important result in this research was that L-cysteine and L-glutamine became indispensable when the availability of other amino acids in the environment was low. *L. lactis*



NaCl; *empty circle*, non-essential metal ions (Ca²⁺, Co²⁺, Fe²⁺, Mo⁶⁺, Zn²⁺); *filled square*, non-essential metal ions (Ca²⁺, Co²⁺, Fe²⁺, Mo⁶⁺, Zn²⁺) and NaCl; *empty square*, all metal ions (Ca²⁺, Co²⁺, Cu²⁺, Fe²⁺, Mg²⁺, Mn²⁺, Mo⁶⁺, Zn²⁺) and NaCl; *filled triangle*, Mg²⁺; *empty triangle*, Mn²⁺; *filled diamond*, reference

IL1403 is able to produce L-cysteine from L-methionine, whereby the former amino acid is needed for protein folding and stability (due to forming disulfide bonds) and the latter for translation initiation control and in numerous methyltransferase reactions (Sperandio et al. 2005). Comparison of amino acid utilization and intracellular amino acid concentrations (Table 1) showed that in media with four times reduced amino acid concentrations (NB), the utilization of L-methionine was similar to the quantity in biomass, i.e. there was not enough Lmethionine for the production of additional compounds, e.g. L-cysteine. Concurrently, the utilization of L-cysteine in NB medium increased two times compared to BS7 (medium with higher amino acid amounts), showing that if L-methionine was scarce in the environment, L. lactis preferred to take L-cysteine up from the media rather than biosynthesize this compound. Thus, if L-cysteine was omitted from a medium with four times reduced amino acid concentrations, L. lactis would not grow due to low availability of L-methionine needed for the biosynthesis of L-cysteine. Also, it might be that in microaerobic growth conditions the cells have to resist oxidative stress and thus need high amounts of L-cysteine, as glutathione and thioredoxin, which help to protect the cell from oxidative stress can be derived from L-cysteine (Sperandio et al. 2005).

It can be seen from Table 1 that L-glutamine has been consumed in excess, i.e. in more than three times larger amounts than needed for biomass synthesis. This prodigious utilization occurs because L-glutamine and L-glutamate are important for the regulation of nitrogen metabolism, as these are amino group donors for amino sugars and nucleotide synthesis (Larsen et al. 2006). In addition, L-glutamine and α -ketoglutarate are the precursors for L-glutamate production

Table 1 Comparison of amino acid utilization (BS7, NB media) and amino acid content of biomass proteins. Amino acid concentrations in NB medium were reduced four times (compared to BS7) and L-phenylalanine was omitted. Negative utilization values represent production of amino acids. Intracellular amino acid concentrations were measured as described in materials and methods section

Amino acid	BS7	NB (low amino acid content)	In biomass	
	mmol g_{DW}^{-1}	proteins		
Ala	0.567	0.522	0.409	
Arg	1.045	0.253	0.118	
Asn Asp	1.230 0.045	0.720 -0.020	0.357 ^a	
Cys	0.142	0.215	ND	
Glu Gln	-0.435 1.333	-0.089 1.147	0.362 ^b	
Gly	0.430	-0.078	0.276	
His	0.110	0.096	0.052	
Ile	0.424	0.543	0.172	
Leu	0.810	1.012	0.247	
Lys	0.428	0.313	0.280	
Met	0.138	0.077	0.068	
Orn	-0.541	-0.013	ND	
Phe	0.191	-0.072	0.119	
Pro	0.161	-0.140	0.109	
Ser	0.917	0.787	0.175	
Thr	0.548	0.400	0.195	
Trp	0.026	0.021	ND	
Tyr	0.107	0.098	0.090	
Val	0.427	0.403	0.202	

ND not determined

^a Sum of L-asparagine and L-aspartate

^b Sum of L-glutamine and L-glutamate

(Lapujade et al. 1998) and glutamine synthetase enzymatically converts L-glutamate to L-glutamine (Larsen et al. 2006). Moreover, L-glutamate is the precursor for L-proline biosynthesis (Sleator et al. 2001) and decarboxylation of L-glutamate to γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) is needed for energy generation and protecting the cells against low external pH (Nomura et al. 1999; Fernández and Zúñiga 2006). Therefore, as interconversion between L-glutamine and L-glutamate is possible, at least one of those amino acids should be abundant in the medium to sustain important cellular functions. This was supported by the fact that if amino acid concentrations in the medium were reduced four times and L-glutamine was omitted, no growth occurred.

PLSR analysis specified that the branched-chain amino acids—L-isoleucine, L-leucine and L-valine—were the most important compounds for supporting faster growth (higher specific growth rate) of *L. lactis*. These amino acids are precursors for branched-chain fatty acids and the most abundant amino acids in membrane proteins (den Hengst et al. 2006). Also, degradation of branched-chain amino acids to carboxylic acids provides the cells with additional ATP, since *L. lactis* can generate 1 mol of ATP per 1 mol of branchedchain amino acid in these metabolic routes (Chambellon et al. 2009). It can be seen from Table 1 that the branched-chain amino acids were utilized in excess and were thus probably used for the biosynthesis of fatty acids and carboxylic acids.

In addition to branched-chain amino acids, the concentration of L-threonine influenced specific growth rate in MTP experiments. The data presented in Table 1 demonstrated that in case of low available amino acid amounts, glycine was in deficit and thus was biosynthesized. L-Threonine can be degraded to acetaldehyde and glycine via threonine aldolase pathway (Fernández and Zúñiga 2006). However, some of glycine was probably obtained from L-serine in a reaction catalysed by serine hydroxymethyltransferase (Ogawa et al. 2000). In addition, L-serine is involved in the production of main fermentation end-products (lactate, formate, acetate) via biosynthesis of pyruvate (Novak and Loubiere 2000). The data in Table 1 affirms that L-serine was utilized in excess, e.g. consumed not only for biomass formation but also for the production of other compounds, e.g. glycine and pyruvate.

Regarding the results of PLSR analysis, the most remarkable impact on optical density was observed in case of Lasparagine and L-glutamine. L-Asparagine can be converted to L-aspartate and decarboxylation of the latter amino acid to L-alanine is needed for energy generation and protecting the cells against low external pH. Also, *L. lactis* transports Lasparagine into cells much more effectively than L-aspartate (Fernández and Zúñiga 2006). The data in Table 1 indicates that L-asparagine was utilized in excess and thus must have been used for the production of other amino acids, whereas Laspartate was consumed in minute amounts or even produced.

L. lactis showed capability of biosynthesizing L-phenylalanine and L-tyrosine, if these substances were absent from the media, whereby L-proline was produced even if the media contained L-proline (see Supplementary material 2). The production of L-proline can be explained by high salt concentration in the medium (2.9 g L⁻¹), since L-proline accumulation in LAB is generally associated with response to osmotic stress (Fernández and Zúñiga 2006).

Riboflavin (B₂), the only essential B-group vitamin in MTP scale experiments, is indispensible for cellular metabolism since it is the precursor of coenzymes flavin mononucleotide (FMN) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD), which are hydrogen carriers in redox reactions (LeBlanc et al. 2011). Folic acid in the media could be replaced with its precursor pABA and decrease in the concentration of the precursor did not affect biomass yield or specific growth rate, indicating that the cells needed folic acid in lower amounts than were used in the initial media. Tetrahydrofolate (the biologically active form of folate) is needed for the biosynthesis of purines and pyrimidines (Wegkamp et al. 2007). Increasing the concentration of pABA in the medium leads to higher folate production yields (Sybesma et al. 2003; Wegkamp et al. 2007).

As for other components, L. lactis was auxotrophic for one metal ion (Mg^{2+}) , while Mn^{2+} , Cu^{2+} and lipoic acid were growth stimulating. Magnesium is a significant compound in many enzymatical reactions (van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999) and binds to cell wall teichoic acids and intracellularly to nucleic acids and adenine nucleotides (Goel et al. 2012). Manganese and copper are required for activation of several enzymes, e.g. superoxide dismutase (van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999; Magnani et al. 2008). In addition, Lactobacillus plantarum is able to accumulate Mn2+ inside the cells in order to protect them from the toxic effect of oxygen (Nierop Groot and de Bont 1999). As our experiments were microaerobic, Mn^{2+} might have the same role in L. lactis. With regard to other metal ions, it has been noticed that results obtained by different authors and with a number of strains vary a great deal and that it has been difficult to evaluate metal ion requirements due to the fact that these compounds may enter the media also as additives from other components (Van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999). The functions of lipoic acid in the cell are acyl-generation, acyl-transfer and oxidative reactions of 2-oxo acids (van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999). This compound is also the cofactor in pyruvate dehydrogenase and is thus linked to the production of acetate and acetoin (van Niel and Hahn-Hägerdal 1999; Nordkvist et al. 2003).

Lastly, *L. lactis* IL1403 was shown to require larger amounts of amino acids and B-group vitamins in test tubes than in MTPs. This effect could be explained by the fact that gas environment was uncontrolled and thus the growth environment was more aerobic in MTP experiments than that in test tube experiments due to higher surface to volume ratio and frequent shaking in MTPs. Variations in the amounts of nutrients required for growth can be explained by changes in the activities of various enzymes, influenced by O_2 availability. For instance, it has been shown that pyruvate metabolism is strongly influenced by oxygen supply (Jensen et al. 2001). In order to obtain similar growth results in various cultivation vessels and volumes, such factors as mixing, oxygen transfer rate to the cells and volumetric mass transfer coefficient have to be tuned comparable (Duetz 2007; Kensy et al. 2009).

In conclusion, multiple chemically defined media, which can be used in quantitative analysis of the physiological role of media components in the metabolism of amino acids, vitamins, etc. of *L. lactis* IL1403, were developed. These media can also be used to study other species of lactic acid bacteria. In the future perspective, these chemically defined media will be applied for the elucidation of factors involved in overconsumption of amino acids in *L. lactis* IL1403 using continuous cultivation. This approach enables to determine the ratios of amino acids in the medium required for production of biomass or certain compound at different specific growth rates.

Acknowledgments The financial support for this research was provided by the Enterprise Estonia project EU29994, by Estonian Science Foundation through the grant G9192, and Ministry of Education, Estonia, through the grant SF0140090s08.

References

- Bolotin A, Wincker P, Mauger S, Jaillon O, Malarme K, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Sorokin A (2001) The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. Genome Res 11:731–753
- Chambellon E, Rijnen L, Lorquet F, Gitton C, van Hylckama Vlieg JE, Wouters JA, Yvon M (2009) The D-2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenase incorrectly annotated PanE is the sole reduction system for branched-chain 2-keto acids in *Lactococcus lactis*. J Bacteriol 191(3):873–881. doi:10.1128/JB.01114-08
- Cocaign-Bousquet M, Garrigues C, Novak L, Lindley ND, Loubiere P (1995) Rational development of a simple synthetic medium for the sustained growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. J Appl Bacteriol 79:108– 116. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.1995.tb03131.x
- De Man JC, Rogosa M, Sharpe ME (1960) A medium for the cultivation of lactobacilli. J Appl Bacteriol 23(1):130–135. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.1960.tb00188.x
- Den Hengst CD, Groeneveld M, Kuipers OP, Kok J (2006) Identification and functional characterization of the *Lactococcus lactis* CodYregulated branched-chain amino acid permease BcaP (CtrA). J Bacteriol 188(9):3280–3289. doi:10.1128/JB.188.9.3280-3289. 2006
- Duetz WA (2007) Microtiter plates as mini-bioreactors: miniaturization of fermentation methods. Trends Microbiol 15(10):469–475. doi:10. 1016/j.tim.2007.09.004
- Fernández M, Zúñiga M (2006) Amino acid catabolic pathways of lactic acid bacteria. Crit Rev Microbiol 32(3):155–183
- Goel A, Santos F, de Vos WM, Teusink B, Molenaar D (2012) Standardized assay medium to measure *Lactococcus lactis* enzyme activities while mimicking intracellular conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 78(1):134–143. doi:10.1128/AEM.05276-11
- Hébert EM, Raya RR, de Giori GS (2004) Nutritional requirements of Lactobacillus delbrueckii subsp. lactis in a chemically defined medium. Curr Microbiol 49(5):341–345. doi:10.1007/s00284-004-4357-9
- Jensen PR, Hammer K (1993) Minimal requirements for exponential growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 59(12): 4363–4366
- Jensen NBS, Melchiorsen CR, Jokumsen KV, Villadsen J (2001) Metabolic behavior of *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 in microaerobic continuous cultivation at a low dilution rate. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(6):2677–2682. doi:10.1128/AEM.67.6.2677-2682. 2001
- Kensy F, Engelbrecht C, Büchs J (2009) Scale-up from microtiter plate to laboratory fermenter: evaluation by online monitoring techniques of growth and protein expression in *Escherichia coli* and *Hansenula polymorpha* fermentations. Microb Cell Factories 8:68. doi:10. 1186/1475-2859-8-68
- Kim YJ, Eom HJ, Seo EY, Lee DY, Kim JH, Han NS (2012) Development of a chemically defined minimal medium for the exponential growth of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* ATCC8293. J Microbiol Biotechnol 22(11):1518–1522

- Lahtvee PJ, Adamberg K, Arike L, Nahku R, Aller K, Vilu R (2011) Multi-omics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. Microb Cell Factories 10:12. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-10-12
- Lapujade P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Loubiere P (1998) Glutamate biosynthesis in *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* NCDO 2118. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(7):2485–2489
- Larsen R, Kloosterman TG, Kok J, Kuipers OP (2006) GlnR-mediated regulation of nitrogen metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. J Bacteriol 188(13):4978–4982. doi:10.1128/JB.00025-06
- LeBlanc JG, Laiño JE, del Valle MJ, Vannini V, van Sinderen D, Taranto MP, de Valdez GF, de Giori GS, Sesma F (2011) B-Group vitamin production by lactic acid bacteria—current knowledge and potential applications. J Appl Microbiol 111(6):1297–1309. doi:10.1111/j. 1365-2672.2011.05157.x
- Loubiere P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Matos J, Goma G, Lindley ND (1997) Influence of end-products inhibition and nutrient limitations on the growth of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*. J Appl Microbiol 82:95– 100. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.1997.tb03302.x
- Magnani D, Barré O, Gerber SD, Solioz M (2008) Characterization of the CopR regulon of *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J Bacteriol 190(2): 536–545. doi:10.1128/JB.01481-07
- Nierop Groot MN, de Bont JAM (1999) Involvement of manganese in conversion of phenylalanine to benzaldehyde by lactic acid bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(12):5590–5593
- Nomura M, Nakajima I, Fujita Y, Kobayashi M, Kimoto H, Suzuki I, Aso H (1999) Lactococcus lactis contains only one glutamate decarboxylase gene. Microbiology 145:1375–1380. doi:10.1099/13500872-145-6-1375
- Nordkvist M, Jensen NBS, Villadsen J (2003) Glucose metabolism in Lactococcus lactis MG1363 under different aeration conditions: requirement of acetate to sustain growth under microaerobic conditions. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(6):3462–3468. doi:10.1128/ AEM.69.6.3462-3468.2003
- Novak L, Loubiere P (2000) The metabolic network of *Lactococcus lactis*: distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled substrates between catabolic and anabolic pathways. J Bacteriol 182(4):1136–1143. doi:10.1128/JB. 182.4.1136-1143.2000

- Ogawa H, Gomi T, Fujioka M (2000) Serine hydroxymethyltransferase and threonine aldolase: are they identical? Int J Biochem Cell Biol 32(3):289–302. doi:10.1016/S1357-2725(99)00113-2
- Price CE, Zeyniyev A, Kuipers OP, Kok J (2012) From meadows to milk to mucosa—adaptation of *Streptococcus* and *Lactococcus* species to their nutritional environments. FEMS Microbiol Rev 36(5):949– 971. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00323.x
- Santos F, Teusink B, Molenaar D, van Heck M, Wels M, Sieuwerts S, de Vos WM, Hugenholtz J (2009) Effect of amino acid availability on vitamin B₁₂ production in *Lactobacillus reuteri*. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(12):3930–3936. doi:10.1128/AEM.02487-08
- Sleator RD, Gahan CGM, Hill C (2001) Mutations in the Listerial proB gene leading to proline overproduction: effects on salt tolerance and murine infection. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(10):4560–4565. doi: 10.1128/AEM.67.10.4560–4565.2001
- Sperandio B, Polard P, Ehrlich DS, Renault P, Guédon E (2005) Sulfur amino acid metabolism and its control in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. J Bacteriol 187(11):3762–3778. doi:10.1128/JB.187.11.3762-3778. 2005
- Sybesma W, Starrenburg M, Tijsseling L, Hoefnagel MH, Hugenholtz J (2003) Effects of cultivation conditions on folate production by lactic acid bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(8):4542–4548. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.8.4542-4548.2003
- Van Niel EWJ, Hahn-Hägerdal B (1999) Nutrient requirements of lactococci in defined growth media. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:617–627. doi:10.1007/s002530051569
- Wegkamp A, van Oorschot W, de Vos WM, Smid EJ (2007) Characterization of the role of *para*-aminobenzoic acid biosynthesis in folate production by *Lactococcus lactis*. Appl Environ Microbiol 73(8):2673–2681. doi:10.1128/AEM.02174-06
- Wegkamp A, Teusink B, de Vos WM, Smid EJ (2009) Development of a minimal growth medium for *Lactobacillus plantarum*. Lett Appl Microbiol 50(1):57–64. doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009. 02752.x
- Zhang G, Mills DA, Block DE (2009) Development of chemically defined media supporting high cell density growth of lactococci, enterococci, and streptococci. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(4):1080– 1087. doi:10.1128/AEM.01416-08

II Aller K, Adamberg K, Reile I, Timarova V, Peebo K, Vilu R (2015) Excess of threonine compared with serine promotes threonine aldolase activity in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. Microbiology 161(Pt 5):1073-1080.

	promotes threonine aldolase activity in Lactococcus lactis IL1403
	Kadri Aller, 1,2 Kaarel Adamberg, 1,2,3 Indrek Reile, 4 Veronica Timarova, 1,2 Karl Peebo 1,2 and Raivo Vilu 1,2
Correspondence Kadri Aller aller@tftak.eu	¹ Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies, Akadeemia tee 15A, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
	² Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Chemistry, Akadeemia tee 15, Tallinn 12618, Estonia
	³ Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Food Processing, Ehitajate tee 5, Tallinn 19086, Estonia
	⁴ National Institute of Chemical Physics and Biophysics, Akadeemia tee 23, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia.
	Lactococcus lactis is an important lactic acid starter for food production as well as a cell factory for production of food grade additives, among which natural flavour production is one of the main interests of food producers. Flavour production is associated with the degradation of amino acids and comprehensive studies are required to elucidate mechanisms behind these pathways. In this study using chemically defined medium, labelled substrate and steady-state cultivation, new data for the catabolism of threonine in <i>Lc. lactis</i> have been obtained. The biosynthesis of glycine in this organism is associated with the growth environment exceeds that of serine, threonine becomes the main source for glycine biosynthesis and the utilization of serine decreases. Also, the conversion of threonine to glycine was initiated by a threonine aldolase and this was the principal pathway used for threonine degradation. As in <i>Streptococcus thermophilus</i> , serine hydroxymethyltransferase in <i>Lc. lactis</i> may possess a secondary activity as threonine aldolase.
Received 23 December 2014	Other catabolic pathways of threonine (e.g. threonine dehydrogenase and threonine dehydratase)

Excess of threonine compared with serine

INTRODUCTION

Accepted 3 March 2015

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are essential in the food industry, particularly in the production of dairy products, as they contribute to the aroma and texture of products and prevent spoilage of food (Price *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, the technological advances in the last decade have created the opportunity to exploit LAB for the bioproduction of value-added chemicals, e.g. vitamins, polysaccharides, low-calorie sweeteners (polyols), flavour compounds and ethanol (Gaspar *et al.*, 2013).

were not detected.

The catabolism of threonine in LAB (Fig. 1) has attracted interest owing to the fact that this amino acid can be degraded to acetaldehyde and glycine by threonine aldolase

Supplementary methods, four supplementary figures and a supplementary movie are available with the online Supplementary Material. (TA) (Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). Acetaldehyde, as well as acetone and diacetyl, are important flavour components in yogurt. In fact, acetaldehyde can be produced by several other biochemical pathways in LAB (e.g. by pyruvate decarboxylation), which can operate simultaneously (Ott *et al.*, 2000; Chaves *et al.*, 2002). However, the yield of acetaldehyde during fermentation of *Lactococcus lactis* is low (Bongers *et al.*, 2005), as opposed to species used in yogurt starter culture, *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* and *Streptococcus thermophilus* (Chaves *et al.*, 2002). Acetaldehyde can be further metabolized into ethanol by alcohol dehydrogenase, and the gene encoding this enzyme (*adhE*) is present in *Lc. lactis* (Christensen *et al.*, 1999; Bolotin *et al.*, 2001).

TA, which catalyses the conversion of threonine to acetaldehyde and glycine, has been characterized as the basic catabolic pathway of threonine in LAB (Christensen *et al.*, 1999; Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). TA activity in bacteria can be associated with two enzymes: serine hydroxymethyltransferase (SHMT), encoded by *glyA*, and

Abbreviations: BCAA, branched-chain amino acid; CDM, chemically defined medium; DW, cell dry weight; LAB, lactic acid bacteria; SHMT, serine hydroxymethyltransferase; TA, threonine aldolase; TDH, threonine dehydrogenase; THF, tetrahydrofolate.



Fig. 1. Potential pathways in LAB for L-threonine and L-serine degradation and glycine biosynthesis. Solid lines represent pathways that are known in *Lc. lactis* IL1403 based on genome sequence or experimental data. Dashed lines represent pathways that are known in other LAB, but not in *Lc. lactis* IL1403. Dotted lines represent pathways that are known in other LAB, but not in *Lc. lactis* IL1403. Dotted lines represent pathways that are known in other micro-organisms (e.g. *E. coli*), but not in LAB. The pathways leading to methylglyoxal, pyruvate and BCAA biosynthesis have not been given in detail. Threonine dehydratase converts L-threonine into 2-aminobut-2-enoate and two following spontaneous reactions turn the latter compound into 2-oxobutanoate.

a low-specificity TA (Liu et al., 1998; Chaves et al., 2002; Simic et al., 2002; Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). The principal role of SHMT is catalysing the reversible formation of glycine and 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate from serine (Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). Novak & Loubiere (2000) proved with labelled substrates that, if Lc. lactis is cultivated in a simple synthetic medium, 68 % of the glycine in cellular proteins is derived from glucose and 32 % from serine. Interestingly, some SHMTs have a secondary activity as TA, e.g. in S. thermophilus (Chaves et al., 2002), although this is not a ubiquitous property amongst LAB (Ogawa et al., 2000). A low-specificity TA (encoded by *ltaE*), which catalyses the cleavage of Lthreonine or L-allo-threonine to glycine and acetaldehyde, has been found in Escherichia coli (Liu et al., 1998). Yet, no homologues of *ltaE* have been found in LAB (Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006).

A well-described route for threonine catabolism in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes is the conversion of threonine

to 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate by threonine dehydrogenase (TDH), followed by the formation of acetyl-CoA and glycine (initiated by 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate-CoA ligase) or aminoacetone and CO_2 (spontaneous decarboxylation) (Marcus & Dekker, 1993). This pathway has been investigated the most in *E. coli*, where the genes associated with this route are *tdh* and *kbl* (Epperly & Dekker, 1991; Marcus & Dekker, 1993; Schmidt *et al.*, 2001). Based on annotated genomes, the first reaction in this pathway (conversion of threonine to 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate) may exist in such LAB as *Oenococcus oeni* (Borneman *et al.*, 2012), *Streptococcus suis* (Hu *et al.*, 2011) and *S. thermophilus* (Sun *et al.*, 2011).

In addition to glycine production, threonine can be converted to 2-oxobutanoate by threonine dehydratase (and two spontaneous reactions) and the gene encoding this enzyme (ilvA) exists in *Lc. lactis* (Bolotin *et al.*, 2001; Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). 2-Oxobutanoate is the precursor in the biosynthetic pathway of branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) isoleucine, leucine and valine (Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006). However, the strain used in the current study, *Lc. lactis* IL1403, is known to be auxotrophic for BCAAs (Cocaign-Bousquet *et al.*, 1995; Zhang *et al.*, 2009; Aller *et al.*, 2014), and so this pathway might not be functional in IL1403, although the genes associated with the reactions have been characterized (Bolotin *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, neither of the previously mentioned catabolic reactions of threonine (catalysed by TA and TDH) has been characterized in *Lc. lactis* IL1403.

A chemically defined medium (CDM) is indispensable in studying the metabolic pathways and physiology of microorganisms, because unlike in rich media, all components in a CDM are defined (Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Thus, experiments with CDM produce more comprehensible data, as the substrates and bioproducts can be easily quantified by analytical methods. Therefore, this article focuses on determining the degradation routes of threonine in *Lc. lactis* IL1403 using a CDM (BS7) developed in-house.

METHODS

Methods are given in full detail in the Supplementary Methods, available in the online Supplementary Material.

Micro-organism. The strain used in all experiments is *Lc. lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403, which was provided by INRA. Inoculum was prepared from lyophilized stock culture stored at -80 °C, which was pre-grown twice in test tubes at 34 °C on CDM BS7.

Media. CDM BS7, which has been designed specifically for the better detection of amino acids and quantification of full amino acid composition, was used for cultivation. The composition of BS7, which did not contain glycine, was as follows (mg l^{-1}): D-glucose, 4500; K2HPO4, 900; KH2PO4, 750; MOPS, 7500; L-alanine, 78; Larginine, 185; L-asparagine, 74; L-aspartic acid, 72; L-cysteine, 64; Lglutamic acid, 70; L-glutamine, 132; L-histidine, 60; L-isoleucine, 102; L-leucine, 207; L-lysine, 158; L-methionine, 41; L-phenylalanine, 86; Lproline, 92; L-serine, 163; L-threonine, 76; L-tryptophan, 16; Ltyrosine, 29; L-valine, 107; CaCl₂, 50; CoSO₄.7H₂O, 3; CuSO₄.5H₂O, 3; FeSO₄.7H₂O, 1.4; MnSO₄.H₂O, 16; MgSO₄.7H₂O, 200; NaCl, 2900; (NH₄)₆Mo₇O₂₄.4H₂O, 3; ZnSO₄.7H₂O, 5; thiamine hydrochloride (B1), 0.51; riboflavin (B2), 0.326; nicotinamide (B3), 0.325; Dpantothenate (B₅), 0.65; pyridoxine (B₆), 0.642; biotin (B₇), 0.305; folic acid (B₉), 1.21; adenine, 25; hypoxanthine, 25; lipoic acid, 0.176. These numbers indicate the concentrations that were used in preliminary test tube experiments and for growing inoculum for continuous cultivations. In the case of continuous cultivation, a different buffer composition was used (mg l⁻¹): K₂HPO₄, 3000; KH₂PO₄, 2500; no MOPS.

Chemicals were obtained from Serva Electrophoresis and Sigma-Aldrich and were mixed together in the following order (to avoid precipitation): sugar, buffers, amino acids, minerals, vitamins, additional components. All media were sterilized by filtration, using stainless steel filter holders and nitrocellulose membrane filters (0.22 µm), provided by Merck Millipore.

Continuous cultivation. Continuous cultivation was carried out using the D-stat method and 1.25 l Biobundle bioreactors with EZ-Control biocontrollers and BioXpert Pharma 3.80 M XP control program, all provided by Applikon Biotechnology. The system was equipped with pH, O_2 and temperature sensors. Two BS7 media with

different threonine concentrations (0.3 and 5 mM) were simultaneously pumped into the fermenter, whereas after stabilization was complete, the ratio of these media was changed over time (using computer algorithms), leading to the constant increase of threonine concentration in the feed. Three parallel experiments with a dilution rate of $0.2 h^{-1}$ were carried out, in which the concentration of threonine in the fermenter inflow was changed from 1.24 to 2.58 mM (one experiment) or 4.13 mM (two experiments). The cultivation temperature in all experiments was 34 °C, agitation speed 300 r.p.m. and cultivation volume 300 ml. The pH was kept at 6.4 by addition of 2 M NaOH. The gas enviroment was kept anaerobic by flushing the bioreactors with N₂. Sampling is described in the Supplementary Methods.

Labelling experiment. In order to correctly determine L-threonine degradation products, we carried out a D-stat experiment at 0.2 h^{-1} with BS7 medium, where the concentration of L-threonine was 2.5 mM. The equipment and environmental conditions were the same as in previous experiments (see Continuous cultivation, above). After stabilization of the culture, the medium was switched to labelled BS7 medium, which contained 2.5 mM ¹³C, ¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine (CortecNet). Sampling is described in the Supplementary Methods.

Analytical methods. Glucose and main fermentation end products (lactate, formate, acetate, ethanol) were measured with LC (Alliance 2795 system), a refractive index detector (model 2414) and Empower software, all provided by Waters. The column used was Bio-Rad HPX-87H at 35 °C with isocratic elution of 5 mM H₂SO₄ at a flow rate of 0.6 ml min⁻¹. Acetaldehyde was measured with a specific assay kit provided by Megazyme.

Free amino acids were detected with an amino acid analyser Acquity UPLC. The samples were derivatized beforehand for 10 min at 55 °C, using AccQ-Fluor reagent (6-aminoquinolyl-*N*-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate) and then loaded on an AccQ-Tag Ultra cluents A and B. They were detected with a photodiode array detector, and data were processed with Empower software. In order to measure labelled 1-threonine or glycine in the labelling experiment, an LCT PremierTM XE ESI TOF MS was used, where amino acids were separated as described above and then sprayed directly into an MS operated in positive ionization mode (solvation temperature 300 °C, source temperature 120 °C, capillary voltage 2.5 kV). MassLynx V4.1 software was used for data processing. All the equipment, reagents and eluents were provided by Waters.

For intracellular amino acid measurements, biomass was hydrolysed with 6 M HCl for 24 h at 105 °C. Amino acids were measured as described above. L-Tryptophan and L-cysteine could not be detected with this method, because they are degraded during hydrolysis. Also, L-asparagine is converted to L-aspartate and L-glutamine to Lglutamate during hydrolysis.

NMR spectra were measured on a Bruker Avance III 800 MHz spectrometer equipped with a He cryoprobe. Samples were prepared by adding 60 μ l D₂O to 540 μ l supernatant (10 % D₂O concentration). ¹³C spectra were measured at 15 °C sample temperature with 30° flip angle pulses and proton decoupling. Ten thousand scans with 2 s relaxation delay were collected for each sample. All spectra were frequency-referenced according to the lactate signal and intensities were scaled to constant lactate signal intensity. Spectral assignment is based on chemical shifts, integrals and ¹³C–¹³C couplings and was confirmed with a separate gated decoupling ¹³C experiment.

Proteome analysis. Samples from two D-stat experiments were analysed in single runs. Peptides were separated on an Ultimate 3000 RSLCnano system (Dionex; Fisher Scientific) using a cartridge trapcolumn in backflush configuration and an analytical 50 cm Easy-Spray column (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Peptides were eluted at 200 nl min⁻¹ with an 8–40 % buffer B gradient (buffer B, 80 % acetonitrile + 0.1 % formic acid; buffer A, 0.1 % FA) to a Q Exactive MS/ MS operating with a top-10 strategy and a maximum cycle time of 1 s. The MS proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium (http://proteomecentral.proteomexchange.org) via the PRIDE partner repository (Vizcaino *et al.*, 2013) with the dataset identifier PXD001602. Raw MS files were analysed by the MaxQuant software package version 1.3.0.5 (Cox & Mann, 2008). Proteome analysis is described in full detail in the Supplementary Methods.

RESULTS

Biomass and end-product yields at various L-threonine concentrations

We have observed previously that in *Lc. lactis* IL1403 some of the glycine in biomass proteins is derived via biosynthesis (Lahtvee *et al.*, 2011) and that biosynthesis of glycine is preferred over utilization mainly at lower specific growth rates, i.e. at $0.1-0.2 \text{ h}^{-1}$. Preliminary test tube experiments (Fig. S1a and S1b) with varied concentrations of L-serine and L-threonine indicated that the sum of glycine in cellular proteins and in extracellular secretion was up to 31% higher in media with additional L-threonine (Fig. S1c). The utilization of L-serine was decreased when the concentration of L-threonine was higher than that of L-serine, and vice

versa (Fig. S1d). In order to study this effect in detail, continuous cultivations were carried out in bioreactors.

Three parallel D-stats with dilution rate 0.2 h⁻¹ were carried out where the concentration of L-threonine in the feed was gradually raised from 1.24 to 4.13 mM. Biomass yield, $Y_{\rm XS}$ (Fig. 2a), was constant in the first half of the experiment (0.144±0.003 g g_{glucose}⁻¹) and not dependent on the concentration of L-threonine in the medium. However, $Y_{\rm XS}$ started to drop slightly when L-threonine concentration in the medium was higher than 3 mM, and reached 0.129 ± 0.008 g g_{glucose}⁻¹ by the end of experiment.

The production of lactate (Fig. 2a) was constant in the first half of the experiment $[64.88 \pm 1.73 \text{ mmol} (\text{g cell dry} weight, g_{DW})^{-1}]$ and not dependent on the concentration of L-threonine in the medium. Yet, lactate production increased slightly at higher L-threonine concentrations and was $74.15 \pm 5.77 \text{ mmol } \text{g}_{DW}^{-1}$ by the end of the experiment. Production of acetate, formate and ethanol (Fig. 2b) was constant throughout the experiments. The production of acetaldehyde was never higher than 0.05 mmol g_{DW}^{-1} .

Amino acid utilization and biosynthesis

The production of extracellular glycine was linked to the concentration of L-threonine in the medium and increased



Fig. 2. Growth characteristics in D-stat experiments (mean results of three fermentations). (a) \bullet , Biomass yield Y_{XS} [g (g glucose consumed)⁻¹]; \bigcirc , production of lactate. (b) Production of formate (\square), acetate (\blacksquare) and ethanol (\blacksquare). (c) Production of glycine (\triangle) and utilization of L-serine (\blacktriangle) and L-threonine (\bigstar). (d) Utilization of L-isoleucine (\diamondsuit), L-leucine (\blacklozenge) and L-valine (\blacklozenge). C_{Thr} , concentration of threonine.

from 0.34 ± 0.03 to 1.34 ± 0.08 mmol g_{DW}^{-1} (Fig. 2c; mean of three experiments), whereas the intracellular concentrations of glycine and all other amino acids in biomass proteins remained constant throughout the experiments (Table 1). The consumption of L-serine (Fig. 2c) in these fermentations decreased from 0.84 ± 0.19 to $0.53 \pm$ 0.07 mmol ${g_{\rm DW}}^{-1}$, which constitutes a decrease of 34 ± 6 to $19\pm2\%$ from the amount of L-serine in the medium. This suggests that glycine was produced mostly from Lthreonine, rather than from L-serine, since L-threonine utilization (Fig. 2c) increased from 1.09 ± 0.04 to $2.08 \pm$ 0.15 mmol g_{DW}^{-1} , which constitutes a reduction of 57 ± 2 to $30 \pm 1\%$ from the amount of L-threonine in the medium. However, the consumption of L-threonine was higher than the biosynthesis of glycine. LAB can degrade threonine into 2-oxobutanoate, which is a precursor in the biosynthesis of BCAAs. However, there was no downtrend in the utilization of external L-isoleucine, L-leucine and L-valine pools at different L-threonine concentrations (Fig. 2d).

The utilization of several amino acids, e.g. L-arginine (1.11fold), L-asparagine (1.34-fold), L-cysteine (1.46-fold) and L-glutamine (1.31-fold), and the production of L-glutamate (1.19-fold) and L-ornithine (1.17-fold) were increased at higher L-threonine concentrations in feed (Fig. S2).

Table 1. Amino acid concentrations in cellular proteins during

 D-stat experiments

Mean results of three fermentations. Samples were taken throughout the fermentations (13 samples from the first, 3 from the second and 3 from the third fermentation) and each sample was analysed in three replicates. L-Tryptophan and L-cysteine could not be detected with this method, because these are degraded during hydrolysis. Also, Lasparagine is converted to L-aspartate and L-glutamine to L-glutamate during hydrolysis.

Amino acid	Concentration		% Total	
	mmol g_{DW}^{-1}	se (%)	cellular protein	
Ala	0.495 ± 0.024	4.8	8.3	
Arg	0.142 ± 0.007	4.8	5.2	
Asn+Asp	0.430 ± 0.021	5.0	11.5	
Gln + Glu	0.511 ± 0.021	4.2	15.4	
Gly	0.335 ± 0.017	5.0	4.5	
His	0.066 ± 0.006	9.7	2.1	
Ile	0.209 ± 0.009	4.3	5.6	
Leu	0.313 ± 0.013	4.3	8.3	
Lys	0.337 ± 0.014	4.0	10.1	
Met	0.067 ± 0.011	16.7	2.2	
Phe	0.142 ± 0.006	4.0	4.9	
Pro	0.135 ± 0.006	4.3	3.1	
Ser	0.204 ± 0.011	5.6	4.2	
Thr	0.227 ± 0.009	4.1	5.4	
Tyr	0.093 ± 0.003	3.0	3.6	

Changes in protein expression

Proteome analysis was done for two D-stat experiments; expression was measured at three L-threonine concentrations in the feed (1.24, 2.86 and 3.99 mM) and compared with the first point. For instance, the expression of SHMT (GlyA) was increased at higher L-threonine concentrations, whereas the expressions of alcohol dehydrogenase (AdhE) and threonine dehydratase (IlvA) were decreased (Fig. 3a). L-Threonine as a substrate was definitely abundant in the medium, as the expression of threonine synthase (ThrC) was virtually unchanged during the experiment (Fig. 3a).

As for other notable changes at the proteome level, the expression of a betaine ABC transporter permease (BusAB), which is involved in osmotic stress, was increased (Fig. 3a). The expression of CysM, which is involved in cysteine biosynthesis from serine, was at first increased but then decreased by the end of the experiment (Fig. S2). Additionally, the expression of an enzyme involved in riboflavin biosynthesis (RibAB) was immensely increased. However, the fold change varied greatly between parallel experiments: it was 5.43 or 6.18 for one fermentation and 1.22 or 2.01 for the other.

Expression of some hypothetical proteins with the highest fold changes can be seen in Fig. 3b. Nevertheless, according to BLAST search, the nucleotide sequences of the genes encoding these proteins show no similarity to *ltaE* (a low-specificity TA) or *tdh* and *kbl* (involved in the conversion of L-threonine to 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate and subsequent production of glycine) in *E. coli* K-12 MG1655.

Experiment with ¹³C,¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine

In order to exactly determine L-threonine degradation products, a D-stat experiment was carried out at 0.2 h⁻¹ with a feed containing 2.5 mM L-threonine. After stabilization was complete, the medium was switched to a feed that contained 2.5 mM ^{13}C , ^{15}N -labelled L-threonine. Supplementary Movie S1 shows that after switching to a labelled medium *Lc. lactis* gradually incorporates labelled L-threonine into cells, converts it into glycine and secretes the latter amino acid to the environment. Note that L-threonine is the main source of extracellular glycine (Supplementary Movie S1).

Moreover, NMR analysis showed that other products biosynthesized from labelled L-threonine were acetaldehyde, acetaldehyde hydrate and ethanol (Fig. S3). The ratio of these three products (in sum) was virtually 1:1 with glycine (Fig. 4). Additionally, small labelled peaks were seen in NMR spectra, but the concentration of this unknown product was too low to adequately identify it. The peak was compared with an aminoacetone standard, but it did not match (Fig. S4). When samples were lyophilized, the unknown peak was no longer present, hinting that the compound might have been volatile or unstable.



Fig. 3. Changes in protein expression during D-stat experiments at various L-threonine concentrations (C_{Thr}) in feed (mean ± SE of two fermentations). Samples were taken at C_{Thr} 1.24, 2.86 and 3.99 mM, and compared with C_{Thr} 1.24. (a) \diamond , Alcohol dehydrogenase (AdhE); •, SHMT (GlyA); \diamond , threonine dehydratase (IIvA); \Box , threonine synthase (ThrC); •, betaine ABC transporter permease (BusAB). (b) Putative uncharacterized proteins for which mean expression changed at least 1.5-fold at different values of C_{Thr} and for which SE between the two analysed fermentations was less than 20 %. \diamond , YrgH; \Box , YsfA; \blacktriangle , YsjD; ∇ , YuaA.

DISCUSSION

Based on the results presented herein it can be concluded that if L-threonine is in excess in the growth environment it is primarly degraded to glycine and acetaldehyde, followed by the partial conversion of acetaldehyde to ethanol (Fig. 4). Lactate does not directly or indirectly originate from Lthreonine; this was proved with the labelling experiment



Fig. 4. Relative proportions of four products biosynthesized from ¹³C, ¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine (from NMR results). The sample was taken from the labelling experiment 10 h after the regular feed was switched to a medium containing ¹³C, ¹⁵N-labelled L-threonine. The concentration of L-threonine in the feed was 2.5 mM and 37 % of it was consumed by *Lc. lactis* IL1403.

(Fig. S3) indicating that over-consumed serine was degraded via serine hydratase to pyruvate followed by lactate or acetate synthesis. The comparison of utilized L-serine (Fig. 2c) and L-serine in total cellular protein (Table 1) indicates that 60-74% of consumed L-serine was directed to the biosynthesis of various substances. Decrease of the utilization of L-serine (Fig. 2c) might be related to a common transporter for serine and threonine. Noens & Lolkema (2014) showed that SerP1 transports L-serine, L-threonine and L-cysteine with high affinity. The decrease in L-serine consumption probably evoked the increase in L-asparagine utilization (Fig. S2) and degradation to L-aspartate followed by degradation to pyruvate. L-Asparagine degradation to L-aspartate occurs via L-asparaginase (AsnB), which was slightly upregulated (Fig. S2). In addition, the lower consumption of L-serine is apparently responsible for the elevated utilization of L-cysteine (Fig. S2), as the biosynthesis of the latter amino acid from L-serine is hampered (see expression of CysM in Fig. S2) and cells rely more on external L-cysteine pools.

SHMT might have TA activity, as shown by Chaves *et al.* (2002), although it is not a common feature in LAB (Ogawa *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, this activity of SHMT may be present in *Lc. lactis*, as the expression of SHMT (GlyA) was increased at higher L-threonine availability (Fig. 3a). Also, as several hypothetical proteins were upregulated at higher L-threonine concentrations (Fig. 3b), these may also be involved in the degradation pathways of L-threonine. In addition, higher L-threonine availability might increase intracellular pools of acetaldehyde, which in turn would induce the build-up of osmotic pressure [similarly to lactate in Loubiere *et al.* (1997) and Pieterse *et al.* (2005)].

This would explain the reduction in biomass yield (Fig. 2a) and the increase in BusAB expression (Fig. 3a). Also, in order to alleviate stress conditions, *Lc. lactis* increases the consumption of additional carbon and nitrogen sources (amino acids), as seen in Fig. S2. L-Arginine, for example, can be utilized to produce additional ATP for growth (Fernández & Zúñiga, 2006).

The production of glycine in unlabelled D-stat experiments increased at higher L-threonine availability, whereas the biosynthesis of ethanol was constant and acetaldehyde was present in minute amounts. This suggested that there might be an alternative glycine biosynthesis pathway present in *Lc. lactis* (the production of glycine from L-threonine rather than from 2-amino-3-oxobutanoate). However, a D-stat experiment with labelled L-threonine proved that the ratio of glycine and ethanol/acetaldehyde/acetaldehyde hydrate was almost 1:1, excluding this hypothesis. The conversion of acetaldehyde to ethanol by an alcohol dehydrogenase (AdhE) might be limited, which would explain why the production of ethanol was constant in unlabelled experiments. This is also supported by the fact that the expression of AdhE was reduced at higher L-threonine availability (Fig. 3a). When higher amounts of acetaldehyde are produced, the conversion rate of this compound to ethanol might stay constant and the residual acetaldehyde probably evaporates.

The utilization of L-threonine was on average twofold higher than the biosynthesis of glycine (Fig. 2c). Even if intracellular L-threonine and glycine concentrations (Table 1) are taken into account, 14% of consumed L-threonine, on average, is degraded via unknown pathways. Thus, low amounts of other compounds were certainly produced from L-threonine as well. Regrettably, these metabolites could not be accurately identified, their concentrations being too low (Fig. S4). If L-threonine was converted to BCAAs, the bioavailability of these compounds should be increased, and thus the utilization of L-isoleucine, L-leucine and L-valine from the medium should be decreased. On the contrary, results show that the utilization of BCAAs is slightly increased at higher L-threonine availability (Fig. 2d) and the expression of the enzyme involved in the first reaction of BCAA biosynthesis (IlvA) is reduced (Fig. 3a). Hence, it is certain that BCAAs are not the compounds of interest.

Lastly, low amounts of produced glycine might have been directed to the biosynthesis of purines, which are precursors in the production of riboflavin (Burgess *et al.*, 2004). This claim is based on proteome results, which show that enzymes involved in riboflavin biosynthesis (RibAB) were upregulated at higher L-threonine availability. The positive effect of threonine supplementation and TA overexpression on riboflavin production has also been noticed in experiments with the filamentous hemiascomycete *Ashbya gossypii* (Monschau *et al.*, 1998). The facilitated production of riboflavin is also indicated by an increase in L-glutamine utilization (Fig. S2), since the latter amino acid is involved in the biosynthesis of nucleotides (Kilstrup *et al.*, 2005). In conclusion, it was experimentally proven herein that a TA activity exists in *Lc. lactis* IL1403 and might be associated with GlyA. Incidentally, this is the principal pathway for L-threonine degradation in this particular strain. Moreover, L-threonine is preferred over L-serine as a substrate for glycine biosynthesis if the concentration of L-threonine is higher than that of L-serine, suggesting that they share a common transporter. Also, the conversion of accetaldehyde to ethanol is limited at higher L-threonine availability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The financial support for this research was provided by the Enterprise Estonia project EU29994, and the Ministry of Education, Estonia, through the institutional research funding grants IUT 1927 and IUT 23-7. The proteome data deposition to the ProteomeXchange Consortium was supported by the PRIDE team. The authors also thank Andres Maser, Mikk Ōun and Marc Krenkel for helping with sampling during fermentations, Sten Erm and Ranno Nahku for their guidance in setting up computer algorithms for D-stat experiments, and Mary-Liis Kütt for her help in LC-MS data analysis. Kadri Alle designed and carried out the experiments, conducted analytical measurements and wrote the manuscript. Kaarel Adamberg and Raivo Vilu supervised the experiments and revised the manuscript. Indrek Reile was responsible for NMR analysis and Karl Peebo for proteomics. Veronica Timarova helped to carry out continuous cultivations.

REFERENCES

Aller, K., Adamberg, K., Timarova, V., Seiman, A., Feštšenko, D. & Vilu, R. (2014). Nutritional requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* **98**, 5871–5881.

Bolotin, A., Wincker, P., Mauger, S., Jaillon, O., Malarme, K., Weissenbach, J., Ehrlich, S. D. & Sorokin, A. (2001). The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. *Genome Res* **11**, 731–753.

Bongers, R. S., Hoefnagel, M. H. N. & Kleerebezem, M. (2005). High-level acetaldehyde production in *Lactococcus lactis* by metabolic engineering. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 71, 1109–1113.

Borneman, A. R., McCarthy, J. M., Chambers, P. J. & Bartowsky, E. J. (2012). Comparative analysis of the *Oenococcus oeni* pan genome reveals genetic diversity in industrially-relevant pathways. *BMC Genomics* 13, 373.

Burgess, C., O'Connell-Motherway, M., Sybesma, W., Hugenholtz, J. & van Sinderen, D. (2004). Riboflavin production in *Lactococcus lactis*: potential for in situ production of vitamin-enriched foods. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **70**, 5769–5777.

Chaves, A. C. S. D., Fernandez, M., Lerayer, A. L. S., Mierau, I., Kleerebezem, M. & Hugenholtz, J. (2002). Metabolic engineering of acetaldehyde production by *Streptococcus thermophilus*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 68, 5656–5662.

Christensen, J. E., Dudley, E. G., Pederson, J. A. & Steele, J. L. (1999). Peptidases and amino acid catabolism in lactic acid bacteria. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 76, 217–246.

Cocaign-Bousquet, M., Garrigues, C., Novak, L., Lindley, N. D. & Loublere, P. (1995). Rational development of a simple synthetic medium for the sustained growth of *Lactococcus lactis. J Appl Bacteriol* 79, 108–116.

Cox, J. & Mann, M. (2008). MaxQuant enables high peptide identification rates, individualized p.p.b.-range mass accuracies and proteome-wide protein quantification. *Nat Biotechnol* 26, 1367–1372.

Epperly, B. R. & Dekker, E. E. (1991). L-threonine dehydrogenase from *Escherichia coli*. Identification of an active site cysteine residue and metal ion studies. *J Biol Chem* **266**, 6086–6092.

Fernández, M. & Zúñiga, M. (2006). Amino acid catabolic pathways of lactic acid bacteria. *Crit Rev Microbiol* 32, 155–183.

Gaspar, P., Carvalho, A. L., Vinga, S., Santos, H. & Neves, A. R. (2013). From physiology to systems metabolic engineering for the production of biochemicals by lactic acid bacteria. *Biotechnol Adv* 31, 764–788.

Hu, P., Yang, M., Zhang, A., Wu, J., Chen, B., Hua, Y., Yu, J., Xiao, J. & Jin, M. (2011). Complete genome sequence of *Streptococcus suis* serotype 14 strain JS14. *J Bacteriol* 193, 2375–2376.

Kilstrup, M., Hammer, K., Ruhdal Jensen, P. & Martinussen, J. (2005). Nucleotide metabolism and its control in lactic acid bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 29, 555–590.

Lahtvee, P. J., Adamberg, K., Arike, L., Nahku, R., Aller, K. & Vilu, R. (2011). Multi-omics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. *Microb Cell Fact* 10, 12.

Liu, J. Q., Dairi, T., Itoh, N., Kataoka, M., Shimizu, S. & Yamada, H. (1998). Gene cloning, biochemical characterization and physiological role of a thermostable low-specificity L-threonine aldolase from *Escherichia coli. Eur J Biochem* 255, 220–226.

Loubiere, P., Cocaign-Bousquet, M., Matos, J., Goma, G. & Lindley, N. D. (1997). Influence of end-products inhibition and nutrient limitations on the growth of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*. J Appl Microbiol 82, 95-100.

Marcus, J. P. & Dekker, E. E. (1993). pH-dependent decarboxylation of 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate, the unstable intermediate in the threonine dehydrogenase-initiated pathway for threonine utilization. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 190, 1066–1072.

Monschau, N., Sahm, H. & Stahmann, K. P. (1998). Threonine aldolase overexpression plus threonine supplementation enhanced riboflavin production in *Ashbya gossypii. Appl Environ Microbiol* 64, 4283–4290.

Noens, E. E. & Lolkema, J. S. (2014). Physiology and substrate specificity of two closely related amino acid transporters, SerP1 and SerP2, of *Lactococcus lactis. J Bacteriol* 197, 951–958.

Novák, L. & Loubiere, P. (2000). The metabolic network of *Lactococcus lactis*: distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled substrates between catabolic and anabolic pathways. *J Bacteriol* **182**, 1136–1143.

Ogawa, H., Gomi, T. & Fujioka, M. (2000). Serine hydroxymethyltransferase and threonine aldolase: are they identical? *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 32, 289–301.

Ott, A., Germond, J. E. & Chaintreau, A. (2000). Origin of acetaldehyde during milk fermentation using ¹³C-labeled precursors. *J Agric Food Chem* **48**, 1512–1517.

Pieterse, B., Leer, R. J., Schuren, F. H. & van der Werf, M. J. (2005). Unravelling the multiple effects of lactic acid stress on *Lactobacillus plantarum* by transcription profiling. *Microbiology* 151, 3881–3894.

Price, C. E., Zeyniyev, A., Kuipers, O. P. & Kok, J. (2012). From meadows to milk to mucosa - adaptation of *Streptococcus* and *Lactococcus* species to their nutritional environments. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* 36, 949–971.

Schmidt, A., Sivaraman, J., Li, Y., Larocque, R., Barbosa, J. A., Smith, C., Matte, A., Schrag, J. D. & Cygler, M. (2001). Three-dimensional structure of 2-amino-3-ketobutyrate CoA ligase from *Escherichia coli* complexed with a PLP-substrate intermediate: inferred reaction mechanism. *Biochemistry* 40, 5151–5160.

Simic, P., Willuhn, J., Sahm, H. & Eggeling, L (2002). Identification of *glyA* (encoding serine hydroxymethyltransferase) and its use together with the exporter ThrE to increase L-threonine accumulation by *Corynebacterium glutamicum*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **68**, 3321– 3327.

Sun, Z., Chen, X., Wang, J., Zhao, W., Shao, Y., Wu, L., Zhou, Z., Sun, T., Wang, L. & other authors (2011). Complete genome sequence of *Streptococcus thermophilus* strain ND03. *J Bacteriol* 193, 793–794.

Vizcaíno, J. A., Côté, R. G., Csordas, A., Dianes, J. A., Fabregat, A., Foster, J. M., Griss, J., Alpi, E., Birim, M. & other authors (2013). The PRoteomics IDEntifications (PRIDE) database and associated tools: status in 2013. *Nucleic Acids Res* **41** (D1), D1063–D1069.

Zhang, G., Mills, D. A. & Block, D. E. (2009). Development of chemically defined media supporting high-cell-density growth of lactococci, enterococci, and streptococci. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75, 1080–1087.

Edited by: P. O'Toole

III Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Vilu R (2016) Reduction of nutrient concentrations in a chemically defined medium increases amino acid usage efficiency in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. The manuscript has been submitted to FEMS Microbiology Letters.

Reduction of nutrient concentrations in a chemically defined medium increases amino acid usage efficiency in *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403

Kadri Aller^{1, 2,*}, Kaarel Adamberg^{1, 3}, Veronica Timarova², Andrus Seiman¹, Raivo Vilu^{1, 2}

¹ The Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies, Akadeemia tee 15A,
 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

² Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Chemistry, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618
 Tallinn, Estonia

³ Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Food Processing, Ehitajate tee 5, 19086
 Tallinn, Estonia

15 * Corresponding author. <u>Mailing address:</u> The Competence Center of Food and
16 Fermentation Technologies, Akadeemia tee 15A, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia. <u>E-mail:</u>
17 aller@tftak.eu. <u>Phone:</u> +372 6408200. <u>Fax:</u> +372 6408282.

18 19

1

2

3 4 5

20 Abstract

21

Lactococcus lactis exhibits potential for the production of value-added biochemicals. Optimization of media enables elucidation of interrelationships between metabolic pathways required for efficient growth of cells. This study examined the use of amino acids for biosynthetic and energetic purposes and how the flux of amino acids into biomass increases when availability of amino acids in the medium is limited.

27 The metabolism of L. lactis IL1403 was compared herein using three chemically 28 defined media (BS7, K40, V19) and glucose-limited A-stat cultivation. In a medium with 29 reduced amino acid content (K40) the flux of amino acids to proteins was increased in 30 comparison to the initial medium (BS7) and to the medium with reduced metal ion content 31 (V19). Important shift in arginine degradation was observed in K40 where arginine was 32 mainly consumed for biosynthetic purposes instead of additional ATP generation through 33 arginine deiminase pathway. Amino acids were grouped based on the target in metabolism: 34 eight amino acids were consumed in higher amounts than needed for cellular protein and 35 peptidoglycan synthesis, while four amino acids were synthezised to fulfil cellular 36 requirements. The grouping of amino acids facilitates optimization of amino acid 37 concentrations during the development of defined media for other lactococci.

38 39

40 *Keywords*

41

42 Lactic acid bacteria, continuous cultivation, chemically defined medium, medium43 optimization, amino acid metabolism.

44 45

47

46 Introduction

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are widely used in the food industry for the production of dairy,
 plant and meat fermented foods, due to their ability to contribute to the taste and texture and

to prevent food spoilage (Price *et al.*, 2012). LAB are particularly useful due to their ability to
catabolize a wide variety of sugars (de Vos 1996) and for enabling *in situ* production of
beneficial compounds in food (LeBlanc *et al.*, 2011, Li & Cao 2010, Ortiz *et al.*, 2013).
Metabolically engineered LAB are efficient cell factories of functional biochemicals, e.g. the
species *Lactococcus lactis* has emerged as a suitable host for the production of recombinant
proteins (Morello *et al.*, 2008), ethanol (Solem *et al.*, 2013), alanine (Hols *et al.*, 1999),
riboflavin (Sybesma *et al.*, 2004), 2,3-butanediol (Gaspar *et al.*, 2011) and other compounds.

57 When studying the metabolic pathways of compounds of interest or manufacturing 58 microbial metabolites, the selection of a fermentation medium is critical. Rich but undefined 59 media are typically inexpensive and provide high biomass yields, but the lots for inexpensive 60 carbon and nitrogen sources may vary and thus influence fermentation performance. Utilization of a chemically defined medium (CDM) reduces inconstancy of the process, 61 provides reproducible results and more explainable data, but can decrease biomass yield and 62 increase the price of the fermentation. (Zhang & Greasham 1999; Zhang et al., 2009). 63 64 Additionally, CDMs simplify downstream processing and product purification of biosynthesized metabolites (Petry et al., 2000; Torino et al., 2005; Khan et al., 2013) and 65 enable incorporation of amino acid analogues or non-proteinogenic amino acids into proteins 66 (El Khattabi et al., 2008: Berntsson et al., 2009). 67

68 CDMs for several LAB are available in literature and can be further optimized to meet the requirements of specific strains (Berry et al., 1999, Chervaux et al., 2000; Letort & 69 Juillard 2001; Hébert et al., 2004; Wegkamp et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2012). The species L. 70 71 *lactis* has previously been determined to be auxotrophic for eight amino acids (Aller *et al.*, 72 2014, Zhang et al., 2009). However, maximal specific growth rate in CDMs that contain only essential amino acids is low (Jensen & Hammer 1993; Cocaign-Bousquet et al., 1995) and 73 74 minimal media are thus unsuitable for studying the metabolism of LAB at higher μ values. 75 Therefore, a different strategy should be used for developing defined media for LAB, i.e. 76 selecting concentrations for amino acids in the medium based on whether these compounds 77 are solely used for biomass protein and peptidoglycan synthesis or other targets as well.

78 In the present study the physiology of L. lactis IL1403 is compared in three CDMs 79 (BS7, K40, V19) from a previous work (Aller et al., 2014) at different specific growth rates 80 using accelerostat (A-stat) continuous cultivations (Paalme et al., 1995). In K40 and V19 81 media the concentrations of amino acids or mineral salts, respectively, have been reduced 2 to 82 8 times (compared with BS7) in order to create a more balanced medium, i.e. a medium with 83 lower residual nutrient concentrations after the growth of cells. The main objective of this work is to evaluate the metabolic changes, especially in amino acid metabolism, that were 84 induced by limited nutrient availability. We provide information that is useful for the 85 development of synthetic media for other LAB that have similar amino acid auxotrophies with 86 the IL1403 strain, i.e. which amino acids are mainly used for the formation of biomass 87 proteins and which amino acids for other purposes. In addition, the obtained data may be 88 89 implemented for increasing amino acid fluxes for the biosynthesis of recombinant proteins or 90 amino acid degradation products by changing the composition of the medium.

- 91
- 92

93 Materials and methods

94

95 Microorganism

96

Lactococcus lactis subsp. *lactis* IL1403 was provided by INRA (Jouy-en-Josas, France).
 Inoculum was prepared from lyophilized stock culture stored at -80°C which was pre-grown

99 twice in test tubes at 34°C on BS7 medium (Table 1).

100

101 Media

102

103 Three chemically defined media were used for cultivations: BS7, K40 and V19 (Table 1). 104 These media were developed in a previous research (Aller *et al.*, 2014), where BS7 was the 105 initial medium, while K40 and V19 were media with minimized amino acid or microelement 106 content, respectively, that provided the best trade-off between optical density, specific growth 107 rate and nutrient reduction rate.

Compounds were obtained from Serva Electrophoresis GmbH (Heidelberg, Germany)
and Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and were mixed together in the following
order (to avoid precipitation): sugar, buffers, amino acids, mineral salts, vitamins, additional
components. Media were sterilized by filtration, using stainless steel filter holders and
nitrocellulose membrane filters (0.22 μm) (Merck Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany).

113

114 Cultivation conditions

115

116 The accelerostat (A-stat) continuous cultivations in glucose limitation were carried out in two parallels for each medium using 1.25 L Biobundle bioreactors with ADI1030 biocontrollers 117 118 and "BioXpert 3" control program, all provided by Applikon Biotechnology B.V. (Delft, The 119 Netherlands). A detailed description of the fermentation equipment has been given in 120 Adamberg et al., 2009 and Lahtvee et al., 2009. The following conditions were used: T=34°C, 121 agitation speed 300 rpm and V=300 mL pH was kept at 6.4 by addition of 2M NaOH and the gas enviroment was kept anaerobic by flushing the bioreactors with N₂. A constant dilution 122 rate $D=0.1 h^{-1}$ was applied after the culture in batch cultivation reached stationary phase. The 123 124 culture was stabilized by pumping 5 cultivation volumes through the bioreactor and acceleration of dilution rate $(a=0.006 \text{ h}^{-2})$ was initiated. 125

126 Samples for optical density and analytical measurements were collected after every 2 127 or 3 hours. Optical densities were measured with WPA CO 8000 Biowave Cell Density 128 Meter (Biochrom GmbH; Berlin, Germany) at 600 nm. The dry weight of biomass was 129 determined gravimetrically in three timepoints of each fermentation by washing freshly 130 collected biomass in three parallels with destilled water (Rotanta 460R centrifuge, Hettich, 131 Tuttlingen, Germany; 11500 rpm, 5 min, 4°C, three times). The remaining pellets were 132 transferred onto aluminum foils, heated at 105°C for 24 h and weighed thereafter. The k value 133 was 0.30±0.03 for BS7, 0.31±0.02 for K40 and 0.30±0.02 for V19.

134

135 Analytical methods

136

137 Cells in the samples were removed by centrifugation (14800 rpm, 5 min, 4°C; MicroCL 21R centrifuge; Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.; Waltham, MA, USA) and the supernatant was used 138 139 for the following analyses: (i) Glucose and main fermentation end-products (lactate, 140 formate, acetate) were measured with liquid chromatography (Alliance 2795 system), refractive index detector (model 2414) and Empower software, all provided by Waters Corp. 141 (Milford, MA, USA). The column used was BioRad HPX-87H (Hercules, CA, USA) at 35°C 142 with isocratic elution of 5 mM H_2SO_4 at a flow rate 0.6 mL min⁻¹. (ii) Free amino acids were 143 144 detected with an amino acid analyser Acquity UPLC (Waters Corp.; Milford, MA, USA) 145 according to the manufacturer's instructions. The samples were derivatized beforehand for 10 min at 55°C, using AccQ-Fluor reagent (6-aminoquinolyl-N-hydroxysuccinimidyl carbamate; 146 147 Waters Corp.). Data was processed with Empower software (Waters Corp.). (iii) The 148 concentration of Mg^{2+} ions was detected as described in Supplementary material.

149

150 ATP spilling

151

ATP spilling was calculated with an in-house stoichiometric metabolic model as described inSupplementary material.

154 155

156 Results and discussion

157

158 Energetic efficiency was similar in all media

159

160 Glucose-limited A-stat fermentations were carried out on three CDMs in two parallels: (i) 161 BS7 (the initial CDM); (ii) K40, where the concentrations of amino acids (except for 162 asparagine, aspartate, glutamine, glutamate) were lowered 2-8 times compared with BS7 and 163 (iii) V19, where the concentrations of mineral salts were lowered 2-4 times compared with 164 BS7. Maximal specific growth rates (μ_{max}) were 0.57±0.04, 0.42±0.07 and 0.49±0.07 h⁻¹ in 165 BS7, K40 and V19, respectively (Table 1), and specific biomass productivity can be seen on 166 Fig. 1a. Specific lactate productivity and the channeling of glucose to lactate can be seen on 167 Fig. 1b and Fig. 1c, respectively. In V19 medium the fermentation was more homolactic than 168 in BS7 or K40, as the production of byproducts (namely formate) was decreased (Fig. 1d). 169 Specific acetate productivity can be seen in Fig. S1. The production of ethanol was not 170 observed.

Flux calculations demonstrated that the usage of energy-wasting pathways decreased with the rise of specific growth rate, as can be seen by the drop of ATP spilling on Fig. 1e. ATP spilling is defined in this research as non-growth related ATP production, i.e. the difference between total ATP produced and total ATP spent for the synthesis of biomonomers. The production of unidentified compounds from glucose, i.e. products other than lactate, formate, acetate and ethanol decreased with the rise of μ (Fig. 1f).

177

178 Increased efficiency of amino acid usage in K40 medium

179

180 The specific consumption rate of all amino acids was either constant or increased with the rise 181 of specific growth rate value. The consumption of arginine, cysteine, serine and threonine and 182 the production of ornithine were lower in K40 than in other media (Fig. 2a, 2b, 2e, 2g, 2h). 183 Amino acid utilization and production profiles were generally similar in BS7 and V19, except 184 for glutamine and glutamate, which were consumed or produced less in case of V19 (Fig. 2c 185 and 2d). Proline was consumed or produced in minute amounts in BS7/V19 or K40, 186 respectively (Fig. 2f). The metabolism of other amino acids is presented in Fig. S2.

187 Fig. 3a and Fig. 3b show that several amino acids, namely arginine, 188 asparagine/aspartate, glutamine, serine and threonine, are largely overconsumed, i.e. utilized 189 for the production of unidentified byproducts in addition to biomass protein and peptidoglycan biosynthesis, especially at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹. Amino acid flux to proteins increased 190 with specific growth rate in all three media. Isoleucine, leucine and methionine were slightly 191 192 overconsumed, whereas the consumption of alanine, histidine, lysine, phenylalanine and 193 valine was close to the requirements for protein formation, especially in the case of K40. 194 More than 50% of glycine and more than 20% of tyrosine in cellular proteins originates from 195 biosynthesis (Fig. 3c and 3d), whereas the remaining portions were obtained by consuming 196 these amino acids from the medium. As K40 contained more serine than threonine (Table 1), 197 serine was probably the main source for glycine biosynthesis due to competitive inhibition for 198 the SerP1 transporter (Noens & Lolkema 2014).

199 As the flux of consumed amino acids to biomass proteins or byproducts varied 200 between media, changing the composition of a CDM is one possible way of increasing or 201 decreasing the biosynthesis of valuable or undesired substances originating from amino acid 202 catabolism, e.g. aroma compounds, chemicals with antifungal activity, γ -aminobutyric acid, 203 biogenic amines etc.

204

205 The flux through arginine deiminase pathway is diminshed in K40 medium

206

207 In the medium with lowered concentrations of amino acids (K40) cells avoid generation of 208 additional ATP by reducing fluxes through the arginine-deiminase (ADI) pathway (Fig. 2a 209 and 2e), which produces two moles of ammonia and one mole of ATP, ornithine and 210 carbamoylphosphate per one mole of arginine. In BS7 and V19 media, 66 and 54% or 77 and 59% of arginine is converted to ornithine at $\mu = 0.1$ or 0.4 h⁻¹. In K40, however, 41% of 211 arginine is converted to ornithine at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ and only 2% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Fig. 3a and 3b). In 212 B\$7 and V19, 15-18% of consumed arginine is used for protein production, whereas in K40 213 the number is 59% at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Fig. 3b). If arginine degradation through ADI pathway is 214 215 decreased at higher μ values, other pathways should be present for obtaining carbamoylphosphate for pyrimidine biosynthesis, e.g. agmatine deiminase (AGDI) pathway. 216 217 However, no putrescine production was observed (data not shown), although the genes of the 218 AGDI cluster exist in L. lactis IL1403 (Ladero et al., 2011). Hence, cells probably biosynthesized carbamoylphosphate from CO₂, which was obtained from glycolysis or 219 220 degradation reactions of other amino acids.

221

222 Formation of glutamate from glutamine is decreased in V19 medium

222 223

224 The utilization of glutamine and concomitant glutamate production were decreased in a 225 medium with lower Na⁺ concentration (V19) (Fig. 2c and 2d). In BS7, K40 and V19, respectively, 46, 36 and 49% of glutamine was converted to glutamate at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ (Fig. 3a) 226 and 24, 20 or 13% at $\mu = 0.4 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (Fig. 3b). Presumably, this was evoked for three reasons: (i) 227 228 the glutamine/glutamic acid transporter complex GlnPQ functions at the expense of ATP and 229 thus glutamine overconsumption is avoided to maintain energy; (ii) uptake of amino acids by 230 GlnPQ is more effective in the presence of higher osmolyte concentrations (Schuurman-231 Wolters & Poolman 2005); (iii) the need for acid stress allevation by ammonia production 232 through the conversion of glutamine to glutamate is diminished, when less formate is 233 produced (see V19 medium in Fig. 1d). According to Loubiere et al., 1997, formate is more 234 inhibitory to the cells than lactate, acetate and ethanol. In addition, proline in K40 medium 235 was probably produced from glutamate (Fig. 2f), thereby regenerating $NAD(P)^+$.

236

237 Grouping of amino acids based on cellular requirements

238

239 Based on previous chapters the amino acids can be divided into five groups: (i) amino acids, 240 that are largely overconsumed (arginine, asparagine/aspartate, glutamine, serine, threonine); 241 (ii) amino acids, that are slightly overconsumed (isoleucine, leucine, methionine); (iii) amino 242 acids, that are consumed in amounts close to the requirements for protein formation (alanine, 243 histidine, lysine, phenylalanine, valine); (iv) amino acids, that are partially biosynthesized 244 from other amino acids or compounds (glycine, tyrosine); (v) amino acids, that are completely 245 synthesized from other amino acids (glutamate, proline). Therefore, when developing a new 246 synthetic medium for specific strains of lactococci, amino acid concentrations for the group 247 (iii) should correspond to the amounts needed for biomass proteins and peptidoglycan, 248 whereas amounts of amino acids in the groups (i) and (ii) should correspond to the

- 249 requirements of other biosynthetic pathways (nucleotide synthesis), additional energy costs, 250 regeneration of redox compounds or ammonia for balancing acid production. Amino acids 251 from the groups (iv) and (v) may be omitted from the medium. Note that the requirements for 252 some amino acids may increase at higher μ and amino acid limitation may lead to an earlier 253 growth halt as seen by μ_{max} comparison of K40 and BS7 (Table 1).
- 254

255 Decreased residual nutrient concentrations and improved measurement accuracy

256

257 In comparison with BS7 medium, K40 contains lower amounts of amino acids. Thus, their 258 percentual consumption (percentage consumed from the initial amount in the medium) has 259 increased, resulting in lower residual concentrations of amino acids and a more balanced medium: more than 50% of 14 amino acids is consumed at $\mu = 0.1$ h⁻¹ and over 80% of eight 260 amino acids at $\mu = 0.4$ h⁻¹ (Fig. 4). In comparison, in the experiments performed with *Lb*. 261 plantarum by Teusink et al., 2006 less than 17% of 16 amino acids were consumed from a 262 263 defined medium (Table S1). Also, the accuracy for measuring metal ion utilization is 264 increased in V19 compared with BS7 (Fig. S3).

Furthermore, K40 is 31% and V19 is 8% cheaper than BS7 (Table 1). The cost for the 265 CDM of Dressaire *et al.*, 2008 is 7.48 EUR \cdot L⁻¹ and it is 3 times more expensive than K40. 266 The cost for the minimal medium MS15 from Cocaign-Bousquet *et al.*, 1995 is $3.16 \text{ EUR} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$. 267 which is comparable to the price of BS7 (Table 1). Low-molecular media derived from yeast 268 269 extract (YE) by membrane filtration (e.g. Zacharof & Lovitt 2013) are cheaper, but data 270 interpretation is more aggravated in a filtered YE medium, as it contains hundreds of different 271 peptides, nucleosides and other compounds. In addition, K40 offers higher maximal specific growth rate (0.42 versus 0.37 h⁻¹) than the minimal medium M15 (Cocaign-Bousquet et al., 272 273 1995). 274

275 Conclusion

276

277 CDMs can be used for the production of microbial metabolites and are indispensable in 278 metabolic research. In order to improve fermentation performance and understand the growth 279 and metabolism of cells, the growth medium has to be tuned to match the cell requirements 280 and the objective of the process. The authors propose K40 as a new efficient CDM for the 281 metabolic research of lactococci in glucose-limited continuous cultivations. A strategy to 282 design media for studying the metabolism of lactococci was presented by grouping amino 283 acids according to cellular requirements for these compounds. Understanding of 284 interrelationships between consumption, synthesis or degradation of amino acids and central 285 pathways to balance ATP production or regeneration of NAD⁺ is useful for improving the 286 bioproduction of beneficial compounds.

287 288

289 Acknowledgements

290

This study was funded by the Enterprise Estonia project EU29994 and EU48667, and
Ministry of Education, Estonia, through the institutional research funding grant IUT 1927.
The authors would like to thank Darja Feštšenko, Julia Heiser, Andres Maser, Karl Peebo,
Gethe Riis and Mikk Õun for helping out with sampling during fermentations. The authors
declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

296

298 **References**

299

Adamberg K, Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Abner K & Vilu R (2009) Quasy steady state growth
 of *Lactococcus lactis* in glucose-limited acceleration stat (A-stat) cultures. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 95(3): 219-226. doi: 10.1007/s10482-009-9305-z

303

315

319

323

Aller K, Adamberg K, Timarova V, Seiman A, Feštšenko D & Vilu R (2014) Nutritional
requirements and media development for *Lactococcus lactis* IL1403. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 98(13): 5871-5881. doi: 10.1007/s00253-014-5641-7

307
308 Berntsson RP, Alia Oktaviani N, Fusetti F, Thunnissen AM, Poolman B & Slotboom DJ
(2009) Selenomethionine incorporation in proteins expressed in *Lactococcus lactis*. *Protein*310 Sci 18(5): 1121-1127. doi: 10.1002/pro.97

Berry AR, Franco CMM, Zhang W & Middelberg APJ (1999) Growth and lactic acid
production in batch culture of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* in a defined medium. *Biotechnol Lett*21(2): 163-167. doi: 10.1023/A:1005483609065

Chervaux C, Ehrlich SD & Maguin E (2000) Physiological study of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii*subsp. *bulgaricus* strains in a novel chemically defined medium. *Appl Environ Microbiol*66(12): 5306-5311. doi: 10.1128/AEM.66.12.5306-5311.2000

Cocaign-Bousquet M, Garrigues C, Novak L, Lindley ND & Loubiere P (1995) Rational
 development of a simple synthetic medium for the sustained growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. J
 Appl Bacteriol **79**: 108-116. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1995.tb03131.x

De Vos WM (1996) Metabolic engineering of sugar catabolism in lactic acid bacteria. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 70(2-4): 223-242. doi: 10.1007/BF00395934

326

Dressaire C, Redon E, Milhem H, Besse P, Loubière P & Cocaign-Bousquet M (2008)
Growth rate regulated genes and their wide involvement in the *Lactococcus lactis* stress
responses. *BMC Genomics* 9(343): doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-343.

330

El Khattabi M, van Roosmalen ML, Jager D, Metselaar H, Permentier H, Leenhouts K &
Broos J (2008) *Lactococcus lactis* as expression host for the biosynthetic incorporation of
tryptophan analogues into recombinant proteins. *Biochem J* 409(1): 193-198. doi:
10.1042/BJ20070909

335

Gaspar P, Neves AR, Gasson MJ, Shearman CA & Santos H (2011) High yields of 2,3butanediol and mannitol in *Lactococcus lactis* through engineering of NAD⁺ cofactor
recycling. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 77(19): 6826–6835. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05544-11

Hébert EM, Raya RR & de Giori GS (2004) Nutritional requirements of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *lactis* in a chemically defined medium. *Curr Microbiol* 49(5): 341-345.
doi: 10.1007/s00284-004-4357-9

343

Hols P, Kleerebezem M, Schanck AN, Ferain T, Hugenholtz J, Delcour J & de Vos WM
(1999) Conversion of *Lactococcus lactis* from homolactic to homoalanine fermentation
through metabolic engineering. *Nat Biotechnol* 17(6): 588-592. doi: 10.1038/9902

347

- Jensen PR & Hammer K (1993) Minimal requirements for exponential growth of *Lactococcus lactis. Appl Environ Microbiol* 59(12): 4363-4366
- 350
- 351 Khan H, Flint SH & Yu PL (2013) Development of a chemically defined medium for the
- production of enterolysin A from *Enterococcus faecalis* B9510. *J Appl Microbiol* 114(4):
 1092-1102. doi: 10.1111/jam.12115
- 354
- Kim YJ, Eom HJ, Seo EY, Lee DY, Kim JH & Han NS (2012) Development of a chemically
 defined minimal medium for the exponential growth of *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*ATCC8293. *J Microbiol Biotechnol* 22(11): 1518-1522.
- 358
- Ladero V, Rattray FP, Mayo B, Martín MC, Fernández M & Alvarez MA (2011) Sequencing
 and transcriptional analysis of the biosynthesis gene cluster of putrescine-producing *Lactococcus lactis. Appl Environ Microbiol* 77(18): 6409-6418. doi: 10.1128/AEM.05507-11
- Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Nahku R, Abner K, Adamberg K & Vilu R (2009) Steady state
 growth space study of *Lactococcus lactis* in D-stat cultures. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 96(4):
 487-496. doi: 10.1007/s10482-009-9363-2
- LeBlanc JG, Laiño JE, del Valle MJ, Vannini V, van Sinderen D, Taranto MP, de Valdez GF,
 de Giori GS & Sesma F (2011) B-group vitamin production by lactic acid bacteria current
 knowledge and potential applications. *J Appl Microbiol* 111(6): 1297-1309. doi:
 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2011.05157.x
- Letort C & Juillard V (2001) Development of a minimal chemically-defined medium for the
 exponential growth of *Streptococcus thermophilus*. *J Appl Microbiol* 91(6): 1023-1029.
 doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2672.2001.01469.x
- Li H & Cao Y (2010) Lactic acid bacterial cell factories for gamma-aminobutyric acid. *Amino Acids* 39(5): 1107-1116. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0582-7
- 378
 379 Loubiere P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Matos J, Goma G & Lindley ND (1997) Influence of end380 products inhibition and nutrient limitations on the growth of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*.
 381 *J Appl Microbiol* 82: 95-100. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.1997.tb03302.x
 - 382
 - Morello E, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Llull D, Solé V, Miraglio N, Langella P & Poquet I
 (2008) Lactococcus lactis, an efficient cell factory for recombinant protein production and
 secretion. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 14(1-3): 48-58. doi: 10.1159/000106082
 - Noens EE & Lolkema JS (2014) Physiology and substrate specificity of two closely related
 amino acid transporters, SerP1 and SerP2, of *Lactococcus lactis*. *J Bacteriol* 197: 951–958.
 doi: 10.1128/JB.02471-14
 - 390
 - Ortiz ME, Bleckwedel J, Raya RR & Mozzi F (2013) Biotechnological and in situ food
 production of polyols by lactic acid bacteria. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 97(11): 4713-26. doi:
 10.1007/s00253-013-4884-z
 - 394
 - Paalme T, Kahru A, Elken R, Vanatalu K, Tiisma K & Vilu R (1995) The computercontrolled continuous culture of *Escherichia coli* with smooth change of dilution rate (A-stat).
 - 397 J Microbiol Methods 24(2): 145-153. doi: 10.1016/0167-7012(95)00064-X
398

Petry S, Furlan S, Crepeau MJ, Cerning J & Desmazeaud M (2000) Factors affecting
exocellular polysaccharide production by *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* grown
in a chemically defined medium. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 66(8): 3427–3431. doi:
10.1128/AEM.66.8.3427-3431.2000

- 403
- 404 Price CE, Zeyniyev A, Kuipers OP & Kok J (2012) From meadows to milk to mucosa –
 405 adaptation of *Streptococcus* and *Lactococcus* species to their nutritional environments. *FEMS*406 *Microbiol Rev* 36(5): 949-971. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00323.x
- Schuurman-Wolters GK & Poolman B (2005) Substrate specificity and ionic regulation of
 GlnPQ from *Lactococcus lactis*. An ATP-binding cassette transporter with four
 extracytoplasmic substrate-binding domains. *J Biol Chem* 280(25): 23785-23790. doi:
 10.1074/jbc.M500522200
- 412

Solem C, Dehli T & Jensen PR (2013) Rewiring *Lactococcus lactis* for ethanol production. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 79(8): 2512-2518. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03623-12

415

Sybesma W, Burgess C, Starrenburg M, van Sinderen D & Hugenholtz J (2004) Multivitamin
production in *Lactococcus lactis* using metabolic engineering. *Metab Eng* 6(2): 109-115. doi:
10.1016/j.ymben.2003.11.002

- Teusink B, Wiersma A, Molenaar D, Francke C, de Vos WM, Siezen RJ & Smid EJ (2006)
 Analysis of growth of *Lactobacillus plantarum* WCFS1 on a complex medium using a
 genome-scale metabolic model. *J Biol Chem* 281(52): 40041-40048. doi:
 10.1074/jbc.M606263200
- 424
- Torino MI, Hébert EM, Mozzi F & Font de Valdez G (2005) Growth and exopolysaccharide
 production by *Lactobacillus helveticus* ATCC 15807 in an adenine-supplemented chemically
 defined medium. *J Appl Microbiol* 99(5): 1123-1129. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02701.x
- Wegkamp A, Teusink B, de Vos WM & Smid EJ (2010) Development of a minimal growth
 medium for *Lactobacillus plantarum*. *Lett Appl Microbiol* 50(1): 57-64. doi: 10.1111/j.1472765X.2009.02752.x
- 432
- Zacharof MP & Lovitt RW (2013) Low molecular weight liquid media development for
 lactobacilli producing bacteriocins. *J Chem Technol Biot* 88(1): 72-80. doi: 10.1002/jctb.3892
- Zhang G, Mills DA & Block DE (2009) Development of chemically defined media
 supporting high cell density growth of lactococci, enterococci, and streptococci. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 75(4): 1080-1087. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01416-08
- 439
- Zhang J & Greasham R (1999) Chemically defined media for commercial fermentations. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 51(4): 407-421. doi: 10.1007/s002530051411
- 442
- 443
- 444 Tables
- 445 446

Table 1. Composition of chemically defined media used in this study (grams per liter). The
 cost of the media is calculated by using the prices of medium compounds in Sigma-Aldrich at

449 8th of July 2015.

	BS7	K40	V19			
DESCRIPTION	Initial CDM	Concentrations of amino acid have been lowered 2-8 times (excl. Asn, Asp, Gln, Glu), compared with BS7	Concentrations of mineral salts have been lowered 2-4 times, compared with BS7			
Maximal specfic growth rate (µ _{max} ; h ⁻¹), n=2	0.57±0.04	0.42 ± 0.07	0.49±0.07			
Amino acid/Glucose ratio (c-mol∙c-mol⁻¹)	0.44	0.20	0.44			
Price (EUR·L ⁻¹)	3.21	2.22	2.97			
COMPOSITION $(g \cdot L^{-1})$						
SUGAR						
Glucose	4.5	4.5	4.5			
BUFFERS	2.0	2.0	2.0			
K_2 HPO ₄	3.0	3.0	3.0			
	2.5	2.5	2.5			
AMINO ACIDS	0.0782	0.0201	0.0782			
L-Alainine (Ala)	0.0782	0.0391	0.0782			
L-Arginine (Arg)	0.1832	0.0920	0.1852			
L-Asparagine (Asir)	0.0723	0.0733	0.0723			
L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.0636	0.0723	0.0636			
L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.0703	0.0079	0.0703			
L-Glutamine (Gln)	0.1322	0.1322	0.1322			
Glycine (Gly)	0.0578	0.0072	0.0578			
L-Histidine (His)	0.0597	0.0075	0.0597			
L-Isoleucine (IIe)	0.1018	0.0255	0.1018			
L-Leucine (Leu)	0.2072	0.0518	0.2072			
L-Lysine-HCl (Lys)	0.1576	0.0394	0.1576			
L-Methionine (Met)	0.0407	0.0203	0.0407			
L-Phenylalanine (Phe)	0.0860	0.0430	0.0860			
L-Proline (Pro)	0.0917	0.0115	0.0917			
L-Serine (Ser)	0.1634	0.0817	0.1634			
L-Threonine (Thr)	0.0758	0.0379	0.0758			
L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.0164	0.0082	0.0164			
L-Tyrosine (Tyr)	0.0295	0.0147	0.0295			
L-Valine (Val)	0.1072	0.0268	0.1072			
MINERAL SALTS						
$CaCl_2$	0.0500	0.0500	0.0125			
CoSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0030	0.0030	0.0008			
CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O	0.0030	0.0030	0.0015			

FeSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0014	0.0014	0.0007
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.2000	0.2000	0.1000
MnSO ₄ ·H ₂ O	0.0160	0.0160	0.0080
$(NH_4)_6Mo_7O_{24}\cdot 4H_2O$	0.0030	0.0030	0.0008
NaCl	2.9000	2.9000	0.7250
ZnSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0050	0.0050	0.0013
VITAMINS			
Thiamine-HCl (B_1)	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051
Riboflavin (B_2)	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033
Nicotinamide (B ₃)	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033
Ca-pantothenate (B ₅)	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065
Pyridoxine (B_6)	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064
Biotin (B ₇)	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031
Folic acid (B ₉)	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121
ADDITIONAL			
COMPOUNDS			
Adenine	0.0250	0.0250	0.0250
Hypoxanthine	0.0250	0.0250	0.0250
Lipoic acid	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018

Figures

Fig. 1. Biomass yield and pyruvate metabolism. Average results of 2 fermentations per each medium: BS7 - black circles or black line; K40 - white triangles or dotted line; V19 -grey squares or grey line. a. Specific biomass productivity (gram of dry weight per gram of consumed glucose per hour). b. Specific lactate productivity (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour). c. Conversion of glucose to lactate (percentage of the total amount of consumed glucose). d. Specific formate productivity (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour). e. ATP spilling (millimoles per gram cell dry weight). f. Production of unidentified compounds (metabolites other than lactate, formate, acetate, ethanol) from glucose (millimoles per gram cell dry weight).



Fig. 2. Specific amino acid utilization rate. Average results of 2 fermentations per each
medium (millimoles per gram cell dry weight per hour): BS7 – black circles; K40 – white
triangles; V19 – grey squares. Negative values represent the production of amino acids. a.
Arginine. b. Cysteine. c. Glutamine. d. Glutamate. e. Ornithine. f. Proline. g. Serine. h.
Threonine.



473 474

Fig. 3. Amino acid degradation products. Calculations are based on comparing amino acid utilization data of BS7, K40 and V19 with amino acid concentrations in cellular proteins and peptidoglycan^{*}. **a. b.** The percentage of utilized amino acid used for the formation of cellular proteins (black bars); other compounds – arginine for ornithine and glutamine for glutamate (criss-crossed bars); and unidentified compounds (diagonally striped bars) at $\mu = 0.1$ and 0.4 h⁻¹. **c. d.** The percentage of glycine or tyrosine in cellular proteins originating from glycine or tyrosine utilization (grey bars) and biosynthesis from other compounds (striped bars).

* The concentrations of amino acids in cellular proteins were taken from S1 in [51]. The analysis of cellular cysteine and tryptophan is unreliable with the method used therein as these amino acids are degraded during hydrolysis.



487

Fig. 4. Percentual amino acid consumption. Percentage of amino acid consumed or produced, compared to the initial amount in the medium. Average results of 2 fermentations per each medium: BS7 – black circles; K40 – white triangles. Negative values represent production.





IV Lahtvee PJ, Adamberg K, Arike L, Nahku R, Aller K, Vilu R (2011) Multiomics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. Microb Cell Fact 10(12).

RESEARCH



Open Access

Multi-omics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates

Petri-Jaan Lahtvee^{1,2}, Kaarel Adamberg^{2,3}, Liisa Arike^{2,3}, Ranno Nahku^{1,2}, Kadri Aller^{1,2}, Raivo Vilu^{1,2*}

Abstract

Background: *Lactococcus lactis* is recognised as a safe (GRAS) microorganism and has hence gained interest in numerous biotechnological approaches. As it is fastidious for several amino acids, optimization of processes which involve this organism requires a thorough understanding of its metabolic regulations during multisubstrate growth.

Results: Using glucose limited continuous cultivations, specific growth rate dependent metabolism of *L. lactis* including utilization of amino acids was studied based on extracellular metabolome, global transcriptome and proteome analysis. A new growth medium was designed with reduced amino acid concentrations to increase precision of measurements of consumption of amino acids. Consumption patterns were calculated for all 20 amino acids and measured carbon balance showed good fit of the data at all growth rates studied. It was observed that metabolism of *L. lactis* became more efficient with rising specific growth rate in the range 0.10 - 0.60 h⁻¹, indicated by 30% increase in biomass yield based on glucose consumption, 50% increase in efficiency of nitrogen use for biomass synthesis, and 40% reduction in energy spilling. The latter was realized by decrease in the overall product formation and higher efficiency of incorporation of amino acids into biomass. *L. lactis* global transcriptome and proteome profiles showed good correlation supporting the general idea of transcription level control of bacterial metabolism, but the data indicated that substrate transport systems together with lower part of glycolysis in *L. lactis* were presumably under allosteric control.

Conclusions: The current study demonstrates advantages of the usage of strictly controlled continuous cultivation methods combined with multi-omics approach for quantitative understanding of amino acid and energy metabolism of *L. lactis* which is a valuable new knowledge for development of balanced growth media, gene manipulations for desired product formation etc. Moreover, collected dataset is an excellent input for developing metabolic models.

Background

Lactococcus (*L*.) *lactis* is the most intensively studied lactic acid bacterium and it has a great industrial importance. In addition to its wide usage in the dairy industry, *L. lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403 was the first lactic acid bacterium whose genome was sequenced [1], and it is extensively used for production of different metabolic products and recombinant proteins [reviews in [2-4]]. As this bacterium is generally recognised as safe (GRAS), there has been increasing interest in its use as a live vector for mucosal delivery of therapeutic proteins, including nasal and gastrointestinal vaccines [5,6]. However, there exists a remarkable lack of knowledge about the peculiarities of *L. lactis* metabolic regulation, especially regarding amino acid metabolism. There are several defined media designed for *L. lactis* [7-9], however, these are unbalanced and concentrations of individual amino acids are quite high, making their consumption measurements inaccurate as utilization by the cells is small compared to the total content. Lack of reliable information on consumption patterns and regulation of amino acid metabolism hinders design of cheaper balanced complex media and optimization of bioprocesses.



© 2011 Lahtvee et al; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{*} Correspondence: raivo@kbfi.ee

¹Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Chemistry, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

Systems biology approaches where 'omics' methods are combined with advanced cultivation methods, computational and mathematical models form a solid platform for elucidating quantitative peculiarities of metabolism and its regulation in microorganisms. Transcriptome and proteome expression in L. lactis have been measured and compared several times in various phases of batch cultivations [10,11]. A multi-omics study where L. lactis was cultivated at steady state conditions was carried out by Dressaire et al. [12,13]. They characterized L. lactis at the transcriptome level in isoleucine limited chemostat cultures, calculated translation efficiencies based on proteome and transcriptome levels, and showed that energy costs associated with protein turnover in cells are bigger at low growth rates in comparison with higher ones.

To provide more comprehensive knowledge about amino acid metabolism in L. lactis we developed a new medium, which allowed studying quantitative patterns of amino acid consumption. To further link amino acid metabolism with the overall physiological state of cells, growth rate dependent trancriptomes, proteomes and extracellular metabolomes were measured and studied together with carbon, nitrogen and ATP, redox balance analyses. L. lactis was cultivated in accelerostat (A-stat) continuous cultures as this method allows acquisition of vast amount of data on quasi steady state growing cells and precise determination of growth characteristics, especially investigation of dependences of growth characteristics on residual concentrations of growth limiting substrate (e.g. glucose) which determines the specific growth rate of cells (μ).

Results

L. lactis growth characteristics

L. lactis was cultivated in A-stat culture where after stabilisation in chemostat at dilution rate 0.10 h⁻¹, specific growth rate (μ) was smoothly increased until the maximal μ (μ_{max}) was reached at 0.59 ± 0.02 h⁻¹ (average value of five independent experiments ± standard deviation; Figure 1). To obtain higher precision in the determination of amino acid consumption patterns, concentrations of most amino acids in the growth medium were reduced ca 3 times compared to the chemically defined medium (CDM) [14], exceptions being arginine and glutamine, whose concentrations were increased in the medium to avoid amino group shortage during the growth (see Methods). The residual glucose concentration remained below detection limit (<0.1 mM) between μ 0.10 h^{-1} and 0.59 \pm 0.02 h^{-1} in all five independent experiments. It is important to note that constant protein content (45 ± 2% of cell dry weight) and constant amino acid composition of the protein fraction was observed in the full range of μ from 0.10 to 0.55 h⁻¹



(Additional file 1, Table S1). RNA content increased from $6.5 \pm 1.0\%$ to $9.5 \pm 1.5\%$ in cell dry weight in between the latter μ values. The biomass yield per consumed carbon (Y_{XC}) increased from 0.13 ± 0.00 to 0.17 \pm 0.01 C-mol_biomass C-mol_carbon $^{-1}$ when μ was raised from $0.20 \pm 0.02 \text{ h}^{-1}$ to $0.52 \pm 0.04 \text{ h}^{-1}$ (Additional file 2, Table S1). It was realized by decrease of by-product formation per biomass from 89.6 to 62.3 mmol gdw $^{-1}$ (sum of $Y_{lact}\!,\,Y_{ace}$ and $Y_{eth}\!,$ Additional file 2, Table S1). Corresponding yield of these by-products (lactate, acetate, ethanol) per consumed glucose decreased from 2.05 to 1.88 mol_{products} mol_{glc}⁻¹, with lactate yield per consumed glucose Y_{lg} = 1.83 ± 0.03 mol_{lact} mol_{glc}⁻¹ remaining constant. As by-product formation exceeded maximal possible yield (2 mol mol⁻¹) per consumed glucose at growth rates below 0.4 h⁻¹ (Additional file 1, Table S2) it indicated that part of the amino acids should have been catabolised to pyruvate and eventually to by-products. The overall consumption of amino acids decreased from 12.5 ± 0.5 mmol gdw⁻¹ to 9.3 \pm 0.3 mmol gdw⁻¹ with increasing μ (Additional file 2, Figure S1), exceeding two to three times that required for synthesis of proteins in biomass (4.2 \pm 0.1 mmol gdw⁻¹, Additional file 1, Table S1), and constituting always 21 \pm 1% (52 to 39 C-mmol gdw⁻¹) of all the total carbon utilised by cells throughout the μ range studied.

For proof of principle, a chemostat experiment was carried out at a dilution rate of 0.45 h^{-1} and the data obtained were compared with the data obtained at the same μ value in A-stat experiments. The measured substrate and product yields in chemostat culture had values in the range of presented standard deviations for A-stat data (Additional file 2, Table S2) which shows

that quasi steady state data from A-stat is comparable to chemostat.

Amino acid consumption profiles

Based on amino acid concentrations in the cultivation broth, consumption patterns (mmol_{AA} gdw⁻¹) for all the 20 amino acids were calculated (Figure 2 and Additional file 2, Figure S2). The most abundantly consumed amino acid throughout the µ range studied was glutamine (Additional file 2, Figure S2). Asparagine, arginine, serine, threonine, alanine, leucine, isoleucine and cysteine were the next most intensively consumed amino acids which consumption exceeded notably the amounts necessary for biomass formation. Lysine, phenylalanine and valine were consumed in slightly higher amounts than needed for biomass production. Consumption of aspartate, histidine, and proline were in the range of measurement errors, hence, their consumption can be considered minimal or nonexistent. It has been shown that the latter amino acids are non-essential for the growth of L. lactis [8].

In more detail, specific growth rate dependent consumptions of asparagine, threonine and cysteine per biomass were constant in the μ range of 0.10 - 0.20 h⁻¹, but decreased 30 to 40% from $\mu = 0.20 \text{ h}^{-1}$ until μ_{max} value (Figure 2 and Additional file 2, Figure S2). Consumption of arginine decreased rapidly in the μ range of 0.10 - 0.35 h^{-1} from 2.15 ± 0.04 mmol gdw⁻¹ and levelled at 0.44 ± 0.07 mmol gdw⁻¹ at higher growth rates (Figure 2) - at an amount greater than necessary for biomass production $(0.20 \pm 0.02 \text{ mmol gdw}^{-1})$. Decreasing trends in the μ range 0.10 - 0.35 h⁻¹ were observed for the production of ornithine and for the production of the only amino acid produced - glutamate. Glycine was the only amino acid which consumption increased during increasing μ (Figure 2), however, its consumption was always lower than its need for biomass formation. Consumption of other amino acids (Gln, Ile, His, Leu, Lys, Met, Phe, Tyr, Trp, Val) did not change significantly throughout the studied μ range, indicating also a more efficient use of amino acids at higher μ values as growth yields based on carbon and nitrogen consumption increased.

Carbon, nitrogen and ATP balances

Carbon recovery which was calculated based on glucose and amino acid consumptions, product and biomass formation was 100 \pm 2% over the entire μ range (Additional file 2, Figure S3). However, nitrogen recovery, calculated based on amino acid utilization and ornithine, glutamate and biomass formation, was $55 \pm 3\%$ (Additional file 2, Figure S3). Amino acids were the main nitrogen source in the medium, comprising more than 99% of the consumed nitrogen by the cultivated bacterium. Based on amino acid utilization, the total consumption of nitrogen decreased from 22 to 14 mmol gdw⁻¹ between the μ range 0.10 - 0.59 \pm 0.02 h⁻¹. On the basis of monomer composition, N-molar content in the biomass was found to be constant at 7.2 mmol gdw⁻¹ during the studied μ range. Concomitantly, nitrogen incorporation into the biomass increased from 33 to 50% from total consumed nitrogen in amino acids with increasing μ . The rest of nitrogen (50-67%) could have been metabolised through arginine deiminase (ADI) pathway, by excreting other amino acids (glutamate, aspartate) or through deamination reactions (ammonium). Activity of the ADI pathway decreased in the µ range 0.10 - 0.35 h⁻¹ and nitrogen excretion to ornithine and synthesis of exogenous NH₃ declined from 4.7 to 0.5 mmol gdw⁻¹ (21 to 4% from total nitrogen consumed) in the above μ range. In addition, 0.4 to 0.06 mmol gdw⁻¹ of nitrogen was excreted as glutamate and 0.1 mmol gdw⁻¹ through transamination reactions with the formation of the following compounds detected and quantified by mass-spectrometry: 4-hydroxyphenylpyruvic acid, hydroxyphenyllactic acid, 2-hydroxy-3-methylbutyric acid, 2-hydroxyisocaproic acid and L-3-phenyllactic acid from tyrosine,



phenylalanine or branched chain amino acids (data not shown). The left-over of consumed nitrogen was 9.5 - 6.6 mmol gdw⁻¹ (contributing 44 - 48% from total nitrogen) in the μ range of 0.1 - 0.6 h⁻¹. This nitrogen must have been excreted as NH₃ if the excess of consumed amino acids not incorporated into protein fraction of biomass would have been converted to pyruvate. The latter assumption is supported by the fact that the carbon was fully recovered during the growth. Reduction of carbon and nitrogen wasting led to the increase of the biomass yields based on carbon (including glucose and amino acids) and nitrogen consumption 1.3 and 1.5 times, respectively (from 0.12 to 0.15 C-mol C-mol⁻¹ and from 0.33 to 0.50 N-mol N-mol⁻¹), in parallel with the increase of μ from 0.10 to 0.59 ± 0.02 h⁻¹.

Based on biomass monomer composition and the stoichiometry of ATP, NAD(P)H and central metabolites for monomer production, μ dependent ATP and NAD(P)H balance calculations were carried out (Additional file 1, Tables S3-S5). Calculations indicated that more ATP was produced than necessary for biomass formation. Presumably the ATP synthesized in excess was wasted in futile cycles. Calculated energy spilling was constant at 60 mmol ATP gdw⁻¹ in the range of the μ 0.10 - 0.15 h⁻¹ and decreased afterwards to 36 mmol gdw⁻¹ at μ_{max} , indicating that the metabolism was the most efficient near μ_{max} conditions (Additional file 1, Table S5). Similarly calculated NAD(P)H misbalance (spilling) decreased from 3.5 mmol gdw⁻¹ at low growth rates to 0 mmol gdw^{-1} at specific growth rate >0.45 h⁻¹ (Additional file 1, Table S5). However, latter improvement of balance is inside the range of errors of lactate measurements (as lactate dehydrogenase is the main NAD regeneration reaction in lactic acid bacteria). Therefore a conclusion that redox balance was maintained throughout the studied growth conditions should be drawn.

Transcriptome and proteome response

Transcriptomes and proteomes at four different quasi steady state μ values (0.17, 0.24, 0.44, 0.52 h⁻¹) were compared to steady state $\mu = 0.10$ h⁻¹ (additional info in Methods). Changes in gene and protein expression levels for the most relevant reactions between μ 0.52 and 0.10 h⁻¹ are illustrated on Figure 3 and 4; a full list of measured gene and protein expression changes at various μ values can be found in Additional file 3. In this section we discuss changes of mRNA and protein expressions significant with *P* value \leq 0.05 for μ 0.52 \pm 0.03 h⁻¹ vs. 0.10 h⁻¹.

Mannose uptake genes *ptnAB*, which are responsible for glucose transport in *L. lactis*, and *ptsI* were upregulated 2.1 to 4.3-fold at the transcriptome level at higher growth rates (above 0.44 h⁻¹). However, corresponding enzymes did not show any remarkable change in the same growth rate range as measured in the proteome. Transporter genes for additional sugars (not present in our medium) like galactose (by *galE*) and cellobiose (by *ptcABC* and *yidB*) were 1.8 to 2.9-fold down-regulated at higher specific growth rates at the transcriptome level, whereas a 2.2- to 2.8-fold repression of PtcAB was measured for proteome. This down-regulation is known to be the consequence of carbon catabolite repression which is extensively studied also in other bacteria like *E. coli* and *B. subtilis* [15,16].

Expression in the upper part of glycolysis did not change significantly during increase of µ. However, the lower part of glycolysis (from *fbaA* to *eno*) was 1.8- to 4-times up-regulated at the transcriptome level, but only Pmg showed significant 1.6-fold up-regulation at the proteome level at the growth rates higher than 0.44 h⁻¹ (Figure 3). The pentose phosphate pathway showed a 1.3- to 2.0-fold down-regulation in genes deoBC, rpiA, zwf, tkt, ywcC (Additional file 3), which might be explained by a lower NADPH requirements at higher μ conditions. Despite the down-regulation of pentose phosphate pathway, genes encoding proteins involved in purine and pyrimidine metabolism were up-regulated. Moderate, 1.5- to 3.0-fold up-regulation both at the transcriptome and proteome level of the operon PurA-BEFLMQ was observed. With the increase of purine and pyrimidine metabolism, the need for amino group transfer from glutamine should have been also increased with rising specific growth rate. In agreement with this, expression of the genes in the first steps of purine and pyrimidine synthesis, purF increased and carAB remained constant respectively, with the increase of μ . High glutamine availability was maintained presumably by increased expression of glutamine transporter (glnQP) and glutamine synthetase (glnA).

Considering pyruvate metabolism, decreased acetate production was in accordance with the significant down-regulation of genes eutD and ackA2 and their corresponding enzymes (see Figure 3). However, decreased production of formate and lactate seemed not to be regulated similarly with acetate - Pfl and Ldh showed no major changes neither in gene nor protein expression levels confirming that Ldh is regulated rather by the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio than by transcription and/or translation, as proposed in literature [17]. Although ethanol production decreased, AdhE expression increased 7.3- and 1.8-fold in transcriptome and proteome analysis, respectively. This might be related to the incorporation of ethanol formation pathway intermediate, acetaldehyde, to acetyl-CoA synthesis from deoxyribose. Pyruvate dehydrogenase subunits (PdhABCD) were 2- to 3-fold down-regulated at both levels (Figure 3).

It is well known, that *L. lactis* can direct part of the consumed (or *de novo* synthesised) serine into pyruvate by *sdaA* and *ilvA* - this flux could form up to 10% of overall



arrows increase and black arrows no significant change in transcriptome and proteome expressions when μ 0.5 h⁻¹ is compared with μ 0.1 Orange arrows represent increase only at transcriptome level with increasing μ . Arrowheads indicate the assumed reaction directions. More specific protein expression fold changes are illustrated on chart.

pyruvate flux [18]. In the current study, these noted genes were 1.4- to 2.2-fold up-regulated comparing $\mu = 0.50$ to $\mu = 0.10 \text{ h}^{-1}$. In concordance with the sharp decrease of arginine consumption from $\mu 0.10 \text{ h}^{-1}$ up to $\mu 0.35 \text{ h}^{-1}$, the 2.3- to 4.5-fold decrease in protein expression of ArcAB, which converts arginine to ornithine, was observed during the increase of μ (Figure 4).

Discussion

Carbon balance and growth efficiency

Growth conditions have a strong influence on specific growth rate (μ), macromolecular composition of biomass

(*i.e.* ribosomal content) and cell size of microorganisms [18,19]. In this study, a gradual change to more efficient carbon metabolism with the increase of μ was observed for *L. lactis* (Figure 1). The first shift in *L. lactis* metabolism took place at μ 0.20 \pm 0.02 h⁻¹, when biomass yield (Y_{XC}) per consumed carbon started to increase. Thirty percent increase with the increase of μ from 0.10 to 0.60 h⁻¹ was achieved by reduction of fermentation by-products synthesis (acetate, formate, ethanol). Concomitantly to the increase of biomass yield, calculated ATP balance showed decreased energy spilling. It has been postulated that higher energy spilling at lower μ conditions could be



caused by greater costs of turnover of macromolecules and sensory molecules, establishment of ion gradients across the cell membrane *etc* [20]. Dressaire et al. [12] calculated the degradation rates for proteins and found that protein median half-lives were *ca* 10-fold shorter at $\mu = 0.10$ h⁻¹ than at μ_{max} . As ATP is consumed during protein degradation [21] this non-growth related expenditure might form a higher proportion of the total energy synthesized at lower μ conditions than at higher growth rates.

Nitrogen metabolism

With the increase of specific growth rate from 0.10 to 0.60 h^{-1} biomass yield Y_{XN} increased 1.5 times showing that cells used nitrogen more effectively for biomass production. The most important amino acid that plays role in the observed reduction of nitrogen wasting was arginine (arginine consumption decreased from 1.5 to 0.5 mmol gdw⁻¹ with increase of μ from 0.1 to 0.35 h⁻¹). Throughout the μ range studied, arginine consumption was 0.3 to 1.3 mmol gdw⁻¹ higher than spent for biomass synthesis and majority of the consumed arginine was transformed to ornithine (0.05 to 1.2 mmol gdw⁻¹), especially at lower specific growth rates, which indicates energy limitation of cells. However, not all arginine left over from calculated requirements for biosynthesis (0.1 to 0.25 mmol gdw⁻¹) was converted to ornithine. Based on annotated network of L. lactis there is no route for consumption of ornithine other than that leading to the synthesis of glutamate (mediated by ArgCDJFG, which were reduced with increase of specific growth rates especially after 0.4 h^{-1}). Although the mechanisms of arginine overconsumption in addition to ornithine production are not known, correlation between ornithine production and glutamate synthesis was 0.99, which shows that these syntheses were most probably coupled. Production of glutamate has also been observed before, when both glutamine and glutamate were present in the cultivation medium [8,22].

Nitrogen wasting through glutamine metabolism was not decreased during the increase of specific growth rate. Glutamine, the most consumed amino acid (glutamine consumption covers 30 to 50% of total nitrogen consumed, at μ 0.10 and 0.60 h⁻¹, respectively), is used for synthesis of biomass proteins and it is the donor of amino groups in purine, pyrimidine and in aminosugar production pathways (glutamine and glutamate requirements for transamination reactions in aminosugar and nucleotide synthesis was in average 1.35 mmol gdw⁻¹). It should be noted that glutamine synthetase (glnA) was highly expressed (having array spot intensity values up to four times higher than these of average values of all genes) and increased with increase of μ in parallel to high consumption of the amino acid. Although we cannot argue over the direction of reactions on the basis of our experimental data, it could be assumed that maintenance of high intracellular concentrations of glutamine

in the cells in the result of intense synthesis and consumption flows might be necessary to keep the transfer of amino group effective.

The third biggest part of nitrogen wasting could be associated with the consumption of asparagine, which was reduced from 1.4 to 1.1 mmol gdw⁻¹ with increase of μ from 0.10 to 0.60 h⁻¹. Asparagine and aspartate (which was not consumed and therefore should have been produced from asparagine) are required for syntheses of nucleotides (in average 0.35 mmol gdw⁻¹) and proteins (in average 0.4 mmol gdw⁻¹). It was shown that 0.35 to 0.65 mmol gdw⁻¹ of asparagine was not used for biosynthesis. Asparagine can be metabolised through asparaginase (ansB) - however its expression was in the range of threshold values in the mRNA array and corresponding protein was not detected. Instead of that the high expression (array spot intensity values up to seven times higher than these of average values of all genes) of asparagine synthetase (asnB), which expression even increased with increase of specific growth rate was observed. Similarly to glutamine it could be assumed that overconsumption of asparagine and high expression of the relevant synthesis genes might be necessary to keep the transfer of amino group effective. Energetically transport of asparagine in L. lactis is much more efficient than aspartate [23], moreover, asparagine is probably preferentially directed towards the production of aspartate [24,25]. Surplus of aspartate in its turn can be directed into pyruvate by AspB (Figure 4).

The role of other amino acids (other than glutamine, arginine and aspartate) in nitrogen wasting can be considered minimal as over-consumptions (amounts greater than necessary for biomass production) of these amino acids were below 0.2 mmol gdw⁻¹ (cysteine, serine, threonine) or 0.1 mmol gdw⁻¹ (all other not mentioned above).

Omics comparison

Good correlation with a Pearson coefficient up to 0.69 was observed between 600 measured protein and gene expression data (Figure 5). An interesting phenomenon was seen at μ values 0.52 \pm 0.03 h⁻¹ and 0.42 \pm 0.02 h⁻¹ compared to 0.10 h⁻¹: a large amount of genes upregulated at the transcriptome level showed only small or no change at the proteome level (Figure 5). The vast majority of members in this group were related to ribosomal subunits (74% from all detected ribosomal proteins), as well as lower glycolysis (FbaA, GapB, Pgk, Eno) and amino acid or peptide transport (BusAB, GlnPQ, GltPS, OptCD, PepCPX, PtnABD, PtsHI). Up-regulation at the transcriptome level and no significant change at proteome level during anaerobic growth of L. lactis in lower part of glycolysis have also been noticed before [11,12]. Despite the relatively good



correlation between the transcriptomic and proteomic data, several important regulations were observed only at trancriptome level. The data obtained indicated importance of taking into account the possibility of allosteric regulation, and carrying out measurements of fluxome in addition to transcriptome and proteome to fully characterize regulation of metabolic pathways.

By scanning the entire range of specific growth rates using A-stat experiments, it is possible to continuously monitor the steady state metabolism using on-line sensors or frequently collected samples for at-line analyses. Reproducibility of growth characteristics in A-stat were compared with chemostat at μ 0.45 h⁻¹. All measured substrate consumption and product formation yields (including amino acids) remained within mentioned standard deviation ranges indicating the accordance of quasi steady state and steady state data (Additional file 2, Table S2). Recently, similar comparisons at the global transcriptome level were conducted with E. coli achieving very good correlation with a Pearson coefficient up to 0.96 [26]. In both studies, it was shown that the A-stat cultivation technique allows precise monitoring the sequence of metabolic switch points.

Conclusions

Distinct ratios of glucose and amino acids in the growth media are very important for biomass yield optimization as carbon and nitrogen metabolism are tightly coupled in L. lactis. High biomass yields are crucial for producing vaccines using microorganisms and nutrient limitations can strongly affect achieving the desired results. As was shown in this study, some amino acids were consumed in large amounts (glutamine, asparagine, arginine) and more efficient growth might not be achieved by insufficient supply of these compounds. There have been several attempts to optimize the media for lactococci using a single omission technique [7,8], however, a systematic approach taking into account that amino acid requirements depend on environmental conditions (e.g. at various μ values) has not yet been fully realized as it is difficult using only batch cultivation. The current work combining systematic continuous cultivation approach with omics methods is therefore of high value for better media design, as well as for understanding principles of metabolism of the bacteria.

Using steady state cultivation methods and a systems biology approach for characterisation of *L. lactis* metabolism, it was possible to demonstrate a shift to more efficient metabolism at higher growth rates by increasing the biomass yield, change towards homolactic fermentation, and decreasing the flux through alternative energy generation pathways with lower efficiency than glycolysis e.g. acetate formation and the ADI pathway. This study demonstrates the necessity of using strictly controlled continuous cultivation methods in combination with a multi-omics approach and element balance calculations to gain quantitative understanding of the regulation of complex global metabolic networks, important for strain dependent media optimisation or the design of efficient producer cells. However, questions about rationale of 2-3 times over-consumption of amino acids by cells and principles of properly balanced media remain to be answered in full in the future studies.

Methods

Microorganism and medium

The strain used throughout these experiments Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis IL1403 was kindly provided by Dr. Ogier from INRA (Jouy-en-Josas, France). Inoculum was prepared using a lyophilized stock culture stored at -80°C which was pre-grown twice on the cultivation medium. Chemically defined medium with a reduced amino acid concentrations were developed especially for better detection of amino acids. Media contained 70% GIBCO™ F-12 Nutrient Mixture (Invitrogen Corporation, Carlsbad, CA) and 30% modified CDM (composition in [27]). This combination gave the best trade-off for growth yield and maximal growth rate. Composition of the final medium was as follows (mg L^{-1}): limiting substrate D-Glucose - 3500; L-Alanine - 78; L-Arginine - 185; L-Asparagine - 74; L-Aspartic acid - 72; L-Cysteine - 64; L-Glutamic acid - 70; L-Glutamine - 132; Glycine - 58; L-Histidine - 60; L-Isoleucine - 102; L-Leucine - 207; L-Lysine - 158; L-Methionine - 41; L-Phenylalanine - 86; L-Proline - 92; L-Serine - 163; L-Threonine - 76; L-Trypthophan - 16; L-Tyrosine - 29; L-Valine - 107; Biotin - 0.305; Choline chloride - 9.8; D-Pantothenate - 0.65; Folic Acid - 1.21; Niacinamide -0.325; Pyridoxine hydrochloride - 0.642; Riboflavin - 0.326; Thiamine hydrochloride - 0.51; Vitamin B12 - 0.98; i-Inositol - 12.6; CaCl_2 - 28; CuSO_4 \times 5H_2O - 0.272; FeSO_4 \times 7H₂O - 0.71; MgCl₂ - 58; KCl - 157; NaCl - 5580; Na₂PO₄ - 99; ZnSO₄ \times 7H₂O - 1; Hypoxanthine-Na - 3; Linoleic Acid - 0.1; Lipoic Acid - 0.1; Phenol Red - 0.8; Putrescine × 2HCl - 0.1; Na-Pyruvate - 77; Thymidine - 0.5.

A-stat cultivations

A-stat cultivations were carried out in a 1 L Biobundle bioreactor (Applikon, Schiedam, the Netherlands) controlled by an ADI1030 biocontroller (Applikon) and a cultivation control program "BioXpert NT" (Applikon) (detailed description in [28], with an addition of an *in situ* OD sensor (model TruCell2; Finesse, San Jose, CA)). Cultivations were carried out under anaerobic conditions (N₂-environment) with an agitation speed of 300 rpm at 34°C and pH 6.4. Five parallel A-stat experiments were carried out where after a batch phase, constant dilution rate (D = 0.1 h^{-1}) was initiated. Culture was stabilised until constant optical density and titration rate, pumping through at least 5 volumes of medium. After achieving steady state conditions, acceleration of dilution rate (a = 0.01 h^{-2}) was started. Additionally, a steady state chemostat experiment was carried out at a dilution rate of 0.45 h^{-1} and results were compared with data collected from the A-stat experiment at the same dilution rate. Average yield and metabolic switch point values with their standard deviations were calculated based on five independent experiments, additionally taking into account chemostat experiment values at a dilution rate of 0.45 h^{-1} .

Analytical methods and growth characteristics

Biomass was constantly monitored by measuring the optical density at 600 nm; biomass dry weight was determined gravimetrically. Biomass correlation constant K was 0.372 ± 0.005 and was not specific growth rate dependent. Levels of glucose, lactate, formate, acetate and ethanol in the culture medium were measured with liquid chromatography (Alliance 2795 system, Waters Corp., Milford, MA), using a BioRad HPX-87H column (Hercules, CA) with isocratic elution of 5 mM H₂SO₄ at a flow rate of 0.6 mL min⁻¹ and at 35°C. A refractive index detector (model 2414; Waters Corp.) was used for detection and quantification of substances. The detection limit for the analytical method was 0.1 mM. Samples from culture medium were centrifuged (14,000 \times g, 4 min); supernatants were collected and analyzed immediately or stored at -20°C until analysis. Free amino acid concentrations were determined from the same sample (analysing frequency *ca* 0.02 h^{-1}) with an amino acid analyzer (Acquity UPLC; Waters Corp.) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Empower software (Waters Corp.) was used for the data processing. For measuring amino acid concentrations in protein content, biomass was hydrolysed with 6 M HCl for 20 h at 120°C. From hydrolyte, amino acids were determined as free amino acids described above. Protein content from biomass dry cell weight was calculated based on amino acid analysis and, additionally, measured using the Lowry method [29], where bovine serum albumin was used as a standard. For measurement of DNA content in biomass genomic DNA was extracted and measured using instructions of RTP® Bacteria DNA Mini Kit (Invitec, Germany). Detailed protocol for fatty acid quantification is described in [30]. Growth characteristics μ , Y_{XS} , $Y_{Substrate}$, Y_{Product} were calculated as described previously [27,28]. For consumption calculations, measured medium concentrations were used.

Carbon, nitrogen and ATP balance calculations

For carbon balance calculations C-molar concentrations of measured substrates, products and biomass were used

(biomass C-molar concentration with a value 0.03625 C-mol gdw⁻¹ was calculated based on monomer composition). For nitrogen balance calculations N-molar amino acid consumptions, production of ornithine and glutamate, ADI pathway activity and biomass composition (0.00725 N-mol gdw⁻¹) were taken into account.

For calculations of ATP and NAD(P)H balance measured biomass, amino acid, RNA, DNA and fatty acid contents were used. Other necessary data were adapted from literature [31]. Stoichiometry of ATP, NAD(P)H and central metabolites for monomer production were taken from the Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes database http://www.kegg.jp/, with an assumption that amino acids were not synthesized. Specific calculations are presented in Additional file 1.

Gene expression profiling

Agilent's DNA microarrays (Santa Clara, CA) were designed in eArray web portal in 8 × 15K format, containing 7 unique probes per target https://earray.chem. agilent.com/earray/. Target sequences for 2234 genes were downloaded from Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes ftp://ftp.genome.jp/pub/kegg/genes/organisms/lla/l.lactis.nuc.

For microarray analysis, steady state chemostat culture of *L. lactis* IL1403 was used as reference (D = 0.10 h⁻¹). Subsequent quasi steady state points from A-stat experiment at specific growth rates 0.52 ± 0.03 ; 0.42 ± 0.02 ; $0.29 \pm 0.01 h^1$ in biological duplicates and $0.17 h^{-1}$ were compared to the reference sample. Transcript change was considered significant if the *P* value between parallel experiments was less than 0.05.

Total RNA was extracted and quantified, cDNA synthesised and labelled as described previously [27], with minor modification: 11 µg of total RNA was used for cDNA synthesis. Hybridization, slide washing and scanning was performed using standard Agilent's reagents and hardware http://www.chem.agilent.com. Gene expression data was analyzed as described before [27], except global lowess normalization was used. Spots with intensities lower than 100 units in both channels and outliers among technical replicates (according [32]) were filtered. After filtering, seven technical replicates showed average standard deviation <10%. Gene (and protein) expression measurement results are shown in Additional file 3. DNA microarray data is also available at NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus (Reference series: GSE26536).

Protein expression profiling

For protein expression analysis, the steady state chemostat culture of *L. lactis* IL1403 was used as reference ($\mu = 0.10 \text{ h}^{-1}$). Quasi steady state points at $\mu = 0.20 \pm$ 0.01, 0.30 \pm 0.02, 0.42 \pm 0.01 and 0.50 \pm 0.01 h^{-1} were compared with the reference sample. Three biological replicates were analysed.

Samples intended for proteome analysis were collected, washed with PBS (0.137 M NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10.0 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.4 mM KH₂PO₄), flash frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C prior to protein extraction.

Proteins were extracted in ice-cold SDS-buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.5), 1% SDS (w/v)). Cells were disrupted as a result of agitating the suspension with glass-beads at 4°C for 30 minutes. After centrifugation for 30 min at 4°C, the supernatant was collected and the protein concentration was determined by 2D Quant kit (Amersham Biosciences, Buckinghamshire, UK) and protein samples were stored at -80°C until further analysis.

Aliquots of 100 µg cloroform/MeOH chloroform precipitated proteins from each sample were processed for labeling with iTRAQ 4plex reagents (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, precipitated proteins were dissolved in 0.5 M triethylammonium bicarbonate (TEAB) and 0.1% SDS, disulfide bonds were reduced in 5 mM Tris-(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP) for 1 h at 60°C, followed by blocking cycteine residues in 10 mM methyl methanethiosulfonate (MMTS) for 30 min at room temperature, before digestion with trypsin (1:40, enzyme to protein ratio) overnight at 37°C. For labeling, each iTRAQ reagent was dissolved in 70 µl of ethanol and added to the respective peptide mixture. After 1 h incubation at room temperature the reactions were stopped by adding 100 µl milliQ water and incubating for 30 min. All four samples were mixed together and ethanol was removed by drying in a vacuum concentrator (Model 5301, Eppendorf, Cambridgeshire, UK).

The combined peptide mixtures were separated into 10 fractions with a cation exchange cartridge system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) by different KH₂PO₄ concentrations (10-1000 mM) and cleaned by StageTips [33]. All fractions were analyzed twice by LC-MS/MS using an Agilent 1200 series nanoflow system (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) connected to a Thermo Scientific LTQ Orbitrap mass-spectrometer (Thermo Electron, San Jose, CA) equipped with a nanoelectrospray ion source (Proxeon, Odense, Denmark). Purified peptides were dissolved in 0.5% formic acid and loaded on self-packed fused silica emitter (150 mm × 0.075 mm; Proxeon) packed with Repropur-Sil C18-AQ 3 µm particles (Dr. Maisch, Germany) using a flow rate of $0.7 \ \mu l \ min^{-1}$. Peptides were separated with a 180 min gradient from 3 - 40% B (A: 0.1% formic acid, B: 0.1% formic acid/80% acetonitrile) using a flow-rate of 200 nl min⁻¹ and sprayed directly into LTQ Orbitrap massspectrometer operated at 180°C capillary temperature and 2.4 kV spray voltage.

Mass spectrometry method combined HCD and CID spectrums as described in Köcher et al. [34]. Briefly, full mass spectra were acquired in profile mode, with mass range from m/z 300 to 1800 at resolving power of 60000 (FWHM). Up to four data-dependent MS/MS scans with CID and four scans with HCD tandem mass spectrometry experiment triggered from the same precursor ion were acquired in centroid mode for each FTMS full-scan spectrum. CID was carried out with a target signal value of 10 000 in the linear ion trap, collision energy of 35%, Q value of 0.25 and an activation time of 30 ms. HCD-generated ions were detected in the Orbitrap using the target signal value of 10 000, collision energy of 35% and an activation time of 40 ms. Each fragmented ion was dynamically excluded for 60s.

Raw files were extracted to .mgf files by MM File Conversion Tools http://searcher.rrc.uic.edu/cgi-bin/ mm-cgi/downloads.py. Each .mgf file was converted to a QuantMerge file [34]. All files from the same sample were merged together. Data generated was searched against L. lactis IL1403 NCBI database (22092009) by MassMatrix search tool [35]. A reversed decoy database was used for false positives detection. In all cases, a peptide mass tolerance of 5 ppm was used and fragment ion masses were searched with a 0.6 Da mass window. Two missed cleavage sites for trypsin were allowed. Betamethylthiolation of a cysteine was set as a fixed modification and oxidation of methionine as a variable modification. Quantification was set as iTRAQ and quantification statistics as arithmetic mean. Only proteins with confidence intervals of more than 95% were allowed for further data analysis (Additional file 3). Proteomic analysis raw data is available at the PRIDE database [36]http://www.ebi.ac.uk/pride under accession numbers 13105-13162 (username: review17185, password: wyd*b6_6). The data was converted using PRIDE Converter http://code.google.com/p/pride-converter[37]. Protein expression change was considered significant if the P value between parallel experiments was less than 0.05.

Additional material

Additional file 1: Specific growth rate dependent ATP and NAD(P)H balance calculations for A-stat experiments with *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403.

Additional file 2: Supplementary figures and tables.

Additional file 3: Specific growth rate dependent mRNA and protein expression changes from A-stat experiments with *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* IL1403. The expression fold change is given accordingly: sample at respective specific growth rate (quasi steady state) is divided by steady state chemostat sample (0.10 h-1). Average log2 gene and protein expression changes were calculated from "n" number of parallel A-stat experiments. In gene expression analysis spots with intensities lower than 100 units in both channels and outliers among technical replicates (according Rorabacher, 1991) were filtered. In protein expression analysis, proteins identified with a confidence interval more the 95% and appearances in all mentioned parallels are presented.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Lauri Peil (University of Tartu) and Elina Pelonen (Turku University of Applied Sciences and Åbo Akademi) for their help in carrying out 'omics analysis. The financial support for this research was provided by the European Regional Development Fund project EU29994, and Ministry of Education, Estonia, through the grant SF0140090s08.

Author details

¹Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Chemistry, Akadeemia tee 15, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia. ²Competence Center of Food and Fermentation Technologies, Akadeemia tee 15b, 12618 Tallinn, Estonia. ³Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Food Processing, Ehitajate tee 5, 19086 Tallinn, Estonia.

Authors' contributions

PJL, KAd, RV designed experiments and conceived the project. PJL, KAl carried out experiments. PJL, RN, LA, KAl contributed in analytics and data analysis. KAd was responsible for mathematical calculations. PJL drafted the manuscript. KAd helped drafting the manuscript. RV, RN, LA edited the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 13 July 2010 Accepted: 24 February 2011 Published: 24 February 2011

References

- Bolotin A, Wincker P, Mauger S, Jaillon O, Malarme K, Weissenbach J, Ehrlich SD, Sorokin A: The complete genome sequence of the lactic acid bacterium *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* IL1403. *Genome Research* 2001, 11:731-53.
- Hugenholtz J, Sybesma W, Groot MN, Wisselink W, Ladero V, Burgess K, van Sinderen D, Piard JC, Eggink G, Smid EJ, Savoy G, Sesma F, Jansen T, Hols P, Kleerebezem M: Metabolic engineering of lactic acid bacteria for the production of nutraceuticals. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 2002, 82:217-35.
- Kleerebezem M, Boels IC, Groot MN, Mierau I, Sybesma W, Hugenholtz J: Metabolic engineering of *Lactococcus lactis*: the impact of genomics and metabolic modelling. *J Biotechnol* 2002, 98:199-213.
- Hugenholtz J: The lactic acid bacterium as a cell factory for food ingredient production. Intern Dairy J 2008, 18:466-75.
- Morello E, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Llull D, Solé V, Miraglio N, Langella P, Poquet I: Lactococcus lactis, an efficient cell factory for recombinant protein production and secretion. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2008, 14:48-58.
- Bermúdez-Humarán LG: Lactococcus lactis as a live vector for mucosal delivery of therapeutic proteins. Human Vaccines 2009, 5:264-7.
- Jensen PR, Hammer K: Minimal Requirements for Exponential Growth of Lactococcus lactis. Appl Environ Microbiol 1993, 59:4363-6.
- Novak L, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Lindley N, Loubiere P: Metabolism and energetics of *Lactococcus lactis* during growth in complex or synthetic media. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 1997, 63:2665-70.
- Zhang G, Block DE: Using highly efficient nonlinear experimental design methods for optimization of *Lactococcus lactis* fermentation in chemically defined media. *Biotechnol Prog* 2009, 25:1587-97.
- Larsen N, Boye M, Siegumfeldt H, Jakobsen M: Differential expression of proteins and genes in the lag phase of *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis* grown in synthetic medium and reconstituted skim milk. *Appl Envir Microbiol* 2006, 72:1173-9.
- Mazzoli R, Pessione E, Dufour M, Laroute V, Giuffrida M, Giunta C, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Loubière P: Glutamate-induced metabolic changes in *Lactococcus lactis* NCDO 2118 during GABA production: combined transcriptomic and proteomic analysis. *Amino Acids* 2010, 3:727-37.

- Dressaire C, Redon E, Milhem H, Besse P, Loubière P, Cocaign-Bousquet M: Growth rate regulated genes and their wide involvement in the Lactococcus lactis stress responses. BMC Genomics 2008, 9:343.
- Dressaire C, Gitton C, Loubière P, Monnet V, Queinnec I, Cocaign-Bousquet M: Transcriptome and proteome exploration to model translation efficiency and protein stability in *Lactococcus lactis*. *PLoS Comput Biol* 2009, 5:12.
- Poolman B, Konings WN: Relation of growth of Streptococcus lactis and Streptococcus cremoris to amino acid transport. J Bacteriol 1988, 170:700-707.
- Görke B, Stülke J: Carbon catabolite repression in bacteria: many ways to make the most out of nutrients. Nat Rev Microbiol 2008, 6:613-24.
- Titgemeyer F, Hillen W: Global control of sugar metabolism: a grampositive solution. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 2002, 82:59-71.
- Garrigues C, Loubiere P, Lindley ND, Cocaign-Bousquet M: Control of the shift from homolactic acid to mixed-acid fermentation in *Lactococcus lactis*: predominant role of the NADH/NAD⁺ ratio. J Bacteriol 1997, 179:5282-7.
- Novak L, Loubiere P: The metabolic network of *Lactococcus lactis*: Distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled substrates between catabolic and anabolic pathways. *J Bacteriol* 2000, **182**:1136-1143.
- Molenaar D, van Berlo R, de Ridder D, Teusink B: Shifts in growth strategies reflect tradeoffs in cellular economics. Mol Syst Biol 2009, 5:323.
- 20. Russell JB: The energy spilling reactions of bacteria and other organisms. *J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol* 2007, **13**:1-11.
- 21. Ogura T, Wilkinson AJ: AAA+ superfamily ATPases: common structure diverse function. Gen Cells 2001, 6:575-597.
- Smid EJ, Konings WN: Relationship between utilization of proline and proline-containing peptides and growth of *Lactococcus lactis*. J Bacteriol 1990, 172:5286-92.
- Benthin S, Villadsen J: Amino acid utilization by Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris FD1 during growth on yeast extract or casein peptone. J Appl Microbiol 1996, 80:65-72.
- Lapujade P, Cocaign-Bousquet M, Loubiere P: Glutamate biosynthesis in Lactococcus lactis subsp. lactis NCDO 2118. Appl Envir Microbiol 1998, 64:2485-9.
- 25. Konings WN, Poolman B, Driessen AJ: Bioenergetics and solute transport in lactococci. Crit Rev Microbiol 1989, 16:419-76.
- Valgepea K, Adamberg K, Nahku R, Lahtvee PJ, Arike L, Vilu R: Systems biology approach reveals that overflow metabolism of acetate in Escherichia coli is triggered by carbon catabolite repression of acetyl-CoA synthetase. *BMC Syst Biol* 2010, 4:166.
- 27. Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Nahku R, Abner K, Adamberg K, Vilu R: **Steady state** growth space study of *Lactococcus lactis* in D-stat cultures. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 2009, **96**:487-96.
- Adamberg K, Lahtvee PJ, Valgepea K, Abner K, Vilu R: Quasi steady state growth of *Lactococcus lactis* in glucose-limited acceleration stat (A-stat) cultures. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 2009, 95:219-26.
- 29. Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ: Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 1951, 193:265-75.
- Špitsmeister M, Admaberg K, Vilu R: UPLC/MS based method for quantitative determination of fatty acid composition in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. J Microbiol Methods 2010, 82:288-95.
- 31. Oliveira A, Nielsen J, Forster J: Modeling *Lactococcus lactis* using a genome-scale flux model. *BMC Microbiol* 2005, **5**:39.
- Rorabacher DB: Statistical treatment for rejection of deviant values: critical values of Dixon's "Q" parameter and related subrange ratios at the 95% confidence level. *Analyt Chem* 1991, 63:139-146.
- Rappsilber J, Mann M, Ishihama Y: Protocol for micro-purification, enrichment, pre-fractionation and storage of peptides for proteomics using StageTips. *Nat Prot* 2007, 2:1896-906.
- Köcher T, Pichler P, Schutzbier M, Stingl C, Kaul A, Teucher N, Hasenfuss G, Penninger JM, Mechtler K: High precision quantitative proteomics using iTRAQ on an LTQ Orbitrap: a new mass spectrometric method combining the benefits of all. J Prot Research 2009, 8:4743-52.
- Xu H, Freitas MA: MassMatrix: a database search program for rapid characterization of proteins and peptides from tandem mass spectrometry data. *Proteom* 2009, 9:1548-55.
- Martens L, Hermjakob H, Jones P, Adamski M, Taylor C, States D, Gevaert K, Vandekerckhove J, Apweiler R: PRIDE: the proteomics identifications database. Proteomics 2005, 5:3537-3545.

- Barsnes H, Vizcaíno JA, Eidhammer I, Martens L: PRIDE Converter: making proteomics data-sharing easy. Nat Biotechnol 2009, 27:598-599.
- Ganesan B, Dobrowolski P, Weimer BC: Identification of the leucine-to-2methylbutyric acid catabolic pathway of *Lactococcus lactis*. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 2006, 72:4264-73.
- Chambellon E, Rijnen L, Lorquet F, Gitton C, van Hylckama Vlieg JET, Wouters JA, Yvon M: The D-2-hydroxyacid dehydrogenase incorrectly annotated PanE is the sole reduction system for branched-chain 2-keto acids in *Lactococcus lactis*. J Bacteriol 2009, 191:873-81.

doi:10.1186/1475-2859-10-12

Cite this article as: Lahtvee *et al.*: Multi-omics approach to study the growth efficiency and amino acid metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis* at various specific growth rates. *Microbial Cell Factories* 2011 **10**:12.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar
- Research which is freely available for redistribution

BioMed Central

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit

DISSERTATIONS DEFENDED AT TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY ON NATURAL AND EXACT SCIENCES

1. Olav Kongas. Nonlinear Dynamics in Modeling Cardiac Arrhytmias. 1998.

2. Kalju Vanatalu. Optimization of Processes of Microbial Biosynthesis of Isotopically Labeled Biomolecules and Their Complexes. 1999.

3. Ahto Buldas. An Algebraic Approach to the Structure of Graphs. 1999.

4. **Monika Drews**. A Metabolic Study of Insect Cells in Batch and Continuous Culture: Application of Chemostat and Turbidostat to the Production of Recombinant Proteins. 1999.

5. Eola Valdre. Endothelial-Specific Regulation of Vessel Formation: Role of Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. 2000.

6. Kalju Lott. Doping and Defect Thermodynamic Equilibrium in ZnS. 2000.

7. Reet Koljak. Novel Fatty Acid Dioxygenases from the Corals *Plexaura homomalla* and *Gersemia fruticosa*. 2001.

8. Anne Paju. Asymmetric oxidation of Prochiral and Racemic Ketones by Using Sharpless Catalyst. 2001.

9. Marko Vendelin. Cardiac Mechanoenergetics in silico. 2001.

10. Pearu Peterson. Multi-Soliton Interactions and the Inverse Problem of Wave Crest. 2001.

11. Anne Menert. Microcalorimetry of Anaerobic Digestion. 2001.

12. **Toomas Tiivel**. The Role of the Mitochondrial Outer Membrane in *in vivo* Regulation of Respiration in Normal Heart and Skeletal Muscle Cell. 2002.

13. **Olle Hints**. Ordovician Scolecodonts of Estonia and Neighbouring Areas: Taxonomy, Distribution, Palaeoecology, and Application. 2002.

14. Jaak Nõlvak. Chitinozoan Biostratigrapy in the Ordovician of Baltoscandia. 2002.

15. Liivi Kluge. On Algebraic Structure of Pre-Operad. 2002.

16. **Jaanus Lass**. Biosignal Interpretation: Study of Cardiac Arrhytmias and Electromagnetic Field Effects on Human Nervous System. 2002.

17. Janek Peterson. Synthesis, Structural Characterization and Modification of PAMAM Dendrimers. 2002.

18. **Merike Vaher**. Room Temperature Ionic Liquids as Background Electrolyte Additives in Capillary Electrophoresis. 2002.

19. Valdek Mikli. Electron Microscopy and Image Analysis Study of Powdered Hardmetal Materials and Optoelectronic Thin Films. 2003.

20. Mart Viljus. The Microstructure and Properties of Fine-Grained Cermets. 2003.

21. Signe Kask. Identification and Characterization of Dairy-Related Lactobacillus. 2003

22. **Tiiu-Mai Laht**. Influence of Microstructure of the Curd on Enzymatic and Microbiological Processes in Swiss-Type Cheese. 2003.

23. Anne Kuusksalu. 2–5A Synthetase in the Marine Sponge Geodia cydonium. 2003.

24. Sergei Bereznev. Solar Cells Based on Polycristalline Copper-Indium Chalcogenides and Conductive Polymers. 2003.

25. Kadri Kriis. Asymmetric Synthesis of C₂-Symmetric Bimorpholines and Their Application as Chiral Ligands in the Transfer Hydrogenation of Aromatic Ketones. 2004.

26. Jekaterina Reut. Polypyrrole Coatings on Conducting and Insulating Substracts. 2004.

27. Sven Nõmm. Realization and Identification of Discrete-Time Nonlinear Systems. 2004.

28. **Olga Kijatkina**. Deposition of Copper Indium Disulphide Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2004.

29. Gert Tamberg. On Sampling Operators Defined by Rogosinski, Hann and Blackman Windows. 2004.

30. Monika Übner. Interaction of Humic Substances with Metal Cations. 2004.

31. Kaarel Adamberg. Growth Characteristics of Non-Starter Lactic Acid Bacteria from Cheese. 2004.

32. Imre Vallikivi. Lipase-Catalysed Reactions of Prostaglandins. 2004.

33. Merike Peld. Substituted Apatites as Sorbents for Heavy Metals. 2005.

34. Vitali Syritski. Study of Synthesis and Redox Switching of Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) by Using *in-situ* Techniques. 2004.

35. Lee Põllumaa. Evaluation of Ecotoxicological Effects Related to Oil Shale Industry. 2004.

36. Riina Aav. Synthesis of 9,11-Secosterols Intermediates. 2005.

37. Andres Braunbrück. Wave Interaction in Weakly Inhomogeneous Materials. 2005.

38. Robert Kitt. Generalised Scale-Invariance in Financial Time Series. 2005.

39. **Juss Pavelson**. Mesoscale Physical Processes and the Related Impact on the Summer Nutrient Fields and Phytoplankton Blooms in the Western Gulf of Finland. 2005.

40. **Olari Ilison**. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Media with Higher Order Dispersive and Nonlinear Effects. 2005.

41. Maksim Säkki. Intermittency and Long-Range Structurization of Heart Rate. 2005.

42. Enli Kiipli. Modelling Seawater Chemistry of the East Baltic Basin in the Late Ordovician–Early Silurian. 2005.

43. **Igor Golovtsov**. Modification of Conductive Properties and Processability of Polyparaphenylene, Polypyrrole and polyaniline. 2005.

44. Katrin Laos. Interaction Between Furcellaran and the Globular Proteins (Bovine Serum Albumin β -Lactoglobulin). 2005.

45. **Arvo Mere**. Structural and Electrical Properties of Spray Deposited Copper Indium Disulphide Films for Solar Cells. 2006.

46. **Sille Ehala**. Development and Application of Various On- and Off-Line Analytical Methods for the Analysis of Bioactive Compounds. 2006.

47. Maria Kulp. Capillary Electrophoretic Monitoring of Biochemical Reaction Kinetics. 2006.

48. Anu Aaspõllu. Proteinases from Vipera lebetina Snake Venom Affecting Hemostasis. 2006.

49. Lyudmila Chekulayeva. Photosensitized Inactivation of Tumor Cells by Porphyrins and Chlorins. 2006.

50. Merle Uudsemaa. Quantum-Chemical Modeling of Solvated First Row Transition Metal Ions. 2006.

51. Tagli Pitsi. Nutrition Situation of Pre-School Children in Estonia from 1995 to 2004. 2006.

52. Angela Ivask. Luminescent Recombinant Sensor Bacteria for the Analysis of Bioavailable Heavy Metals. 2006.

53. **Tiina Lõugas**. Study on Physico-Chemical Properties and Some Bioactive Compounds of Sea Buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). 2006.

54. Kaja Kasemets. Effect of Changing Environmental Conditions on the Fermentative Growth of *Saccharomyces cerevisae* S288C: Auxo-accelerostat Study. 2006.

55. **Ildar Nisamedtinov**. Application of ¹³C and Fluorescence Labeling in Metabolic Studies of *Saccharomyces* spp. 2006.

56. Alar Leibak. On Additive Generalisation of Voronoï's Theory of Perfect Forms over Algebraic Number Fields. 2006.

57. Andri Jagomägi. Photoluminescence of Chalcopyrite Tellurides. 2006.

58. **Tõnu Martma**. Application of Carbon Isotopes to the Study of the Ordovician and Silurian of the Baltic. 2006.

59. Marit Kauk. Chemical Composition of CuInSe₂ Monograin Powders for Solar Cell Application. 2006.

60. Julia Kois. Electrochemical Deposition of CuInSe₂ Thin Films for Photovoltaic Applications. 2006.

61. Ilona Oja Açik. Sol-Gel Deposition of Titanium Dioxide Films. 2007.

62. Tiia Anmann. Integrated and Organized Cellular Bioenergetic Systems in Heart and Brain. 2007.

63. Katrin Trummal. Purification, Characterization and Specificity Studies of Metalloproteinases from *Vipera lebetina* Snake Venom. 2007.

64. Gennadi Lessin. Biochemical Definition of Coastal Zone Using Numerical Modeling and Measurement Data. 2007.

65. Enno Pais. Inverse problems to determine non-homogeneous degenerate memory kernels in heat flow. 2007.

66. Maria Borissova. Capillary Electrophoresis on Alkylimidazolium Salts. 2007.

67. Karin Valmsen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Coral *Plexaura homomalla*: Control of Prostaglandin Stereochemistry at Carbon 15 by Cyclooxygenases. 2007.

68. **Kristjan Piirimäe**. Long-Term Changes of Nutrient Fluxes in the Drainage Basin of the Gulf of Finland – Application of the PolFlow Model. 2007.

69. **Tatjana Dedova**. Chemical Spray Pyrolysis Deposition of Zinc Sulfide Thin Films and Zinc Oxide Nanostructured Layers. 2007.

70. Katrin Tomson. Production of Labelled Recombinant Proteins in Fed-Batch Systems in *Escherichia coli*. 2007.

71. Cecilia Sarmiento. Suppressors of RNA Silencing in Plants. 2008.

72. Vilja Mardla. Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation with Combination of Antiplatelet Agents. 2008.

73. **Maie Bachmann**. Effect of Modulated Microwave Radiation on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2008.

74. Dan Hüvonen. Terahertz Spectroscopy of Low-Dimensional Spin Systems. 2008.

75. Ly Villo. Stereoselective Chemoenzymatic Synthesis of Deoxy Sugar Esters Involving *Candida* antarctica Lipase B. 2008.

76. Johan Anton. Technology of Integrated Photoelasticity for Residual Stress Measurement in Glass Articles of Axisymmetric Shape. 2008.

77. Olga Volobujeva. SEM Study of Selenization of Different Thin Metallic Films. 2008.

78. Artur Jõgi. Synthesis of 4'-Substituted 2,3'-dideoxynucleoside Analogues. 2008.

79. Mario Kadastik. Doubly Charged Higgs Boson Decays and Implications on Neutrino Physics. 2008.

80. Fernando Pérez-Caballero. Carbon Aerogels from 5-Methylresorcinol-Formaldehyde Gels. 2008.

81. Sirje Vaask. The Comparability, Reproducibility and Validity of Estonian Food Consumption Surveys. 2008.

82. Anna Menaker. Electrosynthesized Conducting Polymers, Polypyrrole and Poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene), for Molecular Imprinting. 2009.

83. Lauri Ilison. Solitons and Solitary Waves in Hierarchical Korteweg-de Vries Type Systems. 2009.

84. Kaia Ernits. Study of In₂S₃ and ZnS Thin Films Deposited by Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis and Chemical Deposition. 2009.

85. Veljo Sinivee. Portable Spectrometer for Ionizing Radiation "Gammamapper". 2009.

86. **Jüri Virkepu**. On Lagrange Formalism for Lie Theory and Operadic Harmonic Oscillator in Low Dimensions. 2009.

87. Marko Piirsoo. Deciphering Molecular Basis of Schwann Cell Development. 2009.

88. **Kati Helmja**. Determination of Phenolic Compounds and Their Antioxidative Capability in Plant Extracts. 2010.

89. Merike Sõmera. Sobemoviruses: Genomic Organization, Potential for Recombination and Necessity of P1 in Systemic Infection. 2010.

90. Kristjan Laes. Preparation and Impedance Spectroscopy of Hybrid Structures Based on CuIn₃Ses Photoabsorber. 2010.

91. **Kristin Lippur**. Asymmetric Synthesis of 2,2'-Bimorpholine and its 5,5'-Substituted Derivatives. 2010.

92. Merike Luman. Dialysis Dose and Nutrition Assessment by an Optical Method. 2010.

93. Mihhail Berezovski. Numerical Simulation of Wave Propagation in Heterogeneous and Microstructured Materials. 2010.

94. Tamara Aid-Pavlidis. Structure and Regulation of BDNF Gene. 2010.

95. Olga Bragina. The Role of Sonic Hedgehog Pathway in Neuro- and Tumorigenesis. 2010.

96. Merle Randrüüt. Wave Propagation in Microstructured Solids: Solitary and Periodic Waves. 2010.

97. Marju Laars. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Michael and Aldol Reactions Mediated by Cyclic Amines. 2010.

98. Maarja Grossberg. Optical Properties of Multinary Semiconductor Compounds for Photovoltaic Applications. 2010.

99. Alla Maloverjan. Vertebrate Homologues of Drosophila Fused Kinase and Their Role in Sonic Hedgehog Signalling Pathway. 2010.

100. **Priit Pruunsild**. Neuronal Activity-Dependent Transcription Factors and Regulation of Human *BDNF* Gene. 2010.

101. **Tatjana Knjazeva**. New Approaches in Capillary Electrophoresis for Separation and Study of Proteins. 2011.

102. Atanas Katerski. Chemical Composition of Sprayed Copper Indium Disulfide Films for Nanostructured Solar Cells. 2011.

103. **Kristi Timmo.** Formation of Properties of CuInSe₂ and Cu₂ZnSn(S,Se)₄ Monograin Powders Synthesized in Molten KI. 2011.

104. Kert Tamm. Wave Propagation and Interaction in Mindlin-Type Microstructured Solids: Numerical Simulation. 2011.

105. Adrian Popp. Ordovician Proetid Trilobites in Baltoscandia and Germany. 2011.

106. Ove Pärn. Sea Ice Deformation Events in the Gulf of Finland and This Impact on Shipping. 2011.

107. Germo Väli. Numerical Experiments on Matter Transport in the Baltic Sea. 2011.

108. Andrus Seiman. Point-of-Care Analyser Based on Capillary Electrophoresis. 2011.

109. **Olga Katargina**. Tick-Borne Pathogens Circulating in Estonia (Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus, *Anaplasma phagocytophilum, Babesia* Species): Their Prevalence and Genetic Characterization. 2011. 110. **Ingrid Sumeri**. The Study of Probiotic Bacteria in Human Gastrointestinal Tract Simulator. 2011.

111. Kairit Zovo. Functional Characterization of Cellular Copper Proteome. 2011.

112. **Natalja Makarytsheva**. Analysis of Organic Species in Sediments and Soil by High Performance Separation Methods. 2011.

113. **Monika Mortimer**. Evaluation of the Biological Effects of Engineered Nanoparticles on Unicellular Pro- and Eukaryotic Organisms. 2011.

114. **Kersti Tepp**. Molecular System Bioenergetics of Cardiac Cells: Quantitative Analysis of Structure-Function Relationship. 2011.

115. Anna-Liisa Peikolainen. Organic Aerogels Based on 5-Methylresorcinol. 2011.

116. Leeli Amon. Palaeoecological Reconstruction of Late-Glacial Vegetation Dynamics in Eastern Baltic Area: A View Based on Plant Macrofossil Analysis. 2011.

117. Tanel Peets. Dispersion Analysis of Wave Motion in Microstructured Solids. 2011.

118. Liina Kaupmees. Selenization of Molybdenum as Contact Material in Solar Cells. 2011.

119. Allan Olspert. Properties of VPg and Coat Protein of Sobemoviruses. 2011.

120. Kadri Koppel. Food Category Appraisal Using Sensory Methods. 2011.

121. Jelena Gorbatšova. Development of Methods for CE Analysis of Plant Phenolics and Vitamins. 2011.

122. Karin Viipsi. Impact of EDTA and Humic Substances on the Removal of Cd and Zn from Aqueous Solutions by Apatite. 2012.

123. **David Schryer**. Metabolic Flux Analysis of Compartmentalized Systems Using Dynamic Isotopologue Modeling. 2012.

124. Ardo Illaste. Analysis of Molecular Movements in Cardiac Myocytes. 2012.

125. Indrek Reile. 3-Alkylcyclopentane-1,2-Diones in Asymmetric Oxidation and Alkylation Reactions. 2012.

126. Tatjana Tamberg. Some Classes of Finite 2-Groups and Their Endomorphism Semigroups. 2012.

127. Taavi Liblik. Variability of Thermohaline Structure in the Gulf of Finland in Summer. 2012.

128. Priidik Lagemaa. Operational Forecasting in Estonian Marine Waters. 2012.

129. Andrei Errapart. Photoelastic Tomography in Linear and Non-linear Approximation. 2012.

130. Külliki Krabbi. Biochemical Diagnosis of Classical Galactosemia and Mucopolysaccharidoses in Estonia. 2012.

131. Kristel Kaseleht. Identification of Aroma Compounds in Food using SPME-GC/MS and GC-Olfactometry. 2012.

132. Kristel Kodar. Immunoglobulin G Glycosylation Profiling in Patients with Gastric Cancer. 2012.

133. **Kai Rosin**. Solar Radiation and Wind as Agents of the Formation of the Radiation Regime in Water Bodies. 2012.

134. Ann Tiiman. Interactions of Alzheimer's Amyloid-Beta Peptides with Zn(II) and Cu(II) Ions. 2012.

135. **Olga Gavrilova**. Application and Elaboration of Accounting Approaches for Sustainable Development. 2012.

136. **Olesja Bondarenko**. Development of Bacterial Biosensors and Human Stem Cell-Based *In Vitro* Assays for the Toxicological Profiling of Synthetic Nanoparticles. 2012.

137. Katri Muska. Study of Composition and Thermal Treatments of Quaternary Compounds for Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2012.

138. **Ranno Nahku**. Validation of Critical Factors for the Quantitative Characterization of Bacterial Physiology in Accelerostat Cultures. 2012.

139. Petri-Jaan Lahtvee. Quantitative Omics-level Analysis of Growth Rate Dependent Energy Metabolism in *Lactococcus lactis*. 2012.

140. Kerti Orumets. Molecular Mechanisms Controlling Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Baker's Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its Random Mutagenized Glutathione Over-Accumulating Isolate. 2012.

141. Loreida Timberg. Spice-Cured Sprats Ripening, Sensory Parameters Development, and Quality Indicators. 2012.

142. Anna Mihhalevski. Rye Sourdough Fermentation and Bread Stability. 2012.

143. Liisa Arike. Quantitative Proteomics of *Escherichia coli*: From Relative to Absolute Scale. 2012. 144. Kairi Otto. Deposition of In₂S₃ Thin Films by Chemical Spray Pyrolysis. 2012.

145. Mari Sepp. Functions of the Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Transcription Factor TCF4 in Health and Disease. 2012.

146. **Anna Suhhova**. Detection of the Effect of Weak Stressors on Human Resting Electroencephalographic Signal. 2012.

147. Aram Kazarjan. Development and Production of Extruded Food and Feed Products Containing Probiotic Microorganisms. 2012.

148. **Rivo Uiboupin**. Application of Remote Sensing Methods for the Investigation of Spatio-Temporal Variability of Sea Surface Temperature and Chlorophyll Fields in the Gulf of Finland. 2013. 149. **Tiina Kriščiunaite**. A Study of Milk Coagulability. 2013.

150. **Tuuli Levandi**. Comparative Study of Cereal Varieties by Analytical Separation Methods and Chemometrics. 2013.

151. **Natalja Kabanova**. Development of a Microcalorimetric Method for the Study of Fermentation Processes. 2013.

152. Himani Khanduri. Magnetic Properties of Functional Oxides. 2013.

153. Julia Smirnova. Investigation of Properties and Reaction Mechanisms of Redox-Active Proteins by ESI MS. 2013.

154. Mervi Sepp. Estimation of Diffusion Restrictions in Cardiomyocytes Using Kinetic Measurements. 2013.

155. Kersti Jääger. Differentiation and Heterogeneity of Mesenchymal Stem Cells. 2013.

156. Victor Alari. Multi-Scale Wind Wave Modeling in the Baltic Sea. 2013.

157. Taavi Päll. Studies of CD44 Hyaluronan Binding Domain as Novel Angiogenesis Inhibitor. 2013.

158. Allan Niidu. Synthesis of Cyclopentane and Tetrahydrofuran Derivatives. 2013.

159. Julia Geller. Detection and Genetic Characterization of *Borrelia* Species Circulating in Tick Population in Estonia. 2013.

160. Irina Stulova. The Effects of Milk Composition and Treatment on the Growth of Lactic Acid Bacteria. 2013.

161. Jana Holmar. Optical Method for Uric Acid Removal Assessment During Dialysis. 2013.

162. Kerti Ausmees. Synthesis of Heterobicyclo[3.2.0]heptane Derivatives *via* Multicomponent Cascade Reaction. 2013.

163. **Minna Varikmaa**. Structural and Functional Studies of Mitochondrial Respiration Regulation in Muscle Cells. 2013.

164. Indrek Koppel. Transcriptional Mechanisms of BDNF Gene Regulation. 2014.

165. **Kristjan Pilt**. Optical Pulse Wave Signal Analysis for Determination of Early Arterial Ageing in Diabetic Patients. 2014.

166. Andres Anier. Estimation of the Complexity of the Electroencephalogram for Brain Monitoring in Intensive Care. 2014.

167. **Toivo Kallaste**. Pyroclastic Sanidine in the Lower Palaeozoic Bentonites – A Tool for Regional Geological Correlations. 2014.

168. **Erki Kärber**. Properties of ZnO-nanorod/In₂S₃/CuInS₂ Solar Cell and the Constituent Layers Deposited by Chemical Spray Method. 2014.

169. **Julia Lehner**. Formation of Cu₂ZnSnS₄ and Cu₂ZnSnSe₄ by Chalcogenisation of Electrochemically Deposited Precursor Layers. 2014.

170. **Peep Pitk**. Protein- and Lipid-rich Solid Slaughterhouse Waste Anaerobic Co-digestion: Resource Analysis and Process Optimization. 2014.

171. **Kaspar Valgepea**. Absolute Quantitative Multi-omics Characterization of Specific Growth Ratedependent Metabolism of *Escherichia coli*. 2014.

172. Artur Noole. Asymmetric Organocatalytic Synthesis of 3,3'-Disubstituted Oxindoles. 2014.

173. **Robert Tsanev**. Identification and Structure-Functional Characterisation of the Gene Transcriptional Repressor Domain of Human Gli Proteins. 2014.

174. Dmitri Kartofelev. Nonlinear Sound Generation Mechanisms in Musical Acoustic. 2014.

175. Sigrid Hade. GIS Applications in the Studies of the Palaeozoic Graptolite Argillite and Landscape Change. 2014.

176. **Agne Velthut-Meikas**. Ovarian Follicle as the Environment of Oocyte Maturation: The Role of Granulosa Cells and Follicular Fluid at Pre-Ovulatory Development. 2014.

177. Kristel Hälvin. Determination of B-group Vitamins in Food Using an LC-MS Stable Isotope Dilution Assay. 2014.

178. **Mailis Päri**. Characterization of the Oligoadenylate Synthetase Subgroup from Phylum Porifera. 2014.

179. Jekaterina Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing of *TAF4*: A Dynamic Switch between Distinct Cell Functions. 2014.

180. **Jaanus Suurväli**. Regulator of G Protein Signalling 16 (RGS16): Functions in Immunity and Genomic Location in an Ancient MHC-Related Evolutionarily Conserved Syntemy Group. 2014.

181. **Ene Viiard**. Diversity and Stability of Lactic Acid Bacteria During Rye Sourdough Propagation. 2014.

182. Kristella Hansen. Prostaglandin Synthesis in Marine Arthropods and Red Algae. 2014.

183. Helike Lõhelaid. Allene Oxide Synthase-lipoxygenase Pathway in Coral Stress Response. 2015.

184. Normunds Stivrinš. Postglacial Environmental Conditions, Vegetation Succession and Human Impact in Latvia. 2015.

185. **Mary-Liis Kütt**. Identification and Characterization of Bioactive Peptides with Antimicrobial and Immunoregulating Properties Derived from Bovine Colostrum and Milk. 2015.

186. **Kazbulat Šogenov**. Petrophysical Models of the CO₂ Plume at Prospective Storage Sites in the Baltic Basin. 2015.

187. Taavi Raadik. Application of Modulation Spectroscopy Methods in Photovoltaic Materials Research. 2015.

188. Reio Põder. Study of Oxygen Vacancy Dynamics in Sc-doped Ceria with NMR Techniques. 2015.

189. **Sven Siir**. Internal Geochemical Stratification of Bentonites (Altered Volcanic Ash Beds) and its Interpretation. 2015.

190. Kaur Jaanson. Novel Transgenic Models Based on Bacterial Artificial Chromosomes for Studying BDNF Gene Regulation. 2015.

191. **Niina Karro**. Analysis of ADP Compartmentation in Cardiomyocytes and Its Role in Protection Against Mitochondrial Permeability Transition Pore Opening. 2015.

192. **Piret Laht**. B-plexins Regulate the Maturation of Neurons Through Microtubule Dynamics. 2015.

193. **Sergei Žari**. Organocatalytic Asymmetric Addition to Unsaturated 1,4-Dicarbonyl Compounds. 2015.

194. **Natalja Buhhalko**. Processes Influencing the Spatio-temporal Dynamics of Nutrients and Phytoplankton in Summer in the Gulf of Finland, Baltic Sea. 2015.

195. **Natalia Maticiuc**. Mechanism of Changes in the Properties of Chemically Deposited CdS Thin Films Induced by Thermal Annealing. 2015.

196. Mario Öeren. Computational Study of Cyclohexylhemicucurbiturils. 2015.

197. Mari Kalda. Mechanoenergetics of a Single Cardiomyocyte. 2015.

198. **Ieva Grudzinska**. Diatom Stratigraphy and Relative Sea Level Changes of the Eastern Baltic Sea over the Holocene. 2015.

199. Anna Kazantseva. Alternative Splicing in Health and Disease. 2015.

200. Jana Kazarjan. Investigation of Endogenous Antioxidants and Their Synthetic Analogues by Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

201. Maria Safonova. SnS Thin Films Deposition by Chemical Solution Method and Characterization. 2016.

202. Jekaterina Mazina. Detection of Psycho- and Bioactive Drugs in Different Sample Matrices by Fluorescence Spectroscopy and Capillary Electrophoresis. 2016.

203. Karin Rosenstein. Genes Regulated by Estrogen and Progesterone in Human Endometrium. 2016.

204. Aleksei Tretjakov. A Macromolecular Imprinting Approach to Design Synthetic Receptors for Label-Free Biosensing Applications. 2016.

205. **Mati Danilson**. Temperature Dependent Electrical Properties of Kesterite Monograin Layer Solar Cells. 2016.

ELECTRONIC APPENDIX

Table S6. Chemically defined media from the literature which contain numerous nutrients in excess and are thus suitable for the cultivation of multiple species of lactic acid bacteria.

Medium	CDM	DM1	DML	MCD ¹	ZBM1	ZBM2
Strain	Wine LAB ²	Lactobacilli 3	Meat lactobacilli ⁴	Lactococci, enterococci 5	Lactococci, streptococci, enterococci 6	Lactococci, streptococci enterococci
Reference	[212]	[187]	[102]	[190], modified by [16]	[79]	[79]
COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)						
SUGARS						
Glucose Ribose	10	10	10	10	15	15
BUFFERS						
K2HPO4	1.0	3.1		7.5 (2.5) 7	6.4	7.3
KH2PO4		1.5	1.0	9.0 (3.0) 7	3.1	3.6
Tricine					15.0	1.3
AMINO ACIDS						
L-Alanine (Ala) ⁸	0.2000	0.2000	0.1600	0.2400	0.4000	0.4800
L-Arginine (Arg) L-Asparagine (Asp)	0.7500	0.2000	0.0413 '	0.1200	0.7200	0.7200
L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.3500	0.3000			0.0500	0.0600
L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.2000	0.1000	0.1380 10	0.1700	0.1537 11	0.1845 12
L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.5000	0.3000	0.5000	0.5100	0.6000	0.7200
Glycine (Gly)	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	0.1700	0.3000	0.3600
L-Histidine (His)	0.5000	0.1619 13 0.1000	0.0740 14 0.0500	0.1100	0.1700	0.1700
L-Leucine (Leu)	0.2000	0.2000	0.0600	0.4700	1.0000	1.0000
Lysine-HCl (Lys)	0.2084 15	0.2000	0.1000	0.3500	0.5000	0.6000
L-Methionine (Met) L-Phenylalanine (Phe)	0.2000	0.1000	0.0230	0.1200	0.4000	0.4800
L-Proline (Pro)	0.5000	0.2000	0.0400	0.6800	0.7000	0.8400
L-Serine (Ser)	0.4000	0.1000	0.0800	0.3400	0.5000	0.6000
L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.2000	0.1000	0.1000	0.0500	0.2000	0.2400
L-Tyrosine (Tyr)	0.2000	0.1000	0.0400	0.2900	0.3000	0.3600
L-Valine (Val)	0.2000	0.1000	0.0600	0.3300	0.7000	0.7000
CaCl ₂ ·2H ₂ O	0 5828 16			0.0500	0.0400	0.0400
CoCl ₂ ·6H ₂ O				0.0025	0.0002	0.0002
CoSO4 CuSO-:5H-O	0.0000	0.5000			0.0002	0.0002
FeSO4.5H2O	0.0200			0.0137 17	0.0040	0.0040
MgCl ₂ ·6H ₂ O				0.2000		
MgSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O MgSO ₄ ·4H ₂ O	0.1000	0.5000	0.1500		0.0004	0.0004
(NH ₄) ₆ Mo ₇ O ₂₄ ·4H ₂ O		0.0204	0.0201		0.0002	0.0002
NaCl	0.0001	0.0200		0.0050	3.0000	3.0000
VITAMINS	0.0001			0.0030	0.0030	0.0030
Thiamine-HCl (B1) 20	0.00100		0.00100	0.00127 21	0.00056	0.00056
Riboflavin (B2)	0.00200	0.01000	0.00050	0.00100	0.00090	0.00090
iacin (Nicotinic acid; B ₃)	0.00200	0.01000	0.00100	0.00100	0.00090	0.00090
Pyridoxal-HCl (B ₆)	0.00200	0.01000	0.00050	0.00100	0.00480	0.00480
Pyridoxamine (B ₆)	22			0.00500		
Pyridoxine (B ₆) Biotin (B ₇)	0.00165	0.00100	0.00001	0.00200	0.00600	0.00600
yo -inositol (formerly B ₈)		0.01000			0.00200	0.00200
Folic acid (B ₉)	0.00200	0.00020	0.00010	0.00100	0.00056	0.00056
oara - Aminobenzoic acid	0.00010	0.00002		0.00100	0.00006	0.00006
(p ABA, formerly B _x)	0.00010	0.00020		0.01000	0.00008	0.00006
Ascorbic acid (C) NUCLEOBASES		0.50000				
NUCLEOSIDES						
Adenine (A)	0.0073 24		0.0250	0.0050	0.0110	0.0110
Guanine (G)	0.0081 25	0.1000		0.0010	0.0056	0.0056
Thymine (T)	0.0100	0.1000				
Uracil (U) Xanthine	0.0100		0.0250	0.0050	0.0230	0.0230
Cytidine		0.1000				
Deoxyadenosine (dA)		0.1000		0.0050		
Deoxytnymidine (d1) Deoxyuridine (dU)		0.1000		0.0030		
Inosine (I)				0.0050		
Orotic acid				0.0050		
PRECURSORS						
K-acetate		10.00000			0.90000	0.90000
Na-acetate Lippic acid (DL-6.8-				1.00000		
Thioctic acid)				0.00250	0.00100	0.00100
Tween 80		1.00000	0.55000		0.50000	0.50000
(NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄					1.0	1.0
Ammonium citrate ²⁶		2.0		0.6		
Ca-lactate	0.00200	1.0				
D,L-aminobutyrate	0.00200	0.1				
EDTA					0.00750	0.00750
Glutathione HaBOa					0.01500	0.01500
K ₂ SO ₄					0.02300	0.02300
KI					0.00011	0.00011
Arr. 18 . 1					63 6 M	11, 2

Table S7. Chemically define	ed media from the literature with	lefinite applications or for sp	ecific species of lactic acid bacteria.
-----------------------------	-----------------------------------	---------------------------------	---

	Lb. bulgarieus	Lb. rhamnosus	Lb. bulgaricus	Lb. johnsonii	Lb. rhamnosus E-97800	Lb. reuteri	L lactis	L. lactis 10-1	Lb. plantarum	Lb. bulgaricus	L lactis IL1403,	L. lactis,	Lb. helveticus
	NCFB2772	ATCC10863	CNRZ1187, CNRZ416	NCC533	Lb. brevis ATCC8287	SD2112	MG1363		N4, N8	CNRZ397	NCD02118	Lcremoris ²	974, CRL10
Reference	[96] Quantitative and qualitative	[191] High levels of growth and	[82] EPS	[213]	[214] Protein	[214] radiolabelli	[214] ng and	[101]	[103]	[94] Phage and EPS	[91]	[92]	[97]
Specific appacations	production of EPS	lactic acid production	production		proteomic	analyses of	lactobacilli			production, protein labelling			
OD (λ=600 nm, if not stated otherwise)	1.4			2-3				2.05±0.05		2		1.6-3.0 (450 nm) ³	1.40-1.50 (560
μ(h ⁻¹) COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)	0.18	0.49		1.6				0.71±0.09	0.44-0.56 5	0.59 6	0.5-0.67	0.22-0.73 8	0.28-0.34
SUGARS Fructose					5 10								
Glucose Lactose	20	80	(30) ¹¹ (30) ¹¹	20	25	25	25	10	10	20	10	9	10
BUFFERS K2HPO4		2.3 12	2.0	1.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	2.8			7.5 (2.5) 13		3.0
MOPS Tricine	1.0	3.0	2.0	3.1	0.0	0.0	0.8	1.2	20		9.0 (3.0)	8.4 0.7	3.0
AMINO ACIDS L-Alanine (Ala) ¹⁴	0.0980	0.5000	0.2000	0.2000	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	0.1000	0.2000	0.1000	0.2400	0.3029	0.1000
L-Arginine (Arg) L-Asparagine (Asn)	0.0871 0.0925	0.5000	0.2000	0.2000				0.1000	0.3000	0.3200	0.1200 0.3400	0.1916 0.1057	0.1000
L-Aspartate (Asp) L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.1065	1.0000	0.3000	0.2000	1.1000	1.1000	1.1000	0.1000	0.2000	0.5000	0.1700	0.0969	0.2000
L-Glutamine (Gln)	0.1023	1.0000	0.3000	0.6000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.1000	0.1500	0.3000	0.5100	0.1023	0.2000
Glycine (Gly)	0.0976	0.5000	0.2000	0.4000	0.4000	0.4000	0.5600	0.1000	0.3000	0.1600	0.1700	0.2027	0.1000
L-Isoleucine (Ile)	0.1049	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	0.5000	0.5000	0.6000	0.1000	0.2000	0.3600	0.2000	0.1049	0.1000
Lysine-HCI (Lys)	0.1049	1.4993 ¹⁹	0.2499 20	0.2000	1.3119 21	1.3119 21	1.3119 21	0.1249 22	0.3000	0.4400	0.3500	0.2557	0.1000
L-Methionine (Met) L-Phenylalanine (Phe)	0.1044	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	0.2000	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	0.2000	0.3400	0.1200	0.1044	0.1000
L-Proline (Pro) L-Serine (Ser)	0.1036	0.5000	0.2000	0.2000	0.4000	0.4000	0.4800	0.1000	0.3000	0.9200	0.6800	0.2993 0.3048	0.1000
L-Threonine (Thr) L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.0953 0.1021	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	0.5000	0.5000	0.6400	0.1000	0.2000	0.3000	0.2300	0.2025 0.1021	0.1000
L-Tyrosine (Tyr) L-Valine (Val)	0.1087	0.5000	0.2000	0.1000	1.0000	1.0000	1.0000	0.1000	0.3000	0.1200	0.2900	0.0544	0.1000
MINERAL SALTS CaCl ₂		0.0755 23	0.2000							0.2700		5.5.10	
CoCl2-6H2O CoSO477H2O	0.0002	0.0100								7.0.10 ⁻⁶		7.7.10 ^{-6.24}	
CuCl ₂ ·2H ₂ O CuSO ₄	1.7.10 ⁻⁶	0.0064 25								1.6.10-6		1.6.10-6	
FeCl ₂ :4H ₂ O FeCl.:6H.O	0.0015							0.0010					
FeSO47H2O		0.0200	0.0200	0.0200	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	3.0010	0.0100	6.6.10 ⁻⁵	p. and -	0.0028 26	
MgSO47H2O	0.1972	0.5000	0.5000	0.5000	0.2562 28	0.2562 28	0.2562 28	0.3500	0.1500	0.2000	0.2000	0.1057 27	0.2000
MnCl ₂ MnSO ₄ ·4H ₂ O	0.0378 29	0.0500	0.0660 30	0.0264 31	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0463 32	0.0200	0.0264 31		1.0.10 ⁻⁵	
(NH4)6M07O244H2O Na2M0O4-2H2O	4.8.10 ⁻⁵	0.0100								3.7.10 6		3.7.10-6	
NaCl NiCl ₂	13-1075			0.0200	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100	0.0100				2.9220	
NISO4-6H2O ZnCL	10.10	0.0100											
ZnSO4-7H2O	6.8-10-	0.0100								2.9.10-6		2.9-10 ^{-6.33}	
VITAMINS Thiamine (B ₁)	0.00016	0.00500			0.00500	0.00500	0.00500	0.00079 34	0.00079 34			0.00080 35	
Riboflavin (B ₂) Niacin (Nicotinic acid; B ₃)	0.00010	0.00500	0.00200	0.00050	0.00500	0.00300	0.00500	0.00100	0.00100	0.00020 0.00017	0.00100 36 0.00100	0.00098	0.0010
Niacinamide (B ₃) Ca-pantothenate (B ₅)	9.5-10 ⁻⁵	0.00543 37	0.00200	0.00050	0.00500	0.00300	0.00500	0.00100	0.00100	0.00010	0.00100	0.00098	0.0010
Pyridoxal (B ₆) Pyridoxamine (B ₆)	0.00025		0.00200						0.00060 39	0.00005	0.00500	0.00167 40	0.0020
Pyridoxine (B ₆)	5.1-10-5	0.00500		0.00050	0.00400	0.00400	0.00400	0.00100			0.0000		
Biotin (B7) Myo -inositol (formerly B ₈)	2.0-10 ⁻⁵	0.00500	0.00100	0.00005	0.00500	0.00100	0.00500	0.00001	0.01000		0.01000	9.8.10 ⁻⁵	
Folic acid (B ₉) Cyanocobalamine (B ₁₂)	4.4·10 ⁻⁵ 9.5·10 ⁻⁵	0.00500	0.00050	0.00010	0.00500	0.00050	0.00500	0.00001	0.00100	0.00003		0.00102	
para -Aminobenzoic acid (p ABA, formerly B _a)	9.6-10-5	0.00500	0.00050	0.00010	0.00500	0.00060	0.00500		0.01000				
Ascorbic acid (C) UCLEOBASES, NUCLEOSIDES				0.00050				0.50000					
Adenine (A) Guanine (G)	0.0095		0.0200		0.0100	0.0100	0.0100		0.0500	0.0500			
Uracil (U) Xanthine	0.0101 0.0105		0.0400		0.0100	0.0100	0.0100			0.0500			0.0100
Deoxyguanosine (dG) Cytidylic acid									0.0500				
mosure (1)			0.5000	10000									
Orotic acid				10.00	20.00	20.00	20.00		10.00	7.35		1.23	6.00
Orotic acid FATTY ACID PRECURSORS K-acetate Na-acetate	6.75	2.00	4.00		20,000	20.00							
Orotic acid FATTY ACID PRECURSORS K-acetate Na-acetate Lipoic acid (DL-6,8-Thiortic acid) Tween 80	6.75 5.0·10 ⁻⁵ 1.06 ⁻⁴²	2.00	4.00	1.00	1.06 42	1.06 42			1.0.10 ⁻³	1.00			1.00
Oratic acid FATTY ACID PRECURSORS K-accetate Na-accetate Lipoke acid (DL-6,8-Thiotetia acid) Tween 80 OTHER COMPOUNDS (NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄	6.75 5.0-10 ⁻⁵ 1.06 ⁻⁴²	2.00	4.00	1.00	1.06 42	1.06 42		0.40	1.0.10 ⁻³	1.00	0.18		1.00
Ordic acid FATTY ACID PRECURSORS Kacetate Na acetate (Jpoke acid (DL-6,8-Thioric acid)) Tween 80 OTHER COMPOUNDS (NRI ₂);SO ₄ Ammonium citrate ⁶⁰ Ca-lactate	6.75 5.0-10 ⁵ 1.06 ⁴²	2.00 1.05 ⁴²	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00	1.06 42	1.06 42		0.40	1.0.10 ⁻³	1.00	0.18		1.00
Oredic acid FATTY ACD PRECURSORS Nacctate Nacctate Lipoic acid (DL-6,8-Thiortic acid) Tween 80 OTHER COMPOUNDS (NIL ₂ /sO ₄ Ammonium cirate ⁶ Calactate Cirtic acid D_L-aminohubytrate	6.75 5.0-10 ⁻⁵ 1.06 ⁻⁴²	2.00 1.06 ⁻⁴²	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	1.06 42	1.06 42		0.40	1.0-10 ⁻³	1.00	0.18		1.00
Orde add FATT ACIO PRECURSORS Nacetate Nacetate Nacetate Nacetate OTHER COMPOUNDS OTHER COMPOU	6.75 5.0-10 ⁵ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83	2.00 1.05 ⁴²	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	1.06 42	1.06 42		0.40	1.0-10 ⁻³	1.00	0.18		1.00
Order add Territ Acid Piece USsoRs Kacetate Na octute Na octute OTHER COMPONING OTHER	6.75 5.0-10 ⁻⁵ 1.06 ⁻² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁻⁶	2.00 1.06 ⁴²	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	1.06 42	1.05 42		0.40	1.0 10 ⁻³	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵	0.18	2.5·10 ⁻⁵ 0.05	1.00
Order add Order add Nacetate Nacetate Nacetate Nucleon Trees 80 OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING Calactate Claric add D.L-anniohytyrate No.La	6.75 5.0-10 ⁵ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁶ 2.00	2.00	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	1.06 42	1.05 42		0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20	1.0-10 ⁻³	1.00 2.5·10 ⁻⁵ 0.30	0.18	2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.05	1.00
Order and PATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kacetate Kacetate Discourse of the Astronomic Constraints of the Astronomic Constraints OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING Calcetate Christic and D.L.aminohutyrate Robins mylveroftheophate SILO Halloo, K.So, K.G Na, Halo, Na, Halo, Halo, Halo, Halo, Halo, Halo,	6.75 5.0-10 ⁴ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴ 2.00	2.00	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00	3.00	3.00	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20	1.0-10 ⁻³	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.30 0.30	0.18	2.5-10 ⁵ 0.05	1.90
Order and FATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kacetate Kacetate United States (Construction) (C	6.75 50.10 ⁵ 1.05 ¹² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00	2.00 1.05 ⁴²	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00	3.00	3.00	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20	0.50	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.30 0.80 0.50	0.18	2.5-10 ⁴ 0.05	100
Oradic add Oradic add JETTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kaccitate Kaccitate Jupe and U.A.S. Thirtie Twees 80 Twees 80 Twees 80 Thiles (COMPONING OTHES (COMPONING OTHES (COMPONING OTHES (COMPONING CONTRACTOR Contrast and D.L.aminohutyrate Kodium glycrofibophate SH,O KSO, KG NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, NajBO, Sodium hiteglycollate Triammonium strate	6.75 5.0-10 ² 1.05 ⁴² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 was altered. MPI.	2.00 1.06 ^{c2} 1.00	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	1.06 ⁴²	1.06 ⁻⁴²	3.00	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20	1.0-10 ³	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.30 0.30 0.50 8. thermoshilus .	0.18	2.5-10 ³ 0.05	100
Order and FATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kacetate Kacetate Acatetate Network (1996) Acatetate Network (1996) Acatetate Network (1997) OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING Annuclean distribution Chief and D-Laminoharyrate Rodium glycrofibophate SHO KSD, KSD, KSD, KSD, KSD, NetWO NetWO NetWO Sodium Mindysoliate Triemmonium strate addison. If the vitamin connocolion Across Valled S-400 Acateta Sodium Mindysoliate Triemmonium strate	6,75 50-10 ⁵ 1,05 ⁴² 0,83 6,2-10 ⁴⁵ 2,00 1,00 was shered. MPL 2, C2, II,1403; <i>L</i> . 6(3163 3,0:0,3,)	2.00 1.06 ^G 1.00 .suenosted arowt cremoti 3107,9 MG1614 2.94.3 a	4.00 1.00 h of several str D1-1,936-1, W ad NCD0712	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 rains of <i>Lb. b</i> (g2 2.25+0.3 h ⁻¹	3.00 1.06 ⁴²	1.06 ⁻⁴²	3.00 Lb. plantari . 901-1 2.0±0	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. Lb. reac. Leas	1.0-10 ³ 0.50 c. mesenteroides and We2 1.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.30 0.50 8. thermoshilus . -1.	0.18	2.5-10 ⁴ 0.05	1.00
Order and PATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kacentar Kacentar United States and Control (1998) (19	6.75 5.0-10 ⁵ 1.06 ¹² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 4.00 1.00 0.00 5.0-0.1 6.103 1.00 0.00 5.0-0.1 6.103 1.0-0.1 6.103 1.0-0.1 6.103 1.0-0.1 6.103 1.0-0.1 6.103 1.0-0.1 7 8 1.0-0.1 8 1.0-0.1 7 8 1.0-0.1 8 1.0 1.0-0.1 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 8 1.0 1.0 8 1.	2.00 1.06 ¹² 1.00 , supported arout crossoft 3107, 9 WG1614.2.9±0.3 a 2.	4.00 1.00 b of several str D1-1, 936-1, W md NCD0712	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 rains of <i>Lb. br</i> /sp2 2.2.5=0.3 h ⁻¹ .	3.00 achaeri . Lh. 1 L. cremoris 3	1.06 ⁻⁴² 3.00 fermentum.	3.00 Lh. olantari . 901-1 2.0±4	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 	0.50 0.50 c. mesenteroides . and Ws2 1.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.5 10 ³ 0.30 0.30 0.50 3: thermobilies.	0.18	2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.05	1.00
Order and Order and FATT ACLO PRECUSSORS Kaccutar Kaccutar Verse 30 Verse 3	6,75 50-10 ⁵ 1,06 ⁴² 0.83 6,2-10 ⁴ 2,00 1,00 8,50,62 1,00 1,00 1,00 1,00 0,75 c CR1106 4, 2, 1,00 f or CR1106 4, 2, 1,00 f or 0 min. NCD02118.	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 .supported arowt cremoris 3107, 9 MG1614 2.9±0.3 z 2.	4.00 1.00 b of several str D1-1, 936-1, W md NCD0712	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00 uchneri . Lb. L. cremoris 3	1.06 ⁴² 3.00 formentum.	3.00 Lb. olantarı . 901-1 2.0±6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.</i> I. rear. <i>Lew</i> 14, 936-1 2.0101 i	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. mesenteroides	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.30 0.30 0.50 5: <i>abermochika</i> . - ⁴ .	0.18	2.5-10 ⁻³ 0.05	1.00
Order and PATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kaccitat Kaccitat Control (CLS) (C	6.75 5.0-10 ⁴ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 1.00 4.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 . supported arows crossoria 3107, 9 WG [614 2.9±0.3 a 2. =0.03. MG [614 0. RL1002.	4.00 1.00 h of several str 01.1.936.1, W ad NCDO712 63±0.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 nains of <i>Lb. br</i> /g2 2.2.5±0.3 h ⁻¹ .	1.06 ⁴² 3.00 uchneri . Ib. 1 L. cremoris 3	3.00 3.00 fermentum. 107 1.6±0.3	3.00 Lb. okuntarı . 901-1 2.0+0	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>Lh. 70ar. Leus</i> 14. 936-1 2.010,1 1	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. mesenteroider and Ws2 1.7±0.8 h 33, 936-1 0.44±0.03	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻³ 0.30 0.50 5. dormoshilar. ¹ .	0.18	2.5+10 ⁻³ 0.05	1.00
Order and PATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Kaccitat Naccitat Control (CAS) (CAS) Teres 80 OTHER COMPONENTS (NIL) SO, NIL) SO, Calacitat OTHER COMPONENTS (NIL) SO, Calacitat OTHER COMPONENTS (NIL) SO, Calacitat OTHER COMPONENTS (NIL) SO, NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL	6.75 5.0:10 ⁴ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83 6.2:10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.05 ¹⁰ 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 h of several str 01-1,936-1, W and NCDO712 63±0.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10 rains of <i>Lb. In</i> (g2. 2.2.5=0.3 h ⁻¹ .	3.00 3.00 552.0.04 h ⁻¹ . L	1.06 ^G 1.06 ^G 3.00 fermentum. 107 1.6±0.3	3.00 Lb. okastarı . 901-1 2.0:4	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>L</i> . <i>rear. Leu</i> 14 936-1 2.010.1 1	0.50 0.50 0.50 c. meentoroider and Wi2 1.7±0.8 h 33, 956-1 0.44±0.03	1.03 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. thermoshika. 4.	0.18	2.5-10 ⁻³ 0.05	1.00
Order and Order and Order and Kacetate Kacetate Development of the Action Parene Silver and Action OTHER COMPONIS NUL-SO OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS NUL-SO OTHER COMPONIS NUL-SO OTHER COMPONIS Nul-SO Nul	6.75 5.9-10 ⁵ 1.06 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴⁰ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.05 ⁴² 1.00 1.	4.00 1.00 h of several str 001-1, 936-1, W and NCD0712 63±0.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 1/s2 2.5±0.3 h ⁻¹ .c	1,00 ⁴⁷ 1,00 ⁴⁷ 3,00 3,00 <i>L. cromoris</i> 3 55:0,04 h ⁻¹ . <i>L</i>	3.00 ⁽²)	300 E& olantara 901-1 2.0±6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. Lb. row- Low 14. 936-1 2.0+0.1	1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. meentoroider and Wi21.7=0.8 h 33, 956-1 0.44±0.03	1.03 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. thermostellar.	0.18	2.5-10 ⁻⁵ 0.05	1.00
Order and PATTA ACID PRECUSSORS Section Control Control Control (Control Control Control Control Control (Control Control Control Control Control Control (Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control (Control Control	6.75 5.9-10 ⁵ 1.06 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2-10 ⁴⁰ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 .usenoned strowd .suenoned strowd .usenoned strowd .usenone	4.00 1.00 b of several at on 0.1.9%-1. W. 6510.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10	3.00 3.00 5±0.04 h ⁻¹ L	3.00 3.00 6/mentum. 6/montum.	3.00 Lh olustara . 501-1 2.0:4	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.A. rour. Leu</i> 14, 936-1 2.0+0.1 14, 936-1 2.0+0.1	1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. meseneroides . and We2 1.7:0.8 h 33. 936-1 0.44±0.03	1.03 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. thermostellar.	0.18	2.5 10 ⁴ 0.05	1.00
Order add Order add Order Source Kaeciate Kaeciate Net add Source Distance Office (CMSORS) NikySO, OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS NikySO, Chaeciate Other add D.Janinohutryrate Kolling D.Janinohutryrate Kolling D.Janinohutryrate Kolling NikySO, Naky	675 50 (0 ²) 106 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 (0 ⁴) 200 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 	4.00 1.00 b of several and b of several and b of several	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10	106 ⁴² 106 ⁴² 3.00 3.00 4. <i>cremori</i> 3 5:0.04 h ⁺ . <i>L</i>	100 ⁴² 100 ⁴² 3.00 fermentum. 1071.640.3	3.00 LA niastarı 901-12.0:6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.b.</i> rose . <i>Less</i> 34. 936-1 2.010.1 (1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. mexenteroider . and We21.750.8 h 8, 936-1 0.446:0.03	1.03 2.5 10 ⁴ 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50	0.18	2.5-10 ⁴ 0.05	1.00
Order and Order and Karchite Karchite Karchite Karchite Karchite Collecte OTHER COMPORTS OTHER COMPORTS National State National State Nationa	6.75 5.0 It ² 1.06 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 It ⁶ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 b of several and b of several and b of several and b of several and b of several and b of several and b of several and b of several	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10	106 ⁴² 106 ⁴² 3.00 3.00 55:0.04 h ⁴ . L	106 ⁴² 106 ⁴² 3.00 fermentum. 107 1.640.3	3.00 LA alantara . 901-1 2.0±6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>Lb. row- Lew</i> 14, 936-1 2.0±0.1 i	1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. meanstraider . and W 21.7+0.8 h	1.03 2.5 10 ⁴ 0.30 0.30 c. <i>dormachilar</i> . ⁴ .	0.18	25 10 ⁵ 005	100
Order and Order and Karchite Karchite Karchite Karchite Karchite Charles OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS OTHER COMPONIS Annowhm (etner, ¹⁰ Chartet Chrier and Chrier and Chrier and Chrier and Chrier and Chrier and Chrier and Christ and Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ Christ Christ and Christ	6.75 5.0 (1 ⁵ 1.06 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 (10 ⁶ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 b of several at and NCD0712 6310.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00	1,00 ⁴ 1,00 ⁴ 3,00 3,00 4, <i>L</i> , <i>cremoris</i> 3 (550,004 h ⁻¹ , <i>L</i>)	100 ⁴² 100 ⁴² 3.00 <i>itermentum</i> \$107 1.640.3	3.00 4.b. olantari .901-1.2.0±6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>Lb. row- Lew</i> 14. 936-1 2.0±0.1 i	1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. mesenteratides . and We2 1.7+0.8 h	1.03 2.5 10 ⁻⁶ 0.30 0.30 c. <i>thermochilae</i> . - ⁴ .	0.18	2.2 (p ⁴) 005	100
Ordet add Ordet add Kacetar Kacetar Kacetar United CUSO068 Market Cusoff OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING National State National S	6.75 5.0 (1 ⁵ 1.06 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 (10 ⁶ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 b of several at at NCD0712 6310.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10 1.02 1.02 1.02	1,00 ⁴ 1,00 ⁴ 3,00 3,00 4, <i>L</i> , <i>cramoris</i> 3 (54:004 h ⁴ , <i>L</i>	105 ⁴² 105 ⁴² 300 6ermentum 3107 1.6+0.3	300 E& blantara 501-12.0±1	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>Lb. row- Lean</i> 14. 936-1 2.0±0.1 (20. 901-1 0.41±0.0	0.50 0.50 c. mesenteroider 31. 936-1 0.44=0.03	1.03 2.5 10 ⁻⁴ 0.30 0.30 c. <i>durmachilar</i> . - ⁴ .	0.18	229 (p ⁴ 005	100
Order and Order and Kacetari Kacetari Ukacetar	6.75 5.0 (1 ⁵ 1.00 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.0	4.00 1.00 b of several and NCDO712 6.6310.04 and N	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00 3.00 3.00 550.04 h ⁻¹ . L	100 ¹⁰ 100 ¹⁰ 3.00 6ementum. 8107 1.640.3	300 E& olantara 501-12.0=1	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>Lb. row. Lew</i> 14. 936-1 2.0±0.1 12. 901-1 0.41±0.0	0.50 0.50 c. meansteroidet	1.00 2.5-10 ⁻¹ 0.30 0.90 5.thermoshilar. ¹ .	0.15 	221 (p ⁴ 005	
Order and Order and Kacetari Kacetari Kacetari United States Networks and States Networks and States OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS OfHER COMPORTS Networks N	6.75 5.0 (b ³) 1.00 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 (b ⁴) 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 - unonoto 300,40 - unonoto 300,9 - unonoto 300,9	4.00 1.00 1.00 do several and N 0.1, 966. W	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 550.004 h ⁻¹ . L	100 ¹⁰ 100 ¹⁰ 3.00 6 <i>cmentum</i> . 8107 1.640.3	3.00 501-1 2.0=0	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 an. Lb. rour. Lean 34. 936-1 2.0±0.1 i 22. 901-1 0.41±0.0	0.50 0.50 c. mesenteroider . and We2 1.7±0.8 h 33. 936-1 0.44±0.03	1.00 2.510 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. thermoniviliar. ⁴ .	0.18 •.	2.2 (p ⁴) 0.05	
Order and Order and Kaccitate Kaccitate Kaccitate (Dec and 10.4-8-8-Thielectus) Twees 80 OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING Contact and Other and Component of the Other and Component of the Neuroscience of the	6.75 5.0 (b ³) 1.00 ¹⁰ 0.83 6.2 10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.15 0.07 for CR11.00 (4, g time of 70 min. NCD02118. 0.4. MG1840 0.27 00 1.4. G to 1.07 00 1.4. G	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 1.00 of several and no. 1.906. We also and NCDO'12 6.631.0.04 and N	1.00 2.00 0.10 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.10 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00	3.00 ¹² 3.00 ¹² 3.00 ¹² 3.00 ¹² 55:0.04 h ⁻¹ . L	105 ¹² 105 ¹² 3.00 <i>fermentum</i> .	3.00 £L olantari 901-1 2.0±0	0.40 19:00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.b.</i> 7707 . <i>Leu</i> 10.4, 936-1 2.010.1 22, 901-1 0.41±0.0	0.50 0.50 c. mesenteroider . and Ws2 1.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.510 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. thermodylan. 4.	0.18 1.	25 i0 ⁵ 005	
Order and Order and Kaccitate Kaccitate (Eds. 2014) (CLAS-Dalificate and Twees 80 OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING OTHER COMPONING Collected OTHER COMPONING Collected OTHER COMPONING National Content Collected D-Laminohury and National Content (Classicate Collected D-Laminohury and National Collected National Collected Nat	6 75 5 0 10 ⁴ 1.06 ⁴² 0.83 6.2.10 ⁴ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 	3.09 3.09 wchaseri, Lk. L. cremorti 3 5550.04 h ² , L	1.05 ¹² 1.05 ¹² 3.00 <i>fermentum</i> . 4107 1.640.3	3.00 LA olastrar 901-1 2.0±6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.b. 7707 - Leun</i> 14. 936-1 2.0001 / 022, 901-1 0.41±0.00	0.50 0.50 c. meanteroider . and Wu2 1.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. <i>thermonbilar</i> . ¹ .	0.18 •.	25 i0 ² 005	100
Ordet add Ordet add Kacitat Kacitat (Eds. 2014) (Add Add National Control (Charlos Charlos Nilly, SO, Nilly, SO, Sodium Bioghostiat Triammosime drate State Million, Michael Solito, Millor, Millor, Millor, Millor, Millor, Sodium Bioghostiat Triammosime drate State Million, Soft et al. (2014), Lilly (34:04), Nilly, SO, SO, SO, SO, Solito, SI, Solito, Millor, Mi	6 75 5 0 10 ⁴ 1 06 ⁵² 6 2-10 ⁴ 2 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 1.00 4 cml 4 c	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10	3.00 3.00 3.00 5:0.04 h ² , L	3.00 3.00 <i>Germontum.</i>	3.00 EA nintrara 901-1 2.0st	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. meenteroider 33, 956-1 0.44±0.03	1.00 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5.thermonikular. 4.	0.18	25 I0 ² 005	
Ordet add Ordet add North CLSPORT Karchite Karchite (Eds. eds.) (10.4-54 National Control (10.4-57 National ClsPort) Nully, SO, Nully, SO, Charata Claric add D.L.annohutyrate Nordium glycorehopshafe SI, O KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, KG Nully, SO, Solom BiolySolate Triammonike of the SI Solom BiolySolate Triammonken Grate Addition, If the vitamin composition facts: MG1053, MG164, NCDOT, Solom BiolySolate Triammonken Grate Solom BiolySolate Solom BiolySolate Addition, If the vitamin composition facts: MG1054, MG164, NCDOT, Solom BiolySolate Addition, If the vitamin composition facts: MG1054, MG164, NCDOT, Solom BiolySolate Solomo Bioles and Solate SI Solomo Bioles and Solate SI Solomo Bioles and Solate SI Solomo Bioles and Solate SI Solates: (22 Additional Color Solates) Solates: (22 Additional Color Solates) S	6 75 5 0 10 ⁴ 1 06 ⁴⁰ 0 833 6 2-10 ⁴⁰ 2 000 1 000 2 000 1 000 2 001 2 0001 2 001 2 001 0 0001000 0000000000	2.00 1.00 ¹² 1.00 1.	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 .010	3.00 2.06 ¹² 3.00 3.00 54004 h ² , L	3.00 3.00 <i>Granostum</i> .	3.00 LA obstator 900-112.0x6	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>LA. roar. Lum</i> 14. 936-1 20:01.1	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. meenteroider and Wu2 1.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5.thermothilar. ¹ .	0.18	2.5 HP ¹ 0.05	
Order and Order and Kaccian Kaccian Check and Ud-Ashibitic and Twens 80 OHER COMPOLISION OHER COMPOLISION OHER COMPOLISION OHER COMPOLISION Challer and Check and OHER COMPOLISION Challer and Check and OHER COMPOLISION Net Cancer and Net Cancer and Net Cancer and Check Net Cancer an	6 75 5 0 10 ⁴ 1 06 ⁴⁰ 0 833 6 2 10 ⁴⁰ 2 000 1	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00	3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00	1.05 ⁻¹² 3.00 fermentum . 107 1.6±0.3	3.00 £& oluntara 901-12.0:1	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>L</i> A. <i>rear. Lean</i> 34. 936-1 2.0-0.1 32. 901-1 0.41+0.0	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. meentersider and Wa21.7±0.8 h	1.00 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 1. thermoshilar. 4. 4.	0.18	25407	
Order and APTTA ACOP PRECUSSORS Xaccutar Xaccutar Xaccutar Contrast Control Differ COMPONIS OfHER COMPONIS OfHER COMPONIS OfHER COMPONIS Mitigo Contrast Components Charata Charata <td>6 75 5 0 10² 1.06² 0.83 6 2 10⁶ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00</td> <td>2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1</td> <td>4.00 1.00 h of several at h of</td> <td>1.00 2.00 1.00</td> <td>3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00</td> <td>3.00 6ermentum . . cremoris 2</td> <td>3.00 £& oluntara 901-12.0:1</td> <td>0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>LA. rear. Lean</i> 34. 936-1 2.0±0.1 32. 901-1 0.41±0.0</td> <td>1.0-10⁻³ 0.50 c. meentersider and Wa21.7=0.8 h</td> <td>1.00 2.5.10⁴ 0.30 0.50 1. thermonikular. 4. 4.</td> <td>0.18</td> <td>25407</td> <td></td>	6 75 5 0 10 ² 1.06 ² 0.83 6 2 10 ⁶ 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00 1.00 h of several at h of	1.00 2.00 1.00	3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00	3.00 6ermentum . . cremoris 2	3.00 £& oluntara 901-12.0:1	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>LA. rear. Lean</i> 34. 936-1 2.0±0.1 32. 901-1 0.41±0.0	1.0-10 ⁻³ 0.50 c. meentersider and Wa21.7=0.8 h	1.00 2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 1. thermonikular. 4. 4.	0.18	25407	
Ordet add Cordet add ACTY ACO PRECUSSORS Xacciata Cordet add Cordet add Cordet add Cordet add OTHER CONFORM OTHER CONFORM OTHER CONFORM OthER CONFORM OthER CONFORM OthER CONFORM Cord add D.Laminuburgate Millowick Maintonium Control form Cord add D.Laminuburgate Maintonium Diversolynophates Name Control form Maintonium Diversolynophate Maintonium Diversolynophate Maintonium Diversolynophate Maintonium Diversolynophate Maintonium Diversolynophate Maintonium Diversol Maintonium Diversol <tr< td=""><td>6 75 5 0 10² 1 06² 0 083 6 2 10⁴ 2 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00</td><td>2.00 1.06⁴² 1.00 1.</td><td>4.00</td><td>1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00</td><td>3.00 3.00 <i>webnert</i>. <i>Ib</i>. <i>L</i>. <i>cromoris</i> 3</td><td>1.05¹² 3.00 6ementum 1.07 L640.3</td><td>3.00 £& olumrara 501-12.0:0</td><td>0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.A. roor. Low</i> 34. 936-1 2.0:01 / 32. 901-1 0.41±0.0</td><td>1.0-10⁻¹ 0.50 c. mexenteroides and Wu2 1.7=0.8 h 30, 956-1 0.44±0.03</td><td>1.00 2.2.5.10⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. <i>chermoshika</i> . 4. 4.</td><td>0.18</td><td>25107</td><td></td></tr<>	6 75 5 0 10 ² 1 06 ² 0 083 6 2 10 ⁴ 2 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00 1 00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1.	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00	3.00 3.00 <i>webnert</i> . <i>Ib</i> . <i>L</i> . <i>cromoris</i> 3	1.05 ¹² 3.00 6ementum 1.07 L640.3	3.00 £& olumrara 501-12.0:0	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.A. roor. Low</i> 34. 936-1 2.0:01 / 32. 901-1 0.41±0.0	1.0-10 ⁻¹ 0.50 c. mexenteroides and Wu2 1.7=0.8 h 30, 956-1 0.44±0.03	1.00 2.2.5.10 ⁴ 0.30 0.50 5. <i>chermoshika</i> . 4. 4.	0.18	25107	
Order and Cortet and OTHER COMPONISE OTHER COMPONISE OTHER COMPONISE Other and the component of the and th	6 75 5 0 10 ² 1 00 ³ 0 83 6 2 10 ⁴ 2 00 1 00	2.00 1.06 ⁴² 1.00 1	4.00	1.00 2.00 1.00 0.10 .010 .010 .010 .010	3.00 3.00 <i>uchneri</i> . <i>IA</i> . <i>L</i> . <i>cremoris</i> 3	1.05 ¹² 3.00 6emontum 107 1.643	3.00 E& observation 501-12.0:4	0.40 19.00 0.50 0.20 m. <i>I.</i> A. roar. <i>Lea</i> 34. 936-1 2.0±0.1 1 32. 901.1 0.41±0.0	0.50 0.50 c. meansteroider . and Wa2 1.7=0.8 h 8, 936-1 0.44=0.03	1.00 2.5-10 ⁴ 0.30 0.90 5.thermoshilar. ⁴ .	0.15	25107	

Table S8. Minimal defined media from the literature for lactic acid bacteria. These media have been minimized in the number of nutrients and their concentrations.

Medium	BL	CDM	CDM	LMCDM	MDM	MS13	MS14	MS15	PMM5	PMM7	SDM
		7		Leuc.					7.1		
Strain	L. lactis	Leuc. mesenteroides	S. thermophilus ¹	dextranicum,	CRL581,	L. lactis	L. lactis	L. lactis IL1403	LD. plantarum	Lb. plantarum	E. faecalis
	NCDO712	ATCC8293		Leuc. mesenteroides ²	CRL654	NCDO2118	NCDO2118		WCFS1	WCFS1	B951
Reference	[92]	[99]	[100]	[95]	[98]	[91]	[86]	[91]	[113]	[113]	[81]
GROWTH OF CELLS											
	• • • • • •	••••••••••		1.67±0.18 (620							
OD (λ =600 nm, if not stated otherwise)	2.3 (450 nm)	2		nm) ³		2.7 (580 nm)		2.7 (580 nm)	0.10±0.02	1.10±0.05	
μ _{max} (h ⁻¹)	0.28	0.22±0.01	0.38-0.64	0.85±0.10 ³	0.30-0.32 4	0.23	0.2	0.37		0.15	
COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)											
SUGARS		20									
Glucose	9	20			10	10	20	10	11	11	15
Lactose			5	10							
BUFFERS				20	20						7.0
KH ₂ HPO ₄ KH ₂ PO ₄	0.2	6.0	2.5	2.5	3.0	7.5 (2.5) ⁵ 9.0 (3.0) ⁵	7.5 (2.5) ⁵ 9.0 (3.0) ⁵	7.5 (2.5) ⁵ 9.0 (3.0) ⁵			2.0
Phosphate						9.0 (5.0)	2.0 (2.0)	9.0 (5.0)	6.0	6.0	
MOPS	39.8										
AMINO ACIDS											
L-Alanine (Ala)					0.1000						
L-Arginine (Arg)	0.105606	0.1034 6		0.1250	0.1000			0.1200	0.1250	0.1250	1.0000
L-Asparagine (Ash) L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.105090				0.2000						
L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.102200	0.1922 7	0.1500	0.2500	0.2000					0.1300	1.0000
L-Glutamine (Gln) L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.102298	0.5000	0.2000	0.3900	0.2000	0.1000	0.6000	0.1000	0.5000	0.5000	1.0000
Glycine (Gly)	0.0465	8		0.1500	0.1000			0.1100			1.0000
L-Histidine (His)	0.0465	0.1215 ° 0.2130	0.0500	0.1500	0.1000	0.2000	0.3300	0.2000	0.2100	0.2100	1.0000
L-Leucine (Leu)	0.1968	0.4750	0.1000	0.4750	0.1000	0.4700	0.6600	0.4700	0.4750	0.4750	1.0000
L-Lysine (Lys) L-Methionine (Met)	0.0746	0.2500	0.0600	0.1250	0.1000	0.1200	0.1200	0.1200	0.1250	0.1250	1.0000
L-Phenylalanine (Phe)		0.2750		0.2750	0.1000				0.2750	0.2750	1.0000
L-Proline (Pro) L-Serine (Ser)		0.6750		0.6750	0.1000	0.3400	2.0800	0.3400			1.0000
L-Threonine (Thr)		0.2250		0.2250	0.1000			0.2300	0.2250	0.2250	1.0000
L-Tryptophan (Trp) L-Tyrosine (Tyr)		0.0500		0.0500	0.1000				0.2500	0.2500	1.0000
L-Valine (Val)	0.3046	0.5000	0.2000	0.3250	0.1000	0.3300	0.3300	0.3300	0.3250	0.3250	1.0000
MINERAL SALIS	E E 10 ⁻⁵		0.0075 9								
CoCl ₂	3.9.10		0.0073								
CuSO ₄	1.6.10.6										
FeSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0028 10								10	10	0.0080
MgCl ₂ ·6H ₂ O MgSO ·7H O	0.1057	0.2000	0.1600	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.4271 12	0.4271	0 2049 13
MnCl ₂	$1.0 \cdot 10^{-5}$				0.2000				0.0160	0.0160	0.2048
MnSO ₄ ·H ₂ O		0.1000		0.0100							
(NH ₄) ₆ Mo ₇ O ₂₄ ·4H ₂ O	3.7.10.6										
ZnSO ₄	1.6.10.6										
VITAMINS											
Thiamine-HCl (B ₁) ¹⁴	0.00101181	0.00100	5.0.10-6	0.00100							
Riboflavin (B ₂) Niacin (Nicotinic acid: B ₂)	0.00098	0.01000	0.00005	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00200
Niacinamide (B ₃)	0.00098	0.01000	0.00010	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00200
Ca-pantothenate (B ₅)	0.00048 15	0.001	0.0001	0.00100	0.00109 16	0.00100	0.00100	0.00100	0.00109 16	0.00109 16	0.02000
Pyridoxal-HCl (B ₆) Pyridoxamine (B ₄)	0.0020362		0.00055 19	0.00200	0.00244 17	0.00500	0.00500	0.00500		0.00500	0.02436 18
Biotin (B ₇)	9.8·10 ⁻⁵		0.00066			0.01000	0.01000	0.01000		0.00500	
Folic acid (B ₉)	0.00115	0.01000		0.00100							0.00200
Cyanocobalamine (B ₁₂)		0.50000	0.50000		0.00100				0.50000	0.50000	
NUCLEOBASES, NUCLEOSIDES		0.50000	0.5000						0.50000	0.0000	
Adenine (A)		0.0100		0.0100	0.0100						0.0147 20
Guanine (G)		0.0100		0.0100	0.0100						0.0200
Deoxythymidine (dT)		0.0100		0.0050	0.0100						0.0200
Inosine (I)		0.0050		0.0050							
FATTY ACID PRECURSORS	1 23	5.00	1.00	1.00	5.00				1.00	1.00	
Tween 80		1.06 21	1.00	1.06 21	5.00				1.00	1.00	
OTHER COMPOUNDS											
Ammonium citrate			0.60							0.60	
H ₃ BO ₃ K ₂ SO ₄	2.5.10										
NH ₄ Cl	0.5082										
Triammonium citrate Urea		2.00	0.24	0.60							

¹ Strains ST1, ST2, ST7, ST8, ST11, ST14, ST16, ST18, ST21, ST22, ST23, ST24, ST25, ST26, Z302
 ² Leuc. dextranicum CNRZ1694, CNRZ1742, CNRZ1744 and Leuc. mesenteroides CNRZ1463, CNRZ1697, CNRZ1750.
 ³ Average of all strains tested.
 ⁴ 0.32 h⁻¹ for strain CRL 581 and 0.30 h⁻¹ for CRL 654.

⁵ Concentrations in brackets were used in pH-regulated bioreactors

⁶ 0.125 g·L⁻¹ of Arginine-HCl

7 0.25 g·L⁻¹ of Cysteine-HCl

⁸ 0.15 g·L⁻¹ of Histidine-HCl
 ⁹ 0.01 g·L⁻¹ of CaCl₂·2H₂O
 ¹⁰ 0.01 mM of FeSO₄

 11 0.52 mM of $\rm MgCl_2$

 12 0.2 g $\cdot L^{\cdot 1}$ of MgCl_2

 13 0.1 g L^{-1} of MgSO_4

 $\label{eq:2.1} \begin{array}{l} ^{13} 0.1 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ MgSO_4 \\ ^{14} \ Synonyms: Thiamine dichloride \\ ^{15} \ 0.002 \ mM \ of \ Pantothenic \ acid \\ ^{16} \ 0.001 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Pyridoxal \\ ^{17} \ 0.002 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Pyridoxal \\ ^{18} \ 0.02 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Pyridoxal \\ ^{19} \ 0.0008 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Pyridoxal \\ ^{20} \ 0.02 \ g \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Adenine \ sulfate \\ ^{21} \ 1 \ mL \cdot L^{-1} \ of \ Tween \ 80, \ if \ the \ density \ is \ 1.06 \ g \cdot mL^{-1} \end{array}$

Table S9. Chemically defined media with minimal amino acid concentrations that were developed in this thesis for *L. lactis* IL1403. These media were used for batch cultivations on microtiter plates with the cultivation volume 0.24 mL. The difference of amino acid concentrations with the initial medium BS7 has been shown for each medium (reduced 2, 4, 8 or 16 times). The concentrations of buffers, mineral salts and vitamins were the same as for the medium BS7 (see Table 5 in Materials and Methods section of the thesis), but these media did not contain adenine, hypoxanthine and lipoic acid.

Medium	JA	JB	JC	JD	JE	JF	JG	JH	Л	IJ	JM	JN	JO	JP	JR	JS	JT	JU	JV	JW
OD _{max} (600 nm), n=3	0.234±0.014	0.167 ± 0.003	0.197±0.014	0.205 ± 0.002	0.201±0.004	$0.212{\pm}0.001$	0.233±0.020	$0.180{\pm}0.005$	0.194±0.005	0.150±0.005	$0.192{\pm}0.004$	0.206 ± 0.022	0.220±0.010	0.206 ± 0.002	0.205±0.013	$0.192{\pm}0.008$	0.205 ± 0.007	0.174 ± 0.006	0.195±0.002	$0.192{\pm}0.006$
μ_{max} (h ⁻¹), n=3	0.33±0.05	0.37 ± 0.01	$0.39{\pm}0.02$	$0.40{\pm}0.04$	0.41 ± 0.01	$0.40{\pm}0$	$0.44{\pm}0.01$	0.34 ± 0.02	0.39 ± 0.01	0.38 ± 0.01	0.40 ± 0.01	0.40±0	0.42±0	$0.42{\pm}0.01$	0.41 ± 0.01	0.41±0	$0.42{\pm}0.01$	0.41 ± 0.01	0.41 ± 0.02	0.37 ± 0.01
COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)	JA	JB	JC	JD	JE	JF	JG	JH	Л	JJ	JM	JN	JO	JP	JR	JS	JT	JU	JV	JW
SUGAR																				
Glucose	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
BUFFERS																				
K.HPO.	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9
KH_PO	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75
MOPS	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
AMINO ACIDS																				
L.Alanine (Ala)	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4xV	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 41	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4	0.0196 4x4
L-Arginine (Arg)	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x4	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0130	0.0463 4x	0.0463 4x	0.0130	0.0463 4x				
L-Asparagine (Asn)	0.0184 4x↓	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x↓	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0092 8x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x↓	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4	0.0184 4x4
L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓			0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓	0.0181 4x↓
L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓	0.0159 4x↓
L-Glutamine (Gln)	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0165 ⁸ x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓	0.0331 4x↓
L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x	0.0176 4x↓			0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x↓	0.0176 4x4	0.0176 4x↓
Glycine (Gly)	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4**	0.0144 4x4	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4×	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4x4	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4xv	0.0144 4x4	0.0144 4x	0.0144 4**	0.0144 4x
L-Histidine (His)	0.0149 4x	0.0149 41	0.0149	0.0149	0.0149 4	0.0149 41	0.0149 414	0.0149 414	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4x4	0.0149 4	0.0149 4x	0.0149 414	0.0149 41
L-Isoleucine (He)	0.0259 sx	0.0233 4	0.0127 we	0.0004 tox	0.0004 10x+	0.0127 0.0259 $8x4$	0.0233 4x4	$0.0233 4x^{1}$	0.0233 wv	0.0233 4x4	0.0233 4x4	0.0233 4x4	0.0233 4x4 0.0518 $4x4$	0.0233 4x4	$0.0233 4x^{1}$	0.0233 4x4	0.0233 4x4 0.0518 $4x4$	0.0233 wv	0.0233 4x4	0.0233 tr
L-Lysine-HCl (Lys)	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4×4	0.0394 4x4	0.0394 4x4	0.0197 8×4	0.00918 0.0098 ^{16x} ↓	0.0197 ^{8x4}	0.0394 4x4
L-Methionine (Met)	0.0102 ⁴ x↓	0.0102 4x↓	0.0102 ⁴ x√	0.0102 ^{4x}	0.0102 ⁴ x ⁴	0.0102 ⁴ x	0.0102 ⁴ x	0.0102 ⁴ x↓	0.0102 4x4	0.0102 4x4	0.0102 ⁴ x√	0.0102 ⁴ x√	0.0102 ⁴ x↓	0.0102 4x4	0.0102 ⁴ x ⁴	0.0102 4x4	0.0102 ⁴ x↓	0.0102 ⁴ x↓	0.0102 4x4	0.0102 ⁴ x↓
L-Phenylalanine (Phe)	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0108 ⁸ x↓	0.0054 ^{16x} √		0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓	0.0215 4x↓
L-Proline (Pro)	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ^{4x↓}	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x√	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 ^{4x↓}	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 ⁴ x↓	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 4x↓	0.0229 4x↓
L-Serine (Ser)	0.0408 4x↓	0.0408 4x↓	0.0408 4x↓	0.0408 4x	0.0408 ^{4x}	0.0408 4x↓	0.0408 4x4	0.0408 4x4	0.0408 ^{4x↓}	0.0408 ⁴ x	0.0408 4x4	0.0408 ⁴ ×√	0.0408 ⁴ x↓	0.0408 ^{4x↓}	0.0408 4x4	0.0408 4x	0.0408 ^{4x↓}	0.0408 ⁴ x↓	0.0408 4x4	0.0408 ⁴ x↓
L-Threonine (Thr)	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4×4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0190 4x4	0.0095 8x4
L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.0041 4x	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4x4	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4x	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4x4	0.0041 4xv	0.0021 88	0.0010 16x4	0.0021 8**	0.0010 1654	0.0010 16x4	0.0041 4x	0.0041 4x4	0.0041 4**	0.0041 4	0.0041 4**
L-Tyrosine (Tyr)	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4x4	$0.0074 \xrightarrow{4x4}$	$0.0074 \xrightarrow{4x4}$	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 ***	0.0074 4XV	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4x4	$0.0037 = 3x^{4}$	0.0018 10.0	0.0037 = 4x4	0.0018 10.0	0.0018 10.0	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4**	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4x4	0.0074 4x4
MINERAL SALTS	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0134	0.0007	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208	0.0208
CoCl	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500
C-50.711.0	0.0000	0.0030	0.0020	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0500	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
C0SO ₄ ·/H ₂ O	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0050	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030
E-SO 711 0	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0050	0.0030	0.0050	0.0030	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0030	0.0050	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0050
M-SO 711 O	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014
MgSO ₄ ·/H ₂ O	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000
	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0100	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0100	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160
(Nn ₄) ₆ Nio ₇ O ₂₄ ·4n ₂ O	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000	2,0000
7nSO .7H O	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000	2.9000
VITAMINS	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050
VITAMINS																				
Thiamine-HCl (B ₁)	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051
Riboflavin (B ₂)	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033
Nicotinamide (B ₃)	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033
Ca-pantothenate (B ₅)	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065	0.00065
Pyridoxine (B ₆)	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064
Biotin (B ₇)	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031
Folic acid (B ₉)	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121

The composition and	grandrouk is KB makin unbe wein Table 5 Datavita all Mithak voision fa freis).
Sedan //	
OD_are (All and, and	a lease looke strate looke loo
pass (k ⁴), and	UNICE LANCE
Lag plane (b)	
Reported plane (b)	
COMPOSITION & C	
NICAL	
Game	
/////atmax///	
K, IPO,	
kat,ro,	
Mars	
L-Master (Ma)	
L.Jeginine (Jeg)	
L-Aspergine (loss)	
L-lopertair (kep)	
L-Cyclelar (Cyc)	
L'Ostanior (Ca)	
Quaine (Qui	
Libridge (Bb.)	
L-holewine (Br)	
L.Lewise (Lew)	
L.Lysine BC1(Lys)	
L.Medicinine (Met	
Linden Dei	
Literine (Sec)	
L. The cusine (The)	
L. Trypisphan (Try)	
L.Dyrusiae (Eyr)	
E.Vallas (Val)	
00	
040-780	
040.480	
840.780	
3440-780	
3440.80	
00.000	
100000000000000000000000000000000000000	
No. 180	
1//// Mr 0006 //	
Dissis H2 E.	
Rively of L	
Completents (2)	
- parameter (A)	
Pyridmine (Ra)	
Easter(R ₁)	
Fair and (E.,)	
ondia condicion	
Lippic acid	

Table S11. Chemically defined media with minimal metal ion concentrations that were developed in this thesis for *L. lactis* IL1403. These media were used for batch cultivations on microtiter plates with the cultivation volume 0.3 mL.¹ The difference of mineral salts concentrations with the initial medium BS7 has been shown for each medium (reduced 2, 4, 8 or 10 times).

The concentrations of buffers, amino acids and vitamins were the same as for the medium BS7 (see Table 5 in Materials and Methods section of the thesis), but these media did not contain adenine and hypoxanthine.

The composition and growth results for V19 medium can be seen in Table 5 (Materials and Methods section of the thesis).

Medium	V2	V3	V12	V13	V14	V17	V18	V20	V24	V25	V26	V27	V28	V29	V30	V31	V32
OD _{max} (600 nm), n=3	0.554±0.008	0.584 ± 0.005	0.581±0.002	0.560 ± 0.002	0.528±0.006	0.455±0.007	0.458±0.006	0.487 ± 0.008	0.489 ± 0.003	0.473±0.018	0.510 ± 0.010	0.468 ± 0.008	0.514 ± 0.005	0.523±0.009	0.545±0.008	0.517±0.005	0.504±0.009
μ_{max} (h ⁻¹), n=3	0.54±0	$0.49{\pm}0.03$	$0.60{\pm}0.01$	0.58±0	0.55 ± 0.01	$0.40{\pm}0.02$	0.40 ± 0.06	0.63±0.06	0.68 ± 0.03	0.56 ± 0.10	0.61 ± 0.07	0.65 ± 0.09	0.50 ± 0.06	0.62 ± 0.07	0.55±0.03	0.62 ± 0.06	$0.60{\pm}0.09$
COMPOSITION (g·L ⁻¹)	V2	V3	V12	V13	V14	V17	V18	V20	V24	V25	V26	V27	V28	V29	V30	V31	V32
SUGAR																	
Glucose	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5	3.5
BUFFERS																	
K ₂ HPO ₄	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75	0.75
MOPS	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
AMINO ACIDS																	
L-Alanine (Ala)	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782	0.0782
L-Arginine (Arg)	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852	0.1852
L-Asparagine (Asn)	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735	0.0735
L-Aspartate (Asp)	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723	0.0723
L-Cysteine (Cys)	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636	0.0636
L-Glutamate (Glu)	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703	0.0703
Glycine (Gly)	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578	0.0578
L-Histidine (His)	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597	0.0597
L-Isoleucine (Ile)	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018	0.1018
L-Leucine (Leu)	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072	0.2072
L-Lysine-HCl (Lys)	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576	0.1576
L-Methionine (Met)	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407	0.0407
L-r nenymannine (r ne)	0.0800	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917	0.0917
L-Serine (Ser)	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634	0.1634
L-Threonine (Thr)	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758	0.0758
L-Tryptophan (Trp)	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164	0.0164
L-Tyrosine (Tyr)	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295	0.0295
L-Valine (Val)	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072	0.1072
MINERAL SALTS	2					e e e e e eul	10wl		2		Paulo	10mb	2mb	a a cara dada	Paula	10ml	
CaCl ₂	0.0250	0.0125	0.0500	0.0500	0.0500	0.0063	0.0050	0.0500	0.0250	0.0125	0.0063	0.0050	0.0250	0.0125	0.0063	0.0050	0.0063
CoSO ₄ ·7H ₂ O	0.0015 2x	0.0008 4x4	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0004 8x	0.0003 10x4	0.0030	0.0015	0.0008 4**	0.0004 8**	0.0003	0.0015	0.0008 4**	0.0004 ***	0.0003 10x	0.0004 83
CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O	0.0015 2XV	0.0008 4XV	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0004 8x	0.0003 10x4	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0030	0.0015 2
FeSO ₄ ·/H ₂ O	0.000/ 2x4	0.0004	0.0014	0.0014	0.0014	0.0002	0.0001 10x*	0.0014	0.0007	0.0004	0.0002	0.0001	0.0007	0.0004	0.0002	0.0001	0.0002
MgSO ₄ ·/H ₂ O	0.1000 2x*	0.0500 4x4	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.0250 8x4	0.0200	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.2000	0.1000 2**
$MnSO_4 H_2O$	0.0080 2x4	0.0040 414	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0020 8x4	0.0016	0.0160	0.015 214	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.015 214	0.0160	0.0160	0.0160	0.0080
(Nn ₄) ₆ No ₇ O ₂₄ ·4n ₂ O	1.4500 2x4	0.7250 4x4	1 4500 2	0.0050	0.0050	0.3625 8x4	0.0003 10x4	0.0050	2 9000	2 9000	2 9000	2 9000	1.4500 2x4	0.7250 4x4	0.3625 8x4	0.0003 10x4	0.3625 8x4
ZnSQ.:7HaQ	$0.0025 2x \Psi$	0.0013 4x4	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0006 8x	0.0005 ^{10x}	0.0050	0.0025 2x4	0.0013 4x4	0.0006 ^{8x}	2.9000 0.0005 10x↓	$0.0025 2x \Psi$	0.0013 4x	0.0006 8x4	0.0005 ^{10x}	0.0006 ^{8x}
VITAMINS	0.0025	0.0015	0.0050	0.0050	0.0050	0.0000	0.0005	0.0050	0.0025	0.0015	0.0000	0.0005	0.0025	0.0015	0.0000	0.0005	0.0000
Thiomino HCL(P.)	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051	0.00051
Pihoflovin (P)	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031
Nisstinerride (B.)	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033	0.00033
C_{0} population (B ₃)	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055	0.00055
Pyridovino (B)	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00063	0.00063	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00064	0.00063	0.00063	0.00063	0.00064
Riotin (B ₋)	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031	0.00031
Folic acid (B ₂)	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121
OTHER COMPOUNDS	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121	0.00121
Linoia agid	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018	0.00018
Lipoic aciu	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00018	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00018	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00010	0.00018	0.00010	0.00018

¹ In addition, the growth of L. lactis IL1403 on V28, V29, V30 and V31 media was monitored in test tubes and the results were, respectively, $OD_{max} = 1.62\pm0.04$, 1.68 ± 0.03 , 1.69 ± 0.02 and 1.74 ± 0.02 ; $\mu_{max} = 0.65\pm0.04$, h^{-1} ; lag-phase 4.5, 4.0, 4.0 and 5.0 hours; exponential phase 4.5, 5.0, 5.0 and 4.0 hours.